
 
 
 

NOTICE OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE 
VILLAGE BOARD MEETING 

 

The special meeting of the Village Board is scheduled for  
Tuesday, May 19, 2020 beginning at 7:30 p.m.  

 

A copy of the agenda for this meeting is attached hereto and  
can be found at www.tinleypark.org. 

 

 
NOTICE - MEETING MODIFICATION DUE TO COVID-19 

 

Pursuant to Governor Pritzker’s Executive Order 2020-07, Executive Order 2020-10, Executive 
Order 2020-18, Executive Order 2020-32, and Executive Order 2020-33 which collectively 
suspends the Illinois Open Meetings Act requirements regarding in-person attendance by 
members of a public body during the duration of the Gubernatorial Disaster Proclamation, the 
members of the Village Board will be participating in the meeting through teleconference.  
 
Please note there is a new temporary procedure for public speaking. In-person public speaking is 
temporarily suspended, although public comments can still be made under the new temporary 
procedure for public speaking. Written comments and requests to speak may be submitted via 
email prior to the meeting. Further details can be found on the Village of Tinley Park website on 
the “Minutes and Agendas” web page at www.tinleypark.org.  
  

Public comments or requests to speak must be emailed in advance of the meeting to 
clerksoffice@tinleypark.org or placed in the Drop Box at the Village Hall by noon on Tuesday, 
May 19, 2020.  For public health and safety reasons, comments and requests to speak may 
only be submitted electronically. 
 
 

Kristin A. Thirion 
Clerk 
Village of Tinley Park  

http://www.tinleypark.org/
http://www.tinleypark.org/
mailto:clerksoffice@tinleypark.org


R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 2 0  | 1

1

MEETING NOTICE

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Regular Meeting of the President and Board of Trustees of 
the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois will be held on Tuesday, May 19, 2020, 
beginning at 7:30 p.m. in the Council Chambers at the Village Hall of Tinley Park, 16250 South Oak 
Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois.

7:30 PM CALL TO ORDER

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL

ITEM #1

SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

ACTION: Discussion - Consider approval of agenda as written or amended.

COMMENTS:
 

ITEM #2

SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL 
VILLAGE BOARD MEETING HELD ON MAY 5, 2020.
   

ACTION: Discussion: Consider approval of minutes as written or amended.

COMMENTS:
 

ITEM #3

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-051 SEEKING 
CONSIDERATION OF A LOCALIZED OR EMS REGION APPROACH TO 
REOPEN BUSINESSES AND RESUME CIVIC ACTIVITY - Trustee Brady

ACTION: Discussion: Between March 9th and April 28th, the Governor has issued 29 
Executive Orders related to the COVID-19 pandemic which contain numerous 
mandates intended to protect public health, including closing all non-essential 
businesses and ordering residents to stay at home. While it is undeniable that 
the Stay at Home Order has had a positive effect on reducing the number of 
cases of individuals contracting COVID-19 and deaths in Illinois, it is 
equally undeniable that the Stay at Home Order has had a devastating 
financial impact on the businesses and residents in the State of Illinois and of 
the Village of Tinley Park. The Tinley Park Village Board is recommending 
and encouraging the State to allow for an EMS Region based approach to 
reopening, which would provide authority to answer needs of residents and 
businesses directly. Furthermore, instead of a 28 day timeline period, the Board 
is asking the General Assembly to consider a 14 day period for each EMS 



R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 2 0  | 2

2

region to move on to the next phase of reopening. This Resolution is eligible 
for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 

ITEM #4

SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF THE FOLLOWING CONSENT 
AGENDA ITEMS: 

A. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-052 APPROVING A 
DRIVEWAY EASEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE 
OF TINLEY PARK AND BRENDAN AND NICOLE FITZGERALD, 
6201 175TH STREET.

B. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-056 APPROVING A 
CONTRACT EXTENSION BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY 
PARK AND TRUGREEN FOR THE 2020 LAWN CARE AND 
LANDSCAPE BED TREATMENT PROGRAM.

C. CONSIDER REJECTING BIDS FOR POST 4 (8399 BROOKSIDE 
GLEN DRIVE) LIFT STATION IMPROVEMENTS.

D. CONSIDER PROCLAIMING RECOGNITION FOR HOPE 
MONTESSORI, MS. TRACI TYSZKA, AND STAFF FOR 20 YEARS 
OF SERVICE IN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK.

E. CONSIDER PAYMENT OF IMPACT FEES THROUGH DECEMBER 
2019 IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,850 TO BREMEN HIGH SCHOOL 
DISTRICT 228.

F. CONSIDER PAYMENT OF OUTSTANDING BILLS IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $2,636,047.70 AS LISTED ON THE VENDOR BOARD 
APPROVAL REPORTS DATED MAY 8, 2020, AND MAY 15, 2020.

ACTION: Discussion: Consider approval of consent agenda items.

COMMENTS:  
 



R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 2 0  | 3

3

ITEM #5

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-024 APPROVING TEXT 
AMENDMENTS TO THE ZONING ORDINANCE TO CLARIFY RECENT 
TEXT AMENDMENTS FOR RESIDENTIAL MASONRY REQUIREMENTS 
AND SHORT-TERM RENTALS - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: Recently, the Village approved two (2) text amendments to the 
Zoning Ordinance relating to exterior masonry requirements (December 17, 
2019; 2019-O-074) and for short-term rental uses (July 2, 2019; 2019-O-035). 
During drafting and implementing the text changes, staff identified a few text 
corrections to ensure the intent behind these codes is clear. This report clarifies 
the text corrections for each.

The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on April 16, 2020, related to 
Zoning Ordinance changes and voted 8-0 to unanimously recommend approval 
of the proposed text amendments.  This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 
 

ITEM #6

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-059 APPROVING AND 
ACCEPTING A FINAL PLAT OF CONSOLIDATION FOR CERTAIN 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7050 – 7068 171ST STREET - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Thomas Cachey (contract purchaser), has requested 
Final Plat approval for consolidation of certain property at 7050-7068 171st 
Street. The Plat will consolidate the two (2) separate lots into one (1) parcel and 
allow for cross-access to the Olympic Star property to the west. The Plan 
Commission reviewed the Final Plat of Consolidation with a recommended 
condition that the approval is subject to Final Engineering Plan approval by the 
Village Engineer on May 7, 2020, and voted 9-0 to recommend approval.  If the 
first reading is waived this Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 
 



R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 2 0  | 4

4

ITEM #7

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-026 GRANTING A 
SPECIAL USE TO ALLOW INSTALLATION OF A SECOND FLOOR 
APARTMENT ON AN EXISTING COMMERCIAL STRUCTURE AT 7050 – 
7068 171ST STREET - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Thomas Cachey (contract purchaser), is requesting a 
Special Use Permit to allow construction of a second-floor apartment. The 
apartment is part of the property’s overall redevelopment (most recently 
occupied by Sports Station and will be located above the principal commercial 
use. The property is located at 7050 - 7068 171st Street in the B-3 (General 
Business & Commercial) zoning district. The Plan Commission held a Public 
Hearing on May 7, 2020, and voted 9-0 to unanimously recommending approval 
of the Special Use Permit, in accordance with the plans as listed in the “Listed 
Reviewed Plans” and the Findings of Fact in the May 7, 2020 Staff Report.  If 
the first reading is waived this Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 
 

ITEM #8

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-027 GRANTING 
VARIATIONS FROM THE ZONING ORDINANCE FOR A CERTAIN 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7050 – 7068 171ST STREET - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Thomas Cachey (contract purchaser), is seeking six 
(6) variations related to parking, front yard setbacks, exterior materials, and 
signage as part of his proposal to redevelop the property located at 7050-7068 
171st Street, for a mixed-use commercial property with approximately 12,000 
sq. ft. of commercial space and a second-floor one-bedroom apartment. All the 
requested variations are existing non-conforming situations, and many have 
been mitigated upon to the greatest extent feasible. The Plan Commission held a 
Public Hearing on May 7, 2020, and voted 9-0 to recommend approval of the six 
(6) Variations and adopt the Findings of Fact in accordance with the plans as 
listed in the “Listed Reviewed Plans” and the Findings of Fact in the May 7, 
2020 Staff Report.  If the first reading is waived this Ordinance is eligible for 
adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 



R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 2 0  | 5

5

ITEM #9

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-028 AMENDING SECTION 
V.C.11 (TEMPORARY USES) OF THE TINLEY PARK ZONING
ORDINANCE - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The purpose of this amendment is to allow for 
warehouse/distribution uses in a B-3 (General Business and Commercial 
District) with certain conditions.  The Plan Commission unanimously 
recommended the text amendment for approval (9-0).  If the first reading is 
waived this Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #10

SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVING A TEMPORARY USE PERMIT FOR A 
WAREHOUSE/DISTRIBUTION USE FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 
16300 HARLEM AVENUE AND 163RD & HARLEM, LLC (PETE’S FRESH 
MARKET) - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: Pete’s Fresh Market, on behalf of 163rd and Harlem, LLC, has 
applied for a temporary use permit for warehouse/distribution in the former 
Kmart building.  The term of the permit is for six (6) months and includes 
conditions as outlined in the staff memo. Consider approving a temporary use 
permit for warehouse/distribution use for the property located at 16300 
Harlem Avenue and 163rd & Harlem, LLC (Pete’s Fresh Market.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #11

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-061 SUPPORTING THE 
FILING OF A CLASS 7B COOK COUNTY REAL PROPERTY 
ASSESSMENT RECLASSIFICATION APPLICATION FOR PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 16300 HARLEM AVENUE BY 163RD & HARLEM LLC, 
FOR PURPOSES OF CONSTRUCTING A PETE’S FRESH MARKET - 
Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: This Resolution provides support for the Cook County Class 7b 
incentive which reduces the tax assessment ratio for the property at 16300 
Harlem from 25% to 10% of market value ten (10) years, and is renewable.  The 
Class 7b incentive of the Cook County Real Property Assessment Classification 
Ordinance is intended to encourage, in areas determined to be "in need of 
commercial development", commercial projects with total development costs, 
exclusive of land, over $2 million, which would not be economically feasible 



R e g u l a r  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - M a y  1 9 ,  2 0 2 0  | 6

6

without the incentive. The proposed development of the property includes new 
construction of approximately 117,000 sq. ft. for a Pete’s Fresh Market and 
other commercial uses.  The project also includes the renovation of the former 
K-Mart store which will include approximately 33,400 sq. ft. of additional
commercial uses; and 158,000 sq. ft. of warehouse/distribution space in the
existing former K-Mart structure. The resolution includes an incentive
agreement that must be executed prior to final execution of the resolution for
reclassification. This agreement addresses a proposed schedule and site plan for
the property. This project meets the goals and objectives for encouraging
redevelopment in Tinley Park as set forth by the Economic and Commercial
Commission (ECC) and the Village Board of Trustees.  The ECC unanimously
recommended the resolution for approval at its May 11, 2020, meeting.  This
Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #12

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-062 SUPPORTING THE 
FILING OF A CLASS 6B COOK COUNTY REAL PROPERTY 
ASSESSMENT RECLASSIFICATION APPLICATION FOR PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 16300 HARLEM AVENUE BY 163RD & HARLEM LLC, 
FOR PURPOSES OF CONSTRUCTING A PETE’S FRESH MARKET - 
Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: This Resolution provides support for the Cook County Class 6b 
incentive which reduces the tax assessment ratio for the property at 16300 
Harlem from 25% to 10% of market value for ten (10) years. The Class 6b 
classification is designed to encourage industrial development throughout Cook 
County by offering a real estate tax incentive for the development of new 
industrial facilities, the rehabilitation of existing industrial structures, and the 
industrial reutilization of abandoned buildings. The proposed project includes 
the renovation of the former vacant K-Mart store for an approximately 158,000 
sq. ft. of warehouse/distribution space. The applicant, 163rd & Harlem LLC, on 
behalf of Pete’s Fresh Market, is also proposing to construct a new building of 
approximately 117,000 sq. ft. for a Pete’s Fresh Market and other commercial 
uses.  The project will also include renovation of 33,400 sq. ft. for additional 
commercial uses at the east end of the vacant former K-Mart store. The 
resolution includes an incentive agreement that must be executed prior to final 
execution of the resolution for reclassification. This agreement addresses a 
proposed schedule and site plan for the property. This project meets the goals 
and objectives for encouraging redevelopment in Tinley Park as set forth by the 
Economic and Commercial Commission (ECC) and the Village Board of 
Trustees.  The ECC unanimously recommended the resolution for approval at its 
May 11, 2020 meeting.  This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - M a y 1 9 , 2 0 2 0 | 7

8

ITEM #13

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-063 CREATING THE 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK NON-TAX INCREMENT FINANCING (TIF) 
REDEVELOPMENT GRANT - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Village of Tinley Park is committed to assuring the long-term 
viability of the community by encouraging private investment in sites 
throughout the community that need significant redevelopment. Many of these 
sites do not fall within area covered by the existing Oak Park Avenue Grant 
Program, a TIF district, Cook County Special Designated area, or meet other 
criteria to be eligible for traditional incentive agreements. The proposed 
Redevelopment Grant Program will provide $90,000 for the redevelopment of 
eligible sites through a 50/50 matching grant. The minimum grant will be for 
$10,000; the maximum is $30,000.  
The Economic and Commercial Commission unanimously recommended it to 
the Village Board for approval at its May 11, 2020 meeting.  If the first 
reading is waived this Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #14

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-053 APPROVING A JOB 
ORDER CONTRACTING (JOC) CONTRACT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE 
OF TINLEY PARK AND GORDIAN/F.H. PASCHEN, S.N. NIELSEN & 
ASSOCIATES FOR THE 80TH AVE. TRAIN STATION STAIRCASES, 
RAILINGS, CONCRETE, LANDSCAPING AND PAVER 
REPLACEMENT/REPAIRS - Trustee Glotz

ACTION: Discussion: The Public Works Department is requesting authorization to repair 
and replace the 3rd and 4th phases of the 80th Ave. Train Station 
Staircases/Hand Railing Replacement/Repair Project utilizing the Job Order 
Contracting (JOC) procurement method.  Repairs to date included the 
replacement of seven (7) staircases in phase 1 ($220,241.90) and 2 
($198,786.01). Based on previous discussions with the Village attorney and staff 
members, it was recommended to complete all the remaining segments/phases 
(3 & 4).
Consider awarding a contract to Gordian/F.H. Paschen, S.N. Nielsen & 
Associates in the amount of $803,398.47.  This item was discussed at the 
Committee of the Whole held prior to this meeting. This Resolution is eligible 
for adoption.

COMMENTS:



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - M a y 1 9 , 2 0 2 0 | 8

9

ITEM #15

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-054 APPROVING THE 
EXTENSION OF THE AWARDED CONTRACT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE 
OF TINLEY PARK AND CHRISTY WEBBER LANDSCAPE FOR THE 
VILLAGE'S 2020 LANDSCAPE BED MAINTENANCE PROGRAM - Trustee 
Glotz

ACTION: Discussion: The Village awarded a contract in 2019 to Christy Webber 
Landscape to perform maintenance on approximately 5.6 acres of planting beds 
throughout Tinley Park.  The contract provided for two optional (2), one (1) 
year, renewals.  Christy Webber Landscape has proven to be professional and 
reliable.  Staff is recommending to utilize the first extension option under the 
contract.
Consider awarding a contract extension to Christy Webber Landscape in the 
amount not to exceed $157,360.25 for the Village’s 2020 Landscape Bed 
Maintenance Program.  This item was discussed at the Committee of the Whole 
that preceded this meeting.  This Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #16

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-055 APPROVING THE 
EXTENTION OF THE AWARDED CONTRACT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE 
OF TINLEY PARK AND RIDGE LANDSCAPE SERVICES FOR THE 
VILLAGE'S 2020 MOWING PROGRAM - Trustee Glotz

ACTION: Discussion: The Village awarded a contract in 2019 to Ridge Landscape 
Services LLC for mowing services covering approximately 234 acres 
throughout Tinley Park.   The contract provided for two optional (2), one (1) 
year, renewals.  Ridge Landscape Services LLC has proven to be 
professional and reliable.  Staff is recommending to utilize the first extension 
option under the contract.

Consider awarding a contract extension to Ridge Landscape Services LLC in 
the amount not to exceed $189,324.96 for the Village’s 2020 Mowing 
Program.  This item was discussed at the Committee of the Whole that 
preceded this meeting.  This Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - M a y 1 9 , 2 0 2 0 | 9

10

ITEM #17

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-057 APPROVING A 
CONTRACT EXTENSION BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
AND CARDNO, INC. FOR THE VILLAGE'S 2020 NATURALIZED 
STORMWATER AREAS MAINTENANCE - Trustee Glotz

ACTION: Discussion: The Village awarded a contract in 2019 to Cardno, Inc. to install, 
maintain, and monitor the growth and establishment of plantings for 
naturalized storm water areas throughout the Village.  The contract provides 
for one (1) year renewals.  Cardno, Inc. has proven to be professional and 
reliable.  Staff is recommending to initiate the first extension option under 
the contract.

Consider awarding a contract extension to Cardno, Inc. in the amount not to 
exceed $189,500 for the Village’s 2020 Naturalized Stormwater Areas 
Maintenance Program.  This item was discussed at the Committee of the 
Whole that preceded this meeting. This Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #18

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-023 AMENDING TITLE XI 
CHAPTER 112 SECTION 21 (A) OF THE TINLEY PARK MUNICIPAL 
CODE – HOURS – AMENDING PERMITTED LIQUOR SALE HOURS ON 
SUNDAY FOR GOLF COURSES - President Vandenberg

ACTION: Discussion: Currently, Title XI Chapter 112 Section 21 (A) in the Tinley Park 
Municipal Code prohibits the sale of alcoholic beverages before 12:00 p.m. 
(noon) on Sunday. The Liquor Commissioner is seeking Board approval to 
amend Section 21 (A) of the Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance to permit the sale of 
alcoholic beverages between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 2:00 a.m. at golf courses 
on Sunday. This item was discussed at the Committee of the Whole held prior to 
this meeting. This Ordinance is eligible for adoption. 

COMMENTS:



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - M a y 1 9 , 2 0 2 0 | 10

11

ITEM #19

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-064 APPROVING A 
COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT WITH THE 
INTERNATIONAL UNION OF OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 150 - 
Trustee Brady

ACTION: Discussion: The Village’s previous Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) 
with Local 150 expired on April 30, 2018. Ongoing negotiations have 
successfully reached an agreement, which propose a four (4) year term 
expiring in 2021. The agreement covers all major terms and conditions of 
employment for covered employees and is similar to the existing agreement. 
Highlights of the proposed agreement include annual cost of living 
adjustment (COLA) increases of 2.5% for 2018 and 2019, clarification of 
hiring processes, clarification of snow and ice staffing procedures, an 
overhaul of overtime allocation system, an expanded residency program and 
removal of Fair Share Language considering U.S. Court decision prohibiting 
practice. Both parties will reconvene to negotiate in December 2020.  This 
Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #20

SUBJECT: CONSIDER RESOLUTION 2020-O-058 APPROVING AN ENGAGEMENT 
LETTER WITH WALSH LAW GROUP, P.C. FOR LEGAL SERVICES - 
Trustee Brady

ACTION: Discussion: Patrick Walsh has been working for the Village for several months 
under the twenty-thousand-dollar authority of the Village Manager.  As the total 
expenses get closer to that authority it is necessary for the Board to ratify the 
contract that was signed by the Village Manager. This Resolution is eligible for 
adoption.

COMMENTS:

ITEM #21

SUBJECT: RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM STAFF -

COMMENTS:



R e g u l a r V i l l a g e B o a r d M e e t i n g A g e n d a - M a y 1 9 , 2 0 2 0 | 11

13

ITEM #22

SUBJECT: RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE BOARD -

COMMENTS:

ITEM #23

SUBJECT: RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC -

COMMENTS:

ITEM #24

SUBJECT: ADJOURN TO EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS: 

A. THE APPOINTMENT, EMPLOYMENT, COMPENSATION,
DISCIPLINE, PERFORMANCE, OR DISMISSAL OF SPECIFIC
EMPLOYEES OF THE PUBLIC BODY OR LEGAL COUNSEL FOR
THE PUBLIC BODY, INCLUDING HEARING TESTIMONY ON A
COMPLAINT LODGED AGAINST AN EMPLOYEE OF THE PUBLIC
BODY OR AGAINST LEGAL COUNSEL FOR THE PUBLIC BODY
TO DETERMINE ITS VALIDITY.

ADJOURNMENT



Special Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes May 5, 2020 1

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL BOARD MEETING OF THE TRUSTEES,
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES,

ILLINOIS, HELD May 5, 2020
At this time President Vandenberg stated he would be unable to be in attendance for the entire 
meeting due to his employment. He relinquished the chair to Mayor Pro Tem Glotz.

The special meeting of the Board of Trustees, Village of Tinley Park, Illinois, was held in the 
Council Chambers located in the Village Hall of Tinley Park, 16250 S. Oak Park Avenue, Tinley 
Park, IL on May 5, 2020.   

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz called this meeting to order at 6:50 p.m. 

At this time, Mayor Pro Tem Glotz, stated the meeting was being held remotely via electronic 
participation consistent with Governor Pritzker’s Executive Order 2020-07 issued on March 16, 
2020, which suspends the Open Meetings Act provisions relating to in-person attendance by 
members of a public body. Specifically, the Governor’s Order: (1) suspends the requirement in 
Section 2.01 that “members of a public body must be physically present;” and (2) suspends the 
limitations in Section 7 on when remote participation is allowed. On April 30, 2020, Executive Order 
2020-33 re-issued Executive Order 2020-07. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz confirmed Board Members and 
Staff were able to communicate. All replied affirmative, except for Trustee Brady and Trustee 
Galante. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz then introduced ground rules for effective and clear conduct of 
Village business. 

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz led the Board and audience in the Pledge of Allegiance.

Clerk Thirion called the roll. Present and responding to roll call were the following:

President: Jacob C. Vandenberg (Participated electronically)
President Pro Tem: Michael W. Glotz (Participated electronically)
Village Clerk: Kristin A. Thirion

Trustees: Cynthia A. Berg (Participated electronically)
William P. Brady (Participated electronically)
William A. Brennan (Participated electronically)
Diane M. Galante (Participated electronically, arrived 
at 6:59)
Michael G. Mueller 

Absent: None

Also Present: 
Village Manager: David Niemeyer (Participated electronically)
Asst. Village Manager: Patrick Carr 
Village Attorney: Paul O’Grady

Motion was made by Trustee Brady, seconded by Trustee Mueller, to approve the agenda as written 
or amended for this meeting. Vote on roll call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: 
None.  Absent:  Galante.  Mayor Pro Tem Glotz declared the motion carried. 

Page | 14AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Special Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                May 5, 2020 2

 
Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to approve and place on file the 
minutes of the Regular and Special Village Board Meetings held on April 21, 2020.  Vote on roll 
call. Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller. Nays: None. Absent: None. Mayor 
Pro Tem Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brady, to consider approving the 
following Consent Agenda items:

The following Consent Agenda items were read by the Village Clerk:

A. CONSIDER PROCLAIMING MAY 14, 2020, AS "APRAXIA 
AWARENESS DAY" IN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK.

B. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-039 RECOGNIZING 
MAY 3 THROUGH MAY 9, 2020, AS "PUBLIC SERVICE 
RECOGNITION WEEK" IN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK.

C. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-038 RECOGNIZING 
MAY 3 THROUGH MAY 9, 2020 AS MUNICIPAL CLERKS WEEK 
IN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK.

D. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-049 RECOGNIZING 
MAY 17, THROUGH MAY 23, 2020 AS PUBLIC WORKS WEEK IN 
THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK.

E. CONSIDER PAYMENT OF OUTSTANDING BILLS IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $635,607.35 AS LISTED ON THE VENDOR BOARD 
APPROVAL REPORTS DATED APRIL 24, 2020, APRIL 30, 2020, 
AND MAY 1, 2020.

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if anyone from the Board would like to remove or discuss any items 
from the Consent Agenda. No items were removed or discussed. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz 
declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to place on first read, 
ORDINANCE 2020-O-019 ESTABLISHING A RECAPTURE FOR COSTS RELATED TO 
UTILITY EXTENSIONS AND A LIFT STATION SERVING THE AREA EAST OF 
LAGRANGE ROAD GENERALLY BETWEEN 179TH STREET, 183RD STREET AND 
94TH AVENUE. The Village of Tinley Park has initiated the engineering and construction plans for 
the extension of the Village’s sanitary sewer and water main system (including a lift station) to serve 
the general area of LaGrange Road and 183rd Street. The project provides economic development 
opportunity for over 30 acres of vacant parcels in the area. The recapture ordinance establishes a 
formula for recapture of cost on a per square foot basis against all benefitted properties.

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 
none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Mr. 
O’Grady, stated there were no written comments received by email, delivered to the drop box or 
requests to comment via telephone for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, 
Mueller.  Nays: Berg, Glotz. Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz declared the motion carried.

Page | 15AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Special Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                May 5, 2020 3

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Galante, to place on first read, 
RESOLUTION 2020-R-040 AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF AN ANNEXATION 
AGREEMENT WITH TOP HOSPITALITY, LLC., FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 9599 
94TH AVENUE (PREVIOUSLY REFERRED TO AS 18300 96TH AVENUE, NOW KNOWN 
AS WHITE EAGLE DRIVE).  The Petitioner, Haresh Jethani, on behalf of Top Hospitality, has 
petitioned the Village of Tinley Park to annex approximately 8.7 acres located at 9599 94th Avenue. 
The Annexation Agreement provides for the rezoning of the property to the B-3 (General Business 
and Commercial) zoning district to allow for the construction of two (2) Marriott branded hotels 
(Marriott Courtyard and Marriott Residence Inn). The agreement also provides for a recapture of 
costs to the benefit of the Village for the extension of utilities to the proposed development as well as 
recognizes the subject property is located within the area determined to be blighted under Ordinance 
2019-O-009 and therefore eligible for a Cook County Property Tax 7b reclassification.

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 
none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul 
O’Grady, Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop 
box, or requests to comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz 
declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to place on first read 
ORDINANCE 2020-O-020 APPROVING THE ANNEXATION OF PROPERTY 
COMMONLY LOCATED AT 9599 94TH AVENUE (PREVIOUSLY REFERRED TO AS 
18300 96TH AVENUE, NOW KNOWN AS WHITE EAGLE DRIVE). The Petitioner, Haresh 
Jethani, on behalf of Top Hospitality, has petitioned the Village of Tinley Park to annex 
approximately 8.7 acres located at 9599 94th Avenue. The property is in unincorporated Cook 
County. The annexation will include the adjacent 183rd Street right-of-way and will result in the 
annexation of a total of 9.15 acres.

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 
none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul 
O’Grady, Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email or delivered to the drop 
box, or requests to comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Brady, 
Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: Berg.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz declared the 
motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brady, to place on first read, 
ORDINANCE 2020-O-021 GRANTING A MAP AMENDMENT (REZONING) UPON 
ANNEXATION TO B-3 (GENERAL BUSINESS & COMMERCIAL) FOR CERTAIN 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 9599 94TH AVENUE (PREVIOUSLY REFERRED TO AS 18300 
96TH AVENUE, NOW KNOWN AS WHITE EAGLE DRIVE). The Petitioner, Top Hospitality 
LLC (property owner), is seeking to rezone two properties located at 9599 94th Avenue upon 
annexation to the B-3, General Business & Commercial zoning district. The rezoning will allow for 
the construction of two (2) Marriott brand hotels: Courtyard and Residence Inn. The Plan 
Commission held a Public Hearing on April 16, 2020, and voted 8-0 to unanimously recommend 
approval of the Map Amendment (Rezoning) in accordance with the plans as listed in the “Listed 
Reviewed Plans” and the Findings of Fact in the April 16, 2020 Staff Report.

 Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 

Page | 16AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Special Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                May 5, 2020 4

none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul 
O’Grady, Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop 
box, or requests to comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz 
declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to place on first read ORDINANCE 
2020-O-022 GRANTING VARIATIONS FROM THE ZONING ORDINANCE FOR THE 
PROPOSED COURTYARD AND RESIDENCE INN HOTELS AT THE PROPERTY LOCATED 
AT 9599 94TH AVENUE (PREVIOUSLY REFERRED TO AS 18300 96TH AVENUE, NOW 
KNOWN AS WHITE EAGLE DRIVE).  The Petitioner, Top Hospitality LLC (property owner), is 
seeking ten (10) variations related to lot size, lot layout, building height, parking, exterior materials, and 
signage as part of its proposal to redevelop the property located at 9599 94th Avenue (previously referred 
to as 18300 96th Ave., now known as White Eagle Drive) for two (2) Marriott brand hotels: Courtyard and 
Residence Inn with a total of 243 rooms.  The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on April 16, 2020, 
and voted 8-0 to recommend approval of the ten (10) Variations and adopt the Findings of Fact in 
accordance with the plans as listed in the “Listed Reviewed Plans” and the Findings of Fact in the April 16, 
2020 Staff Report.

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were none. 
Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul O’Grady, 
Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop box, or requests to 
comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes: Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, 
Mueller.  Nays: None.  Abstain: Berg. Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Galante, to place on first read, 
RESOLUTION 2020-R-050 APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A FINAL PLAT OF 
RESUBDIVISION FOR THE NEW HORIZON SUBDIVISION LOCATED AT 9599 94TH 
AVENUE (PREVIOUSLY REFERRED TO AS 18300 96TH AVENUE, NOW KNOWN AS 
WHITE EAGLE DRIVE).  The Petitioner, Top Hospitality LLC (property owner), has requested 
Final Plat approval for the New Horizon Subdivision associated with the development of the 
Courtyard and Residence Inn at 9599 94th Avenue (previously referred to as 18300 96th Ave., now 
known as White Eagle Drive). The Plat will subdivide the property into two (2) new parcels that split 
the proposed detention pond. The Plat also includes all proposed utility, cross-access, and parking 
easements. The Plan Commission reviewed the Final Plat of Re-subdivision with a recommended 
condition that the approval is subject to Final Engineering Plan approval by the Village Engineer, 
MWRD, and the US Army Corps of Engineers on April 16, 2020, and voted 8-0 to recommend 
approval.

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 
none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul 
O’Grady, Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop 
box, or requests to comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz 
declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to place on first read, 
RESOLUTION 2020-R-041 SUPPORTING AND CONSENTING TO THE FILING OF A 
CLASS 7B APPLICATION AND FINDING THE CLASS 7B NECESSARY FOR 

Page | 17AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Special Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                May 5, 2020 5

DEVELOPMENT TO OCCUR AT 9599 94TH AVENUE (PREVIOUSLY REFERRED TO AS 
18300 96TH AVENUE NOW KNOWN AS WHITE EAGLE DRIVE) - (COURTYARD BY 
MARRIOTT HOTEL). This Resolution provides support for the Cook County Class 7b incentive 
which reduces the tax assessment ratio for the property at 9599 94th Avenue from 25% to 10% of 
market value for ten (10) years, and is renewable.  The property will be developed as a 125-room 
hotel, approximately 83,722 square feet in area, for a proposed Courtyard by Marriott Hotel. This 
project also meets the goals and objectives for encouraging redevelopment in Tinley Park as set forth 
by the Economic and Commercial Commission and the Village Board of Trustees in previous 
meetings. 

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 
none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul 
O’Grady, Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop 
box, or requests to comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz 
declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Galante, to place on first read, 
RESOLUTION 2020-R-042 SUPPORTING AND CONSENTING TO THE FILING OF A 
CLASS 7B APPLICATION AND FINDING THE CLASS 7B NECESSARY FOR 
DEVELOPMENT TO OCCUR AT 9599 94TH AVENUE (PREVIOUSLY REFERRED TO AS 
18300 96TH AVENUE NOW KNOWN AS WHITE EAGLE DRIVE) - (RESIDENCE INN BY 
MARRIOTT).  This Resolution provides support for the Cook County Class 7b incentive which 
reduces the tax assessment ratio for the property at 9599 94th Avenue from 25% to 10% of market 
value for ten (10) years, and is renewable.  The property will be developed as a 118-room hotel, 
approximately 85,000 square feet, for a proposed Residence Inn by Marriott. This project also meets 
the goals and objectives for encouraging redevelopment in Tinley Park as set forth by the Economic 
and Commercial Commission and the Village Board of Trustees in previous meetings. 

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 
none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul 
O’Grady, Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop 
box, or requests to comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz 
declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brady, to place on first read 
ORDINANCE 2020-O-024 APPROVING TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE TO CLARIFY RECENT TEXT AMENDMENTS FOR RESIDENTIAL 
MASONRY REQUIREMENTS AND SHORT-TERM RENTALS.  Recently, the Village 
approved two (2) text amendments to the Zoning Ordinance relating to exterior masonry 
requirements (December 17, 2019; 2019-O-074) and for short-term rental uses (July 2, 2019; 2019-
O-035). While drafting and implementing the text changes, staff encountered a few text corrections 
that were required to ensure the intent behind these codes is clear. The Plan Commission held a 
Public Hearing on April 16, 2020, related to Zoning Ordinance changes, and voted 8-0 to 
unanimously recommend approval of the proposed text amendments.

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 
none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul 

Page | 18AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Special Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                May 5, 2020 6

O’Grady, Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop 
box, or requests to comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz 
declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to adopt and place on file, 
ORDINANCE 2020-O-025 GRANTING A GARAGE SIZE VARIATION FOR CERTAIN 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 6420 167TH STREET. The Petitioner, Brian Potter, is seeking a 152 
sq. ft. Variation from Section III.I.2.b. of the Zoning Ordinance (Residential Accessory Structures) to 
permit construction of an 872 sq. ft. detached garage, instead of the maximum permitted 720 sq. ft., 
at the property located at 6420 167th Street in the R-1 Single Family Residential zoning district. The 
Petitioner is looking to replace his deteriorating garage with a new and more attractive garage. The 
subject lot is large in comparison to the surrounding neighborhood and is large enough to be 
permitted a second detached garage. However, the preference is for one larger garage. The Zoning 
Board of Appeals held a Public Hearing on April 16, 2020 and voted 8-0 to unanimously recommend 
approval of the requested Variation in accordance with plans as listed in the “List of Reviewed 
Plans” and recommended condition in the April 16, 2020, Staff Report.

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 
none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul 
O’Grady, Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop 
box, or requests to comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz 
declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to amend, ORDINANCE 
2020-O-043 GRANTING A SPECIAL USE TO PERMIT INSTALLATION OF THREE 
ADDITIONAL ANTENNAS ON AN EXISTING STEALTH FLAG POLE TOWER AT 9001 
171ST STREET (VICTOR J. ANDREW HIGH SCHOOL) removing all references to installing 
an American Flag to this pole. Trustee Brady stated concerns about removing the references to 
replacing the American flag to this pole.  Trustee Mueller explained that neighboring residents had 
complained about noise from the flag’s ropes with this flag. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, Brady, 
Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz declared the 
motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to adopt and place on file 
ORDINANCE 2020-O-043 GRANTING A SPECIAL USE TO PERMIT INSTALLATION OF 
THREE ADDITIONAL ANTENNAS ON AN EXISTING STEALTH FLAG POLE TOWER 
AT 9001 171ST STREET (VICTOR J. ANDREW HIGH SCHOOL) as amended.

The Petitioner, Margie Oliver (of Dolan Realty Advisors) on behalf of Verizon Wireless, is 
requesting a Special Use Permit to amend the previously approved Special Use to allow three (3) 
additional antennas, for a total of 12 antennas, within the existing stealth flag pole wireless 
communication tower, located at 9001 171st Street (Victor J. Andrew High School) in the R-3 
(Single Family Residential) zoning district. The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on April 16, 
2020 and voted 8-0 to unanimously recommend approval of the Special Use Permit, and in 
accordance with the plans as listed in the “Listed Reviewed Plans” and the Findings of Fact in the 
April 16, 2020 Staff Report.  

Page | 19AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Special Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                May 5, 2020 7

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. Trustee Brady 
asked if there was proof that neighboring residents had complained.  Interim Community 
Development Director Paula Wallrich stated that she spoke with the Superintendent of High School 
District 230 and he noted that there has not been a flag on that pole for the past eleven (11) years.  
She noted the school is flying multiple flags at other locations on school property. Mayor Pro Tem 
Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul O’Grady, Village 
Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop box, or requests to 
comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, Brady, Brennan, 
Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz declared the motion 
carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Glotz, to adopt RESOLUTION 2020-R-
044 APPROVING A CONTRACT EXTENSION BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY 
PARK AND J&J NEWELL CONCRETE CONTRACTORS, INC. FOR THE CONCRETE 
FLATWORK AND CURB REPAIR PROGRAM). The Village has utilized the sidewalk and curb 
repair services of J&J Newell Concrete Contractors for the last two (2) years for maintaining and 
constructing sidewalks and curb repairs on Village-owned properties. Its services included sidewalk 
repairs, new sidewalk extensions in gap locations, curb removal and replacement, as well as ADA 
and driveway apron improvements throughout the Village. Last years’ service contract provided the 
Village the potential of extending the contract for two (2) additional years at a 2.5% annual increase. 
Last year’s services by J&J Newell were found to be acceptable and its previous services for the 
Village find them to be a credible, trustworthy Contractor. Consider approving a contract extension 
with J&J Newell Concrete Contractors, Inc. for the Concrete Flatwork and Curb Repair Program. 
Funds for this work are included in the approved FY 21 budget. This is unit pricing total costs are 
based on work performed. This item was discussed at the Committee of the Whole meeting on May 
5, 2020, held prior to this meeting

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 
none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul 
O’Grady, Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop 
box, or requests to comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz 
declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brady, to adopt RESOLUTION 2020-
R-045 APPROVING A CONTRACT EXTENSION BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY 
PARK AND TRAFFIC CONTROL COMPANY FOR THE PAVEMENT STRIPING 
PROGRAM. In maintaining roadways, the Public Works department utilized the pavement striping 
services of Traffic Control Company last year to clean and re-stripe nearly all major locally-owned 
streets throughout the Village and several residential roadways as well. Its services included 
approximately 12 miles of roadway striping throughout the Village last year. Last years’ service 
contract allowed the Village the potential of extending the contract for two (2) additional years at an 
annual 1.25% increase. Last year’s services by Traffic Control Company enabled the Village to get 
almost 2.5 additional miles of roadways striped and its previous services for the Village find it to be a 
credible, trustworthy Contractor. Consider approving a contract extension with Traffic Control 
Company for the Pavement Striping Program. Funds for this work are included in the approved FY 
21 budget. The unit pricing total costs are based on work performed.  This item was discussed at the 
Committee of the Whole meeting on May 5, 2020, held prior to this meeting.

Page | 20AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Special Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                May 5, 2020 8

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 
none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul 
O’Grady, Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop 
box, or requests to comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz 
declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Glotz, to adopt RESOLUTION 2020-
R-046 APPROVING A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND 
IHC CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, LLC FOR THE FIBER OPTIC EXTENSION 
PROJECT.  This project consists of the underground horizontal drilling of cable duct and 
communication cables (fiber optic and copper phone lines) from the existing utility vault at the 80th 
Avenue Metra Train Station to the Post 11 Water Tower. This work will be in the public right of way 
and requires permitting and coordination with the Cook County Highway Department to cross 80th 
Avenue, as well as, the Buckeye Pipeline which is in the west right of way along 80th Avenue. This 
project is a continuation of an established program to link Village facilities by fiber optic cable to 
enhance communications systems and reduce reliance on phone lines.  Additional phases later will 
extend the Village fiber network further north.

Consider approving a contract with IHC Construction Company, LLC for the Fiber Optic Extension 
Project in the amount of $139,700.  This item was discussed at the Committee of the Whole meeting 
on May 5, 2020, held prior to this meeting.

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 
none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul 
O’Grady, Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop 
box, or requests to comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz 
declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Galante, seconded by Trustee Berg, to adopt RESOLUTION 2020-R-
047 APPROVING A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND 
VISU-SEWER FOR POST 7 FORCE MAIN LINING ALTERNATE FIVE (5). Upon 
completion of a bid process for cleaning, televising, and lining the force main starting at Post 7 Lift 
Station (164th and Harlem Avenue) ending at Normandy Drive and 167th Street, Visu-Sewer was 
awarded the contract to perform the base bid plus alternates one (1) through four (4).  Alternate five 
(5) is the final phase of the project.

Consider awarding a contract to Visu-Sewer in the amount of $677,350.00.  This item was discussed 
at the Committee of the Whole on May 5, 2020, held prior to this meeting.  

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 
none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul 
O’Grady, Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop 
box, or requests to comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz 
declared the motion carried.

Page | 21AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Special Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                May 5, 2020 9

Motion was made by Trustee Berg, seconded by Trustee Brady, to adopt 2020-R-048 
AUTHORIZING THE VILLAGE MANAGER TO CONTRACT FOR THE PURCHASE OF 
ELECTRICITY. The Village participates in a consortium with 150 other municipalities known as 
the Northern Illinois Municipal Electric Collaborative (NIMEC) to drive down pricing for residential 
and municipal electricity. In addition to the Village’s residential and small business electric 
aggregation program, NIMEC also periodically goes out to bid for electricity pricing relating to 
municipal uses (pumping stations and street lighting accounts) on behalf of the entire consortium. 
With 150 communities that participate in NIMEC’s consortium, aggregating the collective volume 
achieves savings that would otherwise not be available if the accounts were bid individually. 

NIMEC will be holding a group bid for Street Lighting accounts on June 4th, 2020. As with the 
previous electrical agreements, the window of opportunity for the Village to sign agreements and 
take advantage of the lowest bidder is typically limited to less than 48 hours.  As such, the Village 
will need to authorize the Village Manager, to sign a third-party agreement upon completion of the 
competitive bidding process. This will aid in assuring that the Village will continue to be afforded the 
best possible electrical rates.

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the Board. There were 
none. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if there were any comments from members of the public. Paul 
O’Grady, Village Attorney, stated there were no written comments by email, delivered to the drop 
box, or requests to comment via telephone received for this item. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz 
declared the motion carried.

At this time, Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if anyone from the Staff would care to address the Board. No one 
came forward.

At this time, Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if anyone from the Board would care to address the Board.

Trustee Berg wished all the nurses and teachers a Happy Nurses Week and Happy Teachers Week.  She 
also wished all the moms a Happy Mother’s Day. 

Trustee Brady stated on Friday, May 8, 2020, from 10 a.m. to 2 p.m. emergency food will be passed out to 
those suffering or have been laid off due to the COVID-19 Pandemic at the Orland Township Office, 
14807 Ravinia Drive, Orland Park. This will take place again on May 22, 2020.

Trustee Brennan wished all the moms a Happy Mother’s Day. 

Trustee Galante thanked staff for keeping the Board and Village moving along with Village business 
during these difficult times. 

Trustee Mueller thanked Community Development Director Kimberly Clarke and Interim Community 
Development Director Paula Wallrich for their hard work with the Marriott Project and Pete’s Market.  He 
wished everyone a Happy Cinco de Mayo.

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz stated that he hopes the Village is close to opening soon, noting that Governor 
Pritzker unveiled his plan for phasing the lifting of current restrictions. Mayor Pro Tem Glotz commended 
the Public Safety Departments for keeping our residents safe during this trying time.  He also congratulated 
Staff and Trustee Mueller for their hard work on Pete’s Market.

Page | 22AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Special Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                May 5, 2020 10

Mayor Pro Tem Glotz asked if anyone from the public submitted written comment.  Mr. O’Grady stated no 
written comments were received via the drop box at the Village Hall. He stated that one (1) written 
comment was received via email before the deadline and forwarded to Village Officials.  This one (1) 
written comment was received on May 4, 2020, from Stephen Eberhardt. Mr. Eberhardt requested to attend 
the meeting personally.  He was informed that the Village Hall is closed to the public.  Mayor Pro Tem 
Glotz asked if there was anyone from the public who wished to comment telephonically. Village Attorney 
O’Grady stated that there were none received.

Motion was made by Trustee Glotz, seconded by Trustee Brady, at 7:51 p.m. to adjourn to Executive 
Session to discuss the following: 

A. LITIGATION, WHEN AN ACTION AGAINST, AFFECTING OR ON 
BEHALF OF THE PARTICULAR PUBLIC BODY HAS BEEN FILED 
AND IS PENDING BEFORE A COURT OR ADMINISTRATIVE 
TRIBUNAL, OR WHEN THE PUBLIC BODY FINDS THAT AN 
ACTION IS PROBABLE OR IMMINENT, IN WHICH CASE THE 
BASIS FOR THE FINDING SHALL BE RECORDED AND ENTERED 
INTO THE MINUTES OF THE CLOSED MEETING.

B. COLLECTIVE NEGOTIATING MATTERS BETWEEN THE PUBLIC 
BODY AND ITS EMPLOYEES OR THEIR REPRESENTATIVES, OR 
DELIBERATIONS CONCERNING SALARY SCHEDULES FOR 
ONE OR MORE CLASSES OF EMPLOYEES.

C. THE PURCHASE OR LEASE OF REAL PROPERTY FOR THE USE 
OF THE PUBLIC BODY, INCLUDING MEETINGS HELD FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF DISCUSSING WHETHER A PARTICULAR PARCEL 
SHOULD BE ACQUIRED. 

Vote on roll call:  Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. 
Mayor Pro Tem Glotz declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Brennan, seconded by Trustee Brady, to adjourn the regular Board meeting.  
Vote on roll call:  Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  
Mayor Pro Tem Glotz declared the motion carried and adjourned the special Board meeting at 8:55 p.m.

PLEASE NOTE: Where there is no summary of discussion on any items in the minutes, this reflects that 
no discussion occurred other than the introduction of the item.

APPROVED:

_____________________________________
                     Village President

ATTEST:

_____________________________________

Page | 23AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Special Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                                May 5, 2020 11

            Village Clerk

Page | 24AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-051

A RESOLUTION SEEKING IMMEDIATE MODIFICATIONS TO THE 
RESTORE ILLINOIS PLAN TO REOPEN BUSINESSES AND RESUME 

CIVIC ACTIVITY

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606
 

Page | 25AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-051

A RESOLUTION SEEKING IMMEDIATE MODIFICATIONS TO THE 
RESTORE ILLINOIS PLAN TO REOPEN BUSINESSES AND RESUME 

CIVIC ACTIVITY

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 

provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 

and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 

25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 

VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 

including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, COVID-19 is a novel severe acute respiratory illness that can spread among 

people through respiratory transmissions and present with symptoms similar to those of influenza; 

and certain populations are at higher risk of experiencing more severe illness as a result of COVID-

19, including older adults and people who have serious chronic medical conditions; and

WHEREAS, state of Illinois Governor JP Pritzker issued a disaster proclamation on March 

9, 2020, declaring all counties in the State of Illinois a disaster area under the Illinois Emergency 

Management Agency Act, 20 ILCS 3305/7; and 

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park and its officials and residents recognize that the 

Illinois Emergency Management Act, 2 ILCS 3305/1, et seq. (the “Act”) authorizes the Governor 

of the State of Illinois to issue emergency disaster proclamations and confers upon the Governor 

certain enumerated emergency powers after a disaster has been proclaimed, that he or she may 

exercise for a period of not to exceed 30 days (20 ILCS 3305/7);

WHEREAS, on April 1, 2020 Governor J.B. Pritzker issued Executive Order No. 8 which 

inter alia ordered: (1) residents to stay at home or place of residence; (2) “non-essential” 

businesses and operations must “cease”; (3) certain activity is “prohibited” in any form, except for 

“essential activities” which include, among other things (a) “outdoor activity” so long as “social 

distancing” is adhered to; (b) essential travel, as well as (c) food, medical, day care and 

professional services; and (5) citizens must engage in “social distancing” which specifically 

Page | 26AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



requires citizens to maintain a six (6) foot social distance from others; (b) citizens must wash hands 

with soap “for at least twenty seconds” as frequently as possible, (c) must cover coughs or sneezes, 

and may not shake hands (the “Stay at Home Order”); and 

WHEREAS, the Governor issued a second Proclamation continuing the same COVID-19 

disaster and issued an Executive Order extending the Stay at Home Order until April 30, 2020; 

and

WHEREAS, on April 30, 2020, the Governor issued Executive Order No. 30 easing 

certain restrictions in the Stay at Home Order and modifying some restrictions until May 30, 2020 

(the “Amended Stay at Home Order”); and

WHEREAS, while it is undeniable that the Stay at Home Order has had a positive effect 

on reducing the number of cases of individuals contracting COVID-19 and deaths in Illinois, it is 

equally undeniable that the Stay at Home Order has had a devastating financial impact on the 

businesses and residents in the State of Illinois and of the Village of Tinley Park; and 

WHEREAS, the Village is continuing its efforts to prepare for any eventuality given that 

this is a novel illness and given the known health risks it poses for the elderly and those with 

serious chronic medical conditions; and

WHEREAS, the Governor has developed a Restore Illinois Plan breaking the State into 

four geographic regions for reopening; and

WHEREAS, for some of the regions there are more dissimilarities between communities 

then there are similarities as it relates to COVID-19.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:

SECTION ONE: The Village of Tinley Park commends the Governor for developing 
a written plan known as Restore Illinois to provide a path forward so that the public has something 
to respond to.

SECTION TWO: The Village of Tinley Park immediately requests the Governor to 
modify the Restore Illinois Plan to base the State on the 11 Emergency Medical Services Regions 
that have traditionally guided its statewide public health work rather than four newly created 
Regions, in addition to 14-day timeline periods in comparison to the 28 day timeline periods 
currently in place.

Page | 27AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION THREE:  The Village of Tinley Park urges the Governor to work with the 
Legislature and Illinois Department of Commerce and Economic Opportunity to develop workable 
precautions, operational restrictions and reasonable guidelines and controls for the opening of 
restaurants, bars, salons, and other businesses in Phase 3 of the Restore Illinois Plan.

SECTION FOUR: The Village of Tinley Park further urges the Governor to work with 
the Legislature and Illinois Department of Commerce and Economic Opportunity to develop 
workable precautions, operational restrictions and reasonable guidelines and controls for the 
opening of child care providers, fitness facilities, and entertainment facilities of the Restore Illinois 
Plan, which otherwise will continue to be negatively impacted until the late phases of the reopening 
plan based on the Village’s current region location. 

SECTION FIVE: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon passage and 
approval.

APPROVED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
               VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 28AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2020-R-051, “A RESOLUTION SEEKING IMMEDIATE 

MODIFICATIONS TO THE RESTORE ILLINOIS PLAN TO REOPEN BUSINESSES AND 

RESUME CIVIC ACTIVITY” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Tinley Park on May 19, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
                    VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 29AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
To: Village Board
Cc: David Niemeyer, Village Manager 
From: Paula Wallrich, Acting Community Development Director
Date: May 19, 2020
Subject: 6201 175th Street Driveway Easement

BACKGROUND:

Brendan and Nicole Fitzgerald, owners of property located at 
6201 175th Street, have a contract for sale of their home. During 
the closing transactions their attorney noted there was no 
easement of record of rights to allow use of their driveway 
located on the unimproved 62nd Avenue right-of-way (ROW). 
The attached Driveway Easement Agreement grants the 
owners, and subsequent owners, a perpetual non-exclusive 
easement for ingress and egress over the ROW for the use of a 
driveway. It also provides them with the right to maintain and repair the driveway as may be 
needed from time to time.  The Village has no plans for improvement of this ROW but per the 
agreement has the right to access any utilities or underground facilities in the future.

RECOMMENDATION:

Approve and execute the Driveway Easement Agreement.

Page | 30AGENDA - 5/19/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-052

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A DRIVEWAY EASEMENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND 

BRENDAN AND NICOLE FITZGERALD, 6201 175TH STREET

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Page | 31AGENDA - 5/19/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-052

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A DRIVEWAY EASEMENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND 

BRENDAN AND NICOLE FITZGERALD, 6201 175TH STREET

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”), has considered a Driveway Easement 
Agreement (“Agreement”) 6201 175th Street, within the Village; and  

WHEREAS, a true and correct copy of said Agreement is attached hereto and made a part 
hereof as Exhibit 1; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of said Village of Tinley Park that 
said Agreement be approved and accepted; and     

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.

SECTION 2: That the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby 
approve and accept the agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit 1, and all necessary Village Officials 
are hereby authorized to execute the agreement prior to the final recording subject to review and 
revision as to form by the Village Attorney and Village Staff.   

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.

SECTION 4: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Resolution in 
pamphlet form, and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

Page | 32AGENDA - 5/19/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PASSED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
    VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 33AGENDA - 5/19/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2020-R-052, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING A DRIVEWAY 

EASEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND 

BRENDAN AND NICOLE FITZGERALD, 6201 175TH STREET,” which was adopted by 

the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on May 19, 2020.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 34AGENDA - 5/19/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Exhibit 1

Page | 35AGENDA - 5/19/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



(The Above Space for Recorder's Use Only)

DRIVEWAY EASEMENT AGREEMENT

This Agreement entered into this _ _ day of April 2020, by and between Brendan Fitzgerald & Nicole 
Fitzgerald (“Grantees”) whose address is 6201 175th St. Tinley Park, IL 6047 located in the county of Cook, 
and State of Illinois and Village of Tinley Park (“Grantor”).

WHEREAS, Grantees are the owners of a parcel of property described as "Exhibit A" which legal is 
attached hereto and made a part hereof; and

WHEREAS, Grantor is the owner of a parcel of certain dedicated right-of-way abutting the Grantees 
Property.

WHEREAS, a portion of the right-of-way serves the Grantees property as a driveway. Said driveway is 
depicted in that certain Plat of Survey performed by KDC Consultants dated Jan 27 2009 and noted as 
“pavement.” A copy of which is attached hereto as "Exhibit B".

WHEREAS, both Grantor and Grantees desire to keep and maintain the driveway as it presently exists:

NOW THERFORE FOR A VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, the undersigned GRANTOR, its successors and assigns, for good and valuable 
consideration, the sufficiency and receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, grants, warrants and 
conveys to the GRANTEES, and its successors and assigns, a perpetual non-exclusive easement and 
privilege of ingress and egress over the area outside of Grantees lot line and demarked “pavement” all as 
depicted on Exhibit B for the sole use of a driveway for vehicular and pedestrian access with the right to 
maintain and repair the driveway as GRANTEE may from time to time require for the purpose of this 
grant and the right to clear said driveway of ice snow and other build up including but not limited to 
bushes and other obstructions from the easement.

Reservation of Rights 

Notwithstanding the grant of easement set forth above the Grantor expressly reserves the all of its rights 
in the property and that of all other governmental authorities having jurisdiction of the land over the 
entire easement area for ingress, egress and the performance of any and all municipal and other 

Page | 36AGENDA - 5/19/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



governmental services including the installation repair and maintenance of any and all existing or future 
underground facilities and utilities and in no case shall the GRANTEE(S) permit any interference with 
the proper operation and maintenance of any underground facilities or utilities and no permanent 
structures shall be erected at ant time upon the easement area.  GRANTEE(S) agree to restore all 
property, including but not limited to landscaping, sod and/or blacktop, disturbed by its activities in use 
of the easement to the condition existing prior to the disturbance or better. 

This easement and all the terms, conditions, rights and obligations contained herein shall run with the 
land and the covenants and agreements herein contained shall be binding upon the parties hereto, their 
respective GRANTEEs, lessees, GRANTORs, its successors, assigns and all subsequent owners of the 
fee title to the real estate described above by parcel number and common address.

INDEMNIFICATION 
GRANTEE, its heirs, successors and assigns, assumes all liability and shall indemnify, defend and hold 
harmless the Grantor, its officers and employees, for any injury and damage to persons or property 
occasioned by or arising in connection with GRANTEES use of the easement area. 

GENERAL TERMS 

1.The provisions and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 
Parties, their legal representatives, successors and assigns, and shall run with the title of Property. 

2. Neither the VILLAGE, its officers, agents or employees, including any public utility that is authorized 
to use the public right-of-way, shall be liable for any damage incurred to the easement during or as a 
result of any repair, maintenance, operation, use or installation of equipment or facilities within the 
VILLAGE right-of-way, including but not limited to tree removal. Nothing herein shall relieve the 
Grantee or Grantor or any other person from the obligation to comply with the Illinois Underground 
Utilities Facilities 4 Damage Prevention Act, 220 ILCS 50/1 et seq.

WITHOUT THE MUTUAL CONSENT of both parties the driveway easement 
herein will not be extended to serve any other property.

THIS AGREEMENT shall be binding upon the heirs, successors, and assigns of any 
owner hereunder and shall run with the land of both parties.

e
Brendan Fitzgerald Village of Tinley Park

Nicole Fitzgerald

Page | 37AGENDA - 5/19/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Subscribed and Sworn to before me Subscribed and Sworn to before me
This  day of  ,2020 This day of_________, 2020

Notary Public Notary Public

Page | 38AGENDA - 5/19/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Exhibit A

LOT 6 (EXCEPT THE EAST 33 FEET THEREOF) IN BLOCK 2 IN ELMORE'S RIDGELAND AVENUE ESTATES
BEING A SUBDIVISION OF THE WEST 1/2 OF THE NORTHWEST 1/4 AND THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF THE
SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 32, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL
MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS (LYING NORTH OF THE INDIAN BOUNDARY LINE IN COOK
COUNTY, ILLINOIS).

Page | 39AGENDA - 5/19/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Exhibit B 

,,.,..

Page | 40AGENDA - 5/19/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: March 5, 2020

To: John Urbanski, Interium Public Works Director

From: Kelly Mulqueeny, Street Superintendent

Subject: Service Contract Award-Renewal Lawn Treatment 2020 (Year 3 of 3)

Presented for May 19, 2020 COW and Village Board Meeting for consideration and possible action:
Scope of Work: This service contract is a renewal for a qualified contractor to provide lawn treatments 
to the Villages 234 acres of lawn areas throughout Tinley Park. The scope varies by location. 

Description: Public Works is recommending that we extend our current contract for an additional year 
for lawn treatments at various locations in Tinley Park. The contract has the option of 2 (two) – 1 (one) 
year renewals. This would be the second and final extension for a total of 3 (three) years. 

Background: The 2018 service contract was advertised and bid in accordance with state bidding laws 
and provided the Village the potential of extending the contract for two (2) additional years. The past 
year TruGreen has proven to be a professional, reliable contractor with reasonable rates.

                                                    
Budget / Finance: Funding in the amount of $45,000.00 will be available in the FY21 Budget; Road 
and Bridge.

Budget Available    $45,000.00
Costs Landscaped Bed Maintenance    $32,936.00
Difference (Under Budget)                       $12,064.00          

Staff Direction Request:  
1. Approve the service contract for  FY21 mowing contract for TruGreen

in the amount of $32,936.
2. Direct Staff as necessary.

Attachments

1. Recommendation letter from Site Design Group

Interoffice

Memo
Page | 41AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-056

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE SECOND EXTENSION OF THE AWARDED CONTRACT 
WITH TRUGREEN FOR THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK LAWN CARE PROGRAM

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

_____________________________________________________________________________________
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Page | 42AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



RESOLUTION NO.  2020-R-056
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE SECOND EXTENSION OF THE AWARDED CONTRACT 

WITH TRUGREEN FOR THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK LAWN CARE PROGRAM

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, is a Home Rule Unit 

pursuant to the Illinois Constitution of 1970; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, 

Illinois, have considered entering into a Contract with the Trugreen, a true and correct copy of such Second 

Extension Contract being attached hereto and made a part hereof as EXHIBIT 1; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, 

Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interests of said Village of Tinley Park that said Contract be 

entered into by the Village of Tinley Park; 

NOW, THEREFORE, Be It Resolved by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of 

Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:

Section 1: The Preambles hereto are hereby made a part of, and operative provisions of, this 

Resolution as fully as if completely repeated at length herein.

Section 2: That this President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby find 

that it is in the best interests of the Village of Tinley Park and its residents that the aforesaid "Contract” be 

entered into and executed by said Village of Tinley Park, with said Contract to be substantially in the form 

attached hereto and made a part hereof as EXHIBIT 1, subject to review and revision as to form by the 

Village Attorney.

Section 3: That the President and Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, 

Illinois are hereby authorized to execute for and on behalf of said Village of Tinley Park the aforesaid 

Contract.

Section 4: That this Resolution shall take effect from and after its adoption and approval.

ADOPTED this 10th day of April, 2019, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park 

on a roll call vote as follows:

AYES:

NAYS:

ABSENT:

APPROVED this 19th day of April, 2020, by the President of the Village of Tinley Park.

                                                   
 Village President Pro-Tem

ATTEST:

___________________________
Village Clerk

Page | 43AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT 1

Page | 44AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )

COUNTY OF COOK ) SS

COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

     I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook and 

Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Resolution No. 2020-R-056, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE SECOND EXTENSION OF 

THE AWARDED CONTRACT WITH TRUGREEN FOR THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

LAWN CARE PROGRAM,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village 

of Tinley Park on May 19, 2020.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

Page | 45AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

February 26, 2020 

 

Ms. Kelly Mulqueeny 

Street Superintendent  

Village of Tinley Park 

16250 S. Oak Park Ave. 

Tinley Park, Illinois 60477 

 

re: Village of Tinley Park Lawn Treatment – Contract Renewal Recommendation 
 
 
Dear Kelly: 
 
At this time, we would like to recommend renewal of the Lawn Treatment contract with the 
current contractor, TruGreen.  

During our routine landscape maintenance inspections which took place throughout the growing 
season last year, occasional weed management issues did occur, but TruGreen was always very 
responsive and addressed outstanding issues as directed by the Village in a timely manner. 

TruGreen is interested in continuing their work with the Village, as referenced in their letter from 
September 10, 2019. This renewal would be the second of two possible renewal options for the 
Lawn Treatment contract. The contract amount for this renewal option is $45,000, as TruGreen 
did not escalate their bid costs above the initial year.  

Please let us know if you have any questions or concerns. 

 
Sincerely, 

 

 

Mitch Murdock 

Project Manager – site design group, ltd. 

 

CC:  RKS / BM/ KM 

Page | 46AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 47AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 48AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 49AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 50AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 51AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 52AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 53AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 54AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 55AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 56AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 57AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 58AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 59AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 60AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 61AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 62AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 63AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 64AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 65AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 66AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 67AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



  

12/19/17 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 ADDENDUM NO. 1 1 of 1 

ADDENDUM NO. 1 

2018 Tinley Lawn Treatments 
Tinley Park, Illinois  60477 

 
site Project Number 7947 

December 20, 2017 
 

 
This addendum forms part of the Contract Documents for the above named project and contains the 
following changes which are highlighted in red in the updated bid package: 

1) Clarifications & Changes 

a. A cashier’s check in the same amount would be acceptable in lieu of a 
performance bond. 

 
b. On form 00141 Treatment 2-1 under the On Demand Services, a section for 
bid numbers on tree and shrub treatment services has been added. 

 
2) Form 00141 
 

a. An updated form 00141 is included as part of this addendum. This updated 
form should be filled out and submitted with the bid in place of the old version.  

 
 

 
 

END OF ADDENDUM NO. 1 

Page | 68AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



  

 
 
 

PROJECT MANUAL 
 

for 

 

 

 

 

 

Village of Tinley Park 

TINLEY LAWN TREATMENTS 2018 
 
 
 

located at 
 
 

Tinley Park, Illinois 
 
 

for 
 

Village of Tinley Park 
16250 South Oak Park Avenue 

Tinley Park, Illinois 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This Project Manual contains 
bidding information, bidding and 
contract forms, drawings, and the 
Specifications for the Project.  
The contents of this manual, the 
accompanying Drawings and any 
Addenda constitute the Bid 
Documents for this Project. 

 
Landscape Architect 

site design group, ltd. 
888 South Michigan Ave #1000 

Chicago, Illinois  60605 
312-427-7240 

 
Project No.7946 

December 11, 2017
 

Page | 69AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



  

Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018 TOC-1 TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 
 

Division Section Title ............................................................................................................. Pages 

 
 

DIVISION 00 – PROCUREMENT AND CONCTRACTING REQUIREMENTS 
 

00115 INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS ....................................................................................... 7 
00140 BID FORM ........................................................................................................................ 6 
00141 TREATMENT PROGRAM 1 BID BREAKDOWN ... …………………………………………4 
00141 TREATMENT PROGRAM 2 BID BREAKDOWN . …………………………………………..1 
00141a EXHIBIT A - LOCAL VENDOR PURCHASING POLICY ................................................. 1 
 EXHIBIT B – RESPONSIBLE BIDDER ........................................................................... 1 
00141c CERTIFICATIONS BY CONTRACTOR ........................................................................... 3 
 REQUIRED INSURANCE ................................................................................................ 1 

 
DIVISION 01 - GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

 
01010 SUMMARY OF WORK .................................................................................................... 1 

 
DIVISION 02 - SITE CONSTRUCTION 

 
02925 LAWN TREATMENT…………………………..………………………………..... ............... 15 

  
APPENDIX 

 
 MOWING MAPS…..………………………………………………………. .......................... 81 
 MONUMENT SIGN MAPS…………..………………………………………………………...8 

  
 
 
 

Page | 70AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 00115-1 INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 

SECTION 00115 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 
Tinley Park, Illinois 
 

  

1 . PROJECT  

A. Sealed Bids are invited for:  Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 

B. Location:  Scattered sites throughout the Village of Tinley Park, Illinois  

C. Based upon Construction Contract Documents prepared by: 

1. site design group, ltd. 
888 South Michigan Avenue #1000 
Chicago, IL  60605 
312-427-7240 telephone 
 

2 . BID DELIVERY AND TIME DEADLINE  

A. Sealed Bids, clearly marked “TINLEY LAWN TREATMENT 2018 PACKAGE” will be 
received at the Village of Tinley Park Clerks Office, 16250 S. Oak Park Ave., Tinley Park, 
IL until 1:55 p.m. (central time) on Thursday, December 28

th
, 2017.    

B. Proposals will be publicly read aloud at 2:00 p.m. on December 28
th
, 2017.  No bid shall 

be withdrawn after the opening of the bids without the consent of the Mayor and Board of 
Trustees for a period of forty-five days after the scheduled time of closing bids. 

C. Bids must be made in full accordance with these "Instructions to Bidders".    

D. All copies of the Bid (and any other documents required to be submitted with the Bid shall 
be enclosed in a sealed opaque envelope.    

1. The envelope shall be addressed to the party receiving the Bid and shall be 
identified with the Project name, the Bidder's name and address.    

2. If the Bid is sent by mail, the sealed envelope shall be enclosed in a separate 
mailing envelope with the notation "SEALED BID ENCLOSED" on the face 
thereof.  

E. Bids shall be deposited at the designated location prior to the time and date for receipt of 
Bids indicated above, or any extension thereof made by Addendum. Bids received after 
the time and date for receipt of Bids will be returned unopened.  

F. The Bidder shall assume full responsibility for timely delivery at the location designated 
for receipt of Bids.  

G. Oral, telephonic or telegraphic Bids are invalid and will not receive consideration.  

3 . APPLICABLE LAWS:  

A. The bidder shall become familiar with all laws, ordinances, regulations and Codes of 
Federal, State, City and other local governmental agencies, which may in any manner 
affect the preparation of proposals or the performance of the Contract.  

4 . EXAMINATION OF DOCUMENTS AND PROJECT SITE  

A. The Bid Documents, including specifications, are available online on the Village of Tinley 
Park Contract Opportunities website http://www.tinleypark.org/index.aspx?nid=115 The 
bid documents will be available at 8:30 AM on Monday, December 11, 2017. 

Page | 71AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

http://www.tinleypark.org/index.aspx?nid=115


Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 00115-2 INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 

B. Complete sets of Bid Documents shall be used in preparing Bids including issued 
Addendum.  Neither the Owner nor the Architect assumes any responsibility for errors or 
misinterpretations resulting from the use of incomplete sets of Bid Documents.  

C. Pre-Bid Meeting:  Recommended Meeting December 19, 2017 at 9:30 AM at Public 
Works office, 7980 W. 183rd St.  

D. Before submitting a Bid, bidders shall carefully examine the Contract Documents and 
existing conditions and limitations of the jobsite, to assure that all costs to complete the 
Project under the requirements of these Documents are included in the Bid.  The 
submission of a proposal shall be accepted as evidence that the Bidder has followed the 
instructions herein and the Bidder shall, therefore, be singularly responsible for any and 
all errors that may be included in the Proposal resulting from failure or neglect to comply 
with these instructions.  

E. After the Bid Opening, no allowance will be made to any Bidder for any change in the 
scope or price of the Project due to items which would have been apparent by the 
Bidder's proper examination of the Documents and jobsite, during the bidding period.  

F. Should Bidders, upon examination of Bid Documents and project site, discover 
discrepancies, omissions, or duplications in the Bid Documents, or questions of scope or 
intended quality, they shall immediately report in writing via electronic mail to:  

Mitch Murdock 
site design group, ltd. 
888 South Michigan Avenue #1000 
Chicago, IL  60605 
mitchell.murdock@site-design.com 
646-271-9383 
 
 
no later than Thursday, December 21, 2017 at 10:00 a.m. prior to the date of Bid Receipt to the following 
address. site design group, ltd. will respond in one of two ways:  
 

1. By issuing a written statement of explanation  

2. By issuing an Addendum  

G. Bidder shall acknowledge receipt of any addendum or notices by completing Section 
00140, Bid Form, Part I, A, 1 prior to finalizing their bid. 

H. Neither site design group ltd. nor the Village of Tinley Park shall be responsible for any 
oral interpretations.  

I. During the bidding, certain revisions to the Contract Documents may be initiated.  These 
revisions shall be issued in writing, as Addenda, and will be numbered.  Any and all 
Addenda shall be incorporated as part of the Documents and shall supersede all previous 
information in these Documents they affect.  

5 .  ADDENDA  

A. Addenda will be e-mailed to all who are known by the Architect to have received a 
complete set of Bidding Documents according to the list of potential bidders who have 
downloaded the package of materials from the Village website. 

B. Copies of Addenda will be made available for inspection wherever Bidding Documents 
are on file for that purpose.  

Page | 72AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

mailto:mitchell.murdock@site-design.com


Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 00115-3 INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 

C. No Addenda will be issued later than five (5) calendar days prior to the date for receipt of 
Bids except an Addendum withdrawing the request for Bids or one which includes 
postponement of the date for receipt of Bids.  

D. Each Bidder shall ascertain prior to submitting a Bid that the Bidder has received all 
Addenda issued, and the Bidder shall acknowledge their receipt in the Bid.  

6 . PREPARATION OF BID FORM AND ATTACHMENTS  

A. Bids shall be submitted on the Bid Form included with the Contract Documents.  

B. All blank spaces on the Bid Form must be filled in, including Addenda, if any are issued 
during the bid period, in order for the Bid to be valid.  

C. Alternate Bids:  Spaces for Alternate Bids should be filled in with the amount increased or 
decreased to the Base Bid.  

D. Allowances:  Allowances stated in Section "Allowances" shall be included in the Lump 
Sum Bid.  

E. Voluntary Alternate Bids:  No voluntary alternates will be considered at this time.  

F. Unit Prices: Spaces for unit prices on the attached Bid Form shall be filled in with the 
amounts for increases or decreases in type of work indicated.  Unit prices shall be used 
for adjusting the Contract Sum in accordance with changes in the work.  

G. All bid amount totals shall be given in both words and figures.  In the event of a 
discrepancy between the words and figures, the words shall govern.  

H. Each Bidder must base his bid on materials and equipment described in the Contract 
Documents.  

I. The amount of the Base Bid must include, but not be limited to the following:  

1. The Owner is a tax-exempt body and is, therefore, exempt from certain sales and 
use taxes.  

2. All fees for royalties and patents.  

3. All temporary facilities as required.  Contractor may use Owner supplied electric, 
water and natural gas utilities on the site.  All other costs for temporary 
equipment and temporary utility hookups are the responsibility of the Contractor.  

J. Letter certifying no exclusions to plans and specifications.  

K. Contractor Personnel:  Each bidder must provide a list of key individuals to be assigned 
to the Project.  Include individual’s role and time commitment to the Project.  

L. Material suppliers specified shall be used for preparation of the bids.  Substitution 
requests shall not be allowed at the time of bidding.  

M. Each copy of the Bid shall include the legal name of the Bidder and a statement that the 
Bidder is a sole proprietor, partnership, corporation, or other legal entity.  Each copy shall 
be signed by the person or persons legally authorized to bind the Bidder to a contract.  A 
Bid by a corporation shall further give the state of incorporation and have the corporate 
seal affixed.  A Bid submitted by an agent shall have a current power of attorney attached 
certifying the agent’s authority to bind the Bidder. 

7 . OTHER CERTIFICATIONS AND SUBMITTALS 

A. All bidders must complete and sign the following certifications and submit them with their 
bid proposals. FAILURE TO DO SO WILL RESULT IN DISQUALIFICATION OF 
BIDDER. 

Page | 73AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 00115-4 INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 

1. Bidder Eligibility Certification and Non-Collusion Affidavit. 

2. Certificate of Compliance with Illinois Human Rights Act. 

3. Certificate of Compliance with Illinois Drug-Free Workplace Act. 

4. Certificate of Compliance with Sexual Harassment Policy. 

5. Certificate of Compliance with Substance Abuse Prevention on Public Works 
Projects Act. 

6. Certificate of Compliance with Prevailing Wage Requirements. 

7. Certificate of Compliance with the Village of Tinley Park Responsible Bidder 
Ordinance. 

8. Contractor Qualification References 

8 . BID SECURITY  

A. A certified check or bid bond on a solvent bank, payable without condition to the Village 
of Tinley Park in an amount not less than ten percent (10%) of the bid shall be submitted 
with each proposal, as a guarantee that, if the proposal is accepted, a contract will be 
entered into and the performance of the contract is properly secured. 

B. The Bid Security of the successful Bidder shall be returned to him immediately after the 
execution of the Agreement and upon delivery to the Owner of all requested bonds or 
certificates.  

C. The Bid Security of all unsuccessful Bidders shall be returned to them, after the Bid 
opening, as soon as is practicable.  

D. In submitting a Bid, the Bidder understands and agrees that if his Bid is accepted, and if 
bidder fails to enter into an Agreement with the Owner, bidder shall forfeit his Bid Security 
paid to the Owner, not as a penalty, but as liquidated damages due to such failure.  

9 . PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BOND  

A. Bidder shall furnish Performance and Payment Bond for the full amount of the Contract 
within seven (7) days of Notification of Award for the Contract.  The Bid Form provides 
space for Performance and Payment bond information.  

B. Bond shall be written on AIA Document A311, "Performance Bond and Labor and 
Material Payment Bond".  

C. The bond shall be with a surety or sureties with a rating of “A” or better by A.M. Best and 
Company and such sureties shall be approved by The Village of Tinley Park.  Bonds in 
the form of certified or cashier’s checks shall be made payable to The Village of Tinley 
Park.  The Performance and Payment Bond shall be furnished in the same number of 
copies as the number of copies of the contract to be executed.  

10 . BASIS OF AWARD  

A. The Village of Tinley Park reserves the right to reject any or all Bids for any reason and to 
accept any one Bid deemed most favorable to the best interests of the Village of Tinley 
Park.  

B. That in order to be considered a “responsible bidder” on any Village of Tinley Park public 
works projects, a bidder must comply with the following criteria, and submit acceptable 
evidence of such compliance, in addition to any other requirements as determined from 
time to time by the village for the specific type of work to be performed:  

1. Compliance with all applicable laws and village codes and ordinances 
prerequisite to doing business in Illinois and in the Village;  

Page | 74AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 00115-5 INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 

2. Compliance with:  

a. Submittal of federal employer tax identification number or social security 
number (for individual), and  

b. Provisions of section 2000e of chapter 21, title 42 of the United States 
Code and Federal Executive Order No. 11246 as amended by Federal 
Executive Order No. 11375 (known as the equal employment opportunity 
provisions);  

3. Furnishing certificates of insurance indicating at least the following coverages at 
minimum limits established by the village: general liability, workers’ 
compensation, completed operations, automobile, hazardous occupation, 
product liability, and professional liability;  

4. Compliance with all provisions of the Illinois prevailing wage act, including 
wages, medical and hospitalization insurance and retirement for those trades 
covered by the act;  

5. Participation in apprenticeship and training programs approved by and registered 
with the United States Department of Labor’s Bureau of Apprenticeship and 
Training;  

6. Compliance with the applicable provisions of the Illinois human rights act and the 
rules of the Illinois human rights commission, including the adoption of a written 
sexual harassment policy;  

7. Furnishing of required performance and payment bonds;  

8. Furnishing certification of no delinquency in the payment of any tax administered 
by the Illinois department of revenue;  

9. Furnishing certification that the bidder is not barred from bidding or contracting as 
a result of a violation of either section 33e or 33e-4 of chapter 720, article 5 of the 
Illinois compiled statutes; and  

10. Furnishing evidence that the bidder has not only the financial responsibility but 
also the ability to respond to the needs of the village by the discharge of the 
contractor’s obligations in accordance with what is expected or demanded under 
the terms of the contract.  

C. The successful Bidder shall be required to enter into a Contract with The Village of Tinley 
Park, covering the entire work of the Bid, and must furnish to the Owner all bonds, 
certifications, insurance documents, and other requirements, within seven (7) days after 
issuance of the Notice of Award of Contract or Letter of Intent.  

D. In determining the best Bidder, The Village of Tinley Park shall consider the following:  

1. The Base Bid, Unit Prices, Contract Time and the costs for any required bonds or 
certificates.   

2. Competence of the firm and its staff to perform the required construction as 
indicated by the technical training, education and experience of the Contractors 
personnel and subcontractors who are assigned to perform the service.  

3. Ability of the Contractor and his subcontractor’s ability to deliver the product 
competently and on an appropriate schedule to meet the needs of The Village of 
Tinley Park.  

4. The character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience and efficiency of the 
Bidder.  

Page | 75AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 00115-6 INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 

5. Past performance as demonstrated by evaluations from previous clients with 
respect to cost control, quality of work and meeting project schedules. Include 
three (3) references with name of project, location, owner and current contact 
person.  

6. The quality of performance of previous contracts or services.  

7. The previous and existing compliance by the bidder with the laws and ordinances 
relating to the contract or service.  

8. The sufficiency of the financial resources and ability of the Bidder to perform the 
contract or provide services.  

9. The ability of the Bidder to provide future maintenance and service for use of the 
subject of the Contract  

10. Information which The Village of Tinley Park may obtain through independent 
investigation.  

E. COMPETENCE OF SUBCONTRACTORS  

1. Each Bidder is required to complete the form attached to the Bid Form listing 
certain intended subcontractors to be employed on the Project.  

2. The competence and responsibility of all subcontractors shall be considered in 
awarding the Contract.  If subcontractors are unknown or their competence is 
questioned, it is understood that such subcontractor shall file, upon request, 
evidence of facilities, equipment, experience, financial and other data and 
references for investigation and qualification.  

3. The Village of Tinley Park reserves the right to reject any subcontractor, reserves 
the right to require the Contractor to provide an alternate subcontractor prior to 
consideration of bid and/or award of bid, and reserves the right to reject the bid of 
any Contractor for failure to provide competent subcontractors.  

F. QUALIFICATIONS OF CONTRACTORS  

1. The Contractor shall be required before the award of any contract to show to the 
complete satisfaction of the Department of Public Works that it has the necessary 
facilities, ability, and resources to provide the services specified herein in a 
satisfactory manner and within the required time deadlines.  The Contractor shall 
be required to provide a minimum of three references for similar work. The 
Department of Public Works reserves the right to reject any proposal if the 
evidence submitted by, or investigation of, the Contractor fails to satisfy the 
Department of Public Works that the Contractor is properly qualified to carry out 
the obligations of the contract and to complete the work described herein. Also, a 
24 hour contact name and number shall be required. 

G. The Village of Tinley Park Local Vendor Purchasing Policy provides local vendors 
preferential treatment when competing for contracts within the Village.  A local vendor is 
defined as a business that has an actual business location with the Village of Tinley Park 
and is licensed by the Village.  When considering contracts, the Village reserves the right 
to forego the lowest bid in favor of a local vendor when the amount of the local bidder 
exceeds that of the otherwise lowest bid as follows, provided both bidders are found to be 
responsive and responsible:  

 
  Contract Value 
  $0 to $250,000 5% 
  $250,000 to $500,000 4% 

Page | 76AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 00115-7 INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 

  $500,000 to $750,000 3% 
  $750,000 to $1,000,000 2% 
  $1,000,000 to $2,000,000 1% 
 

1. Maximum amount a local vendor’s bid may exceed lowest responsive and 
responsible bid:  $25,000  

11 . CHANGES AND WITHDRAWALS OF BID  

A. A Bidder may withdraw his bid and bid security, if one is required, at any time before the 
deadline set for Bid Opening, either personally or by written request.  Withdrawn Bids 
may be resubmitted up to the date and time designated for the receipt of Bids provided 
that they are then fully in conformance with these Instructions to Bidders.  

B. No Bid may be withdrawn after the Bid Opening, unless the award of the Contract is 
delayed for a period exceeding ninety (90) days after the Bid Opening.  

12 . FINAL COMPLETION  

A. The Undersigned hereby affirms and states that, if awarded the Contract for said Work, 
he will commence Work immediately after receiving Notice to Proceed and will coordinate 
a schedule with the Owner and AOR to completely perform the work and the agreed 
upon schedule, based on working regular time in strict accordance with the Contract 
terms and conditions.  

13 . CONSTRUCTION PROGRESS AND SCHEDULE  

A. Subject to the Village’s issuance of required permits, the Contractor shall be notified to 
start work by issuance of a written Notice to Proceed by the Village of Tinley Park.  Work 
shall start immediately after the issuance of a Notice to Proceed.   

B. Prior to work start, a Pre-Construction Conference will be held at the Public Works 
Garage located at 7980 West 183rd Street, Tinley Park, Illinois; to be determined.  

C. All Work shall be completed within the time period established in the Bid Form under 
Substantial Completion.  

D. A Construction Schedule shall be submitted in accordance with the requirements of these 
Contract Documents.  

 

END OF INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

Page | 77AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



  

Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 00140-1 BID FORM 

SECTION 00140 - BID FORM 
 

TINLEY LAWN TREATMENT 2018 
Tinley Park, Illinois  60477 

 
 
BIDDER IDENTIFICATION: 
 
 
Name of Bidder  ________________________________________________________  
 
Address  ________________________________________________________  
 
  ________________________________________________________  
 
Contact/Title  ________________________________________________________  
 
Telephone  ________________________________________________________  
 
Fax Number  ________________________________________________________  
 
E-Mail Address  ________________________________________________________  
 
 
BID TO BE SUBMITTED TO: 
 
 Village of Tinley Park Clerks Office 
 16250 S. Oak Park Avenue 
 Tinley Park, Illinois  60477 
 
I. THE BID: 

A. The Undersigned, representing the bidding firm named above, hereby submits a bid for all 
the work for the above mentioned project and further certifies that he has: 

1. Thoroughly and completely examined and comprehended the Bidding 
Documents, including provisions of the proposed contract and the following 
Addenda: 
 
Addendum No.  Date 

  _________________________   _______________________  
 
  _________________________   _______________________  
 
  _________________________   _______________________  
 
  _________________________   _______________________  
 

Page | 78AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



  

Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 00140-2 BID FORM 

2. Thoroughly examined and comprehended relevant portions of other available 
documents (e.g. plans and specifications for the existing facilities and 
equipment); 

 
3. Visited the site, including a thorough tour and examination of relevant portions of 

the physical facilities affected by this work; 
 

4. Familiarized with federal, state and local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations 
affecting and performance of this Work. 

 
5. Studied and carefully correlated his observations with the requirements of the 

Construction Documents, including the availability of labor and materials; 
 

6. Notified Architect of all conflicts, errors or discrepancies in the Bidding 
Documents affecting the Work and its cost; 

 
7. Made such additional surveys and investigations as he deems necessary to 

determine his Bid price for work within the terms of the Construction Documents. 

8. Agreed that the Work will reach final completion as noted in the Instructions to 
Bidders. 

9. Furnish all bonds and insurance required by the bidding documents. 

II. TOTAL BASE BID:  Accordingly the undersigned proposes to provide the Work as described in 
the Contract Documents in a timely manner and to place it into satisfactory operation for the 
stipulated sums as follow: 

A. TREATMENT PROGRAM ONE 2018 CONTRACT PRICE: All work required by the Contract 
Documents per the accompanying details 

 

   

 

   Dollars ($  ) 

Page | 79AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



  

Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 00140-3 BID FORM 

B. TREATMENT PROGRAM TWO 2018 CONTRACT PRICE: All work required by the Contract 
Documents per the accompanying details 

 

   

 

   Dollars ($  ) 

C. TREATMENT PROGRAM ONE+ TREATMENT PROGRAM TWO (A+B) 2018 CONTRACT 
PRICE: All work required by the Contract Documents per the accompanying details 

 

   

 

   Dollars ($  ) 

 

BID BREAKDOWN  

Complete and submit Section 00141 “Detailed Bid Breakdown” as part of Bid Submittal. 

A. PERFORMANCE BOND AND PAYMENT BOND:  The undersigned states the cost of a 
Performance Bond (not included in Base Bid), in the amount of 100% of the contract by 
an approved surety company licensed to do business in the State of Illinois. The owner is 
in no way responsible for costs associated with performance bond and payment bonds.  
This cost is the responsibility of the contractor. 
 
    
 
   Dollars ($ ). 

B. Prices quoted herein include all material, labor, freight, sales or use tax, licenses, final 
clean-up and any return trips required to complete the various phases of work. 

C. BID SECURITY:  Per Instructions to Bidders. 

D. PREMIUM TIME FEES: All bid prices above are based on regular-time hourly labor rates, 
Uexcept as specifically noted U otherwise in the bidding documents.  The Owner may later 
require certain portions of the work originally assumed and bid as regular-time work be 
completed during hours deemed as premium time by the Contractor.  Contractor shall be 
compensated for such possible occurrence in mutual agreement between Contractor and 
Owner. 

E. MARK-UP FEES: The Bidder agrees to the percentage mark-up fees stipulated in the 
mark-up schedule herein to be added to or deleted from the net price for changing the 
quantities of the work: 

Page | 80AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



  

Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 00140-4 BID FORM 

1. Prime Bidder’s Schedule of Mark-Ups: 

a) For any work performed by the Prime bidder’s own forces, not involving 
sub-bidders. 

b) Based on cost: 

(1) Extra for additional work:  
Overhead 10%  Profit 5% 

(2) Credit for deleted work: 
Overhead 0%  Profit 0% 

2. Sub-Bidder’s Schedule of Mark-Ups: 

a) For the Bidder any work performed by his Sub-bidder. 

b) Based on cost: 

(1) Extra for additional work:  
Overhead 5%  Profit 2% 

(2) Credit for deleted work: 
Overhead 0%  Profit 0% 

F. SUBCONTRACTORS:  The bidder proposes that this bid includes the work of the 
subcontractors listed below: 
 
Trade Contractor (name, address, telephone, representative) 
 
 ______________________________________________________________  
 
 ______________________________________________________________  
 
 ______________________________________________________________  
 
 ______________________________________________________________  
 
 ______________________________________________________________  
 
 ______________________________________________________________  

G. LEGAL ENTITY:  The Bidder declares his legal entity as indicated by check mark (x) and 
inserted information as follows:  

 (    ) Corporation. 
 
(    ) Sole Proprietor:  An individual whose signature is affixed to this bid. 
 
(    ) Partnership:  State full names, titles, addresses, of all 
 responsible principals or partners. 
 
  _________________________________________________  

Page | 81AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



  

Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 00140-5 BID FORM 

   _________________________________________________  

   _________________________________________________  

   _________________________________________________  

H. EXECUTION 

 

 Name  _________________________________________________  
  (legal name of bidding entity) 

 

 By  _________________________________________________  
  (individual authorized to act for entity) 

 

 Title  _________________________________________________  

 

 Date  _________________________________________________  

 

 Attest  _________________________________________________  

 

   Seal (if corporation) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 82AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



  

Issue for Bid 12/11/2017 
7946 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 00140-6 BID FORM 

 

 

 

CONTRACTOR QUALIFICATION REFERENCE SHEET 
Bidders shall provide three (3) references from projects similar in scope within the last two (2) years.  
 
MUNICIPALITY              
ADDRESS             
CONTACT NAME           
PHONE              
SCOPE OF WORK            
 
MUNICIPALITY              
ADDRESS             
CONTACT NAME           
PHONE              
SCOPE OF WORK            
 
MUNICIPALITY              
ADDRESS             
CONTACT NAME           
PHONE              
SCOPE OF WORK            

 

END OF SECTION 00140 

Page | 83AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Treatment Program 1: Once per year broadleaf herbicide application to lawn areas- Sites Found in Mowing Map Book

ID # Map Grid 

/Page #

Name/ Description Area 

(Sq Ft)

Area 

(Acres)

Treatment  

Program 1

2018 Contract Price 2019 Contract Price 2020 Contract Price

M001
1

Apple Pond (south/west sides) and Creekmont Parkway 45274 1.04
X

M002 2 80th Av Parkways 159th-163rd st 75467 1.73 X

M004 2 163rd St Parkway at ComEd ROW (both sides) 9257 0.21 X

M005 2 Hillcrest Pond (dry) north side of 163rd St. & Evergreen 255603 5.87 X

M006 3 76th Ave Medians - 161st St to 165th Pl 151174 3.47 X

M007 3 Helen Keller Pond and Parkway (north side of Helen Keller School) 161810 3.9 X

M009 5 Centennial Dr/Brementowne Rd 30008 0.69 X

M010 5 Kingston Ct. Parkway and Brementowne Dr. Median 8403 0.19 X

M011 5 Menards Berm Centennial Circle 13890 0.32 X

M012 5 Village Hall 16250 S. Oak Park Ave. 183022 4.20 X

M013 4 Harlem Ave Median - 161st to 163rd 11847 0.27 X

M014 5 Oak Park Ave Parkway - east side St Boniface to Concrete Wall 41742 0.96 X

M015 14 Pond North and South side of 168th St To Cherry Hill Ave 105177 2.41 X

M016 8 167th St Parkway, north side along Com Ed ROW 7572 0.17 X

M017 8 80th Ave Parkways 5 (west side) 163rd-167th st 34533 0.79 X

M019 9 Lake Villa Pond (perimeter)Lake Villa Ave and 163rd St 98296 2.26 X

M020 9 Post 7 - 164th and Harlem Ave E. side 4154 0.1 X

M021 9 Harlem Ave Median - 163rd to 167th 23203 0.53 X

M022 11 167th St Medians- Btw Harlem & Oak Park 8644 0.20 X

M025 12 Post 1 -167th St Pump and Tanks 6640 167th St 73036 1.68 X

M027 13 Easement North side of James St. Ridgeland to Leslie Ann 60910 0.55 X

M028 14 Cherry Hill Pond and creekside ditch north of 168th St 152931 6.49 X

M029 14 Plum Ct Pond 105091 3.02 X

M030 14 Creekside Ditch - east and west sides, S of 168th St 99626 2.29 X

M031 8 167th St Parkway, south side along Com Ed ROW 6831 0.16 X

M032 15 Waterford Pond Easement at 169th St 9993 0.12 X

M033 15 Waterford Pond (dry) at 169th/ComEd ROW 152650 3.5 X

M034 15 171st St from 84th to Grissom Dr (north side) 8182 0.19 X

M035 15 Pond F/Easement behind Grissom Middle School (17000 80th Av) 216151 4.34 X

M036 15 Post 5 - Bayberry Plaza Guardrail 20960 0.48 X

M037 10 167th St Guardrail by creek- 7606 & 7605 167th St. guardrail by creek 2386 0.05 X

M038 16 171st St Parkway (north side) from Olcott Ave to 80th Ave 22906 0.53 X

M039 16 80th Ave Parkways (east side) 167th-171st 41339 0.95 X

M041 17 Pond F - 168th Pl and Sandy Ln Pond (dry) 73243 1.68 X

M044 17 Midlothian Creek and (btw 170th St &Pl) Olcott parkway 73035 1.68 X

M045 17 170th Pl and Harlem guard rails E. and W. side (parkway) 7258 0.14 X

M047 17 170th Pl and Oketo Ave Vacant lot 7999 0.18 X

M049 17 Harlem Ave Median - Sandy Ln to 170th 4065 0.09 X

M050 17 171st St and Olcott Pond (dry) Fairmont Pond 474150 11.9 X

00141 Treatment 1- 1

Page | 84AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



M051 18 Sayre Ave Easement North side Sayre Ave. & 168th St. 11064 0.25 X

M052 18 Oak Park Ave parkway/median  168TH St to 171st 19059 0.44 X

M057 19 Ridgeland Ave Parkway (west side)  167th St. to Willow Ln. 63875 1.47 X

M058 19 Willow Lane Ditch 65368 1.5 X

M059 13 167th St Parkway along cemetery 10714 0.25 X

M060 20 Andres Pond (dry) 42941 0.99 X

M061 20 Christopher Ct Island 3170 0.07 X

M062 20 Gaynelle Bridge Parkways 6450 0.15 X

M063 22 171st St Parkway - 92nd Ave to 94th Ave 14182 0.33 X

M064 22 94th Ave Parkways 171st-175th 77628 1.78 X

M065 22 Briar and Thornwood pond (Pond J-2) 57129 1.31 X

M066 23 88th Ave Parkway - 172nd to 174th (both sides) 56911 0.7 X

M067 15 171st St Parkway - 92nd Ave to 88th Ave 50209 1.15 X

M068 23 Thurnberry Ln/Shetland Dr Vacant Lot 24527 0.56 X

M069 23 171st St and Mill Run Ct Vacant Lot 16409 0.38 X

M071 23 175th St Parkway - Mulberry Ave to Timbers Pond 18910 0.25 X

M072 23 Timbers Pond 88th Ave. & 175th St. Timbers 97180 2.67 X

M073 24 171st St Parkway - Valley Dr to 84th Ave (south side) 12618 0.29 X

M074 24 175th St Parkway - 84th Ave to creek (north side) 14539 0.52 X

M075 25 84th Ave Parkway at creek - 171st to 175th St. 50668 1.16 X

M077 25 175th St Parkway at ComEd right-of-way 11750 0.09 X

M080 16 171st St Parkway - 80th to Ozark Ave (south side) 11229 0.26 X

M081 26 172nd St and 80th Ave pond easements (dry) 6730 0.15 X

M082 26 80th Ave and Dooneen - pond and parkways 23938 0.55 X

M083 26 Post 3 Lift Station and 175th St Parkway - Oriole W to town homes N side 85163 1.95 X

M084 26 Post 3 - Ozark Easement west side of Ozark to Post 3 (north of 175th) 22268 0.51 X

M086 27 Post 4 - 173rd St Parkway (north side, Post 4) between Oriole Ave. & Oleander Ave. 8536 0.2 X

M087 27 175th St Parkway and Pond (dry), Odell Ave - Oriole Ave 269482 6.02 X

M088 18 171st St Parkway at Midlothian Creek (both sides) 8995 0.21 X

M090 40 175th St and Hickory St  Triangle Easement 11074 0.4 X

M091 29 6720 North Street - Vacant Lot 11626 0.27 X

M093 29 6742 North St 19022 0.44 X

M093 31 Bull Dog Bridge 172nd St/66th Ct Parkways (north side) 67th Ct to 173rd St 27328 0.63 X

M095 28 Oak Park Ave Municipal Lot Landscape Islands (Rear Only) 17200 Oak Park Ave 2205 0.05 X

M096 31 Oak Park Ave Train Station - North St parking lot 40276 0.92 X

M097 29 Vogt Plaza 3690 0.08 X

M098 29 Old Central School Vacant Lot 144467 3.32 X

M099 29 ESDA - Safety/Fire/Public Lot (Fire Station #1) 17355 68th Ct 9745 0.22 X

M100 29 Subway Parking Lot 17217 Oak Park Av 9686 0.22 X

M101 31 Oak Park Ave Train Station - South St parking Lot 36038 0.83 X

M102 31 Ridgeland Easement 64th Ct. & Ridgeland 21893 0.50 X

M103 31 Oak Forest Ave Easement (North side)  67th Ave. to Ridgeland 35240 0.81 X

M104 34 94th Ave Parkways 175th-179th 151212 3.47 X

00141 Treatment 1- 2

Page | 85AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



M105 22 Fire Station #3 9191 W 175th St 4130 0.09 X

M107 34 Ash and 176th - 9200 West 6834 0.16 X

M108 36 84th Ave Parkway (East Side) from 175th to 179th 18541 0.43 X

M109 36 Radcliff Pond and 175th St Parkway- just E of Humber 138191 3.44 X

M110 36 179th St Pond north side of 179th St. & 86th 148543 3.41 X

M111 36 88 Av & 175 St Parkways- 175 from Humber/88 and E side 88 from westbridge/175 11436 0.26 X

M113 37 80th Ave Parkways 175th to 179th W side 25256 0.54 X

M114 37 175th St and Queen Mary Ln Pond (dry) 75556 1.73 X

M115 37 179th St Parkways 2 - 80th to 84th (both sides) 247856 5.69 X

M116 37 Post 11 - Elevated Water Tank 11280 1.79 X

M117 39 Sandalwood guardrail 5862 0.13 X

M118 26 Bristol Park Pond (north/east sides) and 175th St Parkway (south side) 31208 0.39 X

M119 40 179th St Parkway Harlem to Sayre 20239 0.46 X

M120 40 Hickory Street Pump Station and N side of Hickory St 77386 1.78 X

M121 43 Texas Roadhouse Drive/White Eagle Drive Parkway (east) 31891 0.73 X

M122 43 Texas Roadhouse Drive/White Eagle Drive Parkway (west) 34071 0.78 X

M123 44 183rd St Parkways and Median 225641 5.18 X

M127 46 Pond South and North side 179th St and 86th 154971 3.56 X

M129 45 Pond Newcastle Drive & Mansfield Dr 589789 11.84 X

M130 35 179th St Parkway - Golden Pheasant to Upland Dr (south side) 39410 0.90 X

M132 47 80th Ave Parkways 2 (west side) 7119 0.16 X

M133 47 80th Ave Parkway RR to 183rd St (west side) 30599 0.70 X

M134 47 Cork Road Pond and vacant lot 30635 0.70 X

M135 48 183rd St Easement - 80th Ave to 76th (south side at guardrail only) 3468 0.08 X

M137 48 Police Station 7850 183rd St 98820 2.27 X

M138 48 80th Ave Parkway RR to 183rd St (east side) 18415 0.42 X

M139 48 80th Ave Train Station 341177 7.83 X

M142 48 Berm EMA Garage (7780 183rd St) 27231 0.63 X

M143 48 Veterans Parkway Easement - 76th Ave to Timbers Drive 393658 6.78 X

M144 48 Fire Training Tower 16196 0.37 X

M145 60 Harlem Ave Median - 177th to 179th 91169 2.09 X

M147 48 183rd Street Easement (south side) 8173 1.65 X

M148 51 182nd/Sayre Ave Easement 33587 0.94 X

M149 52 Ponds V and V-1 (dry) 181st St. & 65th Ave. Detention N. & S. 66163 1.51 X

M150 53 183rd St and Ridgeland Easement 59724 1.44 X

M151 52 183rd St/Oak Park Ave Parkway (NE Corner) 12441 0.29 X

M152 53 Easement 181st St. & Highland 25845 0.68 X

M153 44 183rd St Parkway  91st Ave-94th Ave  43659 1.00 X

M156 55 92nd Ave Parkway (east side) 92nd Ave. S. of 183rd parkway 42078 0.97 X

M159 46 183rd St Parkway (south side) 183rd Black Oak Dr-88th Ave 11348 0.26 X

M160 58 183rd St Parkway (north side)  183rd PL to Tralee Trl 50002 1.15 X

M161 59 185th St Parkway 10853 0.25 X

M162 61 Convention Center Dr /183rd St Parkway (south/east side) and median 18057 0.41 X

00141 Treatment 1- 3

Page | 86AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



M163 61 North & South Sides of Creek Next to Jovan Broadcasting 180647 0.42 X

M164 65 191st and Prosperi Dr Easement 108729 1.87 X

M165 67 Fairfield Lane/Glenshire St Parkways at Fairfield Glen Wetlands 7744 0.18 X

M166 69 80th Ave Parkways  191st St. to Greenway Blvd. 71013 1.63 X

M168 63 Fire Station #4 7801 191st St 44807 1.03 X

M169 71 Post #13 Brookside Glen lift stations 7408 1/2 W Ridgefield Lane 10398 0.12 X

M171 62 18301 S Ridgeland Post 2 - 183rd St Pump and Tanks 130122 2.99 X

M172 45 183rd St pond between 91st ave and Hilltop Ct 96447 2.21 X

M173 67 88 Av parkways both sides from Brookside Glen Dr to southern village boundary 69140 1.59 X

M174 68 Brookside Glen Dr parcel perpendicular to Meadows Edge Trl 9431 0.22 X

M175 77 80th Ave parkways east and west sides 91546 2.10 X

M176 30 175th St Parkway 118394 2.72 X

M177 11 167th St Parkways - 167th & Manchester 20370 0.47 X

M178 11 Oak Park Frontage Rd Island (between 165th Pl and 164th St) 5582 0.13 X

M179 11 Vacant Lot (Oak Park Av between Sussex Rd and Chelsea Rd) 10821 0.25 X

M180 13 Turf Median Half Circle on Ganynelle Rd 7708 0.18 X

M181 18 Small parking lot perimeter on 171st st and oak park ave (west of oak park and north of 171st)1648 0.04 X

M182 20 Parkways on N and S forest Glenn (east of ridgeland; including vacant lot) 15704 0.36 X

M183 24 Parkway on E side of 88th ave (from 175th St two houses north) 4991 0.11 X

M184 26 Vacant Lot (North of 173rd and West of Oriole Ave) 4184 0.10 X

M185 26 Rear easement behind homes (West of Ozark Ave, North of 174th) 10874 0.25 X

M186 28 Vacant Lot (W of 175th and N of Hickory St) 19154 0.44 X

M187 38 80th Ave East Parkway (From Cartier Ave to Champlain Ave) 8604 0.20 X

M189 52 183rd st North Parkway (W of M150 to about 200 feet before 65 Ct) 24886 0.57 X

M190 57 183rd Pl north side parkway (W of Crossing Dr) 38490 0.88 X

M192 12 Mowing strip south of Terrace Dr and east of 66th ave (behind homes) 20457 0.47 X

M193 22 LaGrange Rd medians (171st St to 179th St) 100262 2.30 X

M194 44 183rd St Medians (from 94th Ave to 80th Ave) 24358 0.56 X

M195 16 171st St median (just east of 80th Ave) 7389 0.17 X

M196 26 Tinley Downs (mowed weekly) 277536 6.37 X

M197 26 Pond area N of 172nd and E of 80th 44712 1.03 X

M199 28 East side of southernmost tip of 69th ave at Metra tracks 4588 0.11 X

M200 18 S of "H" shaped building E of Harlem ave, N of 170th St 27226 0.63 X

M201 1 Post 6 lift station 1307 0.03 X

Refer to Mowing Map book. 

TOTAL COSTS

PER ACRE UNIT COSTS FOR FUTURE SITE ADDITIONS X /acre /acre /acre

00141 Treatment 1- 4

Page | 87AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Treatment Program 2: Intense Program for High-Profile Sites
Refer back to Treatment Program 1 to find Map Grid/Page numbers for each ID#

Lawn Fertilizer Vegetation Management

ID # Name/ Description

Lawn Application 

Cost (Per 1X 

Application)

 Annual 

Applications 

 Annual Lawn 

Cost (4 

Applications) 

 Bed Weed & 

Vegetation Control 

Cost (Per 1X 

Application) 

 Annual 

Applications 

 Annual Bed and 

Veg Control Cost 

(3 Applications) 

Contract Price 

(2018)

 Additional Year 

(2019) 

 Additional Year 

(2020) 

M013, M021, M049, M145 Harlem Avenue Medians- All 4 0

M050 Retention Area - 171st & Olcott 4 0

M033 169th St/ Waterford Pond 4 0

M147 Public Works 4 3

M096, M097, M101, S01 Downtown Area/ Oak Park Station 4 3

M105 Fire House #3 4 3

M168 Fire House #4 4 3

M137 Police Station 4 3

M143 Veterans Parkway 4 0

M022 167th St. Medians 4 0

M012 Village Hall 4 3

M025 167th St. Pump Station 4 3

M115 179th St. Berm 4 0

M171 183rd St. Pump Station- Post 2 4 3

M006 76th Av Medians 4 3

M139 80th Av Train Station 4 3

TOTAL COSTS

LAWN AND BEDS

ON DEMAND SERVICES: PER ACRE UNIT COSTS 4 3

PER SQUARE FOOT UNIT COSTS 4 3

Deep Root 

Fertilization

Insect & 

Disease 

Application

TREE AND SHRUB ON 

DEMAND SERVICES:
PER TREE UNIT COST                   

(1 TREATMENT)

PER SHRUB UNIT COST                

(1 TREATMENT)

00141 Treatment 2- 1

Page | 88AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



TINLEY LAWN TREATMENT 2018 

 

    December 11, 2017 

 FF&E PROCUREMENT AGENT 
 1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK  LOCAL VENDOR PURCHASING POLICY 
The Village of Tinley Park believes it is important to provide local vendors with opportunities to provide 
goods and services to the Village of Tinley Park.  This belief is based upon the fact that the active uses of 
commercial properties in Tinley Park benefits the community through stabilization of property tax, the cre-
ation of local sales tax and the provision of employment opportunities for citizens of the community and 
surrounding region.  In an effort to promote the aforementioned benefits, the Village of Tinley Park wishes 
to provide local vendors with preferential treatment when competing for contracts with the Village.  A local 
vendor is defined as a business that has an actual business location within the Village of Tinley Park and 
is licensed by the Village.  The Village will not award a contract to a local vendor when the difference be-
tween the local vendors bid and the otherwise lowest responsive and responsible bid exceeds the appli-
cable percentage indicated as follows.  As such, when considering contracts, the Village of Tinley Park 
reserves the right to forego the lowest responsive and responsible bid exceeds the applicable percentage 
indicated as follows.  As such, when considering contracts, the Village of Tinley Park reserves the right to 
forego the lowest responsive and responsible bid in favor of a local vendor under the following circum-
stances: 
 

Contract Value     Range (up to a maximum of) 
$0 to $250,000     5% 
$250,000 to $500,000   4% 
$500,000 to $750,000   3% 
$750,000 to $1,000,000   2% 
$1,000,000 to $2,000,000    1% 

 
Under no circumstances will any contract be awarded to a local vendor when the local vendor’s bid ex-
ceeds the lowest responsive and responsible bid by $25,000 or more.   
 
This policy shall ONLY apply if formal notice of the aforementioned criteria is provided as part of the bid 
specifications.  In addition, it should be noted that the Village of Tinley Park shall not be obligated to fore-
go the low bidder in favor of the local vendor under any circumstances.  However, this policy simply pro-
vides the Village with the option of doing so when applicable.  Furthermore, this policy shall not apply in 
any situation where any portion of the contract amount is being paid with funds other than Village monies.  
Specifically, this policy shall not apply in any situation where the Village has received a grant or otherwise 
received a source of funds other than its own funds. 
 

Page | 89AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



TINLEY LAWN TREATMENT 2018 

 

    December 11, 2017 

 FF&E PROCUREMENT AGENT 
 2 

EXHIBIT B 
 
RESPONSIBLE BIDDER 
For any construction project undertaken by the Village to which the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act, 820 ILCS 
130/0.01 et seq. is applicable, in order to be considered a “responsible bidder” on Village Public Works 
Projects, a bidder must comply with the following criteria, and submit acceptable evidence of such com-
pliance, in addition to any other requirements as determined from time to time by the Village for the spe-
cific type of work to be performed: 
 

(a) Compliance with all applicable laws and Village Codes and Ordinances prerequisite to doing 
business in Illinois and in the Village; 

 
(b)  Compliance with: 

a. Submittal of Federal Employer Tax Identification Number or Social Security Num-
ber (for individual), and 

 
b.  Provisions of Section 2000e of Chapter 21, Title 42 of the United States Code and 

Federal Executive Order No. 11246 as amended by Federal Executive Order No. 
11375 (known as the Equal Employment Opportunity Provisions); 

 
(c) Furnishing certificates of insurance indicating at least the following coverages at minimum 

limits established by the Village: general liability, workers’ compensation, completed opera-
tions, automobile, hazardous occupation, product liability, and professional liability; 

 
(d) Omitted 

 
(e)  Participation in apprenticeship and training programs approved by and registered with the 

United States Department of Labor’s Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training; 
 

(f)  Compliance with the applicable provisions of the Illinois Human Rights Act and the rules of 
the Illinois Human Rights Commission, including the adoption of a written sexual harassment 
policy; 

 
(g)   Furnishing of required performance and payment bonds; 

 
(h)  Furnishing certification of no delinquency in the payment of any tax administered by the Illi-

nois Department of Revenue; 
 
(i)  Furnishing certification that the bidder is not barred from bidding or contracting as a result of 

a violation of either Section 33E or 33E-4 of Chapter 720, Article 5 of the Illinois Compiled 
Statutes; and 

 
(j) Furnishing evidence that the bidder has not only the financial responsibility but also the ability 

to respond to the needs of the Village by the discharge of the contractor’s obligations in ac-
cordance with what is expected or demanded under the terms of the contract. 

 
(k) Acknowledgement that the Village intends to utilize its standard Professional Services 

Agreement.  
 

Page | 90AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



CERTIFICATIONS BY CONTRACTOR 

 

Eligibility to Contract 

 

The undersigned hereby certifies that the Contractor is not barred from bidding on or 

entering into this contractor as a result of a violation of either the bid-rigging or bid-rotating 

provisions of Article 33E of the Criminal Code of 1961, as amended. 

 

 ____________________        ______________________________ 

Name of Contractor (please print)   Submitted by (signature) 

 

______________________________ 

Title 

 

Certificate of Compliance with Illinois Human Rights Act 
 

The undersigned hereby certifies that the Contractor is in compliance with Title 7 of the 

1964 Civil Rights Act as amended and the Illinois Human Rights Act as amended. 

 

___________________  _     ____________________________ 

Name of Contractor (please print)   Submitted by (signature) 

 

______________________________ 

Title 

 

Certificate of Compliance with Illinois Drug-Free Workplace Act 

 

The undersigned, having 25 or more employees, does hereby certify pursuant to section 3 

of the Illinois Drug Free Workplace Act (30 ILCS 580/3) that it shall provide a drug-free 

workplace for all employees engaged in the performance of the work under the contract by 

complying with the requirements of the Illinois Drug-Free Workplace Act and, further 

certifies, that it is not ineligible for award of this contract by reason of debarment for a 

violation of the Illinois Drug-Free Workplace Act. 

 

___________________        ________________________________ 

Name of Contractor (please print)   Submitted by (signature) 

 

______________________________ 

Title 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 91AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Certificate Regarding Sexual Harassment Policy 

 

The undersigned does hereby certify pursuant to section 2-105 of the Illinois Human Rights 

Act (775 ILCS 5/2-105) that it has a written sexual harassment policy that includes, at a 

minimum, the following information:  (i) the illegality of sexual harassment;  (ii) the 

definition of sexual harassment under State law;  (iii) a description of sexual harassment, 

utilizing examples;  (iv) an internal complaint process including penalties;  (v) the legal 

recourse, investigative and complaint process available through the Department of Human 

Rights and Human Rights Commission;  (vi) direction on how to contact the Department of 

Human Rights and Human Rights Commission; and  (vii) protection against retaliation. 

  

______________________________       _____________________________ 

Name of Contractor (please print)   Submitted by (signature) 

 

______________________________ 

Title 

 

Certificate of Compliance with Substance Abuse Prevention on Public Works Projects Act 
 

The undersigned hereby certifies that: 

 

A. There is in place a written program which meets  or exceeds the program requirements of 

the Substance Abuse Prevention on Public Works Projects Act (P.A. 95-0635), and has 

provided a written copy thereof to the Village of Tinley Park. 

 

B. There is in place a collective bargaining agreement which deals with the subject matter of 

the Substance Abuse Prevention on Public Works Projects Act (P.A. 95-0635) 

 

(Cross out either A or B depending upon which certification is correct) 

 

________________________   _____________________________ 

Name of Contractor (please print)   Submitted by (signature) 

 

______________________________ 

Title 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 92AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Certificate of Compliance with Prevailing Wage Requirements 
 

The undersigned hereby certifies that: 

This contract calls for the construction of a “public work,” within the meaning of the Illinois 

Prevailing Wage Act, 820 ILCS 130/.01 et seq. (“the Act”). The Act requires contractors and 

subcontractors to pay laborers, workers and mechanics performing services on public works 

projects no less than the current “prevailing rate of wages” (hourly cash wages plus amount for 

fringe benefits) in the county where the work is performed. The Department publishes the 

prevailing wage rates on its website at http://www.state.il.us/agency/idol/rates/rates.HTM. The 

Department revises the prevailing wage rates and the contractor/subcontractor has an obligation 

to check the Department’s web site for revisions to prevailing wage rates. For information 

regarding current prevailing wage rates, please refer to the Illinois Department of Labor’s 

website. All contractors and subcontractors rendering services under this contract must comply 

with all requirements of the Act, including but not limited to, all wage requirements and notice 

and record keeping duties. 

 

 

____________________   _____________________________ 

Name of Contractor (please print)   Submitted by (signature) 

 

______________________________ 

Title 

 

 

Certificate of Compliance with the Village of Tinley Park Responsible Bidder Ordinance 

 

The undersigned or the entity making the proposal or bid has reviewed and is in compliance with 

the Village of Tinley Park Responsible Bidder Ordinance No. 2009-O-002. 

 

___________________   ____________________________ 

Name of Contractor (please print)   Submitted by (signature) 

 

______________________________ 

Title 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page | 93AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Required Insurance 

 

The selected Proposer, at its sole cost and expense, shall maintain at all times during the course of the 

Work, the following types of insurance: 

 

(1) Workers Compensation Insurance to cover full liability under Worker’s Compensation laws of 

the State in which the project is located with Employers’ Liability coverage in limit not less than 

$1,000,000.00. 

 

(2) Comprehensive General Liability Insurance on an “occurrence” basis for the hazards of 

operations, independent contractors, products and completed operations (for two [2] years after 

the date of Final Acceptance of the Work by Owner), and contractual liability. Such 

Comprehensive General Liability insurance must include broad form property damage and afford 

coverage for “personal injury” liability insurance. All General Liability Insurance shall be per 

location aggregate. Such insurance shall include an endorsement providing that the insurance 

afforded under Contractor’s policy is primary insurance as respects Owner and that any other 

insurance maintained by Owner is excess and noncontributing with the insurance required 

hereunder. The insurance required shall be in limits not less than the following: 

 

a)  Property damage and bodily injury liability: 

$1,000,000 each occurrence 

$2,000,000 aggregate 

b) Personal injury liability: 

$2,000,000 aggregate 

 

(3) Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned and hired 

automobiles. The insurance required shall be in limits not less than: 

 

a)  Property damage and bodily injury liability: 

$1,000,000 each person 

$1,000,000 each occurrence 

 

(4) Comprehensive Catastrophe Liability Insurance (Umbrella) of Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) 

on items 1, 2 and 3 above. 

 

(5) Errors and Omissions Insurance of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per claim and One Million 

Dollars ($1,000,000) aggregate. 

 

(6) The Village of Tinley Park and its officers, officials, Village President and Board of Trustees, 

agents, employees, volunteers, representatives, assigns, successors, transferees, licensees, 

invitees, and attorneys to be included as an additional insured for insurance coverage required in 

items 2, 3 and 4 above using the additional insured form ISO form CG 2010 (11/85) or its 

equivalent.  

 

As evidence of coverage 1, 2, 3 and 4, Owner is to receive a certificate of insurance, setting forth the 

nature of the coverage, the limits of liability, the name of the insurance carrier, policy number, the date of 

expiration and listing the additional insured as set forth in item 6 above. Each carrier shall agree to furnish 

at least thirty- (30) day’s prior written notice of cancellation or material change in coverage. 

 

 
 

Page | 94AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Issue for Bid 12/11/17  
7947 Tinley Lawn Treatment 2018 01010-1 SUMMARY OF WORK 

01010 – SUMMARY OF WORK 

PART 1 - GENERAL 

1.01 Project Description 

A. The project consists of landscape maintenance work throughout the Village of Tinley Park. 
Project related information is as follows: 

1. Project Name:  Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018 

2. Project Location:  Scattered sites throughout the Village of Tinley Park, Illinois 

3. Owner:   Village of Tinley Park (the Village) 

4. Landscape Architect: site design group, ltd. (site) 

B. The site maintenance work consists of, but is not limited to: 

1. Lawn treatment services on Village owned or Village maintained sites. 

2. On-demand services- to be requested and approved by the Village on a case by case 
basis. 

1.02 Contractor use of Premises 

A. General: During the project period the Contractor shall have full use of the premises for 
maintenance operations, including use of the sites. The Contractor's use of the premises is 
limited only by the Owner's right to perform maintenance operations with its own forces or to 
employ separate contractors on portions of the project. 

B. The Contractor is responsible for the repair and/or replacement of areas damaged by project 
operations. 

C. All damaged areas shall be restored to the existing condition prior to the damage. 

1.03 Contractor Responsibilities 

A. The Contractor’s responsibilities include, but are not limited to:  

1. Performing services as noted in contract specifications. 

2. Minimizing disruption to curbs, pavement and street traffic.  

3. When required, provide traffic protection and control. 

4. Secure all required work permits. 

5. Provide in-kind replacements or repairs for any damages incurred while performing 
contract work, including but not limited to private property such as fences or mailboxes, 
and public ROW such as turf repairs from ruts, or overspray from herbicide applications. 

 

 

END OF SECTION 

Page | 95AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-1                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

Village of Tinley Park  

Lawn Treatments 2018 

     

SCOPE OF WORK:   

The Village of Tinley Park (VOTP) in its role of maintaining village-owned properties seeks the services of 

a capable Contractor to coordinate and deliver lawn treatment services at VOTP owned or VOTP 

maintained properties, such as right-of-ways and detention pond locations. The Contractor shall 

perform the following general services during the growing season, which is April 15th through November 

15th.   

 Lawn and Bed Treatments:  Provide lawn and planting bed applications including weed control, 

fertilization, vegetation control and other related work for all areas listed in the detailed bid 

breakdown. 

   

 On Demand Services/ New Work:  When directed by the Street Superintendent or approved 

representative, provide, install, warranty and maintain all new landscape work as requested.   

 

 Reports: Submit weekly and monthly reports as detailed below in the “Reporting Requirements” 

section below (02925-5) 

BID REQUIREMENTS   

Bid pricing must be added to the attached detailed bid tab sheet. The cost must be broken down for 

each area per month and total for the entire growing season. This contract will be in effect for the entire 

2018 growing season. The growing season is April 1st through December 1st. Depending on weather 

conditions, treatment may not be needed for this entire time, or may need to be extended beyond this 

window and the bid should reflect that. This contract will have the option for 2 - one year extensions. 

The extension will be based on good workmanship and price. On occasion new on-demand work may be 

needed in addition to regular maintenance work items. Prices for on-demand services including labor 

should be included in the bid separate from regular maintenance.  Any on-demand services must be 

approved by Street Superintendent or designated Street Foreman.   

EXAMINATION OF PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, SPECIAL PROVISIONS, AND WORK SITES:   

The prospective bidder shall, before submitting a bid, carefully examine the provisions of the contract.  

The bidder shall inspect in detail the sites of the proposed work, investigate and become familiar with all 

the local conditions affecting the contract and fully acquaint themselves with the detailed requirements 

of construction.     

PRE-CONSTRUCTION MEETING:   

Upon execution of the contract with the successful bidder, the Village will schedule a meeting with the 

Contractor.  The Contractor shall submit a work schedule on or before this meeting.  In attendance shall 

Page | 96AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-2                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

be the Contractor's representative on the job; i.e., Construction Superintendent or Foreman.  On, or 

before this meeting, the Contractor and Village Street Foreman shall inspect the work site to determine 

the existing conditions.     

 1. Purpose - To discuss and resolve any problems regarding the work prior to the Contractor starting 

work.  This includes the schedule of construction operations and interpretation of the Special Provisions 

and/or plans.   

 2. Attendance - Street Superintendent, Street Foremen, Contractor, Utility Company representatives, if 

utility work or adjustments are required.  Also, any other persons as may be deemed necessary.   

 3. Specification information regarding source of materials, who is responsible for testing of materials, 

what, if any, work will be sublet, responsibility for maintaining traffic or detours, and any other 

problems relating to the work are to be discussed.   

 4. A roster will be prepared which will list the names, addresses and telephone numbers of all parties 

concerned.  Twenty-four (24) hour a day and emergency contact persons and phone numbers shall be 

listed.    

USE OF FIRE HYDRANTS  

If the Contractor desires to use water from hydrants, they shall make application to the proper 

authorities, and conform to the municipal ordinances, rules or regulations concerning their use.  Water 

from hydrants or other sources shall be at the Contractor’s expense unless otherwise provided in the 

Special Provisions.   

List of hydrants used must be turned in to Street Superintendent or assigned representative weekly. 

Contractor is responsible for reporting any malfunctioning or damaged hydrants.   

Fire Hydrants shall be accessible at all times to the fire department. No material or other obstructions 

shall be placed closer to a fire hydrant than permitted by municipal ordinances, rules or regulations, or 

within ten feet (10’) of a fire hydrant, in the absence of such ordinances, rules or regulations.    

QUANTITY CHANGES:  

VOTP reserves the right to add or delete areas to be maintained under all of the treatment programs at 

the unit prices bid.   

LOCATION OF UTILITIES:  

Before starting any digging, the Contractor shall contact JULIE for location of any and all utilities (if 

necessary).  The toll-free number is 800-892-0123.   

The Contractor is responsible for notification and coordination with JULIE for location of utilities before 

and throughout the length of the contract.   

NOTICE:   

Village Notification  

Page | 97AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-3                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

A minimum of forty-eight (48) hours notice shall be given to the VOTP prior to starting work, departing 

from a pre-approved regular schedule, or restarting work after some absence of work for any reason. 

VOTP must be notified by the next business day if there have been any employee assignment changes to 

the crew assigned to the Village. Notification may be done by email, phone call or in person.   

NOTIFY:  Public Works  
Street Department:    
708-444-5520 Kelly Mulqueeny    
708-444-5526 Jimmy Quinn      
708-444-5527 Steve Grossi    
Public Works  
Facilities Department:    
708-444-5595 Dave Galati 
708-444-5500 Village Hall   

 
For all pesticide application notifications, the following list of contacts must be emailed.  A minimum of 
24 hours prior to the work for all sites other than the Village Hall and the Police Station. The Village Hall 
and the Police Station require 4 days advanced notice via email: 
 
Kelly Mulqueeny kmulqueeny@tinleypark.org 

Terry Lusby Jr. tlusby@tinleypark.org 
Terri Chojnacki tchojnacki@tinleypark.org 

David Galati dgalati@tinleypark.org 

Denise A. Maiolo dmaiolo@tinleypark.org 
Laura Godette lgodette@tinleypark.org 

Jimmy Quinn jquinn@tinleypark.org 
Steve Grossi sgrossi@tinleypark.org 

 
 
PROTECTION AND SAFETY OF PEDESTRIANS: Work zone safety shall be practiced and maintained at all 

times until the project work is completely finished.  Landscape work is obviously situated in areas 

traveled by pedestrians.  The landscape work in this contract will be encountered by motorist, 

pedestrians and bicyclists throughout the growing season, for this reason the contractor must anticipate 

this and accommodate them.  Any potential hazards to the general public due to materials, equipment, 

obstructions, tripping hazards, drop-offs or any hazardous aspects of the work must be remedied or 

properly protected and barricaded. Grass clippings may not be blown into streets or sidewalks.   

WORK DAYS & NOISE LIMITATIONS: All work within the defined limits of the project shall be performed 

between the hours of 7:00 AM and 7:00 PM, Monday through Friday, and between 9:00 AM and 5:00 

PM on Saturday, unless authorized at the sole discretion of VOTP. No work is to be performed or left 

open on Sunday or the following holidays: New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor 

Day, Thanksgiving and Christmas.  In rare instances, work conducted at public facilities such as Village 

Hall may be required outside the standard hours in order to work around a conflict, as directed by the 

Street Superintendent. 

Page | 98AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

mailto:kmulqueeny@tinleypark.org


 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-4                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

VILLAGE SPECIAL EVENTS: The Village has several special events throughout the year, typically held in 

the downtown area which may require all landscape maintenance work to be completed immediately 

beforehand so the sites are looking their best. These events include but are not limited to: 

 Village Block Party (usually around the 3rd Sunday in July) 

 Farmers Markets 

 Music performances 

 Movie showings 

CLEAN-UP: The Contractor shall be responsible for thoroughly cleaning up any and all areas affected by 

their work.  All parkways must be left neat.  If the area has not been cleaned properly, VOTP Public 

Works will use a mechanical street sweeper or any other equipment we deem necessary to clean the 

area.  All clean-up related work shall be incidental in cost to the contract work.   

No work shall be left incomplete over holidays.   

DISPOSAL OF DEBRIS AND EXCAVATED OR REMOVED MATERIALS: The Contractor shall be responsible 

for satisfactory removal and disposal of any litter found in the area. Contractor will completely remove 

all litter prior to treatments.   

PARKWAY TREES: The Contractor shall inspect each work site in advance and arrange to execute the 

work in a manner which will not cause injury to trees.  Any tree limbs that might be damaged by 

equipment operations should be protected by the contractor.  Any tree limbs that are broken by 

equipment shall be reported to VOTP. The Village will neatly prune the damaged limb at the 

Contractor's expense.    

DAMAGES: Work under this pay item shall include providing all the materials, labor and equipment 

necessary to remove and replace damaged areas that was caused by the contractor.  VOTP will not 

provide a dumpsite for this material.    

Ruts caused by equipment or vehicles must be restored to their original state. Seed is acceptable for 

damaged areas smaller than 9”.   

CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES   

In providing the services under this Contract, the Contractor shall:   

1. Exercise safe, sanitary and sound-business practices with the skill, care and diligence normally shown 

by professional landscapers.   

2. Require all employees to wear suitable uniforms during the time they are on Village property.   

3. Supply an adequate number of trained and fully insured personnel to perform all work.   

4. Require one employee on a crew to understand all verbal and written instructions in English issued by 

the Street Superintendent or representative.   

Page | 99AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-5                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

5. Remove all rubbish, debris and wastes from the location(s), resulting from the work performed, in an 

orderly and safe manner and legally dispose of same.  

6. Provide evidence of all licenses and permits that may be required for all contract activities.   

7. Provide required notification of chemical application on public areas, as required by law.   

8. Require all personnel to report any hazardous or out of the ordinary conditions, as well as any 

vandalism, theft, deterioration, graffiti, damage, spills, evidence of rodent or animal infestation, unusual 

activity or the like, that may affect the operation and/or safety on Village properties, to the Street 

Superintendent, or representative. Any item in need of repair or replacement shall be reported on the 

same day it is observed.   

9. Provide all consumable supplies, fertilizers, chemicals, water, equipment, tools, materials, containers, 

transportation, insurance, and labor required fulfilling the Contract and ensuring the health, vitality and 

appearance of plants and lawns.   

Bidders shall also submit the names, experience and licenses for its Commercial Pesticide Applicator(s) 

that shall be used for spraying, weeds and pest control.   

REPORTING REQUIREMENTS   

The Contractor shall submit reports (e.g., weekly, monthly, annually, etc.) in any form, content, and 

substance that may be required by the Street Superintendent, or representative at any time during this 

Contract. It shall be initially required that the Contractor provides the following reports to VOTP:   

• Advanced notification of implementation of “On Demand” projects in addition to all pesticide 

applications.    

• Weekly report of the work week, outlining all completed activities (e.g., maintenance, spraying, 

products used, etc.) and staffing and indications of locations serviced.   

• Monthly summary, with Contractor’s invoice, of all work performed during the preceding month as 

well as any problems incurred, solutions provided recommendations and new or outstanding issues that 

may be of relevance to the operation.   

• Annual summary of the preceding year’s activities and a preliminary forecast of the coming year’s 

activities or concerns if applicable.   

• Advanced notification of chemical application schedule, minimum of two days in advance to notify 

staff.   

MEETINGS   

It is anticipated that there will be required meetings between VOTP and the Contractor. These meetings 

may include representatives of other Village Departments and/or other Contractors or consultants, at 

the Street Superintendents’ discretion.  It is initially anticipated that there will be a monthly meeting, 

April through December, to discuss landscape treatment issues. If necessary, additional Quality 

Assurance (QA) meetings will be scheduled by the Street Superintendent to review Village of Tinley 

Page | 100AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-6                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

Park’s standards as well as the overall quality of the Services. An initial QA meeting to discuss start-up 

issues and requirements shall be scheduled upon Contract award.   

Attendance by the Contractor at all scheduled meetings shall be mandatory. The Contractor shall have a 

sufficient number of management level personnel (e.g., owner, superintendent, horticulturist, foremen) 

with decision-making authority available to attend meetings when scheduled. In any year of the 

Contract, if the Contractor fails to attend meetings, VOTP may seek corrective measures that could 

include delays in the processing of Contractor’s invoice.   

STAFFING PLAN   

The Contractor shall be responsible for employing and assigning a staff of competent personnel who are 

fully licensed, insured and qualified to perform the landscape work as required by this contract.  At the 

onset of the Contract the Contractor shall provide staffing schedules for the Street Superintendents' 

review and approval. Staffing issues shall be reviewed at monthly meetings as required. Bidder shall 

describe anticipated maximum and minimum crew sizes with its bid. Bidder shall also provide a list and 

description of any work to be performed by subcontractors with its bid.   

SUPPLY AND EQUIPMENT REQUIREMENTS   

As described under “Contractor’s Responsibilities,” the Contractor shall supply all consumable supplies. 

Any costs for supplies shall be included as part of the bid price. Bidder shall submit a list of proposed 

supplies indicating a description and the brand name of each. Additionally, on demand the Contractor 

must provide a completed Manufacturer’s Standard Material Safety Data Sheet (OSHA Form #20) for all 

fertilizers, herbicides and pesticides that may be used for the contract.   

Any equipment or supplies of improper type or design, or inappropriate for the intended use, shall be 

replaced with satisfactory equipment or supplies at the Contractor’s expense.  On demand, the 

Contractor shall submit where it will warehouse and how it will transport the equipment to and from 

the site.   

LIST OF SITES 

The following list of sites is provided as a reference, and more details can be found in the detailed bid 

tab. VOTP may add or delete sites from the list as future maintenance needs may change. The acreages 

and square footages provided here are given as an estimate, and VOTP does not guarantee their 

accuracy. An estimated boundary of each site can be found in the corresponding map book on the page 

listed under the “Map Grid #” column. Some sites span more than one page, but in those cases only one 

map grid number is given. For treatment program one, only the turf areas are receiving treatments, but 

some parcels may also include beds in and amongst those turf areas. Treatment program two covers 

both lawn and bed areas at high profile sites.  

 

 

 

Page | 101AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-7                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

ID # Map 

Grid # 

Name/ Description Area 

(Sq Ft) 

Area 

(Acres) 

Turf or 

Beds 

M001 1 Apple Pond (south/west sides) and Creekmont Parkway 45274 1.04 Turf 

M002 2 80th Av Parkways 159th-163rd st 75467 1.73 Turf 

M004 2 163rd St Parkway at ComEd ROW (both sides) 9257 0.21 Turf 

M005 2 Hillcrest Pond (dry) north side of 163rd St. & Evergreen 255603 5.87 Turf 

M006 3 76th Ave Medians - 161st St to 165th Pl 151174 3.47 Both 

M007 3 Helen Keller Pond and Parkway (north side of Helen Keller 

School) 

161810 3.9 Turf 

M009 5 Centennial Dr/Brementowne Rd  30008 0.69 Turf 

M010 5 Kingston Ct. Parkway and Brementowne Dr. Median 8403 0.19 Turf 

M011 5 Menards Berm Centennial Circle 13890 0.32 Both 

M012 5 Village Hall 16250 S. Oak Park Ave. 183022 4.20 Both 

M013 4 Harlem Ave Median - 161st to 163rd 11847 0.27 Both 

M014 5 Oak Park Ave Parkway - east side St Boniface to Concrete Wall 41742 0.96 Turf 

M015 14 Pond North and South side of 168th St To Cherry Hill Ave 105177 2.41 Turf 

M016 8 167th St Parkway, north side along Com Ed ROW 7572 0.17 Turf 

M017 8 80th Ave Parkways 5 (west side) 163rd-167th st 34533 0.79 Turf 

M019 9 Lake Villa Pond (perimeter)Lake Villa Ave and 163rd St 98296 2.26 Turf 

M020 9 Post 7 - 164th and Harlem Ave E. side 4154 0.1 Both 

M021 9 Harlem Ave Median - 163rd to 167th 23203 0.53 Both 

M022 11 167th St Medians- Btw Harlem & Oak Park 8644 0.20 Both 

M025 12 Post 1 -167th St Pump and Tanks 6640 167th St 73036 1.68 Both 

M027 13 Easement North side of James St. Ridgeland to Leslie Ann 60910 0.55 Turf 

M028 14 Cherry Hill Pond and creekside ditch north of 168th St 152931 6.49 Turf 

M029 14 Plum Ct Pond  105091 3.02 Turf 

M030 14 Creekside Ditch - east and west sides, S of 168th St 99626 2.29 Turf 

M031 8 167th St Parkway, south side along Com Ed ROW 6831 0.16 Turf 

Page | 102AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-8                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

M032 15 Waterford Pond Easement at 169th St  9993 0.12 Turf 

M033 15 Waterford Pond (dry) at 169th/ComEd ROW 152650 3.5 Turf 

M034 15 171st St from 84th to Grissom Dr (north side) 8182 0.19 Turf 

M035 15 Pond F/Easement behind Grissom Middle School (17000 80th 

Av) 

216151 4.34 Turf 

M036 15 Post 5 - Bayberry Plaza Guardrail 20960 0.48 Turf 

M037 10 167th St Guardrail by creek- 7606 & 7605 167th St. guardrail by 

creek 

2386 0.05 Turf 

M038 16 171st St Parkway (north side) from Olcott Ave to 80th Ave 22906 0.53 Turf 

M039 16 80th Ave Parkways (east side) 167th-171st 41339 0.95 Turf 

M041 17 Pond F - 168th Pl and Sandy Ln Pond (dry) 73243 1.68 Turf 

M044 17 Midlothian Creek and (btw 170th St &Pl) Olcott parkway  73035 1.68 Turf 

M045 17 170th Pl and Harlem guard rails E. and W. side (parkway) 7258 0.14 Turf 

M047 17 170th Pl and Oketo Ave Vacant lot 7999 0.18 Turf 

M049 17 Harlem Ave Median - Sandy Ln to 170th 4065 0.09 Turf 

M050 17 171st St and Olcott Pond (dry) Fairmont Pond 474150 11.9 Turf 

M051 18 Sayre Ave Easement North side Sayre Ave. & 168th St. 11064 0.25 Turf 

M052 18 Oak Park Ave parkway/median  168TH St to 171st 19059 0.44 Turf 

M057 19 Ridgeland Ave Parkway (west side)  167th St. to Willow Ln. 63875 1.47 Turf 

M058 19 Willow Lane Ditch 65368 1.5 Turf 

M059 13 167th St Parkway along cemetery 10714 0.25 Turf 

M060 20 Andres Pond (dry) 42941 0.99 Turf 

M061 20 Christopher Ct Island 3170 0.07 Both 

M062 20 Gaynelle Bridge Parkways 6450 0.15 Turf 

M063 22 171st St Parkway - 92nd Ave to 94th Ave 14182 0.33 Turf 

M064 22 94th Ave Parkways 171st-175th 77628 1.78 Turf 

M065 22 Briar and Thornwood pond (Pond J-2) 57129 1.31 Turf 

M066 23 88th Ave Parkway - 172nd to 174th (both sides) 56911 0.7 Turf 

Page | 103AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-9                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

M067 15 171st St Parkway - 92nd Ave to 88th Ave 50209 1.15 Turf 

M068 23 Thurnberry Ln/Shetland Dr Vacant Lot 24527 0.56 Turf 

M069 23 171st St and Mill Run Ct Vacant Lot 16409 0.38 Turf 

M071 23 175th St Parkway - Mulberry Ave to Timbers Pond 18910 0.25 Turf 

M072 23 Timbers Pond 88th Ave. & 175th St. Timbers 97180 2.67 Turf 

M073 24 171st St Parkway - Valley Dr to 84th Ave (south side) 12618 0.29 Turf 

M074 24 175th St Parkway - 84th Ave to creek (north side) 14539 0.52 Turf 

M075 25 84th Ave Parkway at creek - 171st to 175th St. 50668 1.16 Turf 

M077 25 175th St Parkway at ComEd right-of-way  11750 0.09 Turf 

M080 16 171st St Parkway - 80th to Ozark Ave (south side) 11229 0.26 Turf 

M081 26 172nd St and 80th Ave pond easements (dry) 6730 0.15 Turf 

M082 26 80th Ave and Dooneen - pond and parkways 23938 0.55 Turf 

M083 26 Post 3 Lift Station and 175th St Parkway - Oriole W to town 

homes N side 

85163 1.95 Turf 

M084 26 Post 3 - Ozark Easement west side of Ozark to Post 3 (north of 

175th) 

22268 0.51 Both 

M086 27 Post 4 - 173rd St Parkway (north side, Post 4) between Oriole 

Ave. & Oleander Ave. 

8536 0.2 Turf 

M087 27 175th St Parkway and Pond (dry), Odell Ave - Oriole Ave 269482 6.02 Turf 

M088 18 171st St Parkway at Midlothian Creek (both sides) 8995 0.21 Turf 

M090 40 175th St and Hickory St  Triangle Easement  11074 0.4 Turf 

M091 29 6720 North Street - Vacant Lot 11626 0.27 Turf 

M093 29 6742 North St 19022 0.44 Turf 

M093 31 Bull Dog Bridge 172nd St/66th Ct Parkways (north side) 67th Ct 

to 173rd St 

27328 0.63 Turf 

M095 28 Oak Park Ave Municipal Lot Landscape Islands (Rear Only) 

17200 Oak Park Ave 

2205 0.05 Both 

M096 31 Oak Park Ave Train Station - North St parking lot 40276 0.92 Turf 

M097 29 Vogt Plaza  3690 0.08 Both 

Page | 104AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-10                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

M098 29 Old Central School Vacant Lot 144467 3.32 Turf 

M099 29 ESDA - Safety/Fire/Public Lot (Fire Station #1) 17355 68th Ct 9745 0.22 Turf 

M100 29 Subway Parking Lot 17217 Oak Park Av 9686 0.22 Turf 

M101 31 Oak Park Ave Train Station - South St parking Lot 36038 0.83 Turf 

M102 31 Ridgeland Easement 64th Ct. & Ridgeland 21893 0.50 Turf 

M103 31 Oak Forest Ave Easement (North side)  67th Ave. to Ridgeland 35240 0.81 Turf 

M104 34 94th Ave Parkways 175th-179th 151212 3.47 Turf 

M105 22 Fire Station #3 9191 W 175th St 4130 0.09 Both 

M107 34 Ash and 176th - 9200 West 6834 0.16 Turf 

M108 36 84th Ave Parkway (East Side) from 175th to 179th 18541 0.43 Turf 

M109 36 Radcliff Pond and 175th St Parkway- just E of Humber 138191 3.44 Turf 

M110 36 179th St Pond north side of 179th St. & 86th 148543 3.41 Turf 

M111 36 88 Av & 175 St Parkways- 175 from Humber/88 and E side 88 

from westbridge/175 

11436 0.26 Turf 

M113 37 80th Ave Parkways 175th to 179th W side 25256 0.54 Turf 

M114 37 175th St and Queen Mary Ln Pond (dry) 75556 1.73 Turf 

M115 37 179th St Parkways 2 - 80th to 84th (both sides) 247856 5.69 Turf 

M116 37 Post 11 - Elevated Water Tank 11280 1.79 Turf 

M117 39 Sandalwood guardrail 5862 0.13 Turf 

M118 26 Bristol Park Pond (north/east sides) and 175th St Parkway 

(south side) 

31208 0.39 Turf 

M119 40 179th St Parkway Harlem to Sayre 20239 0.46 Turf 

M120 40 Hickory Street Pump Station and N side of Hickory St 77386 1.78 Turf 

M121 43 Texas Roadhouse Drive/White Eagle Drive Parkway (east) 31891 0.73 Turf 

M122 43 Texas Roadhouse Drive/White Eagle Drive Parkway (west) 34071 0.78 Turf 

M123 44 183rd St Parkways and Median 225641 5.18 Turf 

M127 46 Pond South and North side 179th St and 86th 154971 3.56 Turf 

M129 45 Pond Newcastle Drive & Mansfield Dr 589789 11.84 Turf 

Page | 105AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-11                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

M130 35 179th St Parkway - Golden Pheasant to Upland Dr (south side) 39410 0.90 Turf 

M132 47 80th Ave Parkways 2 (west side) 7119 0.16 Turf 

M133 47 80th Ave Parkway RR to 183rd St (west side) 30599 0.70 Turf 

M134 47 Cork Road Pond and vacant lot 30635 0.70 Turf 

M135 48 183rd St Easement - 80th Ave to 76th (south side at guardrail 

only) 

3468 0.08 Turf 

M137 48 Police Station 7850 183rd St 98820 2.27 Turf 

M138 48 80th Ave Parkway RR to 183rd St (east side) 18415 0.42 Turf 

M139 48 80th Ave Train Station 341177 7.83 Turf 

M142 48 Berm EMA Garage (7780 183rd St) 27231 0.63 Turf 

M143 48 Veterans Parkway Easement - 76th Ave to Timbers Drive 393658 6.78 Turf 

M144 48 Fire Training Tower 16196 0.37 Turf 

M145 60 Harlem Ave Median - 177th to 179th 91169 2.09 Turf 

M147 48 183rd Street Easement (south side) 8173 1.65 Turf 

M148 51 182nd/Sayre Ave Easement 33587 0.94 Turf 

M149 52 Ponds V and V-1 (dry) 181st St. & 65th Ave. Detention N. & S. 66163 1.51 Turf 

M150 53 183rd St and Ridgeland Easement  59724 1.44 Turf 

M151 52 183rd St/Oak Park Ave Parkway (NE Corner) 12441 0.29 Turf 

M152 53 Easement 181st St. & Highland 25845 0.68 Turf 

M153 44 183rd St Parkway  91st Ave-94th Ave   43659 1.00 Turf 

M156 55 92nd Ave Parkway (east side) 92nd Ave. S. of 183rd parkway 42078 0.97 Turf 

M159 46 183rd St Parkway (south side) 183rd Black Oak Dr-88th Ave 11348 0.26 Turf 

M160 58 183rd St Parkway (north side)  183rd PL to Tralee Trl 50002 1.15 Turf 

M161 59 185th St Parkway  10853 0.25 Turf 

M162 61 Convention Center Dr /183rd St Parkway (south/east side) and 

median 

18057 0.41 Turf 

M163 61 North & South Sides of Creek Next to Jovan Broadcasting 180647 0.42 Turf 

M164 65 191st and Prosperi Dr Easement 108729 1.87 Turf 

Page | 106AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-12                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

M165 67 Fairfield Lane/Glenshire St Parkways at Fairfield Glen Wetlands 7744 0.18 Turf 

M166 69 80th Ave Parkways  191st St. to Greenway Blvd. 71013 1.63 Turf 

M168 63 Fire Station #4 7801 191st St 44807 1.03 Turf 

M169 71 Post #13 Brookside Glen lift stations 7408 1/2 W Ridgefield Lane 10398 0.12 Turf 

M171 62 18301 S Ridgeland Post 2 - 183rd St Pump and Tanks 130122 2.99 Turf 

M172 45 183rd St pond between 91st ave and Hilltop Ct 96447 2.21 Turf 

M173 67 88 Av parkways both sides from Brookside Glen Dr to southern 

village boundary 

69140 1.59 Turf 

M174 68 Brookside Glen Dr parcel perpendicular to Meadows Edge Trl 9431 0.22 Turf 

M175 77 80th Ave parkways east and west sides 91546 2.10 Turf 

M176 30 175th St Parkway 118394 2.72 Turf 

M177 11 167th St Parkways - 167th & Manchester 20370 0.47 Turf 

M178 11 Oak Park Frontage Rd Island (between 165th Pl and 164th St) 5582 0.13 Turf 

M179 11 Vacant Lot (Oak Park Av between Sussex Rd and Chelsea Rd) 10821 0.25 Turf 

M180 13 Turf Median Half Circle on Ganynelle Rd 7708 0.18 Turf 

M181 18 Small parking lot perimeter on 171st st and oak park ave (west 

of oak park and north of 171st) 

1648 0.04 Turf 

M182 20 Parkways on N and S forest Glenn (east of ridgeland; including 

vacant lot) 

15704 0.36 Turf 

M183 24 Parkway on E side of 88th ave (from 175th St two houses north) 4991 0.11 Turf 

M184 26 Vacant Lot (North of 173rd and West of Oriole Ave) 4184 0.10 Turf 

M185 26 Rear easement behind homes (West of Ozark Ave, North of 

174th) 

10874 0.25 Turf 

M186 28 Vacant Lot (W of 175th and N of Hickory St) 19154 0.44 Turf 

M187 38 80th Ave East Parkway (From Cartier Ave to Champlain Ave) 8604 0.20 Turf 

M189 52 183rd st North Parkway (W of M150 to about 200 feet before 65 

Ct) 

24886 0.57 Turf 

M190 57 183rd Pl north side parkway (W of Crossing Dr) 38490 0.88 Turf 

M191 5 Median on 163rd St (just east of Harlem) 1790 0.04 Beds 

Page | 107AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-13                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

M192 12 Mowing strip south of Terrace Dr and east of 66th ave (behind 

homes) 

20457 0.47 Turf 

M193 22 LaGrange Rd medians (171st St to 179th St) 100262 2.30 Both 

M194 44 183rd St Medians (from 94th Ave to 80th Ave) 24358 0.56 Turf 

M195 26 171st St median (just east of 80th Ave) 7389 0.17 Beds 

M196 26 Tinley Downs (mowed weekly) 277536 6.37 Turf 

M197 26 Pond area N of 172nd and E of 80th 44712 1.03 Turf 

M199 28 East side of southernmost tip of 69th ave at Metra tracks 4588 0.11 Turf 

M200 18 S of "H" shaped building E of Harlem ave, N of 170th St 27226 0.63 Turf 

M201 1 Post 6 lift station 1307 0.03 Both 

MONUMENT SIGN MAP BOOK      

S03 1 159th/86th Gateway Sign 323 0.01 Beds 

S05 5 159th/ Harlem SE Gateway Sign 1056 0.02 Beds 

S04 5 159th St/ Harlem SW Gateway Sign 697 0.02 Beds 

S02 5 Village Hall Entry Signs on Oak Park Ave (2 signs) 842 0.02 Beds 

S01 30 Zabrocki Plaza 147th St & Hickory St- Message Board Sign and Entire Plaza Area 8534

 0.20 Beds 

S07 42 175th St & Tinley Park High School Gateway Sign 253 0.01 Beds 

S08 62 183rd St & Ridgeland Ave- Post 2 Gateway Sign 188 0.00 Beds 

S11 65 Harlem and 191st St Gateway Sign 376 0.01 Beds 

S09 75 Ridgeland Ave & Vollmer Rd Gateway Sign 151 0.00 Beds 

LIST OF MAINTENANCE SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED  

A detailed breakdown of the maintenance category that applies to each site can be found on the bid tab 

pages. In general, turf sites require regular mowing and treatment program 1, and select high profile 

sites require treatment program 2 in addition to their regular turf and bed maintenance needs. 

TREATMENT PROGRAM 1 

Apply broadleaf herbicide throughout turf areas one time annually. Any scheduled herbicide 

applications require four (4) days advanced notice to VOTP, and are subject to approval. Certain public 

buildings and facilities such as Village Hall may require weekend or after hours applications, as directed 

Page | 108AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-14                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

by VOTP. All applications are to be performed in accordance with the manufacturer’s specifications, by a 

state licensed pesticide applicator. Chemical Specifications are noted below.  

TREATMENT PROGRAM 2 

This is an intense treatment program intended to keep high profile sites looking their very best. The 

program consists of four (4) annual applications of fertilizer to lawn areas, and three (3) applications of 

appropriate herbicide to manage weeds and vegetation in planting bed areas. In addition to 

applications, this program also includes plant health care monitoring. During their scheduled visits, the 

Contractor shall monitor and identify any plant diseases and pests, and suggest treatment strategies 

with the Street Superintendent. Any treatments chosen will be considered additional services, and are 

subject to approval through a new proposal.  Chemical Specifications are noted below.   

CHEMICAL SPECIFICATIONS 

Lawn Fertilizer Specifications 

Spring Application- Late April 

 25-0-5 + 20% Barricade, ¾ lb. rate, escalade low-odor broadleaf weed control. 

Late Spring Application- Late May / Early June 

 17-0-3, Liquid Weed Control or depending on weeds present low-odor broadleaf weed control. 

Late Summer Application: Late August 

 25-0-5, post-emergent 

Fall Application: Late September / Early October 

 25-0-5, 1 lb rate, post-emergent low-odor broadleaf weed control as needed 

Planting Bed Vegetation Management Specifications 

3 applications total: Spring, Summer & Fall 

Razor & Surflan (depending on area treated)  

 

Tree & Shrub Treatment Specifications  

Possible treatment if problem exists. Monitoring will determine if action is required, per Street 

Superintendent direction. 

Spring Fertilization: April 

 17-2-5 deep root feeding 

Late Spring Insect & Disease Application: Late May (conditions depending) 

Page | 109AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Issue for Bid 12/11/2017  

7946 Tinley Lawn Treatments 2018                02925-15                                            LAWN TREATMENTS 
 

 Insecticide: Tristar & Miticide 

 Fungicides: Tourny 

Early Summer Insect & Disease Applications: Late June / Early July 

 Insecticide: TriStar & Miticide 

 Fungicide: Tourny 

Fall Fertilization: September 

 17-2-5 deep root feeding. 

 

 

Page | 110AGENDA - 5/19/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: May 15, 2020

To: John Urbanski, Interim Public Works Director

From: Joe Fitzpatrick, Water Superintendent

Subject: Post 4 (8399 Brookside Glen Drive) Improvements
_________________________________________________________________________________
Presented for May 19, 2020 Committee of the Whole and Village Board Meeting agenda 
consideration and action.

Description:  This project includes the replacement of the control panel, replacement of the building, 
and upgrading the outdated electrical components currently in use at Post 4 sanitary sewer lift 
station (8399 Brookside Glen Drive).

Background:  Public Works contracted Christopher Burke Engineering to engineer the plan and 
specifications to improve the functionality of the Post 4 sanitary sewer lift station located at 8399 
Brookside Glen Drive.  The outdated control panel and electrical components will be replaced to 
improve overall efficiency of the lift station.  The fiberglass building currently at Post 4 is deteriorating 
to the point of replacement.  The new structure will be similar to buildings used at other lift stations. 

The Village held a bid opening on May 6, 2020 and received two (2) bids.  Both of the bids were well 
above both the engineer’s estimate and available funding for the project.  The Village would like to 
discard the received bids and value engineer the specifications without compromising quality.  
Variations may include, but not limited to, altering the building specifications without losing 
functionality, and changing the means of metering without losing accuracy.  

Contractor: Location: Proposal:
Engineer’s Estimate $483,306.90
Airy’s Inc. Tinley Park, IL $620,935.00
Paul Borg Construction Chicago, IL $671,149.55

Budget/ Finance:  Funding in the amount of $447,000.00 is available in the approved FY2021 budget 
as a carryover from the FY2020 budget.

Staff Direction Request:  Approve the rejecting of two (2) received bids to perform building 
replacement and electrical improvements at Post 4 sanitary sewer lift station (8399 Brookside Glen 
Drive) and re-bid the project after value engineering is completed.

Attachments:
1) Bid Tabulation
2) Engineer’s Estimate

Interoffice

Memo

Page | 111AGENDA - 5/19/2020, C -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 112AGENDA - 5/19/2020, C -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



1

Do NOT paste in the Board Action
SUBJECT: CONSIDER REJECTING BIDS FOR POST 4 (8399 BROOKSIDE GLEN 

DRIVE) LIFT STATION IMPROVEMENTS.

Upon completion of a formal bid process for improvements to the Post 4 Lift Station, the following 
two (2) bids were received.

Contractor: Location: Proposal:
Airy’s Inc. Tinley Park, IL $620,935.00
Paul Borg Construction Chicago, IL $671,149.55

Consider rejecting bids received for Post 4 Improvements and re-bid after value engineering is 
complete.

Page | 113AGENDA - 5/19/2020, C -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE ENGINEERING, LTD.

9575 W. Higgins Road, Suite 600

Rosemont, Illinois 60018

 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK

POST 4 LIFT STATION IMPROVEMENTS

CBBEL PROJECT NO. 1603737.00007 Engineer's Estimate Airy's Construction, Inc. Paul Borg Construction Company

7455 West Duvan drive 2007 S. Marshall Blvd

Bid Tabulation - Base Bid Tinley Park, IL 60477 Chicago, IL 60623

CODE NUMBER UNIT QUANTITY  UNIT COST  COST  d  COST  UNIT COST  COST 

01 50 00/01 FOOT 275  $            20.00  $       5,500.00  $                         13.00  $           3,575.00  $                  3.48  $              957.00 

02 41 52/01 L SUM 1  $      15,000.00  $      15,000.00  $                  43,560.00  $         43,560.00  $         19,627.20  $         19,627.20 

03 30 00/01 L SUM 1  $      25,000.00  $      25,000.00  $                  39,466.00  $         39,466.00  $         27,376.00  $         27,376.00 

03 30 00/02 SQ YD 90  $            35.00  $       3,150.00  $                       168.00  $         15,120.00  $                60.32  $           5,428.80 

03 30 00/03 SQ FT 960  $            25.00  $      24,000.00  $                         15.00  $         14,400.00  $                  9.28  $           8,908.80 

03 30 00/04 SQ FT 70  $            30.00  $       2,100.00  $                         18.00  $           1,260.00  $                17.40  $           1,218.00 

13 34 25/01 L SUM 1  $    175,000.00  $    175,000.00  $                220,581.00  $       220,581.00  $       241,628.00  $       241,628.00 

26 05 19/01 L SUM 1  $      15,000.00  $      15,000.00  $                    5,289.00  $           5,289.00  $           6,090.00  $           6,090.00 

26 05 23/01 L SUM 1  $       5,000.00  $       5,000.00  $                    4,485.00  $           4,485.00  $           6,960.00  $           6,960.00 

26 05 26/01 L SUM 1  $       5,000.00  $       5,000.00  $                    5,563.00  $           5,563.00  $           8,758.00  $           8,758.00 

26 05 33/01 L SUM 1  $      20,000.00  $      20,000.00  $                  19,975.00  $         19,975.00  $         11,136.00  $         11,136.00 

26 27 16/01 EACH 1  $       7,500.00  $       7,500.00  $                  12,172.00  $         12,172.00  $         15,254.00  $         15,254.00 

26 29 20/01 L SUM 1  $      40,000.00  $      40,000.00  $                  29,890.00  $         29,890.00  $         34,353.40  $         34,353.40 

26 29 20/02 L SUM 1  $       5,000.00  $       5,000.00  $                    5,240.00  $           5,240.00  $         17,951.00  $         17,951.00 

26 29 23/01 EACH 2  $      10,000.00  $      20,000.00  $                  14,250.00  $         28,500.00  $         31,952.20  $         63,904.40 

26 32 13/01 EACH 1  $       5,000.00  $       5,000.00  $                  31,548.00  $         31,548.00  $         23,548.00  $         23,548.00 

26 36 00/01 EACH 1  $       2,000.00  $       2,000.00  $                    2,584.00  $           2,584.00  $         11,252.00  $         11,252.00 

26 60 20/01 L SUM 1  $       2,500.00  $       2,500.00  $                       700.00  $              700.00  $           4,616.80  $           4,616.80 

26 60 20/02 EACH 1  $       2,000.00  $       2,000.00  $                    1,050.00  $           1,050.00  $           3,079.80  $           3,079.80 

31 10 00/01 L SUM 1  $       2,500.00  $       2,500.00  $                    5,500.00  $           5,500.00  $           2,320.00  $           2,320.00 

31 20 00/01 CU YD 40  $          100.00  $       4,000.00  $                       200.00  $           8,000.00  $              754.00  $         30,160.00 

31 20 00/02 SQ YD 75  $            25.00  $       1,875.00  $                         25.00  $           1,875.00  $                31.32  $           2,349.00 

31 20 00/03 SQ FT 70  $            25.00  $       1,750.00  $                          3.00  $              210.00  $                  3.48  $              243.60 

31 20 00/04 FOOT 160  $            20.00  $       3,200.00  $                         20.00  $           3,200.00  $                  9.28  $           1,484.80 

31 25 13/01 EACH 1  $       1,500.00  $       1,500.00  $                       805.00  $              805.00  $              580.00  $              580.00 

31 25 13/02 EACH 1  $       5,000.00  $       5,000.00  $                    7,660.00  $           7,660.00  $           2,552.00  $           2,552.00 

31 25 13/03 FOOT 265  $              5.00  $       1,325.00  $                          5.00  $           1,325.00  $                  3.77  $              999.05 

31 25 13/04 EACH 1  $          500.00  $          500.00  $                       250.00  $              250.00  $              290.00  $              290.00 

32 39 14/01 EACH 2  $       2,000.00  $       4,000.00  $                    1,475.00  $           2,950.00  $              464.00  $              928.00 

32 92 19/01 SQ YD 205  $            20.00  $       4,100.00  $                          7.00  $           1,435.00  $                  7.54  $           1,545.70 

32 92 19/02 SQ YD 140  $              5.00  $          700.00  $                         10.00  $           1,400.00  $                  7.54  $           1,055.60 

32 92 19/03 POUND 2  $              5.00  $            10.00  $                         18.00  $                36.00  $                58.00  $              116.00 

32 92 19/04 POUND 2  $              5.00  $            10.00  $                         18.00  $                36.00  $                58.00  $              116.00 

32 92 19/05 POUND 2  $              5.00  $            10.00  $                         18.00  $                36.00  $                58.00  $              116.00 

32 92 19/06 SQ YD 140  $              5.00  $          700.00  $                          2.00  $              280.00  $                  7.54  $           1,055.60 

32 92 19/07 SQ YD 65  $            20.00  $       1,300.00  $                         17.00  $           1,105.00  $                17.40  $           1,131.00 

32 92 19/08 EACH 16  $          500.00  $       8,000.00  $                       450.00  $           7,200.00  $              493.00  $           7,888.00 

33 41 00/01 EACH 1  $      15,000.00  $      15,000.00  $                  16,000.00  $         16,000.00  $         13,572.00  $         13,572.00 

33 43 00/01 L SUM 1  $      20,000.00  $      20,000.00  $                  48,474.00  $         48,474.00  $         69,600.00  $         69,600.00 

- L SUM 1  $      15,000.00  $      15,000.00  $                  15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00 

- L SUM 1  $      14,076.90  $      14,076.90  $                  13,200.00  $         13,200.00  $         12,000.00  $         12,000.00 

 $    483,306.90  $       620,935.00  $       677,149.55 TOTAL BASE BID COST

CONTINGENCY

FLOW METER

REUSE AUTOMATIC TRANSFER SWITCH

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE

CONCRETE WASHOUT

BONDS AND INSURANCE

TEMPORARY FENCING (SITE PROTECTION)

VEGETATION REMOVAL

INLET FILTER

PERIMETER EROSION BARRIER

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET

MULCH FURNISH AND PLACE 3"

ELECTRIC SERVICE AND DISTRIBUTION

TEMPORARY RELOCATION AND DEMOLITION OF EXISTING CONTROL 

BUILDING

FENCE REMOVAL

LOW-VOLTAGE ELECTRICAL CONDUCTORS AND CABLES

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE DRIVEWAY PAVEMENT 7 INCH

TEMPORARY BYPASS PUMPING SYSTEM

SEEDING, CLASS 1

SIDEWALK REMOVAL

DRIVEWAY PAVEMENT REMOVAL

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE SIDEWALK 5 INCH

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE SIDEWALK 7 INCH

GROUNDING AND BONDING OF ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS

REUSE DIESEL ENGINE GENERATOR

POTASSIUM FERTILIZER NUTRIENT

DESCRIPTION

SHRUB

EARTH EXCAVATION

NITROGEN FERTILIZER NUTRIENT

PHOSPHORUS FERTILIZER NUTRIENT

BOLLARD

CONTROL BUILDING FOUNDATION

RACEWAYS AND BOXES FOR ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS

CONTROL-VOLTAGE ELECTRICAL CONDUCTORS AND CABLES

VARIABLE FREQUENCY DRIVE

PUMP CABLE JUNCTION BOX

CONTROL BUILDING

TOPSOIL FURNISH AND PLACE 4"

UTILITY METER FITTING

LEVEL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

PUMP CONTROL PANEL AND SCADA INTEGRATION

N:\TINLEYPARK\160373\160373.00007\Mech\Spreadsheets\EOPCC\Bid Tab 05062020.xls

DATE PRINTED: 5/6/2020

Page | 114AGENDA - 5/19/2020, C -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE ENGINEERING, LTD.

9575 W. Higgins Road, Suite 600

Rosemont, Illinois 60018

 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK

POST 4 LIFT STATION IMPROVEMENTS

CBBEL PROJECT NO. 1603737.00007 Engineer's Estimate Airy's Construction, Inc. Paul Borg Construction Company

7455 West Duvan drive 2007 S. Marshall Blvd

Bid Tabulation - Alternate Bid Tinley Park, IL 60477 Chicago, IL 60623

CODE NUMBER UNIT QUANTITY  UNIT COST  COST  d  COST  UNIT COST  COST 

01 50 00/01 FOOT 275  $                20.00  $           5,500.00  $                13.00  $           3,575.00  $                  3.48  $              957.00 

02 41 52/01 L SUM 1  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         43,560.00  $         43,560.00  $         19,627.20  $         19,627.20 

03 30 00/01 L SUM 1  $         25,000.00  $         25,000.00  $         39,466.00  $         39,466.00  $         27,376.00  $         27,376.00 

03 30 00/02 SQ YD 90  $                35.00  $           3,150.00  $              168.00  $         15,120.00  $                60.32  $           5,428.80 

03 30 00/03 SQ FT 960  $                25.00  $         24,000.00  $                15.00  $         14,400.00  $                  9.28  $           8,908.80 

03 30 00/04 SQ FT 70  $                30.00  $           2,100.00  $                18.00  $           1,260.00  $                17.40  $           1,218.00 

13 34 25/01 L SUM 1  $       175,000.00  $       175,000.00  $       220,581.00  $       220,581.00  $       241,628.00  $       241,628.00 

26 05 19/01 L SUM 1  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $           5,289.00  $           5,289.00  $           6,090.00  $           6,090.00 

26 05 23/01 L SUM 1  $           5,000.00  $           5,000.00  $           4,485.00  $           4,485.00  $           6,960.00  $           6,960.00 

26 05 26/01 L SUM 1  $           5,000.00  $           5,000.00  $           5,563.00  $           5,563.00  $           8,758.00  $           8,758.00 

26 05 33/01 L SUM 1  $         20,000.00  $         20,000.00  $         19,975.00  $         19,975.00  $         11,136.00  $         11,136.00 

26 27 16/01 EACH 1  $           7,500.00  $           7,500.00  $         12,172.00  $         12,172.00  $         15,254.00  $         15,254.00 

26 29 20/01 L SUM 1  $         40,000.00  $         40,000.00  $         29,890.00  $         29,890.00  $         34,353.40  $         34,353.40 

26 29 20/02 L SUM 1  $           5,000.00  $           5,000.00  $           5,240.00  $           5,240.00  $         17,951.00  $         17,951.00 

26 29 23/01 EACH 2  $         10,000.00  $         20,000.00  $         14,250.00  $         28,500.00  $         31,952.20  $         63,904.40 

26 32 13/01 EACH 1  $           5,000.00  $           5,000.00  $         58,254.00  $         58,254.00  $         59,728.40  $         59,728.40 

26 36 00/01 EACH 1  $           2,000.00  $           2,000.00  $           6,186.00  $           6,186.00  $         11,252.00  $         11,252.00 

26 60 20/01 L SUM 1  $           2,500.00  $           2,500.00  $              700.00  $              700.00  $           4,616.80  $           4,616.80 

26 60 20/02 EACH 1  $           2,000.00  $           2,000.00  $           1,050.00  $           1,050.00  $           3,079.80  $           3,079.80 

31 10 00/01 L SUM 1  $           2,500.00  $           2,500.00  $           5,500.00  $           5,500.00  $           2,320.00  $           2,320.00 

31 20 00/01 CU YD 40  $              100.00  $           4,000.00  $              200.00  $           8,000.00  $              754.00  $         30,160.00 

31 20 00/02 SQ YD 75  $                25.00  $           1,875.00  $                25.00  $           1,875.00  $                31.32  $           2,349.00 

31 20 00/03 SQ FT 70  $                25.00  $           1,750.00  $                  3.00  $              210.00  $                  3.48  $              243.60 

31 20 00/04 FOOT 160  $                20.00  $           3,200.00  $                20.00  $           3,200.00  $                  9.28  $           1,484.80 

31 25 13/01 EACH 1  $           1,500.00  $           1,500.00  $              805.00  $              805.00  $              580.00  $              580.00 

31 25 13/02 EACH 1  $           5,000.00  $           5,000.00  $           7,660.00  $           7,660.00  $           2,552.00  $           2,552.00 

31 25 13/03 FOOT 265  $                  5.00  $           1,325.00  $                  5.00  $           1,325.00  $                  3.77  $              999.05 

31 25 13/04 EACH 1  $              500.00  $              500.00  $              250.00  $              250.00  $              290.00  $              290.00 

32 39 14/01 EACH 2  $           2,000.00  $           4,000.00  $           1,475.00  $           2,950.00  $              464.00  $              928.00 

32 92 19/01 SQ YD 205  $                20.00  $           4,100.00  $                  7.00  $           1,435.00  $                  7.54  $           1,545.70 

32 92 19/02 SQ YD 140  $                  5.00  $              700.00  $                10.00  $           1,400.00  $                  7.54  $           1,055.60 

32 92 19/03 POUND 2  $                  5.00  $                10.00  $                18.00  $                36.00  $                58.00  $              116.00 

32 92 19/04 POUND 2  $                  5.00  $                10.00  $                18.00  $                36.00  $                58.00  $              116.00 

32 92 19/05 POUND 2  $                  5.00  $                10.00  $                18.00  $                36.00  $                58.00  $              116.00 

32 92 19/06 SQ YD 140  $                  5.00  $              700.00  $                  2.00  $              280.00  $                  7.54  $           1,055.60 

32 92 19/07 SQ YD 65  $                20.00  $           1,300.00  $                17.00  $           1,105.00  $                17.40  $           1,131.00 

32 92 19/08 EACH 16  $              500.00  $           8,000.00  $              450.00  $           7,200.00  $              493.00  $           7,888.00 

33 41 00/01 EACH 1  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         16,000.00  $         16,000.00  $         13,572.00  $         13,572.00 

33 43 00/01 L SUM 1  $         20,000.00  $         20,000.00  $         48,474.00  $         48,474.00  $         69,600.00  $         69,600.00 

- L SUM 1  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00  $         15,000.00 

- L SUM 1  $         14,076.90  $         14,076.90  $         13,540.00  $         13,540.00  $         12,000.00  $         12,000.00 

 $       483,306.90  $       651,583.00  $       713,329.95 TOTAL ALTERNATE BID COST

MULCH FURNISH AND PLACE 3"

SHRUB

FLOW METER

TEMPORARY BYPASS PUMPING SYSTEM

CONTINGENCY

BONDS AND INSURANCE

BOLLARD

TOPSOIL FURNISH AND PLACE 4"

SEEDING, CLASS 1

NITROGEN FERTILIZER NUTRIENT

PHOSPHORUS FERTILIZER NUTRIENT

POTASSIUM FERTILIZER NUTRIENT

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET

SIDEWALK REMOVAL

FENCE REMOVAL

CONCRETE WASHOUT

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE

PERIMETER EROSION BARRIER

INLET FILTER

AUTOMATIC TRANSFER SWITCH

ELECTRIC SERVICE AND DISTRIBUTION

UTILITY METER FITTING

VEGETATION REMOVAL

EARTH EXCAVATION

DRIVEWAY PAVEMENT REMOVAL

PUMP CABLE JUNCTION BOX

PUMP CONTROL PANEL AND SCADA INTEGRATION

LEVEL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

VARIABLE FREQUENCY DRIVE

DIESEL ENGINE GENERATOR

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE SIDEWALK 7 INCH

CONTROL BUILDING

LOW-VOLTAGE ELECTRICAL CONDUCTORS AND CABLES

CONTROL-VOLTAGE ELECTRICAL CONDUCTORS AND CABLES

GROUNDING AND BONDING OF ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS

RACEWAYS AND BOXES FOR ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS

DESCRIPTION

TEMPORARY FENCING (SITE PROTECTION)

TEMPORARY RELOCATION AND DEMOLITION OF EXISTING CONTROL 

BUILDING

CONTROL BUILDING FOUNDATION

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE DRIVEWAY PAVEMENT 7 INCH

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE SIDEWALK 5 INCH

N:\TINLEYPARK\160373\160373.00007\Mech\Spreadsheets\EOPCC\Bid Tab 05062020.xls

DATE PRINTED: 5/6/2020

Page | 115AGENDA - 5/19/2020, C -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Tinley Park

      
PROCLAMATION

RECOGNIZING 
Hope Montessori, Ms. Traci tyszka, and staff

In the village of Tinley Park

WHEREAS, Hope Montessori was founded in 2000 to nurture the spirit of children and the joy of learning 
in an atmosphere of freedom, respect, and responsibility; and 

WHEREAS, over the past twenty years, Hope Montessori served as a preeminent educational institution 
for children in the Tinley Park community and south suburbs; and 

Whereas, founder Ms. Traci Tyszka and her staff have assisted children in their development to build 
awareness of self, others, and the world in an effort to create a better world; and 

Whereas, the community is saddened to see the doors of Hope Montessori close; and

Whereas, members of the community are urged to recognize the efforts of Hope Montessori for their 
hard work, dedication, and contributions; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley 
Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, that Hope Montessori, Ms. Traci Tyszka, and staff are hereby recognized 
for an outstanding 20 years of service in the Village of Tinley Park. 

APPROVED this 19th Day of May 2020.

________________________________________
Jacob C. Vandenberg, Village President

ATTEST:

____________________________________
Kristin A. Thirion, Village Clerk

Page | 116AGENDA - 5/19/2020, D -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 117AGENDA - 5/19/2020, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
1

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187321 5/8/2020 011466  ALBERTSONS/SAFEWAY 725346-041620-3165 **** 0415 SODA
60-00-000-72220 11.18
63-00-000-72220 11.18
64-00-000-72220 9.58
01-26-023-72220 31.94
01-26-024-72220 15.96

Total : 79.84

187322 5/8/2020 002628  AMERICAN WATER 043020 APRIL'20 SEWER TRTMNT BRKSDE & RELATED S
64-00-000-73225 90,370.32

Total : 90,370.32

187323 5/8/2020 003166  B & J TOWING AND AUTO REPAIR 0016981 TRUCK SAFETY INSPECTIONS
01-26-023-72266 168.00
60-00-000-72266 9.80
63-00-000-72266 9.80
64-00-000-72266 8.40
01-42-000-72266 28.00

Total : 224.00

187324 5/8/2020 010953  BATTERIES PLUS - 277 P26285466 BATTERIES
14-00-000-74150 140.00

Total : 140.00

187325 5/8/2020 002938  BEST TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS INC. BTL-19042-7 4/23/20 BASIC CLEAN/INSTALL FILTERS,DISP
01-26-025-72779 7,865.00

Total : 7,865.00

187326 5/8/2020 002974  BETTENHAUSEN CONSTRUCTION SERV200064 HAULING SWEEPING & WOODCHIPS
01-26-023-72890 500.00
HAULING STONE200065
60-00-000-73860 151.20
63-00-000-73860 16.80
64-00-000-73860 72.00
01-26-023-73860 120.00
70-00-000-73860 40.00

1Page:

Page | 118AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
2

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187326 5/8/2020 (Continued)002974  BETTENHAUSEN CONSTRUCTION SERV
HAULING WOOD CHIPS & LOGS200069
01-26-023-72890 750.00
HAULING SWEEPINGS & WOOD CHIPS200070
01-26-023-72890 550.00
HAULING STONES200071
60-00-000-73860 37.80
63-00-000-73860 4.20
64-00-000-73860 18.00
01-26-023-73860 30.00
70-00-000-73860 10.00

Total : 2,300.00

187327 5/8/2020 016817  BEVERLY SNOW AND ICE INC 45767 TINLEY CREEK BRIDGE
01-26-023-72785 50.00
PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING LOT45768
01-26-023-72785 130.00
FIRE STATION 345769
01-26-023-72785 110.00
FIRESTATION 445770
01-26-023-72785 160.00
HELIPORT & EMA45771
01-26-023-72785 580.00
HICKORY ST PARKING STALLS45772
01-26-023-72785 300.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS (ED & JOES)45773
01-26-023-72785 90.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS SUBWAY45774
01-26-023-72785 140.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS-BATH & KITCHEN45775
01-26-023-72785 65.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS CARDINAL45776
01-26-023-72785 65.00
80TH AVENUE NORTH TRAIN LOT45777
70-00-000-72740 1,800.00
OAK PARK AVE TRAIN STATION45778
70-00-000-72740 300.00

2Page:

Page | 119AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
3

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187327 5/8/2020 (Continued)016817  BEVERLY SNOW AND ICE INC
01-26-023-72785 300.00
PAWS45779
01-26-023-72785 90.00
POLICE DEPARTMENT45780
01-26-023-72785 245.00
POST 1145781
01-26-023-72785 60.00
80TH AVENUE SOUTH TRAIN LOT45782
70-00-000-72740 1,900.00
MUNICIPAL LOT-UNITED METHODIST CHURCH45783
01-26-023-72785 130.00
VILLAGE HALL45784
01-26-023-72785 490.00
VOGT PLAZA45785
01-26-023-72785 90.00
ZABROCKI PLAZA45786
01-26-023-72785 150.00

Total : 7,245.00

187328 5/8/2020 002923  BLACK DIRT INC. 042020-44 DIRT
01-26-023-73680 255.00

Total : 255.00

187329 5/8/2020 012966  BOLING, THOMAS 04-20 SPAREPOINT 4/1-4/30/20
01-16-000-72650 1,687.50

Total : 1,687.50

187330 5/8/2020 019436  BRADTKE, PAUL Ref001391194 UB Refund Cst #00497707
60-00-000-20599 253.48

Total : 253.48

187331 5/8/2020 007654  BREMEN HIGH SCHOOL DIST 228 050520 IMPACT FEES THRU DECEMBER 2019
84-00-000-23120 1,850.00

Total : 1,850.00

187332 5/8/2020 003153  BRETT SUPPLY COMPANY 310249 B/A KIT W/SWITCH

3Page:

Page | 120AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
4

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187332 5/8/2020 (Continued)003153  BRETT SUPPLY COMPANY
01-26-023-72540 49.90
60-00-000-72540 26.20
63-00-000-72540 8.73
64-00-000-72540 14.97

Total : 99.80

187333 5/8/2020 003504  C & M PIPE & SUPPLY CO., INC 13229 SEWER TILE/CULVERT MATERIALS
01-26-023-73790 1,791.30VTP-017814
ROLL 1IN TAR STRIP13231
01-26-023-73790 220.00

Total : 2,011.30

187334 5/8/2020 018503  CARDNO INC 291537 SERV THRU 4/24/20 7698 NATURALIZED STORM
65-00-000-72591 31,858.74

Total : 31,858.74

187335 5/8/2020 003243  CDW GOVERNMENT INC XPH3050 <PW> - REPLCMNT SCADA SERVER
60-00-000-72528 687.22VTP-017802
<PW> - REPLCMNT SCADA SERVERXPK9834
60-00-000-72528 1,643.41VTP-017802
<PW> - REPLCMNT SCADA SERVERXPZ2659
60-00-000-72528 392.53VTP-017802
<PW> - REPLCMNT SCADA SERVERXQW6440
60-00-000-72528 392.53VTP-017802
DESKTOP SCANNERS FOR CDXRL3502
01-16-000-74128 1,454.97VTP-017823

Total : 4,570.66

187336 5/8/2020 003606  CHICAGO SOUTHLAND CONV. V B 0420 MAR LIAB APRIL COLL HOTEL ACCOMMODATION
12-00-000-79107 8,389.37

Total : 8,389.37

187337 5/8/2020 003137  CHRISTOPHER B.BURKE ENGINEERNG 158097 01.R160373.00007 POST 4 ST IMPROV 3/29-4
61-00-000-75320 973.00
01.R160373.00008 POST 5 LIFT ST RESIGN 3158098
61-00-000-72840 2,408.00

4Page:

Page | 121AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
5

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187337 5/8/2020 (Continued)003137  CHRISTOPHER B.BURKE ENGINEERNG
01.R160373.00002 SEWER ASSESSMT SERV 202158099
64-00-000-72840 727.00
01.R160373.00009 HARMONY SQ DT PLAZA DEV158100
30-00-000-75905 8,110.50
01.R160373.00012 UTILITY ENG SERV 3/29-4158101
27-00-000-75300 134.00
01.R160373.00015 THE BLVD/CENTRL STN DEV158102
27-00-000-72840 3,887.00
01.R160373.00017 SANITARY SEWER ENG SERV158103
64-00-000-72840 1,576.00
01.R160373.00018 METRA WARNING ST 3/29-4158104
27-00-000-75302 3,317.75
ENG SERV BOULEVARD PROJ STREET LIGHTING158105
27-00-000-72840 7,594.00VTP-017688
01.R160373.C0014 POST 7 FORCE MAIN LININ158106
61-00-000-75305 1,467.00

Total : 30,194.25

187338 5/8/2020 014645  CHRISTY WEBBER LANDSCAPES 75142 84 TREE REMOVALS & 102 TREES PLANTED
01-26-023-75630 61,500.00

Total : 61,500.00

187339 5/8/2020 013820  CINTAS CORPORATION 5016756570 FIRST AID SUPPLIES
01-26-025-73117 49.13
SERVICE CHARGE,FIRST AID SUPPLIES5016756571
01-26-025-73117 40.83
SERVICE CHARGE,EYE DROPS5016756573
01-26-025-73117 9.19
FIRST AID SUPPLIES5016756575
01-26-025-73117 69.04
FIRST AID SUPPLIES5016845569
01-19-000-73115 388.94
FIRST AID SUPPLIES5016845570
01-19-000-73115 228.95
FIRST AID SUPPLIES5016845571
01-19-000-73115 276.53

5Page:

Page | 122AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
6

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 1,062.61187339 5/8/2020 013820 013820  CINTAS CORPORATION

187340 5/8/2020 012057  COMCAST CABLE 8771401810170142 ACCT#8771401810170142 4/30/20-5/29/20
01-14-000-72125 233.35
ACCT#8771401810265348 4/22-5/21/208771401810265348
01-19-000-72517 93.96

Total : 327.31

187341 5/8/2020 013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON 2761036017 ACCT#2761036017 MCDNNELL DV ST LGHTS 831
01-26-025-72510 46.81
ACCT#2777112019 0 175TH ST & SANDLEWOOD2777112019
01-26-023-72510 115.10
ACCT#3214011009 16853 LAKEWOOD DR 3/30-43214011009
64-00-000-72510 240.84
ACCT#6483053261 IRRIGATION 17495 S LAGRA6483053261
01-26-023-72510 25.17
ACCT#8363023007 0 179TH ST & 82ND AVE 3/8363023007
60-00-000-72510 132.54
63-00-000-72510 132.55

Total : 693.01

187342 5/8/2020 018311  CONNECTION 57658205 LTE BLACK
01-16-000-72565 1,499.50
DOCKING STATION,KEYBOARD57660545
01-16-000-72565 333.57
SURFACE COVER57680340
01-16-000-74128 106.17
LED LDC MONITOR57683802
01-16-000-72565 504.96

Total : 2,444.20

187343 5/8/2020 012410  CONSERV FS, INC. 66036426 SUNNY MIX,CONSERV #50,RAKE,D-HANDLE
01-26-023-73870 282.86
COMPOST FORK, CONSERV ALUM SCOOP66036437
01-26-023-73870 67.82

Total : 350.68

6Page:

Page | 123AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
7

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187344 5/8/2020 012826  CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY, INC. 17307564701 ACCT#8061886 UTIL#6771163043 #795603-10
01-26-024-72510 3,629.14

Total : 3,629.14

187345 5/8/2020 018234  CORE & MAIN LP M267762 CPLG/PARTS
60-00-000-73630 645.24
63-00-000-73630 71.69
64-00-000-73630 307.25

Total : 1,024.18

187346 5/8/2020 019430  CROWN PAINTING, INC. 20-2522-1 DOWN PAMENT/M884 MORTAR CARRIER ABRASVE
01-41-050-72928 10,000.00

Total : 10,000.00

187347 5/8/2020 017603  DANDAN, RICK TARIQ 043020 APRIL'20 PLAN REVIEWS
01-33-300-72790 3,615.00

Total : 3,615.00

187348 5/8/2020 018576  DANMAR 18945 STRIP & WAX FLOOR TILE AND CLEAN CARPET
01-26-025-72525 2,100.00VTP-017709

Total : 2,100.00

187349 5/8/2020 000648  DELL MARKETING LP 2006878390793 <IT> - ADDITIONAL WORKSTATION LICENSING
01-16-000-72655 400.02VTP-017774

Total : 400.02

187350 5/8/2020 004094  EJ EQUIPMENT INC. P22930 REPAIR OF CAMERA EQUIPMENT/TOOLS
64-00-000-72552 124.98VTP-017810
60-00-000-73410 511.58VTP-017810
63-00-000-73410 56.84VTP-017810
64-00-000-73410 243.61VTP-017810
64-00-000-72552 9.76
60-00-000-73410 39.95
63-00-000-73410 4.44
64-00-000-73410 19.03

Total : 1,010.19

187351 5/8/2020 004111  EJ USA. INC 110200027106 HYDRANTS, PARTS, VALVE BOXES

7Page:

Page | 124AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
8

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187351 5/8/2020 (Continued)004111  EJ USA. INC
60-00-000-75710 3,741.86VTP-017828
64-00-000-75710 1,603.66VTP-017828
63-00-000-73630 36.55VTP-017828
64-00-000-73630 156.65VTP-017828
60-00-000-73632 1,088.71VTP-017828
64-00-000-73632 466.59VTP-017828
60-00-000-73630 328.95VTP-017828
HD WTR CV110200027129
60-00-000-73630 662.32
63-00-000-73630 73.59
64-00-000-73630 315.39

Total : 8,474.27

187352 5/8/2020 011176  ELEMENT GRAPHICS & DESIGN, INC 16060 TINLEY PARK SEAL INSTALLATION
01-17-205-72540 89.09

Total : 89.09

187353 5/8/2020 017807  EMERGENCY VEHICLE SERVICE INC. 7920 LABOR/VALVE KIT
01-19-000-72540 866.11

Total : 866.11

187354 5/8/2020 012484  FERGUSON FACILITIES #3400 0107308-1 PURELL SANI FOAM
01-26-025-72525 183.14

Total : 183.14

187355 5/8/2020 015058  FLEETPRIDE 50600724 LUBE SPIN,FILTER
60-00-000-72540 15.00
63-00-000-72540 5.01
64-00-000-72540 8.58
BREAK AWAY SWITCH50882823
01-26-023-72530 22.36

Total : 50.95

187356 5/8/2020 019329  FLOW-TECHNICS, INC INV000008005 PREV MAINT INSPECTION
60-00-000-72528 525.00VTP-017611
63-00-000-72528 525.00VTP-017611

8Page:

Page | 125AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
9

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 1,050.00187356 5/8/2020 019329 019329  FLOW-TECHNICS, INC

187357 5/8/2020 004185  FOREST LUMBER COMPANY 60998 RAKE,BROOM,TAPE,BIT AXE
01-26-023-73870 199.65

Total : 199.65

187358 5/8/2020 002877  G. W. BERKHEIMER CO.,  INC. 647765 KP-STD2
01-26-025-72520 202.80

Total : 202.80

187359 5/8/2020 019434  GALLAGHER & CHRIS MAKOWSKI, ELIZABETHRef001391192 UB Refund Cst #00486447
60-00-000-20599 96.73

Total : 96.73

187360 5/8/2020 019349  GARVEY'S OFFICE PRODUCTS PINV1908828 FILE STORAGE,SHEET,CORK BRD,PEN
01-19-000-73110 159.42

Total : 159.42

187361 5/8/2020 018962  GRAYSHIFT LLC 2831 GRAYKEY FORENSIC SOFTWARE LICENSE
01-17-225-72655 18,000.00VTP-017841

Total : 18,000.00

187362 5/8/2020 014491  HANSEN DOOR INC. 8825 PW BLDG DOOR/REPL FRAYED CABLES,LEVEL,SE
01-26-025-72520 474.03

Total : 474.03

187363 5/8/2020 012328  HOMER INDUSTRIES S141717 DROP CHARGE - CHIPS/LOGS
01-26-023-72890 200.00
DROP CHARGE - CHIPSS141983
01-26-023-72890 100.00

Total : 300.00

187364 5/8/2020 005160  ILLINOIS STATE POLICE CC4004 CC4004 TINLEY FINGERPRINT VILLAGE 3/1/20
01-14-000-72848 452.00
CC4004 TINLEY FINGERPRINT VILLAGE 2/1/20CC4004
01-14-000-72848 282.50
CC4004 TINLEY FINGERPRINT VILLAGE 1/1/20CC4004
01-14-000-72848 310.75

9Page:

Page | 126AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
10

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 1,045.25187364 5/8/2020 005160 005160  ILLINOIS STATE POLICE

187365 5/8/2020 005251  J AND R SALES AND SERVICE INC. 0332577 BLOWER W/NOZZLE,CHAINS,WEDGES,CHAIN SAW
01-26-023-73870 483.32

Total : 483.32

187366 5/8/2020 019435  JACOB, ABY Ref001391193 UB Refund Cst #00497868
60-00-000-20599 26.36

Total : 26.36

187367 5/8/2020 016616  KURTZ AMBULANCE SERVICE INC. 10520 EMS SERVICE AGREEMENT 4/1-4/30/20
01-21-000-72856 36,477.83

Total : 36,477.83

187368 5/8/2020 014190  LEHIGH HANSON 5810740 BED/BACKFILL,GRADE 8 STONE
01-26-023-73860 293.61
70-00-000-73860 97.87
60-00-000-73860 369.95
63-00-000-73860 41.25
64-00-000-73860 176.03

Total : 978.71

187369 5/8/2020 013858  LOWE'S HOME CENTER, INC. 88264366 ****4879 48-IN GARAGE STG CAB
01-26-023-73870 284.05

Total : 284.05

187370 5/8/2020 007100  M. E.SIMPSON COMPANY, INC 35085 WATER ASSESSMENT PROG 4/16-4/30/20
60-00-000-72513 15,015.00VTP-017427

Total : 15,015.00

187371 5/8/2020 013969  MAP AUTOMOTIVE OF CHICAGO 40-555958 CREDIT CORE CHARGE
01-17-205-72540 -64.00
BRAKE ROTOR,EVOL CER40-557569
01-17-205-72540 156.70

Total : 92.70

187372 5/8/2020 019265  MARTIN WHALEN OFFICE SOLUTIONS IN2353588 <FD> - C/Z FOLDER OPTION FOR COPIER/PRIN
01-19-000-73110 400.00VTP-017725

10Page:

Page | 127AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
11

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187372 5/8/2020 (Continued)019265  MARTIN WHALEN OFFICE SOLUTIONS
01-16-000-74128 2,495.00VTP-017725

Total : 2,895.00

187373 5/8/2020 005844  MCDONALD'S 043020 CELL MEALS APRIL'20
01-17-220-72230 77.94

Total : 77.94

187374 5/8/2020 005645  MEADE ELECTRIC COMPANY INC. 692209 TRAFFIC SIGNAL MAINT 171,173OPA,183 CONV
01-26-024-72775 495.00

Total : 495.00

187375 5/8/2020 006074  MENARDS 84682 TOOLS
60-00-000-73630 131.47
63-00-000-73630 14.61
64-00-000-73630 62.60
PARTS84683
60-00-000-73630 61.04
63-00-000-73630 6.78
64-00-000-73630 29.07
PHILLIPS,BLD,SCREWS84685
01-26-025-73840 15.46
PRESS REDUCERS, PARTS84702
60-00-000-73630 130.66
63-00-000-73630 14.52
64-00-000-73630 62.22
SORTMASTER84703
60-00-000-73110 13.83
63-00-000-73110 1.54
64-00-000-73110 6.59
THREAD IDENTIFIERS84734
01-26-025-73410 35.98
MEG NUT DRIVER SET,STERILITE,BUNGEE84780
01-26-023-73870 18.46
DRW CHST,WNCH KIT,HMMR,SHNK ADPT SET,MG84791
01-26-023-73870 480.08
BLANK PLATE84800

11Page:

Page | 128AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
12

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187375 5/8/2020 (Continued)006074  MENARDS
01-26-025-73840 0.35

Total : 1,085.26

187376 5/8/2020 005742  METRO POWER INC. 12801 GENERATOR REPAIRS STREETS GARAGE
01-26-025-72530 220.00

Total : 220.00

187377 5/8/2020 017651  MSC INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY CO. 3811042001 FITTINGS,PAINT,DRILL BITS,PARKRIMP
01-26-023-72540 171.50

Total : 171.50

187378 5/8/2020 015386  MUNICIPAL GIS PARTNERS, INC 5293 APRIL'20 GIS STAFFING
01-16-000-72652 6,966.40
60-00-000-72652 4,388.83
63-00-000-72652 487.65
64-00-000-72652 2,089.92

Total : 13,932.80

187379 5/8/2020 010810  MUNICIPAL SERV. CONSULTING INC TPCN-04-20 APRIL'20 CIMP
30-00-000-75812 21,826.50
APRIL'20 COMM & TECH PROJ REPAIR/RADIO STPCS-04-20
11-00-000-72750 6,940.50
APRIL'20 FIRE SYSTEM IMPLEMENTATION EQUITPFD-04-20
30-00-000-74150 1,795.50

Total : 30,562.50

187380 5/8/2020 014443  MURPHY & MILLER, INC SVC00026514 911 CENTER COMPRESSOR
01-26-025-72530 9,897.00VTP-017738

Total : 9,897.00

187381 5/8/2020 018604  NAPA MONEE 158298 3000 WATT INVERTER
60-00-000-72540 182.03
63-00-000-72540 181.48
64-00-000-72540 181.48

Total : 544.99

187382 5/8/2020 015723  NICOR 01981510009 ACCT#01-98-15-1000 9 7780 W 183RD ST 3/2

12Page:

Page | 129AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
13

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187382 5/8/2020 (Continued)015723  NICOR
01-26-025-72511 180.60
ACCT#06-82-16-1000 0 6640 167TH ST 3/27-06821610000
60-00-000-72511 77.66
63-00-000-72511 77.66
64-00-000-72511 66.56
ACCT#53-46-37-1000 3 18241 S 80TH AVE 3/53463710003
01-26-025-72511 61.56
ACCT#73-67-54-1000 2 7800 183RD ST 3/27/73675410002
01-26-025-72511 894.91
ACCT#74-43-34-1000 3 7700 W 183RD ST 3/274433410003
01-26-025-72511 38.15
ACCT#83-52-37-1000 8 7980 183RD ST 3/27-83523710008
01-26-025-72511 546.35
ACCT#96-01-99-5852 7 7999 W TIMBER AVE 396019958527
01-26-025-72511 110.25

Total : 2,053.70

187383 5/8/2020 006221  NORTHERN SAFETY CO. INC. 903932439 HAND SANITIZER GEL
01-26-025-72525 540.97

Total : 540.97

187384 5/8/2020 001487  NUWAY DISPOSAL SERVICE INC 6951995 SWEEPINGS 4/23/20
01-26-023-72890 3,943.00
SWEEPINGS 4/28/206958861
01-26-023-72890 780.00

Total : 4,723.00

187385 5/8/2020 006404  OMNITREND 7332 VTP-017803 ANNUAL RENEWAL PAGEMASTER /EX
01-11-000-72655 106.18
01-12-000-72655 94.48
01-13-000-72655 94.48
01-15-000-72655 117.87
01-16-000-72655 70.63
01-17-205-72655 377.92
01-17-220-72655 744.13
01-17-225-72655 117.87

13Page:

Page | 130AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
14

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187385 5/8/2020 (Continued)006404  OMNITREND
01-19-000-72655 1,322.71
01-19-020-72655 94.48
01-21-000-72655 82.78
01-26-023-72655 295.13
01-26-025-72655 177.26
01-33-300-72655 94.48
01-33-310-72655 94.48
01-33-320-72655 23.39
01-35-000-72655 82.78
60-00-000-72655 141.72
63-00-000-72655 23.39
64-00-000-72655 94.95
01-21-210-72655 247.89

Total : 4,499.00

187386 5/8/2020 010135  ONSITE COMMUNICATIONS USA, INC 50245 RADIO,BATTERY
01-19-000-72550 573.00

Total : 573.00

187387 5/8/2020 013096  PACE SYSTEMS INC 209752 INSTALL CAMERAS AT POST 1
30-00-000-74604 14,530.00VTP-016809
<911> - REPLCMNT/UPGRADE CAMERA DISPLAYSIN00031432
30-00-000-74604 10,445.00VTP-017784
<PW> - RPLCMNT CAMERA - 183RD & WESTCREEIN00031437
01-26-025-72552 665.00VTP-017792

Total : 25,640.00

187388 5/8/2020 006475  PARK ACE HARDWARE 036187/2 #9404 WATER,EXCHANGE LP TANK
01-19-000-73585 31.96
#9404 KITCHEN TOWEL ROLLWHT063439/1
01-19-000-73585 26.40
#891432 CHAINSAW063450/1
01-26-023-73870 143.99
#891431 LANYARD,BATTERIES063454/1
60-00-000-73110 14.60
63-00-000-73110 1.62

14Page:

Page | 131AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
15

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187388 5/8/2020 (Continued)006475  PARK ACE HARDWARE
64-00-000-73110 6.95
#9404 WATER,TRASH CAN063466/1
01-19-000-73585 30.96
#9404 PAPER TOWEL,SHOWER CADDY063468/1
01-19-000-73580 31.98
#9404 LYSOL63423/1
01-19-000-73580 47.94
#891432 TIE DWNS,KNIFE SET,TPE MEASRE,SC63446/1
01-26-023-73870 262.33

Total : 598.73

187389 5/8/2020 014682  PITNEY BOWES 3103919596 ACCT#0010611388 4/30/20-7/29/20
01-17-205-72750 540.87

Total : 540.87

187390 5/8/2020 006780  POMP'S TIRE SERVICE, INC 310162018 11R 22.5 G622 TIRES
01-26-023-73560 1,664.04VTP-017830
11R 22.5 FIRESTONE TIRES (SWEEPER)310162020
01-26-023-73560 1,301.00VTP-017831

Total : 2,965.04

187391 5/8/2020 015995  PORTER LEE CORPORATION 23748 ANNUAL SOFTWARE SUPPORT BEAST EVIDENCE S
01-17-225-72655 5,513.00

Total : 5,513.00

187392 5/8/2020 006507  POSTMASTER, U. S. POST OFFICE 043020 PERMIT #6 MAY'20  WATER BILLS
60-00-000-72110 1,716.99
64-00-000-72110 735.85
60-00-000-72110 106.75
64-00-000-72110 45.75

Total : 2,605.34

187393 5/8/2020 006559  PRAXAIR DISTRIBUTION, INC 96208218 IND ACTYLENE,HIGH PRESSURE,CO2,FEE
01-26-023-73730 91.55
01-26-024-73730 45.78
60-00-000-73730 32.04

15Page:

Page | 132AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
16

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187393 5/8/2020 (Continued)006559  PRAXAIR DISTRIBUTION, INC
63-00-000-73730 32.04
64-00-000-73730 27.47

Total : 228.88

187394 5/8/2020 006850  QUILL CORPORATION 6599614 ENV
01-33-300-73110 48.44
DATE RECD STAMP,MARKERS6610771
01-33-300-73110 18.68

Total : 67.12

187395 5/8/2020 018454  R.C.WEGMAN CONSTRUCTION CO 12 CONSTRUCTION OF FIRE STATION #2/47 4/1-4
33-00-000-75907 251,366.00VTP-017027

Total : 251,366.00

187396 5/8/2020 014412  RAINS, SCOTT 050520 REIM.EXP. YAMBO'S DOG FOOD
01-17-220-72240 58.99

Total : 58.99

187397 5/8/2020 006361  RAY O' HERRON CO INC 2025471-IN ARMOR
01-17-220-74618 853.72
ARMOR2025890-IN
01-17-220-74618 755.00

Total : 1,608.72

187398 5/8/2020 015230  RIDGE LANDSCAPE SERVICES LLC 7083 APRIL'20 LAWN MAINT SERV
01-26-023-72881 22,976.34

Total : 22,976.34

187399 5/8/2020 006974  RINGHOFER, WILLIAM 050520 HEALTH INSURANCE REIM APRIL'20
01-17-205-72435 60.00
HEALTH INSURANCE REIM MAY'20050520.
01-17-205-72435 593.13

Total : 653.13

187400 5/8/2020 019092  RORY GROUP, LLC 3370 BUSINESS CONSULTING FEE - MAY 2020
01-11-000-72790 3,000.00

16Page:

Page | 133AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
17

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 3,000.00187400 5/8/2020 019092 019092  RORY GROUP, LLC

187401 5/8/2020 016334  RUSH TRUCK CENTERS 3018269373 SENSOR EXH GAS TEMP
01-26-023-72540 83.60
CREDIT CLAMP BAND 12" DPF3018283746
01-26-023-72540 -37.05
LABOR / PARTS ST UNIT 823018337525
01-26-023-72540 724.22

Total : 770.77

187402 5/8/2020 007629  SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 3248 COFFEE,NOTE,WITE OUT,PADS,PAPER PLATES,K
01-21-210-73110 104.78

Total : 104.78

187403 5/8/2020 007092  SAUNORIS 614523 SAND
01-26-023-73860 47.48

Total : 47.48

187404 5/8/2020 007339  SIUE 022720 GENE LODE/058-197108/CROSS CONN CONTL DE
01-33-300-72720 25.00

Total : 25.00

187405 5/8/2020 011583  SOUTH SUBURBAN PADS 050520 PAYOUT (ADD A DOLLAR PROG UTILITY BILLS)
84-00-000-20193 709.24

Total : 709.24

187406 5/8/2020 002592  SPOK, INC. 6092566-6 ACCT#6092566-6 PAGER SERVICE APRIL'20
01-17-205-72125 68.88
01-26-025-72125 8.27

Total : 77.15

187407 5/8/2020 012238  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE 3439531043 LOTTERY BOX
01-15-000-73110 48.29
CREDIT LOGITECH Z207 BLUETOOTH COMPUTER3439531045
01-17-205-73570 -32.99
TONER,SHARPIES,2 PKT PORT3439531046
01-17-205-73110 232.98
HP BLK LASER3439531047

17Page:

Page | 134AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
18

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187407 5/8/2020 (Continued)012238  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE
01-17-205-73110 63.59
FOLDER W CLIPS3439531048
01-17-205-73110 15.49
GLOVES,HAND SOAP,3 TAB FF LTR,ENV,STAPLE3439531049
01-17-220-72230 227.68
01-17-205-73110 112.93
FLDR,BINDER CLIPS,FF LTR,CALC RIBBONS,PO3440036391
01-14-000-73110 64.28
STAMP3440036392
01-17-205-73110 34.99
K CUPS3440036393
01-17-205-73315 121.90
HUMIDIFIER3440036394
01-17-205-73110 105.58
WITE-OUT,BIC SHAKE & SQUEEZE,BINDER3440036395
01-17-205-73110 30.20
TAPE3445755537
01-16-000-73110 12.89
01-15-000-73110 15.59
01-14-000-73110 32.21
LSR LBL3445755538
01-14-000-73110 57.71

Total : 1,143.32

187408 5/8/2020 019432  STERN BROTHERS & CO 111 TAX INCREMENT FINANCING  159 & HARLEM RE
01-14-000-72790 17,500.00

Total : 17,500.00

187409 5/8/2020 018878  SUPERION LLC 277342 CRYWOLF ALARM BILLING 6/1/20-5/31/21
01-17-215-72655 5,010.60

Total : 5,010.60

187410 5/8/2020 007297  SUTTON FORD INC./FLEET SALES 503011 WIRE ASY,TUBE FUEL FEED
01-17-205-72540 319.87

Total : 319.87

18Page:

Page | 135AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
19

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187411 5/8/2020 000645  TED'S GREENHOUSE INC 519106 8081 DOWNTOWN PLANTERS SPRING 2020 HANGI
01-26-023-72881 13,927.50
APRIL'20 WATERING HANGING BASKETS & CONT519126
01-26-023-72881 777.50
INSTALL BRACKETS,OUTER SHELL,INSERT W/PL519127
01-26-023-72881 172.99

Total : 14,877.99

187412 5/8/2020 018607  TELCOM INNOVATIONS GROUP, LLC A55259 LABOR CHARGE FOR BILLABLE REMOTE SERVICE
01-26-025-72777 32.50
LABOR CHARGE FOR BILLABLE REMOTE SERVA55275
01-26-025-72777 650.00

Total : 682.50

187413 5/8/2020 004400  THE GORMAN GROUP, LTD. 050120 APRIL'20 6731 W 174TH ST APPRAISAL SERVI
27-00-000-72790 750.00

Total : 750.00

187414 5/8/2020 018724  THE LOCKER SHOP 72974 INSOLES-M STANTON
01-19-000-73610 25.00
SHORTS - C ANDREWS72984
01-19-000-73610 49.00
SHORTS,PANTS-N SMITHES 72971
01-19-000-73610 107.00
POLO-B MILLERICKOE 72988
01-19-000-73610 62.00
SHIRT-J SWARTZENTRUBEROE 74110
01-19-000-73610 69.00
UNDER ARMOUR,SHORTS-S CURTISOES 72976
01-19-000-73610 140.00
T-SHIRT,UNDER ARMOUR,PANTS-A BUTERAOS 73419
01-19-000-73610 184.00
INSOLES-S KRIVANECS 74111
01-19-000-73610 25.00

Total : 661.00

187415 5/8/2020 014854  THOMSON REUTERS-WEST PYMNT CTR842273022 WEST INFO 4/1/20-4/30/20

19Page:

Page | 136AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
20

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187415 5/8/2020 (Continued)014854  THOMSON REUTERS-WEST PYMNT CTR
01-17-225-72852 194.12

Total : 194.12

187416 5/8/2020 007800  THYSSENKRUPP ELEVATOR CORP 3005220267 PSB/ELEV FULL MAINT 5/1/20-7/31/20
01-26-025-72790 1,214.44

Total : 1,214.44

187417 5/8/2020 002064  TINLEY PARK HISTORICAL SOCIETY 050520 ANNUAL CONTRIBUTION/PAYOUT BALANCE
01-41-054-72921 5,000.00
84-00-000-20188 188.00

Total : 5,188.00

187418 5/8/2020 007827  TINLEY WISH 050520 PAYOUT (ADD A DOLLAR PROG UTILITY BILLS)
84-00-000-20192 2,407.15

Total : 2,407.15

187419 5/8/2020 012480  TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE SERV.CORP IN1751236 FSA-ADMIN FEE 6/1/20-6/30/20
01-14-000-72449 213.39
FSA-ADMIN FEES 7/1/20-7/31/20IN1751329
01-14-000-72449 213.39

Total : 426.78

187420 5/8/2020 007930  TRANS UNION 04000332 BASIC SERV 3/26/20-4/25/20
01-17-225-72852 90.00

Total : 90.00

187421 5/8/2020 019428  TWO BROTHERS ARTISAN SPIRITS 2729 HAND SANITIZER
01-26-025-73580 530.00

Total : 530.00

187422 5/8/2020 004106  TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC 045-295929 EXECUTIME LICENSE INCREASE
30-00-000-74139 300.00VTP-016786
60-00-000-74139 100.00VTP-016786

Total : 400.00

187423 5/8/2020 008057  USA BLUE BOOK 220078 HACH FLUORIDE RGT-SPADNS BOOK
60-00-000-73550 47.17

20Page:

Page | 137AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
21

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187423 5/8/2020 (Continued)008057  USA BLUE BOOK
63-00-000-73550 47.18

Total : 94.35

187424 5/8/2020 006362  VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 1-9990015-00 ACCT#1-9990015-00 4/1/20-5/1/20
60-00-000-73220 509,996.00
63-00-000-73220 470,765.54

Total : 980,761.54

187425 5/8/2020 006362  VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 7029 NORTHERN TRUST UNUSED COMM FEE 1ST QTR 2
60-00-000-73221 233.60

Total : 233.60

187426 5/8/2020 010165  WAREHOUSE DIRECT WORKPL SOLTNS4646865-0 PAPER
01-26-023-73110 34.27
01-26-024-73110 17.14
01-17-205-73110 342.72
60-00-000-73110 21.59
63-00-000-73110 2.40
64-00-000-73110 10.28

Total : 428.40

Bank total : 1,786,841.91106 Vouchers for bank code : apbank

21Page:

Page | 138AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/08/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
22

 5:18:52AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ipmg

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

2667 5/5/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200407W009 PAYEE-INGALLS OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH
01-14-000-72542 57.86

Total : 57.86

2668 5/5/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200211W025 PAYEE-PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY
01-14-000-72542 4,321.70

Total : 4,321.70

2669 5/5/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200219W023 PAYEE-PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY
01-14-000-72542 2,369.58

Total : 2,369.58

Bank total : 6,749.143 Vouchers for bank code : ipmg

1,793,591.05Total vouchers :Vouchers in this report109

The Tinley Park Village Board having duly met at Village
Hall do hereby certify that the following claims or demands
against said village were presented and are approved for
payment as presented on the above listing.

In witness thereof, the Village President and Clerk of
the Village of Tinley Park, hereunto set their hands.

______________________________Village President

______________________________Village Clerk

______________________________Date

22Page:

Page | 139AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
1

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187427 5/15/2020 013035  ADVANCE AUTO PARTS 050720 WINDOW 2 PC VENTSHIELD
01-26-024-72540 64.39

Total : 64.39

187428 5/15/2020 014472  AERO RUBBER COMPANY, INC. 042420 STORAGE SPACE RENTAL 5/1/20-5/1/21 8100
01-35-000-72790 9,660.00VTP-017843

Total : 9,660.00

187429 5/15/2020 019438  ALBANO, DANICA Ref001391460 UB Refund Cst #00492266
60-00-000-20599 114.07

Total : 114.07

187430 5/15/2020 002628  AMERICAN WATER 4000190464 FLAT MONTHLY FEE
64-00-000-73225 455.67

Total : 455.67

187431 5/15/2020 010953  BATTERIES PLUS - 277 P26632727 BATTERIES
14-00-000-74150 140.00

Total : 140.00

187432 5/15/2020 018807  BAXTER & WOODMAN INC 0213073 190816.40 LAGRANGE ROAD UTILITY IMPROV D
62-00-000-72840 21,571.25
PROJ#180829.20 WATER MODEL PREP0213132
60-00-000-75813 491.75VTP-017391
63-00-000-75813 491.75VTP-017391
64-00-000-75813 421.50VTP-017391

Total : 22,976.25

187433 5/15/2020 002974  BETTENHAUSEN CONSTRUCTION SERV200072 HAULING SPOILS
01-26-023-72890 225.00
60-00-000-73681 330.75
63-00-000-73681 36.75
64-00-000-73681 157.50

Total : 750.00

187434 5/15/2020 018420  BOUND TREE MEDICAL LLC 83614180 GLOVES

1Page:

Page | 140AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
2

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187434 5/15/2020 (Continued)018420  BOUND TREE MEDICAL LLC
01-19-000-73115 483.60

Total : 483.60

187435 5/15/2020 019445  CAJKA, MARILYNN 051320 REFUND CANCELLATION OF AN AMERICAN IN PA
01-14-000-79099 62.00

Total : 62.00

187436 5/15/2020 019446  CALABRIA, FRANCINE 051320 REFUND CANCELLATION OF AN AMERICAN IN PA
01-14-000-79099 62.00

Total : 62.00

187437 5/15/2020 014148  CALL ONE 239972 VILLAGE LANDLINE PHONE SERV
01-19-000-72120 2,315.90
60-00-000-72120 3,012.03
63-00-000-72120 334.67
64-00-000-72120 1,434.30
01-17-205-72120 1,809.12
01-14-000-72120 1,067.20
01-11-000-72120 6.62
01-12-000-72120 15.22
01-17-205-72120 15.22
01-19-000-72120 3.31
01-26-023-72120 3.97
01-26-024-72120 3.97
01-33-310-72120 3.97
01-33-320-72120 3.97
60-00-000-72120 9.92
01-12-000-72120 54.08
01-14-000-72120 180.74
01-15-000-72120 32.73
01-17-205-72120 108.16
01-19-000-72120 48.39
01-26-023-72120 21.35
01-26-024-72120 21.35
01-33-300-72120 32.73
01-33-310-72120 32.73

2Page:

Page | 141AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
3

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187437 5/15/2020 (Continued)014148  CALL ONE
01-33-320-72120 21.35
01-35-000-72120 21.35
01-53-000-72120 11.39
60-00-000-72120 68.59
63-00-000-72120 7.61
64-00-000-72120 32.66
01-19-020-72120 16.36

Total : 10,750.96

187438 5/15/2020 011929  CAPITAL ONE BANK (USA), N.A. 041520 **** 6452 MONTHLY SUBSCRIPTION
01-35-000-72720 27.72
**** 6452 CLICK N SHIP041620
01-14-000-72110 7.75
**** 6452 APRIL'20 10 IMAGES A MONTH042020
01-35-000-72985 29.99
**** 6452 GO TO MEETING MONTHLY SUBSCRIP042120
01-14-000-72720 25.59
**** 6452 PROTECTIVE PLEXIGLASS SHIELD113-0402181-8580253
01-26-025-72530 1,443.79
****6452 PROTECTIVE PLEXIGLASS SHIELD113-1671378-2437840
01-26-025-72530 756.20
****6452 25 BLOODBORNE & AIRBORNE PATHOGINV-1767075
01-26-025-72140 398.75VTP-017795

Total : 2,689.79

187439 5/15/2020 003396  CASE LOTS INC 4818 TOWELS,CANLINERS,GLOVES
01-26-025-73580 585.90
GLOVES,SOAP5069
01-26-025-73580 385.30

Total : 971.20

187440 5/15/2020 003328  CATCHING FLUIDPOWER INC E99090-001 HOSE ASSY,HOSE FITTING
60-00-000-72540 63.99
63-00-000-72540 21.33
64-00-000-72540 36.57
HOSE ASSYE99490-001

3Page:

Page | 142AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
4

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187440 5/15/2020 (Continued)003328  CATCHING FLUIDPOWER INC
01-26-023-72530 90.21

Total : 212.10

187441 5/15/2020 017224  CCS CHICAGO CONTRACTORS SUPPLY 203619 SPEEDCRETE,WATERSTOP
01-26-023-73770 1,675.75

Total : 1,675.75

187442 5/15/2020 003243  CDW GOVERNMENT INC XSQ0347 <IT> - MCAFEE ENDPOINT PROTECTION - RENE
01-16-000-72655 1,837.50VTP-017833

Total : 1,837.50

187443 5/15/2020 003229  CED/EFENGEE 5025-527056 SPEAKER SYSTEM
01-26-025-73570 90.46

Total : 90.46

187444 5/15/2020 019441  CHALUPA, LILLIAN 051320 REFUND CANCELLATION OF AN AMERICAN IN PA
01-14-000-79099 124.00

Total : 124.00

187445 5/15/2020 017298  COMCAST BUSINESS 930890410 ACCT#930890410 MAY'20
01-14-000-72125 943.96

Total : 943.96

187446 5/15/2020 012057  COMCAST CABLE 8771401810028977 ACCT#8771401810028977 5/16-6/15/20
01-26-025-72517 39.75
ACCT#8771401810296319 5/8-6/7/208771401810296319
01-14-000-72125 233.35
ACCT#8771401810784702 4/20-5/19/208771401810784702
01-19-000-72517 81.30

Total : 354.40

187447 5/15/2020 012522  CONNEY SAFETY PRODUCTS, LLC 05855058 RESPIRATORS
01-26-025-72525 376.39

Total : 376.39

187448 5/15/2020 012410  CONSERV FS, INC. 66036660 STAPLES
01-26-023-73680 50.65

4Page:

Page | 143AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
5

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 50.65187448 5/15/2020 012410 012410  CONSERV FS, INC.

187449 5/15/2020 018234  CORE & MAIN LP M280622 TILE PROBE
60-00-000-73410 46.78
63-00-000-73410 5.20
64-00-000-73410 22.27
HW SWR WYE GXG,GASKET CAPM294947
01-26-023-73790 54.33

Total : 128.58

187450 5/15/2020 003475  COUNTY OF WILL TinleyPar2020 2020 WARRANT SERVICE
01-17-205-72720 4,061.88

Total : 4,061.88

187451 5/15/2020 017019  CROWN CASTLE USA INC 31371793 ANTENNAS/ANALYSIS/INSPECTION FOR TINLEY
60-00-000-75812 525.00VTP-017538
63-00-000-75812 525.00VTP-017538
64-00-000-75812 450.00VTP-017538

Total : 1,500.00

187452 5/15/2020 012198  CRYDER ENTERPRISES, INC. 2534 HYDRANT PAINTING PROJECT SERV THRU 4/30/
60-00-000-72790 4,980.00VTP-017238

Total : 4,980.00

187453 5/15/2020 003240  CUTRANO, MIKE 051320 REFUND CANCELATION OF AMERICAN IN PARIS
01-14-000-79099 124.00

Total : 124.00

187454 5/15/2020 019448  DALY, CHRISTINE 051320 REFUND CANCELLATION OF AN AMERICAN IN PA
01-14-000-79099 124.00

Total : 124.00

187455 5/15/2020 003770  DUSTCATCHERS INC 73002 MATS/VH
01-26-025-72790 65.93
MATS/ PD73003
01-26-025-72790 85.41
MATS/PW GARAGE73004
01-26-025-72790 99.08

5Page:

Page | 144AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
6

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 250.42187455 5/15/2020 003770 003770  DUSTCATCHERS INC

187456 5/15/2020 017073  DYNEGY ENERGY SERVICES LLC 146561320051 ACCT#GMCTIN1000 3/30/20-4/27/20
64-00-000-72510 1,077.14
60-00-000-72510 4,007.98
63-00-000-72510 4,007.98
60-00-000-72510 1,837.83
63-00-000-72510 1,837.84
64-00-000-72510 5,811.12

Total : 18,579.89

187457 5/15/2020 004152  ECOLAB PEST ELIMINATION INC. 9295541 PEST CONTROL 5/7/20
01-26-025-72790 474.44
PEST CONTROL 5/7/209295542
01-26-025-72790 86.48

Total : 560.92

187458 5/15/2020 019416  EROC PROPERTIES LLC 051220 FACADE GRANT
27-00-000-79141 35,000.00

Total : 35,000.00

187459 5/15/2020 019447  FARRELL, SANDRA 051320 REFUND CANCELLATION OF AN AMERICAN IN PA
01-14-000-79099 62.00

Total : 62.00

187460 5/15/2020 012484  FERGUSON FACILITIES #3400 0130036 SOAP
01-26-025-73580 371.00

Total : 371.00

187461 5/15/2020 015058  FLEETPRIDE 51116588 FILTER,LUBE,FUEL & FF/WS CARTRIDGE,AIR M
01-26-023-72540 530.58

Total : 530.58

187462 5/15/2020 012941  FMP 52-455648 SCREEN ASY
01-26-023-72540 41.88
ATTACHING HSWR52-455679
01-26-024-72540 21.98

6Page:

Page | 145AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
7

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 63.86187462 5/15/2020 012941 012941  FMP

187463 5/15/2020 011611  FOX VALLEY FIRE & SAFETY CO. IN00351638 MONTHLY RADIO MAINT 4/1-4/30/20
14-00-000-72750 8,437.00VTP-017472

Total : 8,437.00

187464 5/15/2020 019449  FREDETTE, LIDA 051320 REFUND CANCELLATION OF AN AMERICAN IN PA
01-14-000-79099 62.00

Total : 62.00

187465 5/15/2020 002877  G. W. BERKHEIMER CO.,  INC. 651993 V-BELT
01-26-025-72520 6.70

Total : 6.70

187466 5/15/2020 019349  GARVEY'S OFFICE PRODUCTS PINV1912135 MARKERS,TAPE
01-19-000-73110 33.84
LETTER POUCHPINV1912139
01-19-000-73110 38.11

Total : 71.95

187467 5/15/2020 019437  GFL ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES USA LQ00304876 TRUCK CHARGE
01-26-024-73535 15.00
01-17-205-73535 22.50
01-33-300-72540 7.50
01-26-023-73535 15.00
60-00-000-73535 7.88
63-00-000-73535 2.62
64-00-000-73535 4.50

Total : 75.00

187468 5/15/2020 004538  GOLDY LOCKS INC 682523 DUPL KEY,BLANK,RING,TAG
01-26-023-73840 28.40

Total : 28.40

187469 5/15/2020 015397  GOVTEMPSUSA LLC 3516906 4/12,4/19,4/22,4/26 PAULA WALLRICH
01-33-310-72750 11,189.25

Total : 11,189.25

7Page:

Page | 146AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
8

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187470 5/15/2020 004438  GRAINGER 9516741031 DEODORIZER
01-26-025-73580 61.08
COIN BATTERY9516933323
01-26-025-72520 20.40
GLOVES,SAFETY GLASSES9520052995
01-26-024-73845 48.84
01-26-023-73845 97.68
60-00-000-73845 61.54
63-00-000-73845 6.84
64-00-000-73845 29.30
SUNSCREEN9522717066
01-26-023-73845 213.80
GLOVES9523800994
01-26-024-73845 37.44
01-26-023-73845 74.88
60-00-000-73845 47.17
63-00-000-73845 5.24
64-00-000-73845 22.47
HOODED COVERALLS SKID RES BOOTS9524140945
01-26-025-72525 327.78
TOILET BOWL CLEANER9524140952
01-26-025-73580 258.75
SPRAY PAINT,MARKING PAINT9525382256
60-00-000-73620 71.90
63-00-000-73620 71.90
64-00-000-73620 61.64
BIOHAZ BAGS9525514981
01-26-025-73580 32.25

Total : 1,550.90

187471 5/15/2020 019382  H & J HOLDINGS LLC 051120 OPA PLAYBOOK FACADE GRANT
27-00-000-79141 23,570.00

Total : 23,570.00

187472 5/15/2020 014491  HANSEN DOOR INC. 8884 SERVICE / V-BELT
01-26-025-72520 335.00

8Page:

Page | 147AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
9

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 335.00187472 5/15/2020 014491 014491  HANSEN DOOR INC.

187473 5/15/2020 015315  HECHT, MARCIA 051320 REFUND CANCELLATION OF AN AMERICAN IN PA
01-14-000-79099 62.00

Total : 62.00

187474 5/15/2020 019442  HUBBARD, ROSEANN 051320 REFUND CANCELLATION OF AN AMERICAN IN PA
01-14-000-79099 62.00

Total : 62.00

187475 5/15/2020 018836  ILLINOIS COUNTIES RISK RCB000000023300 2019-2020 ICRMT - PROPERTY AND LIABILITY
01-14-000-72421 51,410.45
60-00-000-72421 8,255.05
63-00-000-72421 8,255.05
64-00-000-72421 3,209.48
70-00-000-72421 2,313.47
2019-2020 ICRMT - WORKERS' COMPENSATIONRCB000000023901
01-14-000-72421 11,744.34
60-00-000-72421 4,642.47
63-00-000-72421 884.28
64-00-000-72421 2,368.61
70-00-000-72421 98.68

Total : 93,181.88

187476 5/15/2020 015497  ILLINOIS SECRETARY OF STATE 051220 COVERT PLATES (6) VEHICLES
01-17-205-72860 906.00

Total : 906.00

187477 5/15/2020 005127  INGALLS OCCUPATIONAL MEDICINE 288564 EXAMS APRIL'20
01-19-000-72150 1,108.00
DRUG SCREEN 4/8/20288566
60-00-000-72150 59.00
DRUG SCREEN,HEP B 4/10 & 4/23/20288569
01-21-000-72150 59.00
01-14-000-72985 65.00

Total : 1,291.00

187478 5/15/2020 005186  INTERSTATE BATTERY SYSTEM 58007593 BATTERIES

9Page:

Page | 148AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
10

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187478 5/15/2020 (Continued)005186  INTERSTATE BATTERY SYSTEM
01-26-023-72540 359.85

Total : 359.85

187479 5/15/2020 004875  IRMA SALES0018291 APRIL'20 DEDUCTIBLE
01-14-000-72541 6,582.55
60-00-000-72541 3,709.12
64-00-000-72541 1,589.63
70-00-000-72541 280.00

Total : 12,161.30

187480 5/15/2020 005212  J S R  ENTERPRISES INC 24229 PLUMBING HOLDING CELLS
01-26-025-72530 2,069.05

Total : 2,069.05

187481 5/15/2020 007233  JOLIET SUSPENSION, INC. 123520 REPL RIGHT OUTER LOWER TIE ROD.ALIGN FRO
60-00-000-72540 94.50
63-00-000-72540 31.50
60-00-000-72540 74.48
63-00-000-72540 24.83
64-00-000-72540 42.56
60-00-000-72540 3.37
63-00-000-72540 1.12
64-00-000-72540 55.93

Total : 328.29

187482 5/15/2020 014190  LEHIGH HANSON 5811661 BED/BACKFILL
01-26-023-73860 74.51
70-00-000-73860 24.84
60-00-000-73860 93.83
63-00-000-73860 10.43
64-00-000-73860 44.76

Total : 248.37

187483 5/15/2020 019023  M & F SERVICES ONE INC 2175 4/30/20 TESTING & CERT 4" DERINGER 30 DC
01-26-025-72790 180.00

Total : 180.00

10Page:

Page | 149AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
11

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187484 5/15/2020 012631  MASTER AUTO SUPPLY, LTD. 15030-87392 OIL
01-26-023-72540 14.06
01-26-024-72540 7.04
60-00-000-72540 7.38
63-00-000-72540 2.46
64-00-000-72540 4.22

Total : 35.16

187485 5/15/2020 006074  MENARDS 84731 LUMBER
01-26-025-72520 95.70
BOUNTY ESSNTL84787
01-26-025-73580 17.98
COUPLER,SEWER PIPE84980
01-26-023-73840 25.04
DRANO MAX85049
01-26-025-73630 20.96
SANDING SPNGE,STPLES,TAPE,SAND,DUST CONT85095
01-26-025-72520 49.20
DROP CLOTH,BENT POLE,MIXER,PAINT PAIL OP85128
01-26-023-73840 18.92
BACKWIRE OUTLET85142
01-26-025-73570 5.96
GUTTER SCR,ALABASTER SHE,BRACKET85226
01-26-025-72520 11.40

Total : 245.16

187486 5/15/2020 012517  MERIDIAN IT INC 474977 PHASE T & M NETWORKING LABOR DETAILS APR
01-16-000-72650 1,170.00
PHASE T & M NETWORKING LABOR DETAIL475041
01-16-000-72650 1,480.00

Total : 2,650.00

187487 5/15/2020 016827  MUNICIPAL ELECTRONICS DIV, LLC 067296 STALKER DUAL DSR AMP
01-17-220-72530 630.00

Total : 630.00

187488 5/15/2020 010810  MUNICIPAL SERV. CONSULTING INC TPCN-04-20-A CIMP APRIL'20

11Page:

Page | 150AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
12

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187488 5/15/2020 (Continued)010810  MUNICIPAL SERV. CONSULTING INC
30-00-000-75812 4,430.80

Total : 4,430.80

187489 5/15/2020 015723  NICOR 09977410001 ACCT#09-97-74-1000 1 7801 W 191ST 4/3/20
01-26-025-72511 263.78
12-21-36-1000 4 7825 W 167TH ST 4/1/20-412213610004
01-26-025-72511 381.04

Total : 644.82

187490 5/15/2020 017646  NORTHEASTERN ILLINOIS REGIONAL 100 MEMBERSHIPASSESSMENT/INTERGOVERNMENTAL A
01-17-205-72750 81,817.00VTP-017848

Total : 81,817.00

187491 5/15/2020 012876  OFFICE OF STATE FIRE MARSHAL 5125109927 5/8/20 CONVEYANCE REGIST/SCHINDLER ELEVA
01-26-025-72520 30.00
10/3/19 CERTIFICATE FEES9620502
01-26-025-72520 280.00

Total : 310.00

187492 5/15/2020 006494  P.F. PETTIBONE & CO. 178641 SHOULDER PATCH
01-17-205-73610 183.50

Total : 183.50

187493 5/15/2020 006475  PARK ACE HARDWARE 036223/2 #891432 STOP NUT
01-26-023-73840 15.19
#891432 MAGNET,CORD063485/1
01-26-023-73840 12.14
#891432 BATTERIES063504/1
01-26-023-73680 19.98
#891432 TOUCH N FLOW PISTOL063507/1
01-26-023-73410 25.58

Total : 72.89

187494 5/15/2020 015491  PIZZO & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 22985 VTP-017818 8322 FAIRFIELD GLEN RESTORATI
30-00-000-73681 965.25

Total : 965.25

12Page:

Page | 151AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
13

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187495 5/15/2020 006780  POMP'S TIRE SERVICE, INC 310162470 (6) 225/70 R19.5 DRIVE TIRES
60-00-000-73560 883.27VTP-017857
63-00-000-73560 98.14VTP-017857
64-00-000-73560 420.61VTP-017857
(2) 225 70R19.5 FRONT TIRES UNIT 51410767666
60-00-000-73560 302.40VTP-017844
63-00-000-73560 35.28VTP-017844
64-00-000-73560 166.32VTP-017844

Total : 1,906.02

187496 5/15/2020 006361  RAY O' HERRON CO INC 2026856-IN RIOT HELMET 5/8/20
01-17-205-73610 142.04

Total : 142.04

187497 5/15/2020 006870  RELIABLE FIRE EQUIPMENT 22542 TAMPER SEAL/RECERTIFY/VH
01-26-025-72535 84.95
RECERTIFY / 80TH AVE & 183RD ST CRC BLDG22543
01-26-025-72535 69.95
RECERTIFY / 7810 183RD ST /TRAINING GARA22544
01-26-025-72535 69.95
HYDROTEST,VALVE ASSY,LABEL PACK,SEAL,REC22545
01-26-025-72535 467.85
HYDROTST,GAUGE,VLVE SSY,LABL PACK,TAMPR22546
01-26-025-72535 451.50
RECERTIFY / FIRE ST #1 /17355 S 68TH CT22548
01-26-025-72535 69.95
HYDROTEST,VALVE ASSY,LABEL PACK,RECHARGE22549
01-26-025-72535 195.65
RECERTIFY / POLICE PISTOL RANGE 17375 S22550
01-26-025-72535 69.95
RECERTIFY/ 6700 SOUTH ST TRAIN ST22551
01-26-025-72535 69.95
RECERTIFY/ PUMPING STATION 6640 W 167TH22552
01-26-025-72535 69.95
RECERTIFY / 183 RIDGELAND PUMPING ST #222553
01-26-025-72535 69.95
RECERTIFY / 7801 W 191ST ST FIRE ST #422555

13Page:

Page | 152AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
14

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187497 5/15/2020 (Continued)006870  RELIABLE FIRE EQUIPMENT
01-26-025-72535 69.95
PLASTIC TAG,SEAL / RECERTIFY /80TH AVE T22556
01-26-025-72535 71.95
RECERTIFY / PUMPING ST NORTH BAYBERRY 1722557
01-26-025-72535 69.95
RECERTIFY / FIRE ST #3   9191 W 175TH ST22558
01-26-025-72535 69.95

Total : 1,971.40

187498 5/15/2020 006987  ROBERTS, CARYL 051320 REFUND CANCELATION OF AMERICAN IN PARIS
01-14-000-79099 124.00

Total : 124.00

187499 5/15/2020 019443  ROCHOWICZ, ELIZABETH 051320 REFUND CANCELLATION OF AN AMERICAN IN PA
01-14-000-79099 62.00

Total : 62.00

187500 5/15/2020 016334  RUSH TRUCK CENTERS 3019251412 HANDLE DOOR INSIDE LH
01-26-023-72540 74.99

Total : 74.99

187501 5/15/2020 019444  SABATINI, LINDA 051320 REFUND CANCELLATION OF AN AMERICAN IN PA
01-14-000-79099 62.00

Total : 62.00

187502 5/15/2020 007629  SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 6865. TAX
01-21-000-72220 2.02

Total : 2.02

187503 5/15/2020 007453  SERVICE SANITATION, INC. 7927010 BASIC RESTROOM FIREMEN CENTER
01-19-000-72750 149.87

Total : 149.87

187504 5/15/2020 007224  STANDARD EQUIPMENT COMPANY P21649 CURTAIN PRES SL
01-26-023-72530 519.14

Total : 519.14

14Page:

Page | 153AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
15

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187505 5/15/2020 012238  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE 3446426682 ENV,TAPE,BINDERCLIPS
01-14-000-73110 78.09

Total : 78.09

187506 5/15/2020 007658  STATE TREASURER 59143 HARLEM 161,159 71ST CT,HARLEM BREMEN DR
01-26-024-72775 1,252.63

Total : 1,252.63

187507 5/15/2020 015833  STEEVE, MARY 051320 REFUND CANCELATION OF AMERICAN IN PARIS
01-14-000-79099 62.00

Total : 62.00

187508 5/15/2020 015452  STEINER ELECTRIC COMPANY S006591242.001. CREDIT TAKEN BY MISTAKE REPAID
01-26-025-73570 87.64
WEATHERPROOF INSULATINGS006599012.002
01-26-024-73570 140.70
CREDIT WEATHERPROOF INSULATINGS006599012.003
01-26-024-73570 -140.70
SPLICESS006632809.001
01-26-024-73570 50.90

Total : 138.54

187509 5/15/2020 014793  STS TOWING 7798 TOWING
01-26-023-72540 100.00

Total : 100.00

187510 5/15/2020 019439  SUMMERS, ANNA Ref001391461 UB Refund Cst #00499650
60-00-000-20599 11.02

Total : 11.02

187511 5/15/2020 007297  SUTTON FORD INC./FLEET SALES 503337 SOCKET ASY
01-17-205-72540 310.02
KIT503368
01-17-205-72540 37.14
PATS KEY BLANK503421
60-00-000-72540 17.61
63-00-000-72540 5.87

15Page:

Page | 154AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
16

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187511 5/15/2020 (Continued)007297  SUTTON FORD INC./FLEET SALES
64-00-000-72540 10.06
LABOR STREET#94635896
01-26-023-72540 1,399.90

Total : 1,780.60

187512 5/15/2020 000645  TED'S GREENHOUSE INC 519105 8081 DOWNTOWN PLANTERS SPRING 2020 HANGI
01-26-023-72881 12,021.00

Total : 12,021.00

187513 5/15/2020 007691  TINLEY PARK CHAMBER/COMMERCE 051120 OPA PLAYBOOK SIGN GRANT
27-00-000-79118 380.00

Total : 380.00

187514 5/15/2020 013200  TRIBUNE PUBLISHING COMPANY 019648823000 ACCT#CU00565829 4/1/20-4/30/20
01-33-310-72330 111.00
CLASSIFIED LISTINGS ONLINECU00027575
01-33-310-72330 150.00
01-26-024-72330 333.01
64-00-000-72330 418.09
01-33-310-72330 241.50

Total : 1,253.60

187515 5/15/2020 002613  UNITED HEALTHCARE AARP 050620 MAY 20 PYMT FOR JUNE 20 COVERAGE
01-33-300-72435 135.85
01-13-000-72435 222.89
60-00-000-72435 67.93
01-26-023-72435 67.92
60-00-000-72435 122.13
01-17-205-72435 132.99
60-00-000-72435 310.95
01-26-024-72435 211.34
01-26-023-72435 110.18
60-00-000-72435 204.58
01-17-205-72435 82.30
60-00-000-72435 41.16
01-26-025-72435 41.14

16Page:

Page | 155AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
17

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187515 5/15/2020 (Continued)002613  UNITED HEALTHCARE AARP
01-17-205-72435 160.56

Total : 1,911.92

187516 5/15/2020 006362  VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 7037 2011A & 2006 GO BONDS BASED ON 2020 IDNR
60-00-000-73223 11,570.54
60-00-000-73222 25,017.43
IEPA REICH LOAN PAYMENT REIM L17-50807044
60-00-000-73221 132,410.44
64-00-000-73221 74,480.87
IEPA TRANS MAIN 4A REIM L17-50827052
60-00-000-73221 114,842.75
64-00-000-73221 64,599.04

Total : 422,921.07

187517 5/15/2020 010165  WAREHOUSE DIRECT WORKPL SOLTNS4660106-0 CLIPBOARD
01-26-023-73110 35.60

Total : 35.60

187518 5/15/2020 011055  WARREN OIL CO. W1305936-W1305938 N.L. GAS USED 3/21/20-4/23/20
01-17-205-73530 8,173.25
01-19-000-73530 435.13
01-19-020-73530 62.32
01-21-000-73530 124.34
60-00-000-73530 837.20
63-00-000-73530 209.29
64-00-000-73530 448.48
01-26-023-73530 1,113.60
01-26-024-73530 455.70
01-33-300-73530 124.75
01-33-320-73530 13.27
01-12-000-73530 97.39
14-00-000-73530 32.70
01-42-000-73530 98.11
DIESEL USED 3/21-4/23/20W1305937
01-19-000-73545 557.56
60-00-000-73545 57.46

17Page:

Page | 156AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
18

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

187518 5/15/2020 (Continued)011055  WARREN OIL CO.
63-00-000-73545 14.37
64-00-000-73545 30.79
01-26-023-73545 754.06
01-26-024-73545 70.46
01-14-000-73531 912.70

Total : 14,622.93

187519 5/15/2020 013263  WEST SIDE TRACTOR SALES J79610 BEARING
01-26-023-72540 234.25
AIR & OIL FILTERS, FILTER ELEMENTS83017
01-26-023-72530 356.45

Total : 590.70

187520 5/15/2020 012034  WITMER PUBLIC SAFETY GROUP,INC E1955775 001 GLOVE POUCH
01-19-000-73115 204.63

Total : 204.63

187521 5/15/2020 019450  WOJCIK, JOANNE 051320 REFUND CANCELLATION OF AN AMERICAN IN PA
01-14-000-79099 124.00

Total : 124.00

187522 5/15/2020 016910  X-CENTRIC IT SOLUTIONS, LLC 3758 <IT> - EXPANDED CITRIX LICENSING
01-16-000-72655 6,259.60VTP-017832

Total : 6,259.60

Bank total : 838,104.2096 Vouchers for bank code : apbank

18Page:

Page | 157AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



05/15/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
19

 5:12:27AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ipmg

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

2670 5/12/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200318W009 PAYEE-INGALLS HEALTH SYSTEM
01-14-000-72542 407.23

Total : 407.23

2671 5/12/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200407W009 PAYEE-INGALLS OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH
01-14-000-72542 603.52

Total : 603.52

2672 5/12/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200318W009-2 PAYEE-ONE CALL MEDICAL INC
01-14-000-72542 570.00

Total : 570.00

2673 5/12/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200318W009-2 PAYEE-VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
01-14-000-72542 2,771.70

Total : 2,771.70

Bank total : 4,352.454 Vouchers for bank code : ipmg

842,456.65Total vouchers :Vouchers in this report100

The Tinley Park Village Board having duly met at Village
Hall do hereby certify that the following claims or demands
against said village were presented and are approved for
payment as presented on the above listing.

In witness thereof, the Village President and Clerk of
the Village of Tinley Park, hereunto set their hands.

______________________________Village President

______________________________Village Clerk

______________________________Date

19Page:

Page | 158AGENDA - 5/19/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



April 16, 2020 – Public Hearing 

 
 
Zoning Code Text Amendment Corrections –  

Short Term Rental and Residential Masonry 

 

   
 

 
Recently, the Village approved two text amendments to the Zoning Code relating to exterior 

masonry requirements (December 17, 2019; 2019-O-074) and for short-term rental uses (July 

2, 2019; 2019-O-035). During the course of drafting and implementing the text changes, staff 

encountered a few text corrections to ensure the intent behind these codes is clear. This 

report clarifies the text corrections for each.  

 

Masonry. The masonry requirements for residential properties were generally left as they 

previously existed in the Comprehensive Building Code and just moved into the Zoning Code. 

The definition of “masonry” was changed to include precast concrete panels. The definition 

change was intended for commercial properties to have some additional flexibility. However, 

based on the code’s wording, it could be interpreted that residential homes are permitted to 

be constructed with precast concrete panels on the first-floor. Staff is proposing a minor 

wording change to clarify that homes must utilize face brick or decorative stone on the first 

story on a new home as was originally intended. 

 

Short –term rental. The short-term rental (STR) use text amendment has two clarifications 

that are needed. First, in the Medium-Density (R-6) and High-Density (R-7) residential zoning 

districts the regulations do not address STR use in single-family detached, single-family 

attached and two-family dwellings despite the fact they are allowable uses in those districts.  

The requirements in other residential zoning districts state that STR units in single-family 

detached, single-family attached and two-family dwellings “are only permitted when 

separated 500 feet from all property lot lines” from another STR. That distance requirement 

needs to be addressed in the Medium-Density (R-6) and High-Density (R-7) residential zoning 

districts as well. Second, the STR use was not addressed in the Legacy Code and clarification 

is needed for those zoning districts. 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 

Village Tinley Park 

 

Municipal Code 

Zoning Code 

 

Approvals Sought 

Text Amendment 

 

Project Planner 

Daniel Ritter, AICP 

Senior Planner  

Page | 159AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Text Amendment Corrections - Short Term Rental & Masonry 

 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 

The masonry requirements for residential properties were left as they were previously stated in the building code. 

However, the definition of masonry was changed to include pre-cast concrete panels to allow for some flexibility as 

an alternative masonry material on commercial and industrial structures. However, due to the wording of the 

residential masonry section, it can be interpreted that precast concrete panels can be used to comply with first-floor 

masonry requirements, which was not the intent. To rectify this issue, staff is proposing to make the following change 

to Section V.C.4.B as listed below to clarify that only face brick and decorative stone are permitted materials on the 

first-floor of new residential homes. 

 

In all single-family detached, single-family attached, townhomes, and in all single-family semi- detached dwellings, 

exterior walls shall be constructed of face brick or decorative stone, or other approved masonry products as defined 

herein. Said construction shall commence from the finished grade and shall extend to the uppermost portion of the 

first story of such dwellings. 

 

 

 
Short-Term Rental Background 

Following a complaint about a short-term rental property in 2018, staff was directed to look into regulations for short-

term rental uses. The proposed text changes were reviewed by Plan Commission in January 2019 and adopted by the 

Village Board in July 2019 with some minor changes that added requirements to limit the density of short-term rental 

in a particular area. Short-term rentals are required to obtain a license through the Village Clerk’s office and must also 

comply with applicable zoning district regulations. Staff has identified two issues with the proposed Zoning Code text 

amendments which were not anticipated during the initial review. 

 

The final adopted use chart and regulations are as follows: 

 

SHORT-TERM RENTAL: A dwelling unit that is used as a primary residence by owners or renters, or portion of such 

a unit, that is rented for less than 30 days at a time, with the exception of dwelling units owned by the federal 

government, the state, or any of their agencies or political subdivisions and facilities licensed by the state as health 

care facilities. 

 
 R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 R-5 R-6 R-7 B-1 B-2 B-3 B-4 B-5 ORI M-1 MU-1 

Other Uses 

Short-Term 

Rental, 

accessory to 

a dwelling 

unit  

Pp Pp Pp Pp Pp Pq Pq X X X X X X X X 

 
P Short-term rentals are only permitted when separated five hundred (500) feet on all property lot lines from 

another short-term rental property line.  
Q Short-term rentals in a multi-family cannot exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the total number of units. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 160AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Text Amendment Corrections - Short Term Rental & Masonry 

 

Page 3 of 4 

 

Medium (R-6) and High-Density (R-7) Residential District Homes 

The only criteria noted in current  STR regulations for Medium-Density Residential (R-6) and High-Density Residential 

(R-7) zoning districts is “Short-term rentals in a multi-family cannot exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the total 

number of units.” While  this regulation provides guidance for multi-family units in the R-6 & R-7 zoning districts it also 

permits lower density single-family attached, single-family detached, and townhomes. The requirements for a 500-

foot separation between STR properties that applies to other lower-density residential zoning districts, was not 

applied to those medium-density and high-density residential zoning districts.  Staff is recommending the same 

restrictions for single-family attached, single-family detached, and townhomes in other single family districts also 

pertain to the R-6 and R-7 districts. 

 

To clarify this portion of the code, staff is proposing the text additions as indicated in red below: 

 
 R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 R-5 R-6 R-7 B-1 B-2 B-3 B-4 B-5 ORI M-1 MU-1 

Other Uses 

Short-Term 

Rental, accessory 

to a dwelling unit  

Pp Pp Pp Pp Pp Pp/q Pp/q X X X X X X X X 

 
P Short-term rentals located in a single-family detached, single-family attached, single-family semi-detached, 

and two-family dwellings are only permitted when separated five hundred (500) feet on all property lot lines 

from another short-term rental property line. 
q Short-term rentals in a multi-family dwellings cannot exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the total number 

of units. 

 

Legacy Code Allowance 

During the original adoption of the STR regulations, the discussion was focused on traditional residential zoning 

districts, and did not address STRs in the Legacy Code districts. The Legacy Code encompasses the downtown and 

Oak Park Avenue corridor between 167th Street and 183rd Street. Within the Legacy Code, all types of 

housing/dwellings are permitted depending on their specific zoning district (Downtown Core, Downtown Flex, 

Neighborhood General, etc.) and redevelopment status (Heritage Site or Redevelopment Site). Staff is looking to clarify 

the regulations for STRs in the Legacy District. Due to the lack of discussion on this topic during the original STR 

adoption, staff is looking for direction on the matter from the Commission. Options include prohibiting short-term 

rentals in the Legacy Code districts or allowing the use with conditions similar to the traditional zoning districts that 

relate to distance separation or a percentage of the total number of units in a multi-family structure. 

   

The advantages of allowing STR in the Legacy District relates to adjacency to the Metra station, which could be an 

incentive for visitors to stay in the downtown area and patronize local businesses. While the current licensing 

requirements of STRs limit rentals to one license per year, that requirement could change in the future and is 

independent from zoning district decisions. Any allowance of STRs in the Legacy District needs to clearly outline how 

to regulate the use with a diverse mix of residential uses in the Legacy District (mixed-use, single family, multi-family, 

etc.) 

 

By prohibiting STRs, it will eliminate the possibility that STR may negatively impact current or future uses due to the 

transient nature of the occupants. A “Boarding/Rooming House” is a similar use that is currently prohibited in the 

Legacy Code Districts.  

 

If Plan Commission wishes to recommend prohibiting STRs in the Legacy Code Districts. “Short-term Rentals” would 

be added under the list of prohibited uses in Section XII.3.A. (Page 55) of the Legacy Code. If the STRs were to be 

permitted, staff recommends identifying any conditions that may help mitigate any perceived impact of the use on 

adjacent properties. 

 

Page | 161AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Text Amendment Corrections - Short Term Rental & Masonry 

 

Page 4 of 4 

 

The Plan Commission workshop discussion focused on the allowance of STR uses in the Legacy Code districts. The 

Plan Commission felt that if STRs were acceptable, the best location is in the Downtown Core (DC). The Downtown 

Core could be more of a tourist destination in the future and has easy access to the Metra and downtown Chicago, 

which might be attractive to visitors. At this time, with the licensing restrictions and lack of demand, the Commission 

noted that it might be best to prohibit it and reevaluate the restrictions in the future. 

 

Motion 1 – Residential Masonry 

 

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board approve Text Amendments to Section V.C.4.B. (Masonry 

Requirements) of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance as indicated in the Staff Report dated April 16, 2020. 

The proposed Text Amendment will clarify the materials permitted to be utilized on the first story of new residential 

structures.” 

 

Motion 2 – Short-Term Rental 

 

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board approve Text Amendments to Section V.B. Schedule I 

(Schedule of Permitted Uses) and Section XII.3.A. (Legacy Code Uses) of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance 

as indicated in the Staff Report dated April 16, 2020. The proposed Text Amendment will amend Section V.B. 

Schedule I to add footnotes to the R-6 and R-7 zoning districts, clarify those footnotes, and to prohibit short-term 

rentals in the Legacy Code districts.” 

 

Page | 162AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-024

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING TEXT AMENDMENT CLARIFICATIONS TO THE 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE PERTAINING TO SHORT-

TERM RENTALS AND RESIDENTIAL MASONRY REQUIREMENTS

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606
 

Page | 163AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-024

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING TEXT AMENDMENT CLARIFICATIONS TO THE 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE PERTAINING TO SHORT-

TERM RENTALS AND RESIDENTIAL MASONRY REQUIREMENTS

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) recently passed Ordinance 2019-O-
035 amending its Zoning Ordinance to include certain regulations pertaining to the allowable use 
of residential dwellings as short-term rentals (“STR Requirements”); and 

WHEREAS, certain text amendments (“Amendments”) are required for clarification on 
the intent of the STR Requirements; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) recently passed Ordinance 2019-O-74 
amending its Zoning Ordinance to include certain regulations pertaining to exterior masonry 
requirements (“Masonry Requirements”); and 

WHEREAS, certain text amendments (“Amendments”) are required for clarification as to 
the intent of the Masonry Requirements; and

WHEREAS, the Village recognizes that the aesthetics of real property has a direct bearing 
on the economic value of certain real property as well as adjacent and surrounding real property; 
and

WHEREAS, the appearance of a single parcel of real property can impact not only 
surrounding real property, but the cumulative impact can serve to enhance or diminish the 
aesthetics and economics of real property within the Village thereby impacting the general health, 
welfare, and safety of the Village and its residents; and 

WHEREAS, an aesthetically pleasing environment is a clean, healthy and safe 
environment; and 

Page | 164AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



WHEREAS, the proposed Amendments have been referred to the Plan Commission of the 
Village and have been processed in accordance with the Village of Tinley Park Ordinance; and

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on the proposed Amendments 
on April 16, 2020 by teleconference, per Gubernatorial Executive Order 2020-18 and the “Village 
of Tinley Park Temporary Public Participation Rules & Procedures”, at which time all persons 
were afforded an opportunity to be heard; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission voted 7-0 in favor to recommend said Amendments to 
the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission of this Village has filed its report of findings and 
recommendations that the proposed Amendments be granted with this President and Board of 
Trustees, and this Board of Trustees has duly considered said report of findings and 
recommendations; and  

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Amendments to the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: That the report and findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission of this 
Village are herein incorporated by reference as the findings of this Board of Trustees, as 
completely, as if fully recited herein at length. 

SECTION 2: That Section V.B. of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance entitled “SCHEDULES OF 
REGULATIONS” is hereby amended by adding the following underlined language as follows: 

SCHEDULE I- SCHEDULE OF PERMITTED USE (BY USE TYPE)

R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 R-5 R-6 R-7 B-1 B-2 B-3 B-
4

B-
5

ORI M-
1

MU-
1

Other Uses
Short-Term 
Rental, 
accessory to a 
dwelling unit 

Pp Pp Pp Pp Pp Pp/q Pp/q X X X X X X X X

Page | 165AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 3: That Section V.B of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance entitled “SCHEDULES OF 
REGULATIONS” is hereby amended by adding the following underlined language footnotes in 
alphabetical order as follows: 

P short-term rentals located in a single-family detached, single-family attached, single-family semi-
detached, and two-family dwellings are only permitted when separated five hundred (500) feet on 
all property lot lines from another short-term rental property line.

Q short-term rentals in multi-family dwellings cannot exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the total 
number of units. 

SECTION 4: That Section XII.3.A. Table 3.A.2 (Legacy Code List of Special Uses and 
Prohibited Uses) of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance in the column entitled “Prohibited Uses” is 
hereby amended by adding “Short-Term Rentals” to the list, shown in alphabetical order.

SECTION 5: That Section V.C.4. of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance entitled “ELEVATIONS 
AND FACADES FOR RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS” is hereby amended by adding the following 
underlined language and deleting the strike-through language, as follows:

B. In all single-family detached, single-family attached, townhomes, and in all single-
family semi- detached dwellings, exterior walls shall be constructed of face brick or 
decorative stone, or other approved masonry products as defined herein. Said construction 
shall commence from the finished grade and shall extend to the uppermost portion of the 
first story of such dwellings.

SECTION 6:  Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 7: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

Page | 166AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 8: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

PASSED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 167AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )

COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-024, “AN ORDINANCE APPROVING TEXT AMENDMENT 

CLARIFICATIONS TO THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE 

PERTAINING TO SHORT-TERM RENTALS AND RESIDENTIAL MASONRY 

REQUIREMENTS,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of 

Tinley Park on May 19, 2020.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 168AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                      April 16, 2020          

Page 1 of 4

TO:                      VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES

FROM: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION

SUBJECT: MINUTES OF THE APRIL 16, 2020 REGULAR MEETING

ITEM #4 PUBLIC HEARING: TEXT AMENDMENT – MASONRY & SHORT-TERM RENTAL CLARIFICATION
Consider recommending that the Village Board grant a proposed text amendment to the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance 
clarifying Section XII.3.A. (Legacy Code Uses) and Section V.B. (Schedule of Regulations) for short-term rental uses 
and Section V.C.4.B. (Masonry Requirements) for residential masonry requirements. The purpose of this amendment 
is to clarify portions of two recent code updates for Masonry requirements on residential properties and for short-term 
rental allowances.

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER ENGEL, seconded by COMMISSIONER STANTON to open the public hearing of
Masonry & Short-Term Rental Clarification. 

All Commissioners participated electronically.

AYE: 

COMMISSIONERS AITCHISON, MANI, GASKILL, GATTO, STANTON, ENGEL, WEST and CHAIRMAN GRAY.  

NAY:  

None

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the motion approved.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted anyone wishing to speak on this matter will be sworn in before they speak after staff’s presentation. 

The Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice regarding the Public Hearing was published in the local newspaper in
accordance with State law and Village requirements.  

Paula Wallrich, Planning Manager gave a presentation as noted in the Staff Report.  Recently the Village approved two text amendments 
to the Zoning Code relating to exterior masonry requirements (December 17, 2019; 2019-O-074) and for short-term rental uses (July 2, 
2019; 2019-O-035). During the course of drafting and implementing the text changes, staff encountered a few text corrections to ensure 
the intent behind these codes is clear.  This report clarifies the text corrections for each.  

Masonry. The masonry requirements for residential properties were generally left as they previously existed in the Comprehensive 
Building Code and just moved into the Zoning Code. The definition of “masonry” was changed to include precast concrete panels. The 
definition change was intended for commercial properties to have some additional flexibility. However, based on the code’s wording, it 
could be interpreted that residential homes are permitted to be constructed with precast concrete panels on the first floor. Staff is 
proposing a minor wording change to clarify that homes must utilize face brick or decorative stone on the first story on a new home as 
was originally intended.

Short–term rental. The short-term rental (STR) use text amendment has two clarifications that are needed. First, in the Medium-Density 
(R-6) and High-Density (R-7) residential zoning districts the regulations do not address STR use in single-family detached, single-
family attached and two-family dwellings despite the fact they are allowable uses in those districts.  The requirements in other residential 
zoning districts state that STR units in single-family detached, single-family attached and two-family dwellings “are only permitted 
when separated 500 feet from all property lot lines” from another STR. That distance requirement needs to be addressed in the Medium-
Density (R-6) and High-Density (R-7) residential zoning districts as well. Second, the STR use was not addressed in the Legacy Code 
and clarification is needed for those zoning districts.

Page | 169AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                      April 16, 2020          

Page 2 of 4

Short-Term Rental Background
Following a complaint about a short-term rental property in 2018, staff was directed to look into regulations for short-term rental uses. 
The proposed text changes were reviewed by Plan Commission in January 2019 and adopted by the Village Board in July 2019 with 
some minor changes that added requirements to limit the density of short-term rental in a particular area. Short-term rentals are required 
to obtain a license through the Village Clerk’s office and must also comply with applicable zoning district regulations. Staff has identified 
two issues with the proposed Zoning Code text amendments which were not anticipated during the initial review.

The final adopted use chart and regulations are as follows:

SHORT-TERM RENTAL: A dwelling unit that is used as a primary residence by owners or renters, or portion of such a unit, 
that is rented for less than 30 days at a time, with the exception of dwelling units owned by the federal government, the state, 
or any of their agencies or political subdivisions and facilities licensed by the state as health care facilities.

R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 R-5 R-6 R-7 B-1 B-2 B-3 B-4 B-5 ORI M-1 MU-1
Other Uses
Short-Term 
Rental, 
accessory to 
a dwelling 
unit 

Pp Pp Pp Pp Pp Pq Pq X X X X X X X X

p Short-term rentals are only permitted when separated five hundred (500) feet on all property lot lines from another 
short-term rental property line. 
q Short-term rentals in a multi-family cannot exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the total number of units.

Medium (R-6) and High-Density (R-7) Residential District Homes
The only criteria noted in current STR regulations for Medium-Density Residential (R-6) and High-Density Residential (R-7) zoning 
districts is “Short-term rentals in a multi-family cannot exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the total number of units.” While this 
regulation provides guidance for multi-family units in the R-6 & R-7 zoning districts it also permits lower density single-family attached, 
single-family detached, and townhomes. The requirements for a 500-foot separation between STR properties that applies to other lower-
density residential zoning districts, was not applied to those medium-density and high-density residential zoning districts.  Staff is 
recommending the same restrictions for single-family attached, single-family detached, and townhomes in other single-family districts 
also pertain to the R-6 and R-7 districts.

To clarify this portion of the code, staff is proposing the text additions as indicated in red below:

R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 R-5 R-6 R-7 B-1 B-2 B-3 B-4 B-5 ORI M-1 MU-1
Other Uses
Short-Term 
Rental, accessory 
to a dwelling unit 

Pp Pp Pp Pp Pp Pp/q Pp/q X X X X X X X X

P Short-term rentals located in a single-family detached, single-family attached, single-family semi-detached, and two-
family dwelling are only permitted when separated five hundred (500) feet on all property lot lines from another short-
term rental property line.
q Short-term rentals in a multi-family dwellings cannot exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the total number of units.

Legacy Code Allowance
During the original adoption of the STR regulations, the discussion was focused on traditional residential zoning districts, and did not 
address STRs in the Legacy Code districts. The Legacy Code encompasses the downtown and Oak Park Avenue corridor between 167th 
Street and 183rd Street. Within the Legacy Code, all types of housing/dwellings are permitted depending on their specific zoning district 
(Downtown Core, Downtown Flex, Neighborhood General, etc.) and redevelopment status (Heritage Site or Redevelopment Site). Staff 
is looking to clarify the regulations for STRs in the Legacy District. Due to the lack of discussion on this topic during the original STR 
adoption, staff is looking for direction on the matter from the Commission. Options include prohibiting short-term rentals in the Legacy 

Page | 170AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                      April 16, 2020          

Page 3 of 4

Code districts or allowing the use with conditions similar to the traditional zoning districts that relate to distance separation or a 
percentage of the total number of units in a multi-family structure.
  
The advantages of allowing STR in the Legacy District relate to the adjacency of the area to the Metra station, which could be an 
incentive for visitors to stay in the downtown area and patronize local businesses. While the current licensing requirements of STRs 
limit rentals to one license per year, that requirement could change in the future and is independent from zoning district decisions. Any 
allowance of STRs in the Legacy District needs to clearly outline how to regulate the use with a diverse mix of residential uses in the 
Legacy District (mixed-use, single-family, multi-family, etc.)

By prohibiting STRs, it will eliminate the possibility that STR may negatively impact current or future uses due to the transient nature 
of the occupants. A “Boarding/Rooming House” is a similar use that is currently prohibited in the Legacy Code Districts. 

If Plan Commission wishes to recommend prohibiting STRs in the Legacy Code Districts, “Short-term Rentals” would be added under 
the list of prohibited uses in Section XII.3.A. (Page 55) of the Legacy Code. If the STRs were to be permitted, staff recommends 
identifying any conditions that may help mitigate any perceived impact of the use on adjacent properties.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the Commissioners. No comments from the Commissioners. 

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the public.  Laura Godette, Deputy Clerk replied there were no comments received 
from the public

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER MANI, seconded by COMMISSIONER GATTO to close the public hearing of
Masonry & Short-Term Rental Clarification. 

All Commissioners participated electronically.

AYE: 

COMMISSIONERS AITCHISON, MANI, GASKILL, GATTO, STANTON, ENGEL, WEST and CHAIRMAN GRAY.  

NAY:  

None

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the motion approved.  

 Motion 1 – Residential Masonry

A motion was made by COMMISSIONER AITCHISON, seconded by COMMISSIONER STANTON to recommend that the Village 
Board approve Text Amendments to Section V.C.4.B. (Masonry Requirements) of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance as 
indicated in the Staff Report dated April 16, 2020. The proposed Text Amendment will clarify the materials permitted to be utilized on 
the first story of new residential structures.”

All Commissioners participated electronically.

AYE: 

COMMISSIONERS AITCHISON, MANI, GASKILL, GATTO, STANTON, ENGEL, WEST and CHAIRMAN GRAY.  

NAY:  

None

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the motion approved.  

Page | 171AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                      April 16, 2020          

Page 4 of 4

Motion 2 – Short-Term Rental

A motion was made by COMMISSIONER WEST, seconded by COMMISSIONER ENGEL to recommend that the Village Board 
approve Text Amendments to Section V.B. Schedule I (Schedule of Permitted Uses) and Section XII.3.A. (Legacy Code Uses) of the 
Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance as indicated in the Staff Report dated April 16, 2020. The proposed Text Amendment will 
amend Section V.B. Schedule I to add footnotes to the R-6 and R-7 zoning districts, clarify those footnotes, and to prohibit short-term 
rentals in the Legacy Code districts.”

All Commissioners participated electronically.

AYE: 

COMMISSIONERS AITCHISON, MANI, GASKILL, GATTO, STANTON, ENGEL, WEST and CHAIRMAN GRAY.  

NAY:  

None

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the motion approved.  

This item will go to the Village Board for approval on May 5, 2020.

ADJOURNMENT:

There being no further business, a Motion was made by PLAN COMMISSIONER GASKILL, seconded by PLAN COMMISSIONER 
ENGEL to adjourn the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission of April 16, 2020 at 8:24 p.m. The Motion was unanimously approved 
by voice call.  PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the meeting adjourned.

Page | 172AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MAY 7, 2020 – WORKSHOP/PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Retail Redevelopment (Former Sports Station) - Thomas Cachey 
7050 - 7068 171st Street 

 

 
 

 
The Petitioner, Thomas Cachey (Contract Purchaser), is proposing to redevelop the former 

Sports Station property located at 7050-7068 171st Street. The proposed redevelopment 

would require Site Plan Approval, Variations, Final Plat Approval, and a Special Use Permit 

for a second-floor apartment. The proposed project includes the demolition of an 

approximately 9,060 sq. ft. deteriorating section of the existing building. The remaining 

12,045 sq. ft. building will be redeveloped as a multi-tenant building with façade 

renovations and site upgrades that include a new façade, additional parking, improved 

landscaping, added curbing, new walkways, and stormwater/drainage improvements. 

Additionally, an 800 sq. ft. second-floor apartment is proposed to be constructed to assist 

in managing the property tax burden. 

 

Redevelopment of aging commercial development can be difficult to design in compliance 

with current code requirements due to various technical, physical, and economic 

constraints. Existing site dimensions and structure locations are difficult and costly to 

change.  All of the proposed Variations for this project are existing non-conforming 

conditions, but many of those conditions have been improved from their current 

conditions. The intent of requesting these Variations is to make the site fully legal and 

conforming at the completion of the project. The property has existing code compliance 

issues and the proposed renovation is the quickest resolution of those issues.  

 

The workshop and public hearing for this item have been combined due to the scheduling 

effects of the ongoing COVID-19 situation. The Petitioner worked with staff over the last few 

weeks to resolve remaining open items that might have otherwise been addressed as part 

of a workshop discussion. It is also important to note the Petitioner also has some timing 

concerns in regards to their purchase contract.  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 

Thomas Cachey 

(Contract Purchaser) 

 

Property Location 

7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

PINs 

28-30-113-005-0000 & 

28-30-113-025-0000  

 

Zoning 

B-3, General Business & 

Commercial 

 

Approvals Sought 

Special Use Permit 

Site Plan Approval 

Variations 

Final Plat Approval 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Planner 

Daniel Ritter, AICP 

Senior Planner 
 

Page | 173AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 2 of 17 

 
The original portion of the building appears 

to have been constructed on the site before 

1938 (oldest available aerial) for use by the 

adjacent farm. Since that time, there were 

several additions to the building with varying 

construction styles. The property has most 

recently operated as The Sports Station and a 

County Foods grocery store prior to that.  

 

The building has been vacant since 2014 

when The Sports Station closed. The structure 

has deteriorated internally and externally 

since that time. The current property owner 

has owned the property since 2017 and had 

plans to rehab the existing building for retail 

uses. However, after a building permit was 

issued last year, those plans stalled and the 

property was placed back on the market. The 

building and site have deteriorated and code 

compliance issues have been ongoing with 

the current owners for over a year and half 

without progress. 

 

The Midlothian Creek runs through the north 

side of the property, and thus there is some 

existing floodway and floodplain located on 

the property that requires certain review and 

approval from MWRD and FEMA. 

Improvements or changes within those 

floodplain areas are limited. 

 

The property is zoned B-3, General Business 

& Commercial. The neighboring properties 

to the west (Olympic Star Family Restaurant) 

and east (Antico Academy Child Care) are 

also similarly located in the B-3 zoning 

district. To the south, across 171st Street, are 

properties zoned R-6, Medium Density 

Residential (Town & Country Villas/Condos) 

and B-4, Office & Service Business (Maher 

Funeral Home). To the north of the subject 

property and Midlothian Creek are multi-

family buildings in the R-6, Medium-Density 

Residential, zoning district. 

 

Due to the age and incremental redevelopment of the property, there are a number of existing non-conforming 

aspects of the site. Since the site was legally developed under prior zoning and development codes, the site is 

considered legal non-conforming. The current proposal will bring the site into closer compliance with existing codes 

with consideration of Variations for portions of the site where compliance is not feasible. 

 
 

 

Page | 174AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 3 of 17 

 
The Petitioner is looking to utilize the redeveloped building as a multi-tenant retail and service center (shown below). 

Currently, there is one known tenant that is a non-profit organization, Chi Central & Café. Chi’s mission is focused on 

supporting personal mental and physical health. There is a café and retail aspect as well to generate income and 

connect with their health and community-related missions. This non-profit organization is a primary reason why the 

Petitioner has pursued the proposed redevelopment and plans to locate it in the tenant space nearest to 171st Street.  

 

Additionally, there is interest from a barbeque restaurant to occupy the north end unit of the building. Outdoor seating 

areas have been proposed for these two tenant spaces. The remaining tenant space is about 42% of the total floor 

area (Units B1, B2, B3 on the floor plan below) and can be divided into as many as three spaces. Due to the parking 

limitations on the site (noted in the parking section below), the Petitioner plans to use the remaining space for tenants 

with limited traffic generation and operating hours that complement the proposed tenants (non-profit and BBQ 

restaurant). 
 

 
 

 

The project proposes the addition of a second-floor 800 sq. ft. 

one-bedroom apartment at the front of the building (shown 

on the right). The apartment will have a separate entrance at 

the front of the building. The apartment allows for the site to 

be classified as a mixed-use property and lower the overall tax 

rate. The apartment may also be used in support to some of 

the charitable acts of the non-profit tenant. The apartment is 

located over the non-profit’s administrative offices, which will 

limit any potential noise transfer between the units. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page | 175AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 4 of 17 

 
The establishment of a residential unit above or to the rear of a principal commercial use requires the approval of a 

Special Use Permit. This special use allowance has existed in the B-1, B-2, and B-3 districts since 2005. The change 

was made to better align with current planning development trends towards mixed-use properties and also to assist 

commercial properties in obtaining some property tax relief from classification as mixed-use in Cook County. 

However, staff has expressed concerns regarding the possibility of permitting substandard housing units.  Therefore, 

to avoid issues, it has been staff’s recommendation for residential units to be located above commercial uses, have 

separate entrances, and have a balcony or exterior living area when possible. Additionally, the mix of surrounding 

uses and the site layout is important to consider when evaluating the request for mixed uses to ensure noise, 

pollution, smells, glare, or other nuisances won’t affect the proposed residential unit. 

 

The proposed apartment has a separate entrance and is located over the nonprofit space, which will limit any noise 

or smell transfer between the units. The additional building height along the street frontage also helps to enhance 

the streetscape and provides screening for the rooftop HVAC units. 

 

Open Item #1: Discuss the request for a Special Use Permit for the addition of a residential unit above a principal 

commercial use. 

 

 
The proposed Plat of Subdivision will consolidate the two existing lots resulting in a single lot that is 1.20 acres in size. 

Existing drainage and utility easements will remain on the property.  

 

A cross-access easement to the west (Olympic Star) has been included in the Final Plat of Subdivision. Cross-access 

circulation between the properties existed during the original development, but was divided at some point in the 

past. The easement only establishes half of the required cross-access, but it is important to start to establish the 

cross-access going forward. The other half of the cross-access will be required upon negotiation with Olympic Star 

by the Petitioner or by the Village upon the redevelopment of the site (similar to this request). The future 

establishment of cross-access will allow for a more safe and convenient circulation on both sites for customers, 

delivery trucks, and emergency vehicles. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cross-Access Easement Language  

 

Page | 176AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 5 of 17 

 
Below is a list of all Variations being requested. All Variations are existing non-conforming conditions, although some 

have been improved from their existing condition. Each Variation is covered in the applicable section that follows. 

 

Overall Zoning 

1. Exterior Masonry (Existing, Improved Condition) – A Variation from Section V.C.7.F. and Section V.C.7.G. of the 

Zoning Ordinance to permit the proposed façade renovations to utilize non-masonry materials (fiber cement 

board and EIFs) above the 15% maximum amount per façade and permit the exterior to utilize no face brick; 

approval will be based upon the proposed elevations. 

2. Parking (Existing, Improved Condition) – A 22 parking stall Variation from Section VIII.A.10. of the Zoning 

Ordinance to permit 60 parking stalls instead of the required minimum of 82 stalls for the proposed 

commercial building. The proposal includes a reduction of the existing floor area and the addition of 16 total 

parking stalls. 

3. Front Yard Parking (Existing, Improved Condition) – A Variation from Section VIII.7. of the Zoning Ordinance to 

permit parking stalls to be located in a required front yard. 

4. Front Yard Structure Setback (Existing) – A 5.5-foot Variation from Section V.B. Schedule II (District Regulations) 

of the Zoning Ordinance to permit a 19.5-foot front yard building setback, instead of the required minimum 

of 25 feet. 

5. Public Sidewalk (Existing) – A Variation from Section F.2. of the Subdivision and Development Code to permit 

the development without installation of a public sidewalk along the public street frontage. 

6. Freestanding Sign Setback (Existing, Improved Condition) – A nine-foot Variation from Section IX.D.2.c. of the 

Zoning Ordinance to permit a freestanding sign to be setback one foot instead of the required minimum of 

ten feet. 

 

Open Item #2: Discuss the six Variation requests. All variations are existing non-conforming conditions. 

 

 

The proposed site plan includes a 12,045 sq. ft. multi-tenant building, vehicle parking, walkways, landscaping, patio 

seating areas, and a dumpster enclosure. Access to the site will primarily be through the curb cuts on 171st Street. 

The eastern curb cut functions as a two-way entrance and exit to the site. The western curb cut is a one-way exit and 

will be signed as such with a “do not enter” sign visible from 171st Street. 

 

The existing building is just over 21,000 square feet. However, due to the current condition and need for additional 

parking stalls, a portion of the building will be demolished, resulting in a 12,045 sq. ft. multi-tenant building. The 

primary building frontage will be facing east. While the building frontage layout is not ideal, it is the more economical 

and practical solution preferred by the Petitioner. The extra site space from the demolition will allow for the addition 

of an additional row of parking, a 5’ landscape buffer along the east property line, outdoor seating, and foundation 

landscaping. 

 

A sidewalk is typically required on both new development and redevelopment properties. However, a sidewalk does 

not exist on the north side of 171st Street between Oak Park Avenue and Harlem Avenue. The subject site and the 

north side of 171st Street lacks the proper right-of-way width to install a public sidewalk, and there are no immediate 

plans to construct a sidewalk at that location. Eliminating the sidewalk also allows for additional green space thereby 

decreasing stormwater flow in an area that is already taxed with considerable impervious pavement. 

 

Page | 177AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 6 of 17 

The existing dumpster enclosure is proposed to be reconstructed and designed for easy truck access. The dumpster 

area also functions as a way for delivery and emergency vehicles to turnaround on the site until cross-access through 

the Olympic Star site is provided. While a cross-access easement is recommended on the Olympic Star property, until 

such time as this can be provided the Petitioner will provide a cross access easement on the subject property so that 

the full connection can happen in the future. The Petitioner will continue the cross-access negotiations with Olympic 

Star. Therefore, the dumpster area design is the best available alternative to the cross-access connection; it provides 

an option for large vehicles so that they do not need to reverse out of the site onto 171st Street. 

 

Engineering has a number of outstanding comments and revisions on the preliminary/final engineering plans that 

will be addressed prior to building permit submittal. Staff is recommending that the site plan approval be conditioned 

upon final engineering review and approval by the Village Engineer and MWRD. 

 

The Petitioner is requesting a front yard setback Variation for the principal building that is currently located 19.5 ft 

from the property line instead of the required minimum of 25 ft. It is not economically or structurally feasible for the 

project to demolish a portion of the building.  There are no immediate staff concerns with the setback since the 

proposal sufficiently improves site circulation and the overall appearance of the property. 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Page | 178AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 7 of 17 

 
The site has very little existing 

landscaping, except for the naturalized 

growth along the creek at the north of 

the property. The new landscape plan 

adds landscaping along the 171st Street 

frontage, the eastern property line, and 

internal to the site. The site does not 

comply with many of the current 

landscape ordinance requirements, such 

as required bufferyard widths and 

interior parking lot landscaping. 

However, as with other aspects of 

redevelopment sites, the goal is to 

improve the site, while allowing the 

project to be economically feasible and 

meet the intent of the ordinance. Any 

additional landscaping will result in a 

loss of parking, which is critical for the 

success of the project. The Petitioner has 

prioritized the placement of attractive 

landscaping in areas not utilized for 

parking or site circulation. 

 

Specific species of shrubs were chosen 

due to their ability to survive in confined 

areas, are salt-tolerant, do not create 

visibility concerns, and will fit under 

overhead utility lines. While there are 

bufferyard and interior parking lot 

landscape waivers, the Petitioner’s 

proposal significantly improves the site 

compared to its current condition. 

 

Open Item #3: Discuss the proposed 

Landscape Plan and required waivers. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 179AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 8 of 17 

 

The proposed façade was designed to create a modern look by utilizing a variety of materials and design elements. 

The proposed materials include metal, fiber cement panels, cedar engineered siding, and metal cladding. The 

materials were chosen for their modern appearance and their flexibility for installation over the existing structure 

that is primarily cinder block and painted brick. Stone veneer has also been added to the base of the building and 

vertical pillars.  

 

Façade appearances are important to the overall community. The Village’s exterior masonry requirements have been 

designed to maintain high-quality and attractive developments. However, the Petitioner found complying with the 

masonry requirements is not consistent with their proposed modern design aesthetic. The proposed appearance and 

materials are proposed to balanced long-term quality with the limitations of the existing structure. Brick and masonry 

have been maintained along the west and north sides where it can be salvaged and repainted. Siding is not a typical 

material for commercial facades due to durability and appearance concerns; however, the specific siding utilized on 

the primary façades was chosen due to its durability and less maintenance than traditional lap siding. 

 

The rooftop mechanical equipment is proposed to be screened from roadways and neighboring properties. The 

proposed parapet and apartment screen views from the south and southwest. The existing vegetation along the creek 

provides natural screening from the south. The HVAC units are not visible from the east due to the profile of the 

existing roof.  The only location where the units are visible is from the we; however, the Apartment, Olympic Star 

building, and setting back the rooftop unit locations may be sufficient to screen visibility. Staff has recommended a 

condition that clarifies that the mechanical equipment visibility will be reviewed as part of the building permit. 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Page | 180AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 9 of 17 

 

 

 
 

 

 
Wall Signs 

 

The wall signs will be tenant-specific and comply with zoning code requirements, including their vertical and horizontal 

alignment on the façade. Wall signs will be located on the canopy extensions or on the parapet, depending on the 

specific tenant layouts. 

 

 

Page | 181AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 10 of 17 

Ground Signs 

 

The property has an existing freestanding pole 

sign that is currently located approximately one 

foot into the public right-of-way. It has many other 

non-conforming elements that make reuse of the 

sign problematic. The Petitioner has proposed a 

new monument-style sign that is more attractive 

and inviting for the new development. The sign 

will include multiple tenant panels, as well as an 

LED message center for use by the tenants. 

Tenant panels will have a consistent white 

background. 

 

A setback Variation is being requested for the 

freestanding sign due to the established sign 

setbacks for most commercial properties in the 

area (Jewel-Osco, daycare, car wash, Olympic Star, 

Shell, and recently approved 7-Eleven, among 

others). Compliance with the ten-foot setback makes the sign less visible and may require removal of a parking stall. 

The ground sign is important due to the building layout and lack of roadway frontage for most tenants. Other aspects 

of the freestanding sign, such as sign face area, LED message center display, height, and materials will comply with 

the zoning code requirements. 

 

 
The zoning code requires one parking stall per 150 sq. ft of retail and personal service establishments, which is also 

the requirement used for multi-tenant buildings. The existing site is approximately 21,100 sq. ft. in size and has 44 

parking stalls. Based on the zoning code there is currently a 

shortage of 98 parking stalls. However, the proposed site plan 

improves that situation considerably, by adding 16 parking 

stalls for a total of 60 stalls and reducing the commercial floor 

area to approximately 12,000 sq. ft. The zoning code 

requirements for the current proposal includes 80 stalls for 

the commercial area and two stalls for the new residential 

apartment. The total shortage is 22 based on the zoning code requirements. 

 

As stated by staff previously, parking is an imperfect science.  The parking requirements established in the Zoning 

Ordinance are unique to Tinley Park; every community creates its own parking ratios.  In addition, parking 

characteristics change over time and the current parking ratios bate back to the early 2000s. Parking is expected to 

be tight on the site, and the Petitioner plans to actively manage the parking situation with the tenants. The Petitioner 

noted they understand that the remaining tenant spaces will need to have smaller parking demand or hours of 

operation that are compatible to the two proposed tenants. While it is not a preferred situation, parking availability 

has been maximized on the site, and there is no land to expand parking and limited shared parking opportunities. A 

cross-parking agreement with neighboring Olympic Star may help and while the Petitioner is looking into that, they 

do not plan on proposing it at this time. A concern with parking Variations is that parking can spill over onto public 

streets, affecting the neighborhood appearance and residential properties. However, there is no on-street parking 

permitted on 171st Street, and there are no other adjacent streets to this development. Therefore, the site will limit 

itself without consequences to the surrounding neighborhood.  

 

 Existing  Proposed 

Parking Total 44 60 

Building Size  

(Sq. Ft.) 

~21,000 ~12,000 & 1br 

Apartment 

Parking Required 140 82 

Parking Difference (-98) (-22) 

 

Page | 182AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 11 of 17 

Front yard parking (along the south property line) currently exists and is currently accessed directly from the street 

due to the depressed curb that extends the entire site along 171st Street. This parking situation is among the most 

concerning situations due to the speed of traffic on 171st Street. The parking will remain in the front yard but access 

to the parking will be from the interior of the site and not the street.  This will be accomplished through a one-way 

aisle. This proposal significantly improves the existing situation and retains the parking stalls needed for the 

development to be successful. Proper traffic control signage and striping are proposed to help control any circulation 

issues. 
 

 
 

 
Lighting on the property is proposed exclusively by building lighting. Due to the fixture 

locations on the building, the parking lot lighting levels fall below minimum levels in some 

areas. However, it is expected that the proposed building lights and existing residual light 

from the street and neighboring properties will effectively light the site. All building fixtures 

are downcast with full-cutoff in compliance with the lighting ordinance to prevent glare from 

surrounding properties and roadways. An existing sag light pole attached to a ComEd pole 

will be removed as part of the project. 

 

 

Staff identified the following open items for discussion or clarification at the workshop: 

 

1. Discuss the request for a Special Use Permit for the addition of a residential unit above a principal commercial 

use. 
 

The second-floor unit will have a separate entrance and is located over the non-profit space. The residential unit 

helps lower the property tax burden that the developer has stated is needed for the development to move forward 

and stay marketable. Staff recommends approval of the Special use Permit. 

 

2. Discuss six Variation requests.  
 

All Variations are existing non-conforming situations and have been improved where feasible. Staff recommends no 

changes to the proposed Variations. 

 

3. Discuss the proposed landscape plan and Landscape Ordinance waivers.  
 

Staff believes the landscaping locations have been maximized without reducing the available parking. No changes 

are recommended.  

Page | 183AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 12 of 17 

 

Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 

Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff has 

provided the following draft Findings for the Commission’s review. 

 

X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 

 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

• The addition of a residential unit on the building poses no risk to the general public. 

 

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 

the neighborhood; 

• The addition of a residential unit on the building is expected to be complementary to the 

surrounding and proposed commercial uses. 

 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 

• The site and building are existing, and the area is already developed with few vacant properties. A 

residential unit and mixed-use building are expected to be an improvement and can encourage 

similar redevelopment on other sites. 

 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided; 

• The proposed plans provide evidence of existing utilities, roads, and drainage facilities. Site drainage 

is expected to be improved with the proposed plans by reducing existing off-site drainage and 

ponding issues. 

 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 

• The proposed plans indicate access to the site from 171st Street. The proposed right-of-way and curb-

cut changes greatly improve the site circulation and safety. Cross-access is also supplied to the lot 

to the west for a future cross-access connection as well. 

 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 

pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such conditions 

and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to ensure 

compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon other 

properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to 

comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 

• The Special Use conforms to all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance and Village 

regulations except for certain Variations applied herein related to the redevelopment of an existing 

building and site. These Variations are consistent with other properties in the area, and the intent 

of the regulations is met where possible. 

 

 

 

Page | 184AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 13 of 17 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of the 

community as a whole. 

• The proposed redevelopment project of an existing vacant and blighted property will contribute 

directly to the economic development of the community by providing retail, food, and personal 

services. The project will also provide additional jobs, as well as additional property and sales tax 

revenue, where the existing vacant property is generating minimal tax revenue. 

 

It is also important to recognize that a Special Use Permit does not run with the land and instead the Special Use 

Permit is tied to the Petitioner. This is different from a process such as a variance, since a variance will forever apply 

to the property to which it is granted. Staff encourages the Plan Commission to refer to Section X.J.6. to examine the 

conditions where a Special Use Permit will expire. 

 

Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Variation of the regulations 

of the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, based upon the evidence presented for each of 

the Standards for Variations listed below. The Plan Commission must provide findings for the first three standards; 

the remaining standards are provided to help the Plan Commission further analyze the request. Staff has provided 

the following draft Findings of the Statutorily required Standards for the Commission’s review. Due to the number of 

Variations (6) staff have aggregated the Findings where possible. The full list of Variations can be found in Variation 

section above. 

 

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 

• The property is a redevelopment site with limited ability to expand the size, dimensions, and 

setbacks of the existing building and layout. The Variations allow the fairly small and limited sized 

lot to be reasonably developed with commercial uses permitted in the zoning district. Variations 

have been reduced or eliminated where physically and economically feasible. 

 

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 

• The small property is existing and was developed under previous zoning codes. Existing non-

conformities offer a challenging situation for the redevelopment to remain technically and 

economically feasible. 

 

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 

• The lot Variations will be similar to other properties that were previously developed in the area in 

regards to the parking location, building setbacks, and sign setbacks. Exterior building materials in 

the area vary greatly, and the redevelopment is expected to improve the area’s appearance. 

 

4. Additionally, the Plan Commission shall also, in making its determination whether there are practical 

difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the following facts favorable 

to the Petitioner have been established by the evidence: 

 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property 

involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 

inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out; 

 

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 

to other property within the same zoning classification; 

 

Page | 185AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 14 of 17 

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property; 

 

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, or by a 

previous owner; 

 

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other 

property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; and 

 

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent property, 

or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of fire, or 

endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the 

neighborhood. 

 

 

Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that the conditions listed below must be met and reviewed for Site 

Plan and Architectural Review approvals. Specific findings are not required, however the proposed site plan and 

building architectural design shall be used by the Commission to review the proposal and ensure compliance with the 

standards. 

 

Architectural  

 

a. Building Materials: The size of the structure will dictate the required building materials (Section V.C. 

Supplementary District Regulations). Where tilt-up or pre-cast masonry walls (with face or thin brick inlay) are 

allowed vertical articulation, features are encouraged to mask the joint lines. Concrete panels must 

incorporate architectural finishes that comply with “Building Articulation” (Section III.U.5.h.) standards. Cast in 

place concrete may be used as an accent alternate building material (no greater than 15% per façade) 

provided there is sufficient articulation and detail to diminish it’s the appearance if used on large, blank walls.  

 

b. Cohesive Building Design: Buildings must be built with approved materials and provide architectural interest 

on all sides of the structure. Whatever an architectural style is chosen, a consistent style of architectural 

composition and building materials are to be applied on all building facades.  

 

c. Compatible Architecture:  All construction, whether it be new or part of an addition or renovation of an existing 

structure, must be compatible with the character of the site, adjacent structures and streetscape. Avoid 

architecture or building materials that significantly diverge from adjacent architecture.  Maintain the rhythm 

of the block in terms of scale, massing and setback. Where a development includes outlots they shall be 

designed with compatible consistent architecture with the primary building(s). Site lighting, landscaping and 

architecture shall reflect a consistent design statement throughout the development.  

 

d. Color: Color choices shall consider the context of the surrounding area and shall not be used for purposes of 

“attention getting” or branding of the proposed use. Color choices shall be harmonious with the surrounding 

buildings; excessively bright or brilliant colors are to be avoided except to be used on a minor scale for accents.  

 

e. Sustainable architectural design: The overall design must meet the needs of the current use without 

compromising the ability of future uses. Do not let the current use dictate an architecture so unique that it 

limits its potential for other uses (i.e. Medieval Times). 

 

Page | 186AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 15 of 17 

f. Defined Entry:  Entrance shall be readily identifiable from public right-of-way or parking fields. The entry can 

be clearly defined by using unique architecture, a canopy, overhang or some other type of weather protection, 

some form of roof element or enhanced landscaping. 

 

g. Roof: For buildings 10,000 sf or less a pitched roof is required or a parapet that extends the full exterior of the 

building. For buildings with a continuous roof line of 100 feet of more, a change of at least five feet in height 

must be made for every 75 feet.  

 

h. Building Articulation: Large expanses of walls void of color, material or texture variation are to be avoided.  

The use of material and color changes, articulation of details around doors, windows, plate lines, the provision 

of architectural  details such as “belly-bands” (decorative cladding that runs horizontally around the building), 

the use of recessed design elements, exposed expansion joints, reveals, change in texture, or other methods 

of visual relief are encouraged as a means to minimize the oppressiveness of large expanses of walls and  

break down the overall scale of the building into intermediate scaled parts. On commercial buildings, facades 

greater than 100 feet must include some form of articulation of the façade through the use of recesses or 

projections of at least 6 inches for at least 20% of the length of the façade. For industrial buildings efforts to 

break up the long façade shall be accomplished through a change in building material, color or vertical breaks 

of three feet or more every 250 feet.  

 

i. Screen Mechanicals: All mechanical devices shall be screened from all public views.  

 

j. Trash Enclosures: Trash enclosures must be screened on three sides by a masonry wall consistent with the 

architecture and building material of the building it serves.  Gates must be kept closed at all times and 

constructed of a durable material such as wood or steel. They shall not be located in the front or corner side 

yard and shall be set behind the front building façade. 

 

Site Design 

 

a. Building/parking location:  Buildings shall be located in a position of prominence with parking located to the 

rear or side of the main structure when possible. Parking areas shall be designed so as to provide 

continuous circulation avoiding dead-end parking aisles. Drive-through facilities shall be located to the rear 

or side of the structure and not dominate the aesthetics of the building. Architecture for canopies of drive-

through areas shall be consistent with the architecture of the main structure.  

 

b. Loading Areas: Loading docks shall be located at the rear or side of buildings whenever possible and 

screened from view from public rights-of-way. 

 

c. Outdoor Storage:  Outdoor storage areas shall be located at the rear of the site in accordance with Section 

III.O.1. (Open Storage). No open storage is allowed in front or corner side yards and are not permitted to 

occupy areas designated for parking, driveways or walkways. 

 

d. Interior Circulation: Shared parking and cross access easements are encouraged with adjacent properties of 

similar use. Where possible visitor/employee traffic shall be separate from truck or equipment traffic.  

 

e. Pedestrian Access: Public and interior sidewalks shall be provided to encourage pedestrian traffic. Bicycle 

use shall be encouraged by providing dedicated bikeways and parking. Where pedestrians or bicycles must 

cross vehicle pathways a cross walk shall be provided that is distinguished by a different pavement material 

or color. 
 

  

Page | 187AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 16 of 17 

 

If the Plan Commission wishes to take action following the Workshop, an appropriate wording of the motions would 

read as follow: 

 

Motion 1 (Site Plan):  

“…make a motion to grant the Petitioner, Thomas Cachey, Site Plan Approval to redevelop the multi-tenant building and site 

at 7050-7068 171st Street in the B-3 (General Business & Commercial) zoning district, in accordance with the plans submitted 

and listed herein and subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. Site Plan Approval is subject to approval of the Special Use, Variations, and Final Plat by the Village Board. 

2. Site Plan Approval is subject to review of mechanical equipment screening to ensure they are not visible from 

the public right-of-way or unfavorable to neighboring properties. 

3. Site Plan Approval is subject to final engineering plan review and approval by the Village Engineer and any 

applicable outside agencies.” 

[any conditions that the Commission would like to add] 

 

Motion 2 (Variations):  

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant the Variations as listed in the May 7, 2020 Staff Report to the 

Petitioner, Thomas Cachey, at the property located at 7050-7068 171st Street in the B-3 (General Business & Commercial) 

zoning district, in accordance with the plans submitted and listed herein and adopt Findings of Fact as proposed by Village 

Staff in the Staff Report. 

 

Motion 3 (Special Use):  

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant a Special Use Permit to the Petitioner, Thomas Cachey, to 

permit a residential unit to be located above a principal commercial use on the property located at 7050-7068 171st Street 

in the B-3 (General Business & Commercial) zoning district, in accordance with the plans submitted and listed herein and 

adopt Findings of Fact as proposed by Village Staff in the Staff Report. 

 

[any conditions that the Commission would like to add] 

 

Motion 4 (Final Plat):  

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant approval to the Petitioner, Thomas Cachey, Final Plat of 

Subdivision Approval for 7050-7068 171st Street Consolidation in accordance with the Final Plat submitted and listed 

herein, subject to the following condition: 

 

1. The Final Plat approval is subject to Final Engineering Plan approval by the Village Engineer.” 

 

[any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 

 

Page | 188AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Cachey Retail Redevelopment – 7050 – 7068 171st Street 

 

Page 17 of 17 

 

 

Submitted Sheet Name Prepared By Date On Sheet 

T-1 Title Sheet - Architectural Plans Ideal 4.16.20 

ST-1 Site Plans Ideal 4.16.20 

D-1 Demolition Plan Ideal 4.16.20 

A-1 Proposed First Floor Plan Ideal 4.16.20 

A-2 Proposed Second Floor Plan Ideal 4.16.20 

A-3 Existing Exterior Elevations Ideal 4.16.20 

A-4 Proposed Exterior Elevations Ideal 4.16.20 

 Color 3D Rendering Ideal N/A (4.16.20) 

8pgs Preliminary Engineering Plans DesignTek 4.14.20 

1pg Plat of Consolidation of 7050 – 7068 171st Street DesignTek 4.6.20 (Updated 

4.28.20) 

4pgs Vehicle Tracking Exhibits DesignTek 4.14.20 

 Ground Sign Design Signs of Life N/A 

 Wall Signs Design Ideal N/A 

 Photometric Plans and Light Cut Sheet Package Jarvis Lighting 3.4.20 

L-1 & L-2 Landscape Plan & Landscape Details J.G.S. 4.2.20 

 

Ideal = Ideal Custom Designs, Inc. (Architect) 

DesignTek = DesignTek Engineering, Inc. 

J.G.S. = J.G.S. Landscape Architects 

 

Page | 189AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-059

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE FINAL PLAT OF CONSOLIDATION FOR 
CERTAIN PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7050 – 7068 171ST STREET

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

_____________________________________________________________________________________
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Page | 190AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION NO.  2020-R-059

A RESOLUTION APPROVING FINAL PLAT OF CONSOLIDATION FOR CERTAIN 
PROPOERTY AT 7050 – 7068 171ST STREET

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois have considered the Final Plat of Consolidation for the property located at 7050-
7068 171st Street, Tinley Park, Illinois 60477 (the “Plat”), a true and correct copy of which is attached 
hereto and made a part hereof as EXHIBIT 1; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interests of said Village of Tinley Park that 
said Plat be approved and accepted; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: That the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park, hereby 
approve and accept said Plat, attached hereto as Exhibit 1, and all necessary Village Officials and 
staff are hereby authorized to execute said Plat prior to final recording, subject to review and 
revision as to form by the Village Attorney and Village staff. 

SECTION 3: The Final Plat of Subdivision set forth herein below shall be applicable to the 
following described property: 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:
LOTS 12 AND 11 (EXCEPT THE WEST 100 FEET THEREOF) IN BLOCK 10 IN ELMORES 
OAK PARK AVENUE ESTATES, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTHWEST 
FRACTIONAL QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, (EXCEPT THAT PART OF DRAINAGE DITCH 
CONVEYED BY DOCUMENT 10351098, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 28-30-113-005-0000 & 28-30-113-025-0000

COMMONLY KNOWN AS:  7050-7068 171st Street, Tinley Park, Illinois

SECTION 4: That the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby 
approve and accept the Plat attached hereto and all necessary Village officials are hereby 

Page | 191AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



authorized to execute the Plat prior to final recording subject to final review and revision by the 
Village Attorney and Village Staff.

SECTION 5: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 6: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law. 

PASSED THIS 19th day of May 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 19th day of May 2020.

____________________________________
    VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 192AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2020-R-059, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING FINAL PLAT OF 

CONSOLIDATION FOR CERTAIN PROPOERTY AT 7050 – 7068 171ST STREET,” which 

was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on May 19, 

2020.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 19th day of May 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 193AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 194AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



TO: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES

FROM: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION

SUBJECT: MINUTES OF THE MAY 7, 2020 REGULAR MEETING

ITEM #1 WORKSHOP/PUBLIC HEARING:   THOMAS CACHEY (Contract Purchaser), 7050-7068 
171st STREET

Consider recommending that the Village Board grant Thomas Cachey (Contract Purchaser) a 
Special Use Permit for a second floor apartment and Variations from the Zoning Code for the 
property located at 7050-7068 171st Street in the B-3 (General Business & Commercial) zoning 
district. Site Plan Approval and a Final Plat Approval will also be reviewed with this item.

Plan Commissioners present:  Chairman Garrett Gray (Participated electronically)
Mary Aitchison (Participated electronically)
Eduardo Mani (Participated electronically)
James Gaskill (Participated electronically)
Angela Gatto (Participated electronically)
Tim Stanton (Participated electronically)
Lucas Engel (Participated electronically)
Kehla West (Participated electronically)
Steven Vick (Participated electronically)

Plan Commissioners absent: NONE

Guests:  Thomas Cachey (Participated electronically)

Dan Ritter, Senior Planner presented the Staff Report. The workshop and public hearing for this item have been 
combined due to the scheduling effects of the ongoing COVIC-19 situation.  

The Petitioner, Thomas Cachey is proposing to redevelop the former Sports Station property located at 7050-7068 
171st Street.  The proposed redevelopment would require Site Plan Approval, Variations, Final Plat Approval, and a 
Special Use Permit for a second-floor apartment.  The proposed project includes the demolition of an approximately 
9,060 sq. ft. deteriorating section of the existing building.  The remaining 12,045 sq. ft. building will be redeveloped 
as a multi-tenant building with façade renovations and site upgrades that include a new façade, additional parking, 
improved landscaping, added curbing, new walkways, and stormwater/drainage improvements.  Additionally, an 
800 sq. ft. second-floor apartment is proposed to be constructed to assist in managing the property tax burden.  

Redevelopment of aging commercial development can be difficult to design in compliance with current code 
requirements due to various technical, physical, and economic constraints.  The original portion of the building 
appears to have been constructed on the site before 1938 for use by the adjacent farm.  Since that time, there were 
several additions to the building with varying construction styles.  The property has most recently operated as The 
Sports Station and a County Foods grocery store.  The building has been vacant since 2014 when The Sports Station 
closed.  The structure has deteriorated internally and externally since that time.  

To the north of this property is the Midlothian Creek.  It runs through the property as well, so there is some 
floodplain located on the property that will require certain review and approval from MWRD and FEMA.  The 
engineers have been working through that to make sure it will meet all the requirements.  

The property is zoned B-3, General Business & Commercial.  The property to the west is Olympic Star Family 
Restaurant and to the east is Antico Academy Child Care is also zoned B-3.  To the south, across 171st Street, are 
properties zoned R-6, Medium-Density Residential, Town & Country Villas/Condos and B-4, Office & Service 
Business, Maher Funeral Home.  To the north of the property and Midlothian Creek are multi-family buildings in 
the R-6, Medium-Density Residential zoning district.  

Page | 195AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



There are a number of non-conforming aspects to this site due to the age of the site and being developed with a 
number of different zoning codes.  This project will bring the existing site closer compliance to the existing codes 
with consideration of Variations for portions of where compliance is not feasible.  

The proposed use is to redevelop the building as a multi-tenant retail and service center.  The first floor will be 
approximately 12,000 sq. ft. of commercial space, including demolishing a part of the building that is currently 
there.  The driver of this project for the Petitioner is the Chi Central & Café, which is a non-profit they are looking 
to develop in this building.  Chi’s mission is focused on supporting personal mental and physical health.  There will 
also be other tenants in the building.  The north side of the building is expected to be a restaurant and space between 
that that can be either one tenant or up to three tenants.  

The project proposes the addition of an 800 sq. ft. one-bedroom apartment on the second floor with a separate 
entrance at the front of the building.  The apartment allows for the site to be classified as a mixed-use property and 
lower the overall tax rate.  

The apartment does require a Special Use.   This special use allowance has existed in the B-1, B-2, and B-3 districts 
since 2005 to allow for apartments to be located above or in the rear of a principal use.  This is to align with better 
planning trends.  The mix of surrounding uses and the site layout is important to consider when evaluating the 
request for mixed uses to ensure noise, pollution, smells, glare, or other nuisances won’t affect the proposed 
residential unit.  The proposed apartment has a separate entrance and is located over the non-profit space, which will 
limit any noise or smell transfer between the units.  

The next item is a Final Plat of Subdivision/Consolidation, which will consolidate the two existing lots resulting in a 
single lot that is 1.20 acres in size.  Existing drainage and utility easements will remain on the property. There will 
also be a cross-access easement recorded with the plat to the west with the Olympic Star property, and it will be 
included in the Final Plat of Subdivision.  Cross-access circulation between the properties existed during the original 
development, but was divided at some point in the past.  The future establishment of cross-access will allow for a 
more safe and convenient circulation on both sites for customers, delivery trucks, and emergency vehicles.  

Mr. Ritter identified the requested Variations:

Overall Zoning

1. Exterior Masonry (Existing, Improved Condition) – A Variation from Section V.C.7.F. and Section V.C.7.G. 
of the Zoning Ordinance to permit the proposed façade renovations to utilize non-masonry materials (fiber 
cement board and EIFs) above the 15% maximum amount per façade and permit the exterior to utilize no 
face brick; approval will be based upon the proposed elevations.

2. Parking (Existing, Improved Condition) – A 22 parking stall Variation from Section VIII.A.10. of the Zoning 
Ordinance to permit 60 parking stalls instead of the required minimum of 82 stalls for the proposed 
commercial building. The proposal includes a reduction of the existing floor area and the addition of 16 total 
parking stalls.

3. Front Yard Parking (Existing, Improved Condition) – A Variation from Section VIII.7. of the Zoning 
Ordinance to permit parking stalls to be located in a required front yard.

4. Front Yard Structure Setback (Existing) – A 5.5-foot Variation from Section V.B. Schedule II (District 
Regulations) of the Zoning Ordinance to permit a 19.5-foot front yard building setback, instead of the 
required minimum of 25 feet.

5. Public Sidewalk (Existing) – A Variation from Section F.2. of the Subdivision and Development Code to 
permit the development without installation of a public sidewalk along the public street frontage.

6. Freestanding Sign Setback (Existing, Improved Condition) – A nine-foot Variation from Section IX.D.2.c. 
of the Zoning Ordinance to permit a freestanding sign to be setback one foot instead of the required minimum 
of ten feet.

Page | 196AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Mr. Ritter displayed drawings of the existing and proposed site plan.  The existing building is just over 21,000 square 
feet.  The proposed site plan includes a 12,045 sq. ft. multi-tenant building, vehicle parking, walkways, landscaping, 
patio seating areas, and a dumpster enclosure.  They will be demolishing close to 9,000 sq. ft.  The existing building 
will be reduced in square feet.  This will be done to resolve two issues existing on the site.  First, the existing building 
portion being torn down has structural issues that have to be repaired, and it is costly.  The other issue is a lack of 
parking on the site that will be expanded with the addition space.

Access to the site will primarily be through the curb cuts on 171st Street.  The eastern curb cut functions as a two-way 
entrance and exit to the site.  The western curb cut is a one-way exit and will be signed as such with a “do not enter” 
sign visible from 171st Street.  The layout has been done so there is room for parkway landscaping, curbing, and angle 
parking stalls.  This was also done so that there is no loss of parking stalls, which are valuable on the site, and still get 
an attrative appearance on the property. 

Typically, a sidewalk would require installation; however, a sidewalk does not exist on the north side of 171st Street 
between Oak Park Avenue and Harlem Avenue.  The subject site and the north side of 171st Street lack the proper 
right-of-way width to install a public sidewalk, and there are no immediate plans to construct a sidewalk at that 
location.  Eliminating the sidewalk also allows for additional green space thereby decreasing stormwater flow in an 
area that is already taxed with considerable impervious pavement.  

The existing dumpster enclosure is proposed to be redesigned, and they are changing how to enter and curbing to 
redirect garbage trucks and any emergency vehicles that need to access the site.  Because there is currently no cross-
access with the Olympic Star property, it has been designed as a temporary alternative to allow for large trucks.

Engineering has a number of outstanding comments and revisions on the preliminary/final engineering plans that will 
be addressed prior to building permit submittal. Staff is recommending that the site plan approval be conditioned upon 
final engineering review and approval by the Village Engineer and MWRD.  The Petitioner has addressed some of 
these concerns but will finailize the plans with the permit.

The Petitioner is requesting a front yard setback Variation for the principal building that is currently located 19.5 ft 
from the property line instead of the required minimum of 25 ft. It is not economically or structurally feasible for the 
project to demolish a portion of the building.  There are no immediate staff concerns with the setback since the proposal 
sufficiently improves site circulation and the overall appearance of the property.

There is limited space to add landscaping on this existing redevelopment site.  The aim is to dress up the front and put 
landscaping where it is possible.  The goal is to improve the site, while allowing the project to be economically feasible 
and meet the intent of the ordinance. Any additional landscaping will result in a loss of parking, which is critical for 
the success of the project. The Petitioner has prioritized the placement of attractive landscaping in areas not utilized 
for parking or site circulation.

Specific species of shrubs were chosen due to their ability to survive in confined areas, are salt-tolerant, do not create 
visibility concerns, and will fit under overhead utility lines. While there are bufferyard and interior parking lot 
landscape waivers, the Petitioner’s proposal significantly improves the site compared to its current condition.

Mr. Ritter displayed a drawing of the proposed architecture.  The Petitioner has done a great job of modernizing the 
appearance. He is working with an existing structure and choosing materials that will work easier and give it a modern 
look.  The proposed materials include metal, fiber cement panels, cedar engineered siding, and metal cladding. The 
materials were chosen for their modern appearance and their flexibility for installation over the existing structure that 
is primarily cinder block and painted brick. Stone veneer has also been added to the base of the building and vertical 
pillars. 

Façade appearances are important to the overall community. The Village’s exterior masonry requirements have been 
designed to maintain high-quality and attractive developments. However, the Petitioner found complying with the 
masonry requirements is not consistent with their proposed modern design aesthetic. The proposed appearance and 
materials are proposed to balanced long-term quality with the limitations of the existing structure. Brick and masonry 
have been maintained along the west and north sides where it can be salvaged and repainted. Siding is not a typical 

Page | 197AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



material for commercial facades due to durability and appearance concerns; however, the specific siding utilized on 
the primary façades was chosen due to its durability and less maintenance than traditional lap siding.

The rooftop mechanical equipment is proposed to be screened from roadways and neighboring properties. The 
proposed parapet and apartment screen views from the south and southwest. The existing vegetation along the creek 
provides natural screening from the south. The HVAC units are not visible from the east due to the profile of the 
existing roof.  The only location where the units are visible is from the west; however, the apartment, Olympic Star 
building, and setting back the rooftop unit locations may be sufficient to screen visibility. Staff has recommended a 
condition that clarifies that the mechanical equipment visibility will be reviewed as part of the building permit.

The wall signs will be tenant-specific and comply with zoning code requirements, including their vertical and 
horizontal alignment on the façade. Wall signs will be located on the canopy extensions or on the parapet, depending 
on the specific tenant layouts.

The current ground sign is in poor condition and is located in the public right-of-way.  The Petitioner has proposed a 
new monument-style sign that is more attractive and inviting for the new development.  A setback Variation is being 
requested for the freestanding sign due to the established sign setbacks for most commercial properties in the area. 
Compliance with the ten-foot setback makes the sign less visible and may require the removal of a parking stall. The 
ground sign is important due to the building layout and lack of roadway frontage for most tenants. Other aspects of 
the freestanding sign, such as sign face area, LED message center display, height, and materials will comply with the 
zoning code requirements.

The zoning code requires one parking stall per 150 sq. ft. of retail and personal service establishments, which is also 
the requirement used for multi-tenant buildings.  The existing site is approximately 21,100 sq. ft. in size and has 44 
parking stalls.  Based on the zoning code, there is 
currently a shortage of 98 parking stalls. However, the 
proposed site plan improves that situation considerably, 
by adding 16 parking stalls for a total of 60 stalls and 
reducing the commercial floor area to approximately 
12,000 sq. ft. The zoning code requirements for the 
current proposal includes 80 stalls for the commercial 
area and two stalls for the new residential apartment. 
The total shortage is 22 based on the zoning code 
requirements. While this is not the preferred situation, 
parking availability has been maximized on the site, 
and there is no land to expand parking and limited 
shared parking opportunities.  A cross-parking 
agreement with neighboring Olympic Star may help and while the Petitioner is looking in that, they do not plan on 
proposing it at this time. 

Lighting on the property is proposed exclusively by building lighting. Due to the fixture locations on the building, the 
parking lot lighting levels fall below minimum levels in some areas. However, it is expected that the proposed building 
lights and existing residual light from the street and neighboring properties will effectively light the site. All building 
fixtures are downcast with full-cutoff in compliance with the lighting ordinance to prevent glare from surrounding 
properties and roadways. An existing sag light pole attached to a ComEd pole will be removed as part of the project.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked the Commissioners if they had comments or questions.  

COMMISSIONER MANI noted he liked the proposed redevelopment of the site and thanked the Petitioner for taking 
on this development and it will be an asset to the Village

COMMISSIONER STANTON noted he agrees 1000% with COMMISSIONER MANI and as a lifelong resident of 
Tinley Park he loves it and he is sure the neighbors will love it.  The parking and landscaping can be worked out and 
are improvements.  Will security cameras be considered?

Existing Proposed

Parking Total 44 60

Building Size 

(Sq. Ft.)

~21,000 ~12,000 & 1br 
Apartment

Parking Required 140 82

Parking Difference (-98) (-22)

Page | 198AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



COMMISSIONER GATTO agrees with the other COMMISSIONERS and she thinks this will be a great project and 
she is glad someone took on the redevelopment of this property.  

COMMISSIONER VICK agrees this is a great project.

COMMISSIONER GASKILL agrees this is a great plan

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted he agrees with this being a great improvement.  The architecture rendering is very nice.  
The curb cuts are good and will be a plus safety-wise with no cares backing out onto 171st Street.  Hopefully Olympic 
Star is open to working with the Petitioner regarding the cross-access and maybe even cross-parking.

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER WEST, seconded by COMMISSIONER GASKILL to open the public 
hearing of Thomas Cachey, 7050-7068 171st Street.  

AYE: All Commissioners participated electronically

COMMISSIONERS, AITCHISON, MANI, GASKILL, GATTO, STANTON, ENGEL, WEST, VICK and 
CHAIRMAN GRAY.  

NAY:    None
CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the motion approved by voice vote.

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted anyone wishing to speak on this matter will be sworn in before they speak after staff’s 
presentation. 

The Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice regarding the Public Hearing was published in the 
local newspaper in

accordance with State law and Village requirements.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked the Commissioners if they had comments or questions.  

No further comments.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY invited the Petitioner Thomas Cachey to comment.  

Mr. Thomas Cachey thanked Paula Wallrich, Interim Community Development Director and Dan Ritter, Senior 
Planner for all their help in putting this together.  There has been a lot of work put in and he tried to accommodate 
everything.  We are planning on being an owner-occupier and good neighbors.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the public.  

There was none.  

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER AITCHISON, seconded by COMMISSIONER VICK to close the public 
hearing of Thomas Cachey, 7050-7068 171st Street.

AYE: All Commissioners participated electronically

COMMISSIONERS, AITCHISON, MANI, GASKILL, GATTO, STANTON, ENGEL, WEST, VICK and 
CHAIRMAN GRAY.  

NAY:  

None

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the motion approved by voice call.  

Page | 199AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Mr. Ritter noted the Standards for Special Use as follows:  

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;
 The addition of a residential unit on the building poses no risk to the general public.

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 
vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood;
 The addition of a residential unit on the building is expected to be complementary to the 

surrounding and proposed commercial uses.

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district;
 The site and building are existing, and the area is already developed with few vacant properties. 

A residential unit and mixed-use building are expected to be an improvement and can encourage 
similar redevelopment on other sites.

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided;
 The proposed plans provide evidence of existing utilities, roads, and drainage facilities. Site 

drainage is expected to be improved with the proposed plans by reducing existing off-site drainage 
and ponding issues.

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and
 The proposed plans indicate access to the site from 171st Street. The proposed right-of-way and 

curb-cut changes greatly improve the site circulation and safety. Cross-access is also supplied to 
the lot to the west for a future cross-access connection as well.

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 
which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 
pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such 
conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to 
ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon other 
properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to 
comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance.
 The Special Use conforms to all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance and Village 

regulations except for certain Variations applied herein related to the redevelopment of an 
existing building and site. These Variations are consistent with other properties in the area, and 
the intent of the regulations is met where possible.

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of 
the community as a whole.
 The proposed redevelopment project of an existing vacant and blighted property will contribute 

directly to the economic development of the community by providing retail, food, and personal 
services. The project will also provide additional jobs, as well as additional property and sales 
tax revenue, where the existing vacant property is generating minimal tax revenue.

Mr. Ritter noted the Standards for Variation as follows:  

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 
conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located.

Page | 200AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 The property is a redevelopment site with limited ability to expand the size, dimensions, and 
setbacks of the existing building and layout. The Variations allow the fairly small and limited 
sized lot to be reasonably developed with commercial uses permitted in the zoning district. 
Variations have been reduced or eliminated where physically and economically feasible.

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances.
 The small property is existing and was developed under previous zoning codes. Existing non-

conformities offer a challenging situation for the redevelopment to remain technically and 
economically feasible.

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.
 The lot Variations will be similar to other properties that were previously developed in the area 

in regards to the parking location, building setbacks, and sign setbacks. Exterior building 
materials in the area vary greatly, and the redevelopment is expected to improve the area’s 
appearance.

4. Additionally, the Plan Commission shall also, in making its determination whether there are practical 
difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the following facts 
favorable to the Petitioner have been established by the evidence:

 The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property 
involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out;

 The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;

 The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out 
of the property;

 The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, or by a 
previous owner;

 The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other 
property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; and

 The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent 
property, or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of 
fire, or endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within 
the neighborhood

Mr. Ritter noted the Standards for Site Plan and Architecture Approval as follows:  

Architectural 

a. Building Materials: The size of the structure will dictate the required building materials (Section V.C. 
Supplementary District Regulations). Where tilt-up or pre-cast masonry walls (with face or thin brick inlay) 
are allowed vertical articulation, features are encouraged to mask the joint lines. Concrete panels must 
incorporate architectural finishes that comply with “Building Articulation” (Section III.U.5.h.) standards. 
Cast in place concrete may be used as an accent alternate building material (no greater than 15% per façade) 
provided there is sufficient articulation and detail to diminish it’s the appearance if used on large, blank walls. 

Page | 201AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



b. Cohesive Building Design: Buildings must be built with approved materials and provide architectural interest 
on all sides of the structure. Whatever an architectural style is chosen, a consistent style of architectural 
composition and building materials are to be applied on all building facades. 

c. Compatible Architecture:  All construction, whether it be new or part of an addition or renovation of an 
existing structure, must be compatible with the character of the site, adjacent structures and streetscape. 
Avoid architecture or building materials that significantly diverge from adjacent architecture.  Maintain the 
rhythm of the block in terms of scale, massing and setback. Where a development includes outlets, they shall 
be designed with compatible consistent architecture with the primary building(s). Site lighting, landscaping 
and architecture shall reflect a consistent design statement throughout the development. 

d. Color: Color choices shall consider the context of the surrounding area and shall not be used for purposes of 
“attention getting” or branding of the proposed use. Color choices shall be harmonious with the surrounding 
buildings; excessively bright or brilliant colors are to be avoided except to be used on a minor scale for 
accents. 

e. Sustainable architectural design: The overall design must meet the needs of the current use without 
compromising the ability of future uses. Do not let the current use dictate an architecture so unique that it 
limits its potential for other uses (i.e. Medieval Times).

f. Defined Entry:  Entrance shall be readily identifiable from public right-of-way or parking fields. The entry 
can be clearly defined by using unique architecture, a canopy, overhang or some other type of weather 
protection, some form of roof element or enhanced landscaping.

g. Roof: For buildings 10,000 sf or less a pitched roof is required or a parapet that extends the full exterior of 
the building. For buildings with a continuous roof line of 100 feet of more, a change of at least five feet in 
height must be made for every 75 feet. 

h. Building Articulation: Large expanses of walls void of color, material or texture variation are to be avoided.  
The use of material and color changes, articulation of details around doors, windows, plate lines, the provision 
of architectural  details such as “belly-bands” (decorative cladding that runs horizontally around the building), 
the use of recessed design elements, exposed expansion joints, reveals, change in texture, or other methods 
of visual relief are encouraged as a means to minimize the oppressiveness of large expanses of walls and  
break down the overall scale of the building into intermediate scaled parts. On commercial buildings, facades 
greater than 100 feet must include some form of articulation of the façade through the use of recesses or 
projections of at least 6 inches for at least 20% of the length of the façade. For industrial buildings efforts to 
break up the long façade shall be accomplished through a change in building material, color or vertical breaks 
of three feet or more every 250 feet. 

i. Screen Mechanicals: All mechanical devices shall be screened from all public views. 

j. Trash Enclosures: Trash enclosures must be screened on three sides by a masonry wall consistent with the 
architecture and building material of the building it serves.  Gates must be kept closed at all times and 
constructed of a durable material such as wood or steel. They shall not be located in the front or corner side 
yard and shall be set behind the front building façade.

Site Design

a. Building/parking location:  Buildings shall be located in a position of prominence with parking located to 
the rear or side of the main structure when possible. Parking areas shall be designed so as to provide 
continuous circulation avoiding dead-end parking aisles. Drive-through facilities shall be located to the rear 
or side of the structure and not dominate the aesthetics of the building. Architecture for canopies of drive-
through areas shall be consistent with the architecture of the main structure. 

b. Loading Areas: Loading docks shall be located at the rear or side of buildings whenever possible and 
screened from view from public rights-of-way.

Page | 202AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



c. Outdoor Storage:  Outdoor storage areas shall be located at the rear of the site in accordance with Section 
III.O.1. (Open Storage). No open storage is allowed in front or corner side yards and are not permitted to 
occupy areas designated for parking, driveways or walkways.

d. Interior Circulation: Shared parking and cross access easements are encouraged with adjacent properties of 
similar use. Where possible visitor/employee traffic shall be separate from truck or equipment traffic. 

Pedestrian Access: Public and interior sidewalks shall be provided to encourage pedestrian traffic. Bicycle 
use shall be encouraged by providing dedicated bikeways and parking. Where pedestrians or bicycles must 
cross vehicle pathways a cross walk shall be provided that is distinguished by a different pavement material 
or color.

MOTION 1 (Site Plan)

A motion was made by COMMISSIONER GATTO, seconded by COMMISSIONER MANI to recommend that the 
Village Board grant the Petitioner, Thomas Cachey, Site Plan Approval to redevelop the multi-tenant building and 
site at 7050-7068 171st Street in the B-3 (General Business & Commercial) zoning district, in accordance with the 
plans submitted and listed herein and subject to the following conditions:

1. Site Plan Approval is subject to approval of the Special Use, Variations, and Final Plat by the Village 
Board.

2. Site Plan Approval is subject to review of mechanical equipment screening to ensure they are not 
visible from the public right-of-way or unfavorable to neighboring properties.

3. Site Plan Approval is subject to final engineering plan review and approval by the Village Engineer 
and any applicable outside agencies.”

AYE: 

COMMISSIONERS ENGEL, MANI, STANTON, GATTO, AITCHISON, GASKILL, WEST, VICK and 
CHAIRMAN GRAY  

NAY:

None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by roll call.  

MOTION 2 (Variations): 

A motion was made by COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER ENGEL to recommend that 
the Village Board grant the Variations as listed in the May 7, 2020 Staff Report to the Petitioner, Thomas Cachey, at 
the property located at 7050-7068 171st Street in the B-3 (General Business & Commercial) zoning district, in 
accordance with the plans submitted and listed herein and adopt Findings of Fact as proposed by Village Staff in the 
Staff Report.

AYE: 

COMMISSIONERS ENGEL, MANI, STANTON, GATTO, AITCHISON, GASKILL, WEST, VICK and 
CHAIRMAN GRAY  

NAY:

None.  

Page | 203AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by roll call.  

MOTION 3 (Special Use):

A motion was made by COMMISSIONER WEST, seconded by COMMISSIONER GASKILL to recommend that the 
Village Board grant a Special Use Permit to the Petitioner, Thomas Cachey, to permit a residential unit to be located 
above a principal commercial use on the property located at 7050-7068 171st Street in the B-3 (General Business & 
Commercial) zoning district, in accordance with the plans submitted and listed herein and adopt Findings of Fact as 
proposed by Village Staff in the Staff Report.

AYE: 

COMMISSIONERS ENGEL, MANI, STANTON, GATTO, AITCHISON, GASKILL, WEST, VICK and 
CHAIRMAN GRAY  

NAY:

None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by roll call.  

MOTION 4 (Final Plat):

A motion was made by COMMISSIONER AITCHISON, seconded by COMMISSIONER VICK to recommend that 
the Village Board grant approval to the Petitioner, Thomas Cachey, Final Plat of Subdivision Approval for 7050-
7068 171st Street Consolidation in accordance with the Final Plat submitted and listed herein, subject to the 
following condition:

1. The Final Plat approval is subject to Final Engineering Plan approval by the Village Engineer.”

AYE: 

COMMISSIONERS ENGEL, MANI, STANTON, GATTO, AITCHISON, GASKILL, WEST, VICK and 
CHAIRMAN GRAY  

NAY:

None.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by roll call.  

This item will go to the Village Board for approval on Tuesday, May 19, 2020.

Page | 204AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 205AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 206AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 207AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 208AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 209AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 210AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 211AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-026

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING THOMAS CACHEY A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR A 
SECOND-FLOOR APARTMENT ABOVE A COMMERCIAL USE TO BE LOCATED 

AT 7050-7068 171ST STREET

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Page | 212AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-026

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING THOMAS CACHEY A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR A 
SECOND-FLOOR APARTMENT ABOVE A COMMERCIAL USE TO BE LOCATED 

AT 7050-7068 171ST STREET

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, a petition for the granting of a Special Use Permit to allow for the 
construction of A second-floor apartment above a principal commercial use at 7050-7068 171st 
Street, Tinley Park, Illinois 60477 (“Subject Property”) has been filed by contract purchaser, 
Thomas Cachey ( “Petitioner”) with the Village Clerk which has been referred to the Tinley Park 
Plan Commission and has been processed in accordance with the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; 
and

WHEREAS, said Plan Commission held a public hearing on the question of whether the 
Special Use be granted on May 7, 2020 at the Village Hall and by teleconference per Gubernatorial 
Executive Order 2020-18 and the “Village of Tinley Park Temporary Public Participation Rules 
& Procedures”, at which time all persons were afforded an opportunity to be heard; and 

WHEREAS, public notice in the form required by law was given of said Public Hearing 
by publication not more than thirty (30) days nor less than fifteen (15) days prior to said Public 
Hearing in the Daily Southtown, a newspaper of general circulation within the Village of Tinley 
Park; and 

WHEREAS, after hearing testimony on the petition, the Plan Commission voted 9-0 and 
has filed its report and findings and recommendations that the proposed Special Use Permit be 
approved with this President and Board of Trustees, and this Board of Trustees has duly considered 
said report of findings and recommendations; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Special Use Permit; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

Page | 213AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of facts as 
if said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: That the report and findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission are 
herein incorporated by reference as the findings of this President and the Board of Trustees, as 
complete as if fully set forth herein at length. This Board finds that the Petitioner has provided 
evidence establishing that they have met the standards for granting the Special Use Permit as set 
forth in Section X.J.5. and Section XII.5.D.1. of the Zoning Ordinance, and the proposed granting 
of the Special Use Permit as set forth herein is in the public good and in the best interest of the 
Village and its residents and is consistent with and fosters the purpose and spirit of the Tinley Park 
Zoning Ordinance.

X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said 
Commission shall find:

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental 
to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;
 The addition of a residential unit on the building poses no risk to the general public.

2. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood;
 The addition of a residential unit on the building is expected to be complementary to 

the surrounding and proposed commercial uses.

3. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development 
and improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district;
 The site and building are existing, and the area is already developed with few vacant 

properties. A residential unit and mixed-use building are expected to be an 
improvement and can encourage similar redevelopment on other sites.

4. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or 
are being provided;
 The proposed plans provide evidence of existing utilities, roads, and drainage facilities. 

Site drainage is expected to be improved with the proposed plans by reducing existing 
off-site drainage and ponding issues.

5. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and
 The proposed plans indicate access to the site from 171st Street. The proposed right-of-

way and curb-cut changes greatly improve the site circulation and safety. Cross-access 
is also supplied to the lot to the west for a future cross-access connection as well.

6. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by 

Page | 214AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



the Village Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board 
shall impose such conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use 
Permit as may be necessary to ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or 
minimize the effect of such permit upon other properties in the neighborhood, and to better 
carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to comply with such conditions or 
restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance.
 The Special Use conforms to all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance 

and Village regulations except for certain Variations applied herein related to the 
redevelopment of an existing building and site. These Variations are consistent with 
other properties in the area, and the intent of the regulations is met where possible.

7. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic 
development of the community as a whole.
 The proposed redevelopment project of an existing vacant and blighted property will 

contribute directly to the economic development of the community by providing retail, 
food, and personal services. The project will also provide additional jobs, as well as 
additional property and sales tax revenue, where the existing vacant property is 
generating minimal tax revenue.

SECTION 3: The Special Use Permit set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following 
described property:

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOTS 12 AND 11 (EXCEPT THE WEST 100 FEET THEREOF) IN 
BLOCK 10 IN ELMORES OAK PARK AVENUE ESTATES, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF 
THE NORTHWEST FRACTIONAL QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, 
RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, (EXCEPT THAT PART OF 
DRAINAGE DITCH CONVEYED BY DOCUMENT 10351098, IN COOK COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS.

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 28-30-113-005-0000 & 28-30-113-025-0000

COMMONLY KNOWN AS:  7050-7068 171st Street, Tinley Park, Illinois

SECTION 4: That a Special Use Permit to  allow for construction of a second-floor one-bedroom 
apartment that is a minimum of 800 sq. ft. of usable floor space, over the building’s principal 
commercial use, is hereby granted to the Petitioner.

SECTION 5: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 6: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

SECTION 7: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

Page | 215AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PASSED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:
__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 216AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-026, “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING THOMAS CACHEY A 

SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR A SECOND-FLOOR APARTMENT ABOVE A COMMERCIAL 

USE TO BE LOCATED AT 7050-7068 171ST STREET,” which was adopted by the President 

and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on May 19, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 217AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



N
O

R
TH

N
T

S

G
E

N
E

R
A

L
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
N

O
T

E
S

A
N

FX
IST

IN
G

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

A
N

D
FA

C
A

D
E

R
E

N
O

V
A

T
IO

N
FO

R
7050

-
7068

171ST
ST

R
E

E
T

T
O

M
C

A
C

H
E

Y

A
D

A
A

C
C

ESSIB
ILITY

STA
N

D
A

R
D

N
O

TES

T
IN

L
E

Y
PA

R
K

IL
L

IN
O

IS

AUThORITY:
TINLEY

PARK.
ILLINOIS

16250
S.

OAK
PARK

AVENOE
TINLEY

PARK,
IL

604777
Tel:

708-444-5000
Foe:

708-444-5199

OW
NER:

TOM
CACAEA

9961
W

EST
15TSTSTREET

SRLAND
PARK,

IL
60462

Tel:
708-349-1575

Paa:
708-349-0426

ARCHITECT:
IDEAL

CUSTOM
D

ESISN
S.INC

20960
FRANKPSRT

SO
.

RD
FRANKFORT.

IL
60423

Tel:
708-407-8028

Fax:
708-407-8697

E-m
ail:

GABE:i.IDEALCOSTSM
DESIGNS.CSM

I
d
a
I

D
E

SIG
N

S
BRCHITECTSJINTERIOH

DESIGNERS

20960
FRA

N
K

FO
RT

D
Q

RD
DO

IDE
A

FRA
N

K
FO

RT,
ILLIN

O
IS

I
I7DBI

4OT—
BD2B

F’
(TT9I

333—
7960

g:beR
deoIeIexdm

!gxx

BUILDING
CDDES

V
illage

olllinley
Park

B
uIldIng

C
odes

2016
2012

InIeInaIID
nal

B
uilding

C
ode

2012
Inlernalional

Residenlial
Code

br
O

le
and

TW
O

Fam
Ily

D
eellIng

InclodIng
A

ppeTdle
F

2012
Internollonal

M
eohonical

Code
2012

International
Froe

Sas
Code

Including
RppendieA

2012
Internahonal

Fire
Code

including
A

ppendie
R

and
2012

InlernationalProperty
M

aintenance
Code

2018
International

EnergH
ConservatIon

Code
2014

Illinois
State

Plum
bing

Code
2011

National
Electric

Code
INECI

SCO
PE

OF
W

ORK

0L
L

>LU
Z

E

C
)

>0
0

Z
I

LU

FLULUrZ
0-

1
>

-

U
J

(0
J

o
Z

0IC
)

0

s0000000ss
sooa_

conun
rn

ioc
ooo.oro

101
059

si

RESPONSIBILITY
STATEM

ENT

SY
M

B
O

L
S

/
\

c
o

c
a
o

_
_
_

0
-

y
///Z

o
r

r
o

0
9
n
o
o

r
j
c
a

R4O
A

W
RiI

uausu
sac

$

_
_
_
_

A
I1I

I

1
.

DEM
OLISH

9060
SF

FROM
EAST

SIDE
OF

EXISTING
BUILDING

2.
IM

PROVE
SITE

LANDSCAPING
AND

PARKING
LOT

3.
RENOAATE

EXISTING
FACADE

4
INTERIOR

BUILD-OUT
FOR

UNIT
1

I000TH
ERN

M
O

ST
UNITI

5.
INTERIOR

DEM
ISING

W
ALLS

FOR
FUTURE

TENANT
SPACES

IUNITS
2

AND
31

6. BUILD
NEW

1-BEDROOM
800SF

RESIDENTIAL
UNIT

ABOAE
UNIT

1

DISCLAIM
ER

STATEM
ENT

BUILDING
DATA

FIRDPROTECTIONPERNFPO
10

159001
605/OiIEOtiRG

PERCEN
TA

G
ES

rcrceone’rIssiniixre’rIue’earse’rIcruaaPeveenicrir
ITBINTI

O
lD

iN
A

pO
er)

00
Fr

H
O

RS

ooa.oo%
I

00%
I

240-00%
I

046-80%

O
n-U

.
I o

-o
I

0-0%
I

004-20%

L
JT

-
E

1
z

I
000

ca

4—
6%

1
0
,0

0
0
8

8
%

I
6—

uS
I

I
n6o-

60%

J
1
6

8
10%

D
R

A
W

IN
G

IN
D

E
X

:

I aor
—

LOCATION
PLAN

C
E

R
T

IH
C

A
T

IO
N

SH
EET

N
U

M
BER

T
-1

C
reated

for
free

by
https://feayatils.com

Page | 218AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



w
o
s
)n

A
x
o
/f

:s
d
l4

A
q

a
a
t

io
p

w
a
io

O
9&

L—
c

(6
L1

)
:j

O
—

L
O

(a
oL

)
:1

SI
O

N
IT

I!
1

O
d

)N
V

d
V

3!
If

lS
a

O
S

1O
d)

4N
V

d
O

96
O

sd
N

Is
]a

K
JI

JI
N

IjS
13

][
IH

V

S
N

D
IS

U

IF
I

-U
N

U
D

V
N

IV
N

U
U

N
U

IS
O

d
N

U
IU

O
N

U
01

G
U

G
U

U
N

SN
0
3
5
5
3
5

18
TU

M
5N

01
15

53
13

45
NI

VY
iU

N
01

JN
V

SN
IN

dU
55

0±
5

O
N

U
SI

X
]

T
iN

G
N

U
G

]D
V

ld
]d

G
N

U
U

]A
O

Y
3N

39
01

U
N

IO
N

SI
IN

]Y
IU

A
V

d
UI

-U
.

IO
N

In
’

30
0S

O
1D

N
U

N
01

5d
IN

O
O

O
H

!
LV

O
]1

1V
.L

SN
I

39
0

!
U

D
N

]d
A

D
O

O
IS

Jd
IO

N

in

NU
NN

ON
IS

IS
W

I-
IO

N

N
V

1d
!I

S
G

S
O

d
O

d

-
5
5
3
1
0

N
O

U
N

S
M

O
N

S]
D

V
dS

U
N

bI
N

d
M

O
N

O
SM

U
SI

SS
M

ON
SI

-1
V

W
SI

S
O

N
O

D
M

O
N

—
53

15
15

SM
31

15
SI

N
3M

30
0N

dN
I

10
1

O
N

IS
N

M
d

31
05

5
3
9
5
d
5

SN
IS

IN
O

d
0
9

:7
0±

51

SO
D

V
U

S
3
/H

S
:d

N
D

IS
N

V
H

S
3
3
5
d
S

O
N

IU
dM

d
M

c
N

01
05

3d

:0
1
5
5

9
5
1
0
U

S
d

N
V

T
d

1L
1S

N
I±

S
IX

]
-
.L

/
I

1I
V

I3
G

3
D

N
d

A
D

V
A

Id
d

I
T

lO
U

IS
1

5
5

±
NO

H
O

O
D

S
11

51
-I

S
JD

N
V

M
H

O
IS

IS
IN

3M
30

0d
O

N
O

ld
Jd

O
d
d

13
3C

M
O

S
JO

SI
IM

I1
3H

1
N

IH
IM

11
31

05
ON

OO
3M

11
V

H
S

85
03

51
98

O
JS

O
dO

dd
O

H
!

H
IT

S
SH

O
D

5
3
5
5
3
1
5
3
5

O
N

IS
IX

]
O

H
!

]D
X

ld
]8

01
53

81
00

08
10

00
80

8
IN

]V
l3

05
d

ON
X

]I
O

N

T

L3
±T

h’
LS

S
IZ

/
NO

IIV
A3

1]

0

-
‘

m
—

‘1
-H

Z
z
o
o

-
<

-
o

>
0

)
0

_
_
1
-
<

T
1

3
J

0
m

J
m -H

-4

Page | 219AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



C)

3

-

0
-o
0
(-I,
r

-9

0
0

-o

Page | 220AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



CD

3

cD (1
om
0O

0

‘1 -n

0

-a

>
z

Page | 221AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



——9

L
IiL__I

Li:::
LJ

E::: C

>
w-J
w

0

><
w

C,)

C,
z
C,)
><
Cd

0
F

>
LU
-J
UI

0

LU
F
><
UI

=F
0

C,

1=
C,)
>c
LU

0
F

>
UI
-J
LU

0

UI
F

UI

F
cr
LU

C,

Cr)
><
LU

0
F

>
UI
-J
LU

0

LU
F
><
LU

F
D
0

F
Cr)

UI

L_1

LL=A__1

IILL_J__1
II
L

II

I
LI

LJ._J

F

-L
IrF

L-riL.

Lft-LJ

F--H L____LJ

ll

E

C)

Page | 222AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



C,

3

0
“

0
0
0
C1
ru
0

z
0
D
—1
I

m
><

0
J

‘1 •1H
7)

< .
“\

>. -

-H
0 •

z: - • -

:

0
2J
0
13
0 :
LI 1m :
0

_9
,
-H

rn
><
-1m

0
:0

m
r
m
<
>

0 ‘
z

0

0
0
0
U,
m
0

(I)
0
C
-H

rn
><
-H
m

0

rn
r
rn

-H
0
z

0

0
0
0
U,

0

nfl
>
U,
-4

nfl
><

:0
0

,,
cC

0
a

Page | 223AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 224AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PR
E

L
IM

IN
A

R
Y

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G
PL

A
N

S

F
O

R

7
0
5
0
-7

0
6
8
1
7
1
S

T
S

T
R

E
E

T
T

IN
L

E
Y

P
A

R
K

IL
L

IN
O

IS

O
W

N
E

R
:

T
J

C
A

C
H

E
Y

B
U

IL
D

E
R

S
,

IN
C

II
9
9
6
1
W

1
5
IS

T
S

T
R

E
E

T
O

R
L

A
N

D
P

A
R

K
,

IL
L

IN
O

IS
60462

(708)
349-1575

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
&

S
U

R
V

E
Y

O
R

:
D

E
S

IG
N

T
E

K
E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

,
IN

C
9
9
3
0
W

1
9

0
T

0
S

T
R

E
E

T
,

S
U

IT
E

L
M

O
K

E
N

A
,

IL
L

IN
O

IS
60448

(708)
326-4961

IN
D

E
X

O
F

P
L

A
N

S
H

E
E

T
S

1
C

O
V

E
R

S
H

E
E

T

2
P

R
O

JE
C

T
S

P
E

C
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

3
M

W
R

D
G

E
N

E
R

A
L

N
O

T
E

S
&

S
P

E
C

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S

4
E

X
IS

T
IN

G
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

S
&

R
E

M
O

V
A

L
P

L
A

N

5
P

R
E

L
IM

IN
A

R
Y

SIT
E

P
L

A
N

6
P

R
E

L
IM

IN
A

R
Y

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G
G

R
A

D
IN

G
P

L
A

N

7
P

R
E

L
IM

IN
A

R
Y

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G
U

T
IL

IT
Y

P
L

A
N

8
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

D
E

T
A

IL
S

L
O

C
A

T
IO

N
1
4
A

P
N

O
T

TO
SC

A
L

E
N

O
T

E
S

:

S
U

R
F

A
C

E
W

A
T

E
R

D
R

A
IN

A
G

E
C

E
R

T
IF

IC
A

T
E

£X
P

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K
S

P
A

R
C

E
L

ID
E

N
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

N
U

M
B

E
R

S
IT

E
D

A
T

A

L
E

G
E

N
D

EX
ISTIN

G
PR

SPX
SE

D

o
0

-X
X

X
X

X
X

*

R
EV

IEW
SE

T
N

O
T

FO
R

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

Y
ca

D
ig

C
A

L
L

1-N
IItI-II’)2-III2X

X
li

Page | 225AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EA
R

ThW
O

R
K

U
N

D
ER

G
R

O
U

N
D

U
flL

fllE
S

-
G

EN
ER

A
L

SA
N

flA
R

Y
SEW

ER
W

A
TER

M
AIN

STO
R

M
SEW

ER

,

&
?

&
&

-

.

&

.7
‘

‘
(

,

$
,

=

.

_

&
.

CO
.

“.
-

*

—
W

C
O

CC
!

C
C

[
&

$
!

$
C

.C
C

C
C

C
C

C
CC

C
C

‘
?

s
C

!
C

C
C

C
C

CC
C

C
’
(
’
C

‘
C

€
)
C

C
*
©

©
C

I
f
l
&

2
2

“,
-

.
(

.

CC
CC

-
—

C

C
“
$

*
&

C
*

C
,

$
—

C
.
C

C
$
C

C

C
C

:
.

(C
.
s
&

!
C

C
C

C
,

C
C
.
C

.
.
C

()
s

&
*
C

(
PA

Y
1N

O
C

U
R

E
S

A
N

D
SID

EW
A

LK
>

.
,“

C
C

.
,

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_
_

_
_

_
_
_

_
_
_

_
_

_
_

U
J
W

a
&

I
§

C
!

.C
.

C
C

CC
.

‘
o
Z

“
C

C
.

CC

z

_
_
_

.
LI,

I
“

z
“

j
fr

a

_
_
_
_
_
_
_
_
_
_
_
_
_
_
_
_
_
_
_
_

!
C

I
-
&

0

I
!
C

IC
I

W
A

TER
M

A
IN

1
*

(5
g
o

I
I

•
.1

V
IZ

,
I

IC
I

“
C

‘
I
I
I
C

&
I
C

I
I
&

I
I

.
V

I

:z
1:

;Z

J

:
Jt:*E:

f
i

,
V

I
I”

•
‘

I
I

,

C
®

t
C

.,“
.

,
?
(

•
I

,
C

I
•
‘
“

(
“

*
*

-
.

—

-
%

c
“
.

f
l

:
c

IC
$

.“
.

I(

I”
•
“

I
‘

‘

II
I

‘
,

C
*

?
I
C

2

©
O

(
C])

,
S

c
;

SA
N

O
A

R
Y

SEW
ER

1
::.:r

)

_
_
_

Es
I
C

C
C

C
C

I
I
C

C
C

C
l

_
_
_

_

IC

_
_
_

_

U
)

2

C
C

R
EV

IEW
SE

T
N

O
T

FO
R

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

8
—

Page | 226AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



G
EN

ER
A

L
N

O
TES

M
W

RD
SPE

C
IR

C
A

flO
N

S
M

W
RD

SPEC
IFIC

A
flO

N
S

C
O

N
T

D

I

£
s

!
(
!
(
s

)

2
:cr;=

C
‘
‘

&

.
.

C
r
=

C
:
=

:2
C

2
[

C
C

G
m

rn
w

o
&

o
r

‘.

T
E

t
C

N
IC

c
:
:
t
t
L

:
s

&&
f
l
2
t
T

r
?

.
©

©
€

(
$

?
‘
‘
&

)
$

:
:
:
:
:

*
!
)

-
(
)

!
?

:
:
t

;:::;
.

*
)
,

:
..

‘

‘
f
t
!
:
.

£
&

!!
.

r:::g
m

L
A

!
!
!
t
!
f
l
[
.
&

,
)

€‘i

‘
r
s
o

?,

T
n
tT

N
.r

‘
‘

&
,
,

.
,
.

R
EV

IEW
SE

T
N

O
T

FO
R

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

Page | 227AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



1
7

1
st

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S

&

L
E

G
A

L
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

G
R

A
PH

IC
S

C
A

L
E

P
A

R
C

E
L

ID
E

N
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
IT

E
D

A
T

A
N

U
M

B
E

R

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K
S

S
T

T
F

R
F

A
T

N
F

O
R

F
4

A
T

IO
N

Ir:jEEL
::.

.—
IS
tre

e
t

R
EV

IEW
SE

T
N

O
T

FO
R

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

Page | 228AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



E

Avenue

tj
/_

I

(ö\\DESIGNTEK
ENcNEErnNG, INC

M)LL

PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING PLAN

9961 W. 151ST STREETFOR
T.J. CACHEY BUILDERS, INC. II

7050—7068 171ST STREET
ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS 60462

11NLEY PARK, ILLINOIS
(708) 349—1575

PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN

Page | 229AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



G
R

A
P

H
IC

S
C

A
L

E

P
R

E
L

IM
IN

A
R

Y
R

EV
IEW

SE
T

N
O

T
FO

R
C

O
N

STR
U

C
TIO

N

Page | 230AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



•
1
7
1
st

5

P
R

E
L

IM
IN

A
R

Y
E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

U
T

IL
IT

Y
P

L
A

N

G
R

A
P

H
IC

S
C

A
L

E

W
A

T
E

R
V

A
L

V
E

V
A

U
L

T
S

F
IR

E
H

Y
D

R
A

N
T

S

LILILILI

LIELL
I
?
S

I

LI

S
T

O
R

M
S

E
W

E
R

G
R

A
T

E
S

REV
IEW

SET
N

O
T

FO
R

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

Page | 231AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



. fs\oEsN-rEKENGINEERJNcINc PRELIMINARY ENGJEERING PLANS
T.J. CACHEY BUILDERS, INC. II

9930W 190Th SWEET SOITEL 9961 W. 151ST STREET

f
Mu.

7050—7068 171ST STREET
ORLAND PARK ILLINOIS 60462

11NLEY PARK, ILLINOIS
(708) 349—1575

CONSTRUCTION DETAILS

Page | 232AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



fl
_
-f

l-

3
lf

lC
S

H
D

S
S

lV
ld

]L
W

g
S

it
s

f
r
Y

®

J3
d
d
iS

iS
L

I
-
i

ia
a-

is 5!
OU

!II
I

A
el

ut
i

IS
L

i
09

0L
-

99
0L

U
S

fr
J

e
d
e
o
sp

u
e

SI
JII

IK
)H

V
34

OS
UN

V1

3
0

‘1

E
Z

N

F I—

r L
H

z

S
lf

lG
S

H
D

S
iN

V
id

;>
14

1
0

1

6
V

1
6
3
f
lY

-
6
6
6

f
l

41
\:136

1

+
/

7

±.
c
+

/
+

/
7

t
/
<

Page | 233AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N
T

R
E

E
PL

A
N

T
IN

G
D

ETA
IL

-

ED
T

R
E

E
PLA

N
TIN

G
D

ETA
IL

3
2

9
3

-

SH
R

U
B

PLA
N

TIN
G

D
ETA

IL
A

N
N

U
A

L,
PE

R
E

N
N

IA
L

,
&

G
R

O
U

N
D

C
O

V
E

R
D

ETA
IL

J.
G.

S.

LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECTS

L
an

d
scap

e
D

etails

7056
-7050

171S
T

S
treet

T
inley

P
ark,

Illinois

S
H

E
E

T

L
-2

Page | 234AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 235AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 236AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-027

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING CERTAIN VARIATIONS FOR 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7050-7068 171ST STREET

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Page | 237AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO.  2020-O-027

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING CERTAIN VARIATIONS FOR PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 7050-7068 171ST STREET

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, a petition for granting certain bulk, parking, and signage variations 
(“Variations”) to redevelop certain property at 7050 - 7068 171st Street, Tinley Park, Illinois 60477 
(“Subject Property”) has been filed by the contract purchaser Thomas Cachey (“Petitioner”) with 
the Village Clerk of this Village and has been referred to the Plan Commission of the Village and 
has been processed in accordance with the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, said Plan Commission held a public hearing on the question of whether the 
Variations should be granted on May 7, 2020 at the Village Hall and by teleconference per 
Gubernatorial Executive Order 2020-18 and the “Village of Tinley Park Temporary Public 
Participation Rules & Procedures”, at which time all persons were afforded an opportunity to be 
heard; and 

WHEREAS, public notice in the form required by law was given of said public hearing 
by publication not more than thirty (30) days nor less than fifteen (15) days prior to said public 
hearing in the Daily Southtown, a newspaper of general  circulation within the Village of Tinley 
Park; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission vote 9-0 and has filed its report and findings and 
recommendations that the proposed Variations be approved with this President and Board of 
Trustees, and this Board of Trustees has duly considered said report of findings and 
recommendations; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Variations; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

Page | 238AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of facts as 
if said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: That the report of findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission are herein 
incorporated by reference as the findings of this President and the Board of Trustees, as complete 
as if fully set forth herein at length. This Board finds that the Petitioner has provided evidence 
establishing that they have met the standards for granting the Variations as set forth in Section 
X.G.4 of the Zoning Ordinance, and the proposed granting of the Variations as set forth herein is 
in the public good and in the best interest of the Village and its residents and is consistent with and 
fosters the purpose and spirit of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance.

Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Plan Commission shall not recommend a 
Variation of the regulations of the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, 
based upon the evidence presented for each of the Standards for Variations listed below. The Plan 
Commission must provide findings for the first three standards; the remaining standards are 
provided to help the Plan Commission further analyze the request. Staff has provided the following 
draft Findings of the Statutorily required Standards for the Commission’s review.

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 
the conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located.

 The property is a redevelopment site with limited ability to expand the size, dimensions, 
and setbacks of the existing building and layout. The Variations allow the fairly small 
and limited sized lot to be reasonably developed with commercial uses permitted in the 
zoning district. Variations have been reduced or eliminated where physically and 
economically feasible.

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances.

 The small property is existing and was developed under previous zoning codes. Existing 
non-conformities offer a challenging situation for the redevelopment to remain 
technically and economically feasible.

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.

 The lot Variations will be similar to other properties that were previously developed in 
the area in regards to the parking location, building setbacks, and sign setbacks. Exterior 
building materials in the area vary greatly, and the redevelopment is expected to improve 
the area’s appearance.

4. Additionally, the Plan Commission shall also, in making its determination whether there 
are practical difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the 
following facts favorable to the Petitioner have been established by the evidence:

Page | 239AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific 
property involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished 
from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out;

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money 
out of the property;

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, or by 
a previous owner;

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to 
other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; and

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent 
property, or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the 
danger of fire, or endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property 
values within the neighborhood.

Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that the conditions listed below must be met and 
reviewed for Site Plan approval and Architectural Review approval. Specific findings are not 
required, however the proposed site plan and building design must meet these standards.

Architectural 

a. Building Materials: The size of the structure will dictate the required building materials 
(Section V.C. Supplementary District Regulations). Where tilt-up or pre-cast masonry 
walls (with face or thin brick inlay) are allowed vertical articulation, features are 
encouraged to mask the joint lines. Concrete panels must incorporate architectural finishes 
that comply with “Building Articulation” (Section III.U.5.h.) standards. Cast in place 
concrete may be used as an accent alternate building material (no greater than 15% per 
façade) provided there is sufficient articulation and detail to diminish it’s the appearance if 
used on large, blank walls. 

b. Cohesive Building Design: Buildings must be built with approved materials and provide 
architectural interest on all sides of the structure. Whatever an architectural style is chosen, 
a consistent style of architectural composition and building materials are to be applied on 
all building facades. 

c. Compatible Architecture:  All construction, whether it be new or part of an addition or 
renovation of an existing structure, must be compatible with the character of the site, 
adjacent structures and streetscape. Avoid architecture or building materials that 
significantly diverge from adjacent architecture.  Maintain the rhythm of the block in terms 
of scale, massing and setback. Where a development includes outlots they shall be designed 

Page | 240AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



with compatible consistent architecture with the primary building(s). Site lighting, 
landscaping and architecture shall reflect a consistent design statement throughout the 
development. 

d. Color: Color choices shall consider the context of the surrounding area and shall not be 
used for purposes of “attention getting” or branding of the proposed use. Color choices 
shall be harmonious with the surrounding buildings; excessively bright or brilliant colors 
are to be avoided except to be used on a minor scale for accents. 

e. Sustainable architectural design: The overall design must meet the needs of the current use 
without compromising the ability of future uses. Do not let the current use dictate an 
architecture so unique that it limits its potential for other uses (i.e. Medieval Times).

f. Defined Entry:  Entrance shall be readily identifiable from public right-of-way or parking 
fields. The entry can be clearly defined by using unique architecture, a canopy, overhang 
or some other type of weather protection, some form of roof element or enhanced 
landscaping.

g. Roof: For buildings 10,000 sf or less a pitched roof is required or a parapet that extends the 
full exterior of the building. For buildings with a continuous roof line of 100 feet of more, 
a change of at least five feet in height must be made for every 75 feet. 

h. Building Articulation: Large expanses of walls void of color, material or texture variation 
are to be avoided.  The use of material and color changes, articulation of details around 
doors, windows, plate lines, the provision of architectural  details such as “belly-bands” 
(decorative cladding that runs horizontally around the building), the use of recessed design 
elements, exposed expansion joints, reveals, change in texture, or other methods of visual 
relief are encouraged as a means to minimize the oppressiveness of large expanses of walls 
and  break down the overall scale of the building into intermediate scaled parts. On 
commercial buildings, facades greater than 100 feet must include some form of articulation 
of the façade through the use of recesses or projections of at least 6 inches for at least 20% 
of the length of the façade. For industrial buildings efforts to break up the long façade shall 
be accomplished through a change in building material, color or vertical breaks of three 
feet or more every 250 feet. 

i. Screen Mechanicals: All mechanical devices shall be screened from all public views. 

j. Trash Enclosures: Trash enclosures must be screened on three sides by a masonry wall 
consistent with the architecture and building material of the building it serves.  Gates must 
be kept closed at all times and constructed of a durable material such as wood or steel. 
They shall not be located in the front or corner side yard and shall be set behind the front 
building façade.

Page | 241AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Site Design

a. Building/parking location:  Buildings shall be located in a position of prominence with 
parking located to the rear or side of the main structure when possible. Parking areas shall 
be designed so as to provide continuous circulation avoiding dead-end parking aisles. 
Drive-through facilities shall be located to the rear or side of the structure and not dominate 
the aesthetics of the building. Architecture for canopies of drive-through areas shall be 
consistent with the architecture of the main structure. 

b. Loading Areas: Loading docks shall be located at the rear or side of buildings whenever 
possible and screened from view from public rights-of-way.

c. Outdoor Storage:  Outdoor storage areas shall be located at the rear of the site in accordance 
with Section III.O.1. (Open Storage). No open storage is allowed in front or corner side 
yards and are not permitted to occupy areas designated for parking, driveways or 
walkways.

d. Interior Circulation: Shared parking and cross access easements are encouraged with 
adjacent properties of similar use. Where possible visitor/employee traffic shall be separate 
from truck or equipment traffic. 

e. Pedestrian Access: Public and interior sidewalks shall be provided to encourage pedestrian 
traffic. Bicycle use shall be encouraged by providing dedicated bikeways and parking. 
Where pedestrians or bicycles must cross vehicle pathways a cross walk shall be provided 
that is distinguished by a different pavement material or color.

SECTION 3: That the Variations as set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following 
described property

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:
LOTS 12 AND 11 (EXCEPT THE WEST 100 FEET THEREOF) IN BLOCK 10 IN ELMORES 
OAK PARK AVENUE ESTATES, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF THE NORTHWEST 
FRACTIONAL QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, (EXCEPT THAT PART OF DRAINAGE DITCH 
CONVEYED BY DOCUMENT 10351098, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 28-30-113-005-0000 & 28-30-113-025-0000

COMMONLY KNOWN AS:  7050 – 7068 171st Street, Tinley Park, Illinois

SECTION 4: That the following Variations are hereby granted to the Petitioner in the B-3 
(General Business & Commercial) Zoning District at the above-mentioned property to construct a 
mixed-use property with approximately 12,000 sq. ft. of commercial space and a 800 sq. ft. one-
bedroom second-floor apartment:

Page | 242AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



1. Exterior Masonry (Existing, Improved Condition) – A Variation from Section V.C.7.F. and 
Section V.C.7.G. of the Zoning Ordinance to permit the proposed façade renovations to 
utilize non-masonry materials (fiber cement board and EIFs) above the 15% maximum 
amount per façade and permit the exterior to utilize no face brick; approval will be based 
upon the proposed elevations.

2. Parking (Existing, Improved Condition) – A 22 parking stall Variation from Section 
VIII.A.10. of the Zoning Ordinance to permit 60 parking stalls instead of the required 
minimum of 82 stalls for the proposed commercial building. The proposal includes a 
reduction of the existing floor area and the addition of 16 total parking stalls.

3. Front Yard Parking (Existing, Improved Condition) – A Variation from Section VIII.7. of 
the Zoning Ordinance to permit parking stalls to be located in a required front yard.

4. Front Yard Structure Setback (Existing) – A 5.5-foot Variation from Section V.B. Schedule 
II (District Regulations) of the Zoning Ordinance to permit a 19.5-foot front yard building 
setback, instead of the required minimum of 25 feet.

5. Public Sidewalk (Existing) – A Variation from Section F.2. of the Subdivision and 
Development Code to permit the development without installation of a public sidewalk 
along the public street frontage.

6. Freestanding Sign Setback (Existing, Improved Condition) – A nine-foot Variation from 
Section IX.D.2.c. of the Zoning Ordinance to permit a freestanding sign to be setback one 
foot instead of the required minimum of ten feet.

SECTION 5: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 6: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

SECTION 7: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

PASSED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:
__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 243AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-027 “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING CERTAIN VARIATIONS FOR 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7050-7068 171ST STREET,” which was adopted by the President and 

Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on May 19, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 244AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT
May 7, 2020 – Workshop/Public Hearing

Zoning Code Text Amendment -Temporary Use for 
Warehouse/Distribution Uses

  

BACKGROUND

The Village allows for certain temporary uses under Section V.C.11. of the Zoning Ordinance. These uses 
cover such operations as temporary offices for the sale of rental property, a temporary yard for construction 
materials, sale of holiday trees, or seasonal vegetation and carnivals.  Consideration of any other kind of 
temporary use requires a text amendment to the Zoning Ordinance. 

Pete’s Fresh Market recently purchased the former K-Mart property at 16300 Harlem Avenue and has 
presented a conceptual development proposal (attached) that includes new construction of a 74,000 sq. ft. 
grocery store and 43,000 sq. ft.  retailer.  They also propose to redevelop the former K-Mart store to provide 
an additional +33,000 sq. ft. of retail space and +158,400 sq. ft. of accessory warehouse/distribution space.  
The proposal will require an amendment to the existing Park Place Planned Unit Development, which will 
be scheduled for review later this year.  Due to COVID-19, Pete’s Fresh Market has experienced increased 
demand for warehouse space at their existing warehouse facilities. Currently, their warehouses contain some 
non-grocery related items such as fixtures and equipment for their stores.  They have requested to use the 
vacant K-Mart store to temporarily relocate these items to make room for more grocery related items in 
their existing warehouse facilities. They have also stated that during this time of COVID-19 they have been 
presented with purchasing opportunities for items of necessity that have been difficult to keep stocked in 
their stores.  Therefore, they would also like the opportunity to use the Tinley Park property to store some 
of these products on a temporary basis as well. 

DISCUSSION

Warehouse/distribution uses are defined as “Warehouse, Distribution Plants and Wholesale Establishments 
are engaged in the storage, wholesale, or distribution of manufactured products, supplies and equipment, 
excluding bulk storage of material that are flammable or explosive.”  For purposes of this text amendment, 
staff is recommending the deletion of any reference to ‘wholesale’ uses as part of the temporary use. 

Warehouse/distribution uses are permitted in the M1 (General Manufacturing) and MU-1 (Mixed Use 
Duvan Drive) zoning districts. The former K-mart site is zoned B-3 (General Business and Commercial 
District) and is a Planned Unit Development (PUD).  Any consideration of permanent non-permitted uses 
on this site will require a substantial deviation of the PUD with a full submittal and refinement of the 
ultimate development proposal for the site.  This could take up to a year to complete.  Due to the urgency 
of the request, Staff has been requested to provide for this use to be considered as a temporary use. As stated 
above, the Zoning Ordinance currently only provides temporary use relief for certain listed uses.  
Warehousing or distribution uses are not listed as a permitted temporary use.  The COVID-19 pandemic 
has created unique circumstances for our community.  While Pete’s Fresh Market has requested this use 
due to their operational needs, there may be similar requests for stockpiling or warehousing of goods in the 
future. Natural disasters, fires, or major interior renovations could require a retailer to request warehousing 
space on a temporary basis. 

Due to the size requirements and ancillary truck traffic associated with warehouse/distribution uses, staff is 
recommending this temporary use be confined to B-3 districts only.   There are several existing retail 
facilities in B-3 districts that currently warehouse their products and experience daily truck delivery. This 
zoning district is designed to accommodate more intense types of commercial uses.  Retailers such as Sam’s 

Petitioner
Village Tinley Park

Municipal Code
Zoning Code

Approvals Sought
Text Amendment

Project Planner
Paula J. Wallrich, AICP
Acting Director of 
Community Development 

Page | 245AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Text Amendment Corrections - Short Term Rental & Masonry

Page 2 of 3

Club, Target, Menards, and grocery stores typically maintain an inventory of their products on-site and have daily semi-trailer deliveries. 

Staff is also recommending that no greater than 50,000 sq. ft. be devoted to this temporary use and that adequate site access is provided 
to accommodate anticipated traffic.   This will limit any impact from truck traffic related to the temporary warehouse/distribution use.  
In addition, a six-month term is recommended as a condition of the temporary use, with the opportunity for one extension, for a total of 
no more than 12 months for the temporary use. 

Temporary use permits are applied for through the Community Development Department. Currently, the Zoning Code references the 
“Building and Planning Department” in Section V.C.11.  As part of this text amendment, staff is also recommending a simple clerical 
change to the current organizational structure, which is “Community Development Department (CD).”  After review of the Temporary 
Use Permit by the CD department, the permit is then sent to the Village Board for approval. The Village Board may require that certain 
conditions relating to the public health, safety, or general welfare be complied with before the issuance of a Temporary Use Permit. 

STAFF PROPOSAL

Staff proposes the following text amendments (additions in bold, deletions as strikeouts, zoning text in italics):  

(Section V.C.)  
11. Temporary Uses: Upon application to the Building and Planning Community Development Department,’s review and 
recommendations by the Zoning Administrator and issuance of a permit therefore, in accordance with Section X.L. (Temporary Use 
Permits) therefore, the following uses may be operated as temporary uses:

H. Warehouse/Distribution uses, as defined in Section II.B. (Definitions), with the exception of any wholesale use, in the B-3 
(General Business and Commercial District), provided that the space used for warehouse/distribution is no greater in size than 
50,000 sq. ft.; that adequate delivery truck access and circulation are provided; and the permit is valid for no greater than six months, 
with the ability to allow for one six month extension, resulting in no greater than one year for the requested use. 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS

Motion 1 

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board approve Text Amendments to Section V.C.11. (Temporary Uses) of the 
Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance, as indicated in the Staff Report dated May 7, 2020.  The proposed Text Amendment will 
provide for temporary warehouse/distribution uses in B-3 (General Business and Commercial District) zoning districts with 
conditions.” 

Page | 246AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Text Amendment Corrections - Short Term Rental & Masonry

Page 3 of 3

Page | 247AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-028

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE
 TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE ALLOWING WAREHOUSE/DISTRIBUTION 

USES AS A TEMPORARY USE 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606
 

Page | 248AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-028

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE
 TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE ALLOWING WAREHOUSE/DISTRIBUTION 

USES AS A TEMPORARY USE 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) recently Section V.C.11 of the Zoning 
Ordinance provides for certain temporary uses which does not include warehouse/distribution 
uses; and 

WHEREAS, there are certain conditions that may require a warehouse/distribution use on 
a temporary basis including but not limited to a pandemic, fire or flood that disrupts normal 
business operations; and

WHEREAS, the proposed text amendment was referred to the Plan Commission of the 
Village and was processed in accordance with the Village of Tinley Park Ordinance; and

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on the proposed Amendments 
on May 7, 2020 by teleconference, per Gubernatorial Executive Order 2020-18 and the “Village 
of Tinley Park Temporary Public Participation Rules & Procedures”, at which time all persons 
were afforded an opportunity to be heard; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission voted 9-0 in favor to recommend said Amendment to 
the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission of this Village has filed its report of findings and 
recommendations that the proposed Amendment be granted with this President and Board of 
Trustees, and this Board of Trustees has duly considered said report of findings and 
recommendations; and  

Page | 249AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Amendment to the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: That the report and findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission of this 
Village are herein incorporated by reference as the findings of this Board of Trustees, as 
completely, as if fully recited herein at length. 

SECTION 2: That Section V.C.11 of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance entitled “Temporary 
Uses” is hereby amended by adding the following underlined language and eliminating the 
Strikethrough language as follows: 

11. Temporary Uses: Upon application to the Building and Planning Community 
Development Department’s review and recommendations by the Zoning Administrator 
and issuance of a permit therefore, in accordance with Section X.L. (Temporary Use 
Permits), the following uses may be operated as temporary uses:

H. Warehouse/Distribution uses, as defined in Section II.B. (Definitions), with the 
exception of any wholesale use, in the B-3 (General Business and Commercial District), 
provided that the space used for warehouse/distribution is no greater in size than 50,000 
sq. ft.; that adequate delivery truck access and circulation are provided; and the permit 
is valid for no greater than six months, with the ability to allow for one six month 
extension, resulting in no greater than one year for the requested use. 

SECTION 3:  Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the 
provisions of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 4: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

SECTION 5: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

Page | 250AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PASSED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 251AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )

COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 
and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 
copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-28, “AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A TEXT AMENDMENT 
TO THE TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE ALLOWING 
WAREHOUSE/DISTRIBUTION USES AS A TEMPORARY USE,” which was adopted by the 
President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on May 19, 2020.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 252AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



TO: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES

FROM: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION

SUBJECT: MINUTES OF THE MAY 7, 2020 REGULAR MEETING

ITEM #2 WORKSHOP/PUBLIC HEARING:  Text Amendment - Temporary Uses
Consider recommending that the Village Board consider a proposed text amendment to the Tinley 
Park Zoning Ordinance clarifying Section V.C.11 (Temporary Uses). The purpose of this 
amendment is to allow for warehouse/distribution uses in a B-3 (General Business and Commercial 
District) with certain conditions.

Plan Commissioners present:  
Chairman Garrett Gray (Participated electronically)
Mary Aitchison (Participated electronically)
Eduardo Mani (Participated electronically)
James Gaskill (Participated electronically)
Angela Gatto (Participated electronically)
Tim Stanton (Participated electronically)
Lucas Engel (Participated electronically)
Kehla West (Participated electronically)
Steven Vick (Participated electronically)

Plan Commissioners absent: None

Guests:  None

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER GATTO, seconded by COMMISSIONER MANI to open the public 
hearing of
Text Amendment - Temporary Uses

All Commissioners participated electronically.

AYE: 

COMMISSIONERS AITCHISON, MANI, GASKILL, GATTO, STANTON, ENGEL, WEST, VICK and 
CHAIRMAN GRAY.  

NAY:  

None

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the motion approved by voice vote.    

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted anyone wishing to speak on this matter will be sworn in before they speak after staff’s 
presentation. 

The Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice regarding the Public Hearing was published in the 
local newspaper in

accordance with State law and Village requirements.  

Paula Wallrich, Interim Community Development Director, presented the Staff Report for the Zoning Code Text 
Amendment – Temporary Use for Warehouse/Distribution Uses.  Due to the recent purchase of the former K-Mart by 
Pete’s Fresh Market at 16300 Harlem Avenue it became apparent through negotiations and discussions with them, 
that they have immediate needs on the site.  They have presented a conceptual development proposal that includes 

Page | 253AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



new construction of a 74,000 sq. ft. grocery store and 43,000 sq. ft. retailer.  They also proposed to redevelop the 
former K-Mart store to provide an additional +33,000 sq. ft. of retail space and +158,400 sq. ft.  of accessory 
warehouse/distribution space.  

Due to COVID-19, Pete’s Fresh Market has experienced increased demand for warehouse space at their existing 
warehouse facilities.  Currently, their warehouses contain some non-grocery related items such as fixtures and 
equipment for their stores.  They have requested to use the vacant K-Mart store to temporarily relocate these items to 
make room for more grocery related items in their existing warehouse facilities.  They have also stated that during this 
time of COVID-19 they have been presented with purchasing opportunities for items of necessity that have been 
difficult to keep stocked in their stores.  According to the current Ordinance there is no mechanism to address this.  
The proposal will require an amendment to the existing Park Place Planned Unit Development, to add one more 
temporary use to provide for warehousing distribution.  

Traditionally you will see this use in the M-1 and MU-1 zoning districts. The former K-mart site is zoned B-3 and is 
a Planned Unit Development.  Any consideration of permanent, non-permitted uses on this site will require a 
substantial deviation of the PUD with a full submittal and refinement of the ultimate development proposal for the 
site.  This could take up to a year to complete.  Due to the urgency of the request, Staff has been requested to provide 
for this use to be considered as a temporary use.  Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, it has created a unique circumstance 
for the community.  While Pete’s Fresh Market has requested this use due to their operational needs, there may be 
similar requests for stockpiling or warehousing of goods in the future. Natural disasters, fires, or major interior 
renovations could require a retailer to request warehousing space on a temporary basis. 

Due to the size requirements and ancillary truck traffic associated with warehouse/distribution uses, staff is 
recommending this temporary use be confined to B-3 districts only.   There are several existing retail facilities in B-3 
districts that currently warehouse their products and experience daily truck delivery. This zoning district is designed 
to accommodate more intense types of commercial uses.  Retailers such as Sam’s Club, Target, Menards, and grocery 
stores typically maintain an inventory of their products on-site and have daily semi-trailer deliveries. 

Staff is also recommending that no greater than 50,000 sq. ft. be devoted to this temporary use and that adequate site 
access is provided to accommodate anticipated traffic.   This will limit any impact from truck traffic related to the 
temporary warehouse/distribution use.  In addition, a six-month term is recommended as a condition of the temporary 
use, with the opportunity for one extension, for a total of no more than 12 months for the temporary use. 

Temporary use permits are applied for through the Community Development Department. Currently, the Zoning Code 
references the “Building and Planning Department” in Section V.C.11.  As part of this text amendment, staff is also 
recommending a simple clerical change to the current organizational structure, which is “Community Development 
Department (CD).”  After review of the Temporary Use Permit by the CD department, the permit is then sent to the 
Village Board for approval. The Village Board may require that certain conditions relating to the public health, safety, 
or general welfare be complied with before the issuance of a Temporary Use Permit. 

Staff Proposes the following text amendments:

(Section V.C.)  
11. Temporary Uses: Upon application to the Building and Planning Community Development Department’s review 
and recommendations by the Zoning Administrator and issuance of a permit therefore, in accordance with Section 
X.L. (Temporary Use Permits) therefore, the following uses may be operated as temporary uses:

H. Warehouse/Distribution uses, as defined in Section II.B. (Definitions), with the exception of any wholesale use, 
in the B-3 (General Business and Commercial District), provided that the space used for warehouse/distribution is 
no greater in size than 50,000 sq. ft.; that adequate delivery truck access and circulation are provided; and the 
permit is valid for no greater than six months, with the ability to allow for one six month extension, resulting in no 
greater than one year for the requested use. 
 
CHAIRMAN GRAY asked the Commissioners if they had additional comments.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted he thought this was a good idea and like the 6 month term with one extension.  

Page | 254AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



CHAIRMAN GRAY asked if there were any comments from the public.  
There were none. 

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER ENGEL to close the public 
hearing of
Text Amendment - Temporary Uses

All Commissioners participated electronically.

AYE: 

COMMISSIONERS AITCHISON, MANI, GASKILL, GATTO, STANTON, ENGEL, WEST, VICK and 
CHAIRMAN GRAY.  

NAY:  

None

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the motion approved by voice call.   

A motion was made by COMMISSIONER WEST, seconded by COMMISSIONER GASKILL to recommend that 
the Village Board approve Text Amendments to Section V.C.11. (Temporary Uses) of the Village of Tinley Park 
Zoning Ordinance, as indicated in the Staff Report dated May 7, 2020.  The proposed Text Amendment will provide 
for temporary warehouse/distribution uses in B-3 (General Business and Commercial District) zoning districts with 
conditions.” 

All Commissioners participated electronically.

AYE: 

COMMISSIONERS AITCHISON, MANI, GASKILL, GATTO, STANTON, ENGEL, WEST, VICK and 
CHAIRMAN GRAY.  

NAY:  

None

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the motion approved by roll call.   

This item will go to the Village Board for approval on Tuesday, May 19, 2020.

Page | 255AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: May 19, 2020

To: Dave Niemeyer, Village Manager

From: Paula J. Wallrich, AICP
Community Development Director

Subject:  Temporary Use Permit for Pete’s Fresh Market warehouse/distribution 

BACKGROUND

At the May 5, 2020 Committee of the Whole meeting staff was directed to proceed with a text amendment to the 
Zoning Ordinance to allow warehouse/distribution uses as a temporary use in Section V.C.11 of the Code.  Staff 
prepared the amendment and presented it to the Plan Commission at a public hearing held on May 7, 2020.  The 
Plan Commission unanimously recommended the proposed amendment to the Village Board for approval with 
conditions. The amendment is under consideration at the May 19th meeting.  

DISCUSSION

As part of the text amendment approval the following conditions were approved for all warehouse/distribution 
temporary uses:

 Restricted to the B-3 district (General Business and Commercial District);
 Excludes wholesale uses; 
 No greater than 50,000 sq. ft. used for the temporary  use;
 Adequate delivery truck access and circulation is  provided; and 
 The permit is valid for no greater than one year in six months terms. 

Additionally, as part of the temporary use permit for Pete’s Fresh Market (PFM) warehouse/distribution center, 
staff is recommending the following conditions to the permit:

 Hours of operation to match Village code (7:00 am – 10:00 pm);
 Subject to building and fire safety inspection and approval;
 Approval of truck route;
 Warehouse will be used for the storage of equipment currently stored in other PFM warehouses;
 No permanent racking system to be installed;
 Parking lot maintenance (pot holes);
 Adequate lighting provided;
 Installation of security cameras;

RECOMMENDATION

Approve the temporary use permit for warehouse/distribution uses for Pete’s Fresh Market for a 6 month period 
with conditions as listed above.  Staff will review their application submittal and ensure all conditions are met. 

Interoffice

Memo
Page | 256AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Page | 257AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 258AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 259AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 260AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Date: May 19, 2020 

To: Village Board

CC: David Niemeyer, Village Manager
Paula Wallrich, Acting Community Development Director

From:                         Priscilla Cordero, Business Development Manager

Subject: 16300 S. Harlem Ave- Class 7b- Pete’s Fresh Market

BACKGROUND
James Dremonas (Applicant) of 163rd & Harlem, LLC, proposes to invest an estimated  
$29,250,000 for the renovation of the vacated K-Mart structure (16300 S. Harlem Avenue) and 
construction of approximately  117,000 sq. ft. of new retail space for the purposes of a Pete’s 
Fresh Market and other retail uses.  (See attached conceptual plan)  This location has been 100% 
vacant since November 2014 and requires significant improvements. 163rd & Harlem LLC recently 
purchased the subject property. 

Page | 261AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



There are two components to the project. First, the applicant will complete a significant rehabilitation of 
the existing abandoned K-Mart building which will include an expansion of the building to the east to 
enclose the former outdoor sales and garden area. Approximately 158,408 sq. ft. of this building will 
be used as a warehouse/distribution facility. The applicant will complete the rehabilitation of the 
remaining 33,364 sq. ft. for additional retail spaces.

Second, the Applicant plans to construct approximately 117,000 sq. ft. of new retail space on the west 
side of the property. Pete’s Fresh Market will occupy approximately 74,000 sq. ft of the new facility to 
operate as a supermarket. The plan is for a large retail tenant to occupy the remaining 43,000 square 
feet.

The Village of Tinley Park can expect 163rd & Harlem, LLC to increase the property tax value of the 
location and result in an increase in sales taxes. In addition, the applicant expects to create 40-60 
construction jobs. Once the project is complete, they expect to hire 30-40 full-time employees for the 
distribution facility and approximately 170 employees for the supermarket (155 full-time and 15 part-
time) and  generate $50-60,000,000 in annual gross sales. They expect the other retail tenants to 
create 30-60 jobs and generate approximately $10,000,000 in annual gross sales. 

On February 5, 2019, the Village Board approved Ordinance 2019-O-008 designating the area 
commonly known as 159th and Harlem as blighted. This designation is the first requirement to qualify 
for Cook County’s Class 7 Assessment Program. The blighted designation allows for current / future 
developers and businesses the ability to immediately access Cook County Class 7 incentives with 
Village approval to attract investment in high vacancy and underdeveloped areas. The subject property 
is located within the designated blighted area outlined within the ordinance and is therefore eligible to 
apply for Class 7 incentives. 

The Applicant has retained the counsel of Sarnoff Baccash, a property tax law firm located in Chicago, 
Illinois, to assist with preparing the Class 7b application for Village and Cook County submittal.

Page | 262AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



DISCUSSION
The Applicant is requesting a Class 7b Incentive on approximately 33,364 square feet of the existing 
building and the parking lot for additional retail spaces, as well as the construction of a new building at 
16300 S. Harlem Ave. (PIN: 27-24-202-020-0000; 27-24-202-021-0000). The Applicant has stated "but 
for . . ." the Class 7b reclassification, the development of this property will likely not be feasible. Cook 
County provides the Class 7b Incentive Program that allows the reclassification of properties to 
effectively lower their tax assessment from the commercial rate of 25% to the residential rate of 10%. 
Class 7b reclassifications provide an assessment of 10% of market value for the first ten (10) years, 
15% in the 11th year, and 20% in the 12th year.  

The Class 7b Incentive Program is intended to spur development in areas determined to be "in need 
of commercial development," commercial projects with total development costs, exclusive of land, over 
$2 million, which would not be economically feasible without the incentive. 

The twelve-year incentive applies to all newly constructed buildings or other structures, including the 
land upon which they are situated. High property taxes are a primary reason for Class 7b incentives 
and the competition with Will County and Indiana taxes. 

Incentive Policy Checklist
The following statements are in line with the Village or Tinley Park's incentive policy.

1. The developer will file the Cook County forms, plans to be a long-term owner/investor, and 
plans to comply with Village and County obligations of the Class 7b Incentive Program.

2. Due to its location in an area previously designated as blighted, this project meets the 
Target Development Area Incentive Policy Requirement outlined in section B-8.

3. The project will create over 25 jobs as outlined in section B-1.
4. As a project expected to exceed $1 million in capital investment, this project meets the 

Minimum Capital Investment Policy requirement. 
5. The project has an annual retail sales of at least $5 million as outlined in section B-5.

Strategic Plan Checklist
 Economic Development Strategy 3: The Harlem Retail Corridor south of 159th has suffered 

higher than normal vacancy rates. Moving forward with this project would help fill a large 
vacancy and encourage additional retailers to occupy vacancies surrounding this area.

Benefits
The project will be an enhancement to the Village by occupying an existing vacant building and 
completing a substantial rehabilitation while building a new facility in an area previously designated 
as blighted by the Village. It will create over 200 jobs between all of the retail locations and 
distribution facility and increase property tax value and sales tax revenue.

The  proposed reclassification resolution also includes  an agreement between 163rd & Harlem LLC 
and the Village obligating the Applicant to certain conditions of their proposed development. Any failure 
to meet these conditions will result in the Village’s right to terminate the agreement and the Class 7b 
Assessment Classification on the Property.  The conditions for the Pete’s Fresh Market development 
are summarized below:

1. Payment of all real estate taxes;

Page | 263AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



2. Property must be developed in accordance with approved plans;
3. Project must be completed by December 31, 2022 (applicant has the right to request an 

extension) 

The Owner is required to execute the agreement prior to the Village submitting the Resolution for 
Reclassification to the County.

REQUEST
The Economic and Commercial Commission (ECC) reviewed this request at their May 11, 2020 
meeting. The Commission unanimously voted to recommend approval of the class 7b request for 
Pete’s Fresh Market. This request is up for approval by the Village Board on May 19, 2020.

Page | 264AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 265AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-061

A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE FILING OF A CLASS 7B APPLICATION
FOR DEVELOPMENT TO OCCUR AT 16300 S. HARLEM AVENUE

(PETE’S FRESH MARKET)

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606
 

Page | 266AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



2

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-061

A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE FILING OF A CLASS 7B APPLICATION
FOR DEVELOPMENT TO OCCUR AT 16300 S. HARLEM AVENUE

(PETE’S FRESH MARKET)

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) desires to attract new commercial 
development, stimulate the expansion and retention of existing industry, and increase employment 
opportunities in the Village; and 

WHEREAS, Cook County has instituted a program to encourage commercial 
development known as the Cook County Real Property Classification Ordinance (“Tax Incentive 
Ordinance”); and 

WHEREAS, said Tax Incentive Ordinance provides a Class 7b incentive that is designed 
to encourage commercial development throughout Cook County by offering real estate tax 
incentives for the development of new commercial facilities, the rehabilitation of existing 
commercial structures, and the commercial reutilization of abandoned buildings; and

WHEREAS, Stephanie Dremonas (Pete’ Fresh Market), on behalf of 163rd & Harlem 
LLC, (“Applicant”), desires to redevelop certain real property located at 16300 S. Harlem Avenue, 
legally described in the attached Exhibit 1, PINs: 27-24-202-020-000 & 27-24-202-021-000, in 
reliance on the Class 7b incentives for plans to construct approximately 117,000 sq. ft. of new 
commercial space for purposes of a Pete’s Fresh Market grocery store and other commercial uses 
and to remodel and expand an existing vacant approximately 158,000 sq. ft. structure for purposes 
of warehousing/distributing and other commercial uses; and 

WHEREAS, The Applicant would find it difficult to construct at the Subject Property 
given the current tax liability on the Subject Property but for said Class 7b incentive, which 
provides a reduced assessment of ten percent (10%) of fair market value of the Property for the 

Page | 267AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



3

first ten years, fifteen percent (15%) for the eleventh year, and twenty percent (20%) for the twelfth 
year. Without this incentive, commercial property would normally be assessed at twenty-five 
(25%) of its market value; and

WHEREAS, said Subject Property does not have a Class 7b incentive applied to the 
Subject Property and the Applicant seeks approval from the Village to consent and support said 
Class 7b incentive to be applied to the Subject Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Village and Applicant have executed a Property Tax Assessment 
Classification Agreement ("Classification Agreement"), attached hereto as Exhibit 2 and 
incorporated herein, which imposes certain terms and conditions on the Village's support for 
Applicant's request for the Class 7b reclassification of the Subject Property; and

WHEREAS, the Village has determined that the Subject Property meets the requirements 
necessary for approving the request for certain tax incentives, and by allowing said reclassification 
will further promote the economic viability of the Subject Property which is aligned with the 
Village’s desire to attract new commercial development, stimulate the expansion and retention of 
existing industry, and increase employment opportunities in the Village; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve the request submitted by 163rd & Harlem LLC and consent and support the 
Class 7b reclassification of the Subject Property; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.

SECTION 2: That the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby 
approves the request submitted by the Applicant and supports and consents to the Class 7b 
reclassification, subject to the terms and conditions memorialized in the Classification Agreement, 
and has determined that the commercial use of the Subject Property by Pete’s Fresh Market for its 
new grocery store location at the Subject Property is both necessary and beneficial to the Village.

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.

SECTION 4: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Resolution in 
pamphlet form, and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law.

Page | 268AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



4

PASSED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 269AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



5

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 
and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 
copy of Resolution No. 2020-R-061, “A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE FILING OF A 
CLASS 7B APPLICATION FOR DEVELOPMENT TO OCCUR AT 16300 S. HARLEM 
AVENUE (PETE’S FRESH MARKET),” which was adopted by the President and Board of 
Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on May 19, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 270AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



6

EXHIBIT 1
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

PINs: 27-24-202-020-000 & 27-24-202-021-000

Page | 271AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7

Exhibit 2
INCENTIVE AGREEMENT 

Page | 272AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THIS DOCUMENT WAS
PREPARED BY AND AFTER
RECORDING RETURN TO:

PROPERTY TAX ASSESSMENT CLASSIFICATION AGREEMENT
BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

AND 163RD & HARLEM LLC, 
(16300 S. Harlem Ave, Tinley Park, Illinois 60477)

THIS PROPERTY TAX ASSESSMENT CLASSIFICATION AGREEMENT 
(“Agreement”) is made this ____ day of May, 2020 (“Execution Date”), by and between the 
Village of Tinley Park, an Illinois municipal corporation (“Village”), and 163rd & Harlem LLC, 
an Illinois limited liability company (“Owner”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Commissioners of the County of Cook have prior 
hereto enacted an ordinance known as the Cook County Real Property Assessment Classification 
Ordinance, as amended from time to time (“Classification Ordinance”), which provides for a tax 
assessment incentive classification designed to encourage commercial development throughout 
Cook County by offering a real estate tax incentive for the development of new commercial 
facilities, the rehabilitation of existing commercial structures and the utilization of abandoned 
buildings on properties that have been designated as blighted by the community in order to create 
employment opportunities and expand the tax base; and

WHEREAS, the Owner is the owner of real property generally located at 16300 S. Harlem 
Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois, and as legally described on Exhibit A (“Property”); and

WHEREAS, Owner petitioned the Village for a resolution of support and consent for a 
Cook County Class 7B Real Estate Tax Assessment Classification, as said term is defined in the 
Classification Ordinance, (“Class 7B Assessment Classification”) for the Property with said 
resolution stating that the Village finds the area surrounding the Property to be blighted and in 
need of redevelopment and that the Class 7B Assessment Classification is necessary for such 
redevelopment to occur on the Property; and 

WHEREAS, Owner petitioned the Village for a resolution of support and consent for a 
Cook County Class 6B Real Estate Tax Assessment Classification, as said term is defined in the 
Classification Ordinance, (“Class 6B Assessment Classification”) for the Property with said 
resolution stating that the Village finds the area surrounding the Property to be blighted and in 
need of redevelopment and that the Class 6B Assessment Classification is necessary for such 
redevelopment to occur on the Property; and

WHEREAS, the adoption of resolutions by the Village is required and must be filed by 
Owner with the County of Cook application in order for the Property to secure said Class 7B Tax 

Page | 273AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Assessment Classification and Class 6B Tax Assessment Classification (collectively, the 
“Assessment Classifications”); and

WHEREAS, Owner shall redevelop the Property which shall consist of (i) the substantial 
rehabilitation of an abandoned building for warehousing and retail on the southern portion of the 
Property, (ii) the construction of a new retail building for the use as a supermarket and additional 
retail, all as depicted on Exhibit B (the “Preliminary Site Plan”) and at a total estimated cost of 
$29,250,000.00 (the “Project”); and

WHEREAS, without the Assessment Classifications for the Property, the Project would 
not reasonably be anticipated to proceed; and

WHEREAS, in order to induce the Village to adopt the aforesaid resolutions, Owner and 
Village desire to enter into this Agreement and to be bound by terms and conditions as more 
particularly set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained and 
other good and valuable considerations, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Village 
and Owner agree as follows:

Section 1.  Incorporation.  The representation and recitations hereinabove set forth in the 
recitals are hereby incorporated into this Agreement as if fully stated herein.

Section 2. Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement and the obligations of Village 
and Owner hereunder shall commence upon the Execution Date and shall expire upon the 
expiration of the Assessment Classifications for the Property or the termination of this Agreement 
pursuant to Section 6 hereof, whichever occurs first (“Term”). 

Section 3.  Covenants of the Village.  In return for the representations and covenants of 
the Owner, all as contained herein, the Village covenants with and to the Owner as follows:

a. Village shall approve resolutions setting forth its consent and support of 
Owner’s activation of the Assessment Classifications for the Property, which 
will take effect upon execution of this Agreement (the “Resolutions”).  During 
the Term and except as provided herein, the Village shall not take any action to 
revoke, rescind or otherwise dispute the Assessment Classifications for the 
Property.

b. Village shall have no obligation to issue the Resolutions to Owner until Owner 
has caused this Agreement to be recorded as contemplated under Section 8(f) 
herein.

Section 4.  Covenants of the Owner.  In return for the representations and covenants of 
the Village, all as contained herein, the Owner, and its successors or assigns, covenants with and 
to the Village as follows:

Page | 274AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



a. Owner shall pay or cause to be paid when due all real estate property taxes 
relating to the Property or the operations on the Property, which are assessed or 
imposed upon the Property, or which become due and payable.  Owner shall 
have the right to challenge real estate property taxes applicable to the Property; 
provided, that such real estate property taxes must be paid in full when due.

b. Owner shall redevelop the Property and cause the Project to be constructed in a 
first class manner and in accordance with this Agreement, the Preliminary Site 
Plan, and any and all federal, state and local laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, 
orders, codes and ordinances applicable to the Property, the Project and/or the 
Owner. Owner shall apply for the building permit for the Project on or before 
May 1, 2021   Village approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld 
subject to Developer’s good faith and timely responses to Village requests 
during the permit review process, shall occur on or before July 1, 2020.. Owner 
shall substantially complete the Project, subject to delays from Force Majeure 
(defined below), on or before December 31, 2022 (the “Outside Completion 
Date”). 
 

c. The “Project Work” shall include all landlord work and site work required for 
(i) the rehabilitation of the single-story building on the southern portion of the 
Property for the distribution center and retail, with the distribution center not to 
exceed approximately 158,408 square feet, and (ii) construction of the new 
retail structure containing a Pete’s Fresh Market supermarket of at least 
approximately 74,000 square feet and  approximately 43,000 square feet of 
additional retail space. The Project Work shall exclude interior work, interior 
build out, and tenant improvements.

d. Upon completion of the Project Work, the Owner shall submit to the Village 
for review and approval a completion statement from an engineer or other 
consultant with respect to the substantial completion of the Project Work (a 
“Completion Statement”). 

e. The Project Work may be completed in phases. The Owner may, but is not 
obligated to, submit and the Village shall review a Completion Statement for a 
portion or phase of the Project Work (a “Phase Completion Statement”). 
Village approval of such Completion Statement shall not be unreasonably 
withheld. The date on which the Village has approved such Phase Completion 
Statement shall be a “Phase Completion Date.”

f. The “Substantial Completion Date” shall mean the date on which the Village 
has approved a Completion Statement for the entirety of the Project Work, such 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

g. In the event that a Completion Statement for the entirety of the Project Work 
has not been submitted to the Village by the Outside Completion Date, upon a 
showing of good cause, the Village shall extend the Outside Completion Date 

Page | 275AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



for a period not to exceed one year (an “Extension”). To grant an Extension, 
the Village Manager must receive a written request from the Owner stating the 
reasons for the proposed extension (the “Extension Request”). Such Extension 
Request must be made before the expiration of the Outside Completion Date. 
Approval of an Extension shall not be unreasonably withheld.  

h. For purposes of this Agreement, “Force Majeure” shall mean an act of God, 
storm, fire, flood, earthquake, pandemic, labor disturbance (including strikes, 
boycotts, lockouts etc.), war, civil commotion, shortages or unavailability of 
labor, present or future governmental law, ordinance, rule, order or regulation, 
inaction or delay on the part of any governmental authority, or other cause 
beyond the reasonable control of Owner, as applicable.  In no event shall a delay 
resulting from economic hardship, commercial or economic frustration of 
purpose constitute an event caused by Force Majeure. 

Section 5. Event of Default.  

a. The following shall constitute an event of default (“Event of Default”) by the 
Owner hereunder:

i. The failure of the Owner to perform, keep or observe any of the covenants, 
conditions, promises, agreements or obligations of the Owner under this 
Agreement;

ii. The making or furnishing by the Owner to the Village of any representation, 
warranty, certificate, or report within or in connection with this Agreement 
or any related agreement which is untrue or misleading in any material 
respect;

iii. The filing by Owner of any petitions or proceedings under applicable state 
or federal bankruptcy or insolvency law or statute which petition or 
proceeding has not been dismissed or stayed;

iv. The initiation against Owner by any creditor of an involuntary petition or 
proceeding under any state or federal bankruptcy or insolvency law or 
statute, which petition or proceeding is not dismissed or stayed within forty-
five (45) days after the date of filing; and

v. The violation or breach by Owner of any law, statute, rule or regulation of 
a governmental or administrative entity relating to the operation of the 
Property. 

b. The following shall constitute an Event of Default by the Village hereunder:

i. The failure of the Village to perform, keep or observe any of the covenants, 
conditions, promises, agreements or obligations of the Village under this 

Page | 276AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Agreement.

Section 6. Remedies. Except as otherwise set forth herein, upon an Event of Default by 
either party, or any successor, the defaulting or breaching party (or successor) shall, upon written 
notice from the other party specifying such default or breach, proceed immediately to cure or 
remedy such default or breach, and shall, in any event, within thirty (30) days after receipt of 
notice, cure or remedy such default or breach (“Cure Period”).  In case the Event of Default shall 
not be cured or remedied prior to the end of the Cure Period, the remedy to the aggrieved party 
shall, in addition to any other remedies provided for in this Agreement, be as set forth below:

a. In the Event of Default by the Owner, and after the expiration of all applicable 
cure periods, the Village shall have the following rights and remedies: 

i. Village shall have the following rights and remedies, in addition to any 
other remedies provided in this Agreement: (A) to terminate this 
Agreement and the Assessment Classifications on the Property; and (B) to 
pursue and secure, in any court of competent jurisdiction by any action or 
proceeding at law or in equity, any available remedy, including but not 
limited to injunctive relief or the specific performance of the obligations 
contained herein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing and except as specifically 
set forth in Section 6(a)(ii) below, the Village shall not have the right to 
recover any property tax savings the Owner received as a result of the 
Assessment Classifications on the Property for property tax years 
concluded prior to the Event of Default.

ii. Within five (5) business days of written demand from Village (the 
“Demand Notice”), Owner covenants that it shall file all requisite 
documentation with the Cook County Assessor’s Office relinquishing 
and/or voiding the Assessment Classifications for the Property and shall 
concurrently provide the Village with written notice of relinquishment 
together with all relevant documentation.  Owner’s covenants and 
obligations under this Section 6 shall survive the termination or expiration 
of the Agreement.  If Owner fails to comply with any written demand 
provided pursuant to this Section 6(a)(ii), Village, in addition to any and all 
other remedies, shall have the right to secure the specific performance of 
the obligation hereunder, and the right to recover the aggregate of any 
property tax savings the Owner received as a result of the Assessment 
Classifications on the Property accruing after the issuance of the Demand 
Notice.

b. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default by the Village, and after the 
expiration of all applicable cure periods, the Owner shall have the following as 
its sole and exclusive rights and remedies: (i) to pursue and secure, in any court 
of competent jurisdiction by any action or proceeding at law or in equity, 
injunctive relief or the specific performance of the obligations contained herein. 

Page | 277AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



c. Unless otherwise provided, the rights and remedies provided by this Agreement 
are cumulative and the use of any one right or remedy by any party shall not 
preclude or waive the right to use any other remedy.

Section 7.  Assignment.  

a. Up to the earlier of the Substantial Completion Date or the Outside Completion 
Date, Owner shall not sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of its interest 
under this Agreement or its interest in the Property under any circumstances, , 
without the written prior approval of the Village, which may be withheld or 
denied in its sole and absolute discretion, except:   

i.  Sale, assignment, or transfer to an entity directly controlling, controlled by 
or under common control with Owner (“Affiliate”) shall be permitted 
without prior written approval of the Village (a “Permitted Transfer”); and

ii. Sale, assignment, or transfer of portions of the Property for which the 
Village has approved a Phase Completion Statement shall be a Permitted 
Transfer and shall not require Village approval.

b. After the Substantial Completion Date or Phase Completion Date as applicable, 
and so long as there exists no uncured Event of Default, Owner shall be 
permitted to sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of its interests under this 
Agreement and its interests in the Property. Prior to exercising rights hereunder, 
any such proposed transferee or assignee under this Section 7(b) shall expressly 
assume all of the obligations of Owner under this Agreement and shall agree to 
be subject to all the conditions and restrictions to which Owner is subject by 
executing and recording on the Property an assumption, as approved by the 
Village, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or denied (the 
“Assumption”).  Upon receipt of the fully executed Assumption by the Village, 
Owner shall be released from any obligation or responsibility under this 
Agreement. 

c. Any assignment or transfer in violation of this Section 7 shall not relieve Owner 
or any other party from any obligations under this Agreement, and any such 
transferee or assignee shall not be entitled to the rights and benefits provided 
for herein.

Section 8. Miscellaneous.  

a. Each party shall, at the request of the other, execute and/or deliver any further 
documents and do all acts as each party may reasonably require to carry-out the 
intent and meaning of this Agreement.

b. No waiver of any term or condition of this Agreement shall be binding or 
effective for any purpose unless expressed in writing and signed by the party 

Page | 278AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



making the waiver, and then shall be effective only in the specific instances and 
for the purpose given.

c. This Agreement represents the entire Agreement between the Village and the 
Owner.  No amendment, waiver or modification of any term or condition of this 
Agreement shall be binding or effective for any purpose unless expressed in 
writing and adopted by each of the parties as required by law.

d. If any section, sub-section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Agreement is for 
any reason held to be invalid, such decisions or decisions shall not affect the 
validity of the remaining portions of the Agreement.

e. Each party warrants to the other that it is authorized to execute, deliver and 
perform this Agreement and agrees not to raise lack of such authority in any 
action brought by any party or any third party to this Agreement.  

f. All rights, title and privileges herein granted, including all benefits and burdens, 
shall run with the land and shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 
Applicant and the Village and, hereto, their respective grantees, successors, 
assigns and legal representatives.  A copy of this Agreement shall be recorded 
against the Property at Owner’s sole expense.

g. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws 
of the State of Illinois.

h. Each party irrevocably agrees that all judicial actions or proceedings in any 
way, manner or respect, arising out of or from or related to this Agreement shall 
be litigated only in courts having sites within the County of Cook, Illinois and 
appeal courts within the State of Illinois.  Each party hereby consents to the 
jurisdiction of any local or state court located within the County of Cook, 
Illinois and hereby waives any objections each party may have based on 
improper venue or forum non conveniens to the conduct of any proceeding 
instituted hereunder.

i. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 
shall, for all purposes, be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts 
shall together constitute one and the same instrument. 

j. In the event any legal proceeding is commenced for the purpose of interpreting, 
construing, enforcing or claiming under this Agreement, the prevailing party, 
as determined by the court, shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney’s 
fees and costs in such proceeding or any appeal therefrom.

Section 8.  Notice.  

a. Unless otherwise specified, any notice, demand or request required hereunder 

Page | 279AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



shall be given in writing at the addresses set forth below, by any of the following 
means:  (a) personal service; (b) overnight courier; or (c) certified mail, return 
receipt requested:

                    If to Village: Village of Tinley Park
16250 S. Oak Park Ave., 
Tinley Park, IL 60477
Attn: David J. Niemeyer
Village Manager
dniemeyer@tinleypark.org

With a copy to: Peterson, Johnson & Murray – Chicago LLC
200 West Adams St. Ste. 2125
Chicago, IL 60606
Attn: Paul O’Grady
pogrady@pjmchicago.com

If to Owner: 163rd & Harlem LLC
4333 S. Pulaski Road, Suite 400
Chicago, Illinois 60632
Attn: Stephanie Dremonas
stephanie@pmrealtyinc.com

With a copy to: Sarnoff & Baccash
2 North LaSalle St., Ste. 1000
Chicago, Illinois 60602
Attn: Robert M. Sarnoff
rsarnoff@sarnoffbaccash.com

b. Any notice, demand, request or other communication required or permitted 
hereunder may be made only upon a party’s attorney, which shall be effective 
for all purposes.

c. For all purposes of this Agreement, a “business day” shall refer to all Mondays, 
Tuesdays, Wednesdays, Thursdays and Fridays with the exception of United 
States and State of Illinois legal holidays.

 [EXECUTION PAGES FOLLOW

Page | 280AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Village and Owner have executed this Agreement the day and 
year first hereinabove written.

VILLAGE:

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, an Illinois municipal 
corporation

______________________________________
By: Jacob C. Vandenberg
Its: Mayor

ATTEST:

By:  Kristin A. Thirion
Its:  Village Clerk

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) ss.

COUNTY OF COOK )

On this ____ day of May, 2020, before me, personally appeared Jacob C. Vandenberg, 
personally known, who being by me duly sworn did say that he is the Village President of the 
Village of Tinley Park, Illinois, an Illinois municipal corporation, that said instrument was 
signed on behalf of said corporation by authority of its Board of Trustees, and acknowledged said 
instrument to be the free act and deed of said corporation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal at my 
office in Cook County, Illinois the day and year last above written.

Notary Public

Printed Name:

My commission expires:

Page | 281AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Village and Owner have executed this Agreement the day and 
year first hereinabove written.

OWNER:

163rd & Harlem LLC, 
an Illinois limited liability company

By: 163rd & Harlem LLC, an Illinois
limited liability company, its Manager

By: ______________________________
Name:  ___________________________
Title:    Managing Principal

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) ss.

COUNTY OF COOK )

On this ____ day of May, 2020, before me, personally appeared , personally 
known, who being by me duly sworn did say that he is the Manager of 163rd & Harlem LLC, 
an Illinois limited liability company, that said instrument was signed on behalf of said limited 
liability company, and acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and deed of said limited 
liability company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal at my 
office in Cook County, Illinois the day and year last above written.

Notary Public

Printed Name:

My commission expires:

Page | 282AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT A

Legal Description

PINS: 27-24-202-020 and 27-24-202-021 (INCLUDES PROJECT REAL ESTATE AND OTHER 
LAND)*1

1 A tax parcel division application is pending, with the new Permanent Index Number affecting only the described 
real estate expected to be issued for Tax Year 2020 (payable 2021)

Page | 283AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT B

Preliminary Site Plan
(see attached)

Page | 284AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 285AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 286AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 287AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 288AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 289AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 290AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 291AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 292AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 293AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 294AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 295AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 296AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 297AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 298AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 299AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 300AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 301AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 302AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 303AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 304AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 305AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 306AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 307AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 308AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 309AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 310AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 311AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 312AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 313AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 314AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 315AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 316AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Date: May 19, 2020 

To: Village Board

CC: David Niemeyer, Village Manager
Paula Wallrich, Acting Community Development Director

From:                         Priscilla Cordero, Business Development Manager

Subject: 16300 S. Harlem Ave- Class 6b- Pete’s Fresh Market

BACKGROUND
James Dremonas (Applicant) of 163rd & Harlem, LLC, proposes to invest an estimated  
$29,250,000 for the renovation of the vacated K-Mart structure (16300 S. Harlem Avenue) and 
construction of approximately  117,000 sq. ft. of new retail space for the purposes of a Pete’s 
Fresh Market and other retail uses.  (See attached conceptual plan)  This location has been 100% 
vacant since November 2014 and requires significant improvements. 163rd & Harlem LLC recently 
purchased the subject property. 

Page | 317AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



There are two components to the project. First, the applicant will complete a significant rehabilitation of 
the existing abandoned K-Mart building which will include an expansion of the building to the east to 
enclose the former outdoor sales and garden area. Approximately 158,408 sq. ft. of this building will 
be used as a warehouse/distribution facility. The applicant will complete the rehabilitation of the 
remaining 33,364 sq. ft. for additional retail spaces.

Second, the Applicant plans to construct approximately 117,000 sq. ft. of new retail space on the west 
side of the property. Pete’s Fresh Market will occupy approximately 74,000 sq. ft of the new facility to 
operate as a supermarket. The plan is for a large retail tenant to occupy the remaining 43,000 square 
feet.

The Village of Tinley Park can expect 163rd & Harlem, LLC to increase the property tax value of the 
location and result in an increase in sales taxes. In addition, the applicant expects to create 40-60 
construction jobs. Once the project is complete, they expect to hire 30-40 full-time employees for the 
distribution facility and approximately 170 employees for the supermarket (155 full-time and 15 part-
time) and  generate $50-60,000,000 in annual gross sales. They expect the other retail tenants to 
create 30-60 jobs and generate approximately $10,000,000 in annual gross sales. 

On February 5, 2019, the Village Board approved Ordinance 2019-O-008 designating the area 
commonly known as 159th and Harlem as blighted. This designation is the first requirement to qualify 
for Cook County’s Class 6 Assessment Program. The blighted designation allows for current / future 
developers and businesses the ability to immediately access Cook County Class 6 incentives with 
Village approval to attract investment in high vacancy and underdeveloped areas. The subject property 
is located within the designated blighted area outlined within the ordinance and is therefore eligible to 
apply for Class 6 incentives. 

The Applicant has retained the counsel of Sarnoff Baccash, a property tax law firm located in Chicago, 
Illinois, to assist with preparing the Class 6b application for Village and Cook County submittal.

Page | 318AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



DISCUSSION
The Applicant is requesting a Class 6b Incentive on the approximately 158,408 sq. ft. 
warehouse/distribution facility only (PIN: 27-24-202-020-0000; 27-24-202-021-0000). The Applicant 
has stated "but for . . ." the Class 6b reclassification, the development of this property will likely not be 
feasible. Cook County provides the Class 6b Incentive Program that allows the reclassification of 
properties to effectively lower their tax assessment from the commercial rate of 25% to the residential 
rate of 10%. Class 7b and 6b reclassifications provide an assessment of 10% of market value for the 
first ten (10) years, 15% in the 11th year, and 20% in the 12th year.  

The Class 6b Incentive Program is designed to encourage industrial development throughout Cook 
County by offering a real estate tax incentive for the development of new industrial facilities, the 
rehabilitation of existing industrial structures, and the industrial reutilization of abandoned buildings.

The twelve-year incentive applies to all newly constructed buildings or other structures, including the 
land upon which they are situated. High property taxes are a primary reason for Class 6b incentives 
and the competition with Will County and Indiana taxes. 

Incentive Policy Checklist
The following statements are in line with the Village or Tinley Park's incentive policy.

1. The developer will file the Cook County forms, plans to be a long-term owner/investor, and 
plans to comply with Village and County obligations of the Class 6b Incentive Program.

2. Due to its location in an area previously designated as blighted, this project meets the 
Target Development Area Incentive Policy Requirement outlined in section B-8.

3. The project will create over 25 jobs as outlined in section B-1.
4. As a project expected to exceed $1 million in capital investment, this project meets the 

Minimum Capital Investment Policy requirement. 
5. The project has an annual retail sales of at least $5 million as outlined in section B-5.

Strategic Plan Checklist
 Economic Development Strategy 3: The Harlem Retail Corridor south of 159th has suffered 

higher than normal vacancy rates. Moving forward with this project would help fill a large 
vacancy and encourage additional retailers to occupy vacancies surrounding this area.

Benefits
The project will be an enhancement to the Village by occupying an existing vacant building and 
completing a substantial rehabilitation while building a new facility in an area previously designated 
as blighted by the Village. It will create over 200 jobs between all of the retail locations and 
distribution facility and increase property tax value and sales tax revenue.

The  proposed reclassification resolution also includes  an agreement between 163rd & Harlem LLC 
and the Village obligating the Applicant to certain conditions of their proposed development. Any failure 
to meet these conditions will result in the Village’s right to terminate the agreement and the Class 6b 
Assessment Classification on the Property.  The conditions for the Pete’s Fresh Market development 
are summarized below:

1. Payment of all real estate taxes;
2. Property must be developed in accordance with approved plans;

Page | 319AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



3. Project must be completed by December 31, 2022 (applicant has the right to request an 
extension) 

The Owner is required to execute the agreement prior to the Village submitting the Resolution for 
Reclassification to the County.

REQUEST
The Economic and Commercial Commission (ECC) reviewed this request at their May 11, 2020 
meeting. The Commission unanimously voted to recommend approval of the class 6b request for 
Pete’s Fresh Market. This request is up for approval by the Village Board on May 19, 2020.

Page | 320AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-062

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606
 

Page | 321AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



2

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-062

A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE FILING OF A CLASS 7B APPLICATION
FOR DEVELOPMENT TO OCCUR AT 16300 S. HARLEM AVENUE

(PETE’S FRESH MARKET)

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) desires to attract new commercial 
development, stimulate the expansion and retention of existing industry, and increase employment 
opportunities in the Village; and 

WHEREAS, Cook County has instituted a program to encourage commercial 
development known as the Cook County Real Property Classification Ordinance (“Tax Incentive 
Ordinance”); and 

WHEREAS, said Tax Incentive Ordinance provides a Class 7b incentive that is designed 
to encourage commercial development throughout Cook County by offering real estate tax 
incentives for the development of new commercial facilities, the rehabilitation of existing 
commercial structures, and the commercial reutilization of abandoned buildings; and

WHEREAS, Stephanie Dremonas (Pete’ Fresh Market), on behalf of 163rd & Harlem 
LLC, (“Applicant”), desires to redevelop certain real property located at 16300 S. Harlem Avenue, 
legally described in the attached Exhibit 1, PINs: 27-24-202-020-000 & 27-24-202-021-000, in 
reliance on the Class 7b incentives for plans to construct approximately 117,000 sq. ft. of new 
commercial space for purposes of a Pete’s Fresh Market grocery store and other commercial uses 
and to remodel and expand an existing vacant approximately 158,000 sq. ft. structure for purposes 
of warehousing/distributing and other commercial uses; and 

Page | 322AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



3

WHEREAS, The Applicant would find it difficult to construct at the Subject Property 
given the current tax liability on the Subject Property but for said Class 7b incentive, which 
provides a reduced assessment of ten percent (10%) of fair market value of the Property for the 
first ten years, fifteen percent (15%) for the eleventh year, and twenty percent (20%) for the twelfth 
year. Without this incentive, commercial property would normally be assessed at twenty-five 
(25%) of its market value; and

WHEREAS, said Subject Property does not have a Class 7b incentive applied to the 
Subject Property and the Applicant seeks approval from the Village to consent and support said 
Class 7b incentive to be applied to the Subject Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Village and Applicant have executed a Property Tax Assessment 
Classification Agreement ("Classification Agreement"), attached hereto as Exhibit 2 and 
incorporated herein, which imposes certain terms and conditions on the Village's support for 
Applicant's request for the Class 7b reclassification of the Subject Property; and

WHEREAS, the Village has determined that the Subject Property meets the requirements 
necessary for approving the request for certain tax incentives, and by allowing said reclassification 
will further promote the economic viability of the Subject Property which is aligned with the 
Village’s desire to attract new commercial development, stimulate the expansion and retention of 
existing industry, and increase employment opportunities in the Village; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve the request submitted by 163rd & Harlem LLC and consent and support the 
Class 7b reclassification of the Subject Property; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.

SECTION 2: That the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby 
approves the request submitted by the Applicant and supports and consents to the Class 7b 
reclassification, subject to the terms and conditions memorialized in the Classification Agreement, 
and has determined that the commercial use of the Subject Property by Pete’s Fresh Market for its 
new grocery store location at the Subject Property is both necessary and beneficial to the Village.

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.

Page | 323AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



4

SECTION 4: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Resolution in 
pamphlet form, and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law.

PASSED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 324AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



5

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 
and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 
copy of Resolution No. 2020-R-062, “A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE FILING OF A 
CLASS 7B APPLICATION FOR DEVELOPMENT TO OCCUR AT 16300 S. HARLEM 
AVENUE (PETE’S FRESH MARKET),” which was adopted by the President and Board of 
Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on May 19, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 325AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



6

EXHIBIT 1
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

PINs: 27-24-202-020-000 & 27-24-202-021-000

Page | 326AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7

Exhibit 2
INCENTIVE AGREEMENT 

Page | 327AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THIS DOCUMENT WAS
PREPARED BY AND AFTER
RECORDING RETURN TO:

PROPERTY TAX ASSESSMENT CLASSIFICATION AGREEMENT
BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

AND 163RD & HARLEM LLC, 
(16300 S. Harlem Ave, Tinley Park, Illinois 60477)

THIS PROPERTY TAX ASSESSMENT CLASSIFICATION AGREEMENT 
(“Agreement”) is made this ____ day of May, 2020 (“Execution Date”), by and between the 
Village of Tinley Park, an Illinois municipal corporation (“Village”), and 163rd & Harlem LLC, 
an Illinois limited liability company (“Owner”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Commissioners of the County of Cook have prior 
hereto enacted an ordinance known as the Cook County Real Property Assessment Classification 
Ordinance, as amended from time to time (“Classification Ordinance”), which provides for a tax 
assessment incentive classification designed to encourage commercial development throughout 
Cook County by offering a real estate tax incentive for the development of new commercial 
facilities, the rehabilitation of existing commercial structures and the utilization of abandoned 
buildings on properties that have been designated as blighted by the community in order to create 
employment opportunities and expand the tax base; and

WHEREAS, the Owner is the owner of real property generally located at 16300 S. Harlem 
Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois, and as legally described on Exhibit A (“Property”); and

WHEREAS, Owner petitioned the Village for a resolution of support and consent for a 
Cook County Class 7B Real Estate Tax Assessment Classification, as said term is defined in the 
Classification Ordinance, (“Class 7B Assessment Classification”) for the Property with said 
resolution stating that the Village finds the area surrounding the Property to be blighted and in 
need of redevelopment and that the Class 7B Assessment Classification is necessary for such 
redevelopment to occur on the Property; and 

WHEREAS, Owner petitioned the Village for a resolution of support and consent for a 
Cook County Class 6B Real Estate Tax Assessment Classification, as said term is defined in the 
Classification Ordinance, (“Class 6B Assessment Classification”) for the Property with said 
resolution stating that the Village finds the area surrounding the Property to be blighted and in 
need of redevelopment and that the Class 6B Assessment Classification is necessary for such 
redevelopment to occur on the Property; and

WHEREAS, the adoption of resolutions by the Village is required and must be filed by 
Owner with the County of Cook application in order for the Property to secure said Class 7B Tax 

Page | 328AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Assessment Classification and Class 6B Tax Assessment Classification (collectively, the 
“Assessment Classifications”); and

WHEREAS, Owner shall redevelop the Property which shall consist of (i) the substantial 
rehabilitation of an abandoned building for warehousing and retail on the southern portion of the 
Property, (ii) the construction of a new retail building for the use as a supermarket and additional 
retail, all as depicted on Exhibit B (the “Preliminary Site Plan”) and at a total estimated cost of 
$29,250,000.00 (the “Project”); and

WHEREAS, without the Assessment Classifications for the Property, the Project would 
not reasonably be anticipated to proceed; and

WHEREAS, in order to induce the Village to adopt the aforesaid resolutions, Owner and 
Village desire to enter into this Agreement and to be bound by terms and conditions as more 
particularly set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained and 
other good and valuable considerations, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Village 
and Owner agree as follows:

Section 1.  Incorporation.  The representation and recitations hereinabove set forth in the 
recitals are hereby incorporated into this Agreement as if fully stated herein.

Section 2. Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement and the obligations of Village 
and Owner hereunder shall commence upon the Execution Date and shall expire upon the 
expiration of the Assessment Classifications for the Property or the termination of this Agreement 
pursuant to Section 6 hereof, whichever occurs first (“Term”). 

Section 3.  Covenants of the Village.  In return for the representations and covenants of 
the Owner, all as contained herein, the Village covenants with and to the Owner as follows:

a. Village shall approve resolutions setting forth its consent and support of 
Owner’s activation of the Assessment Classifications for the Property, which 
will take effect upon execution of this Agreement (the “Resolutions”).  During 
the Term and except as provided herein, the Village shall not take any action to 
revoke, rescind or otherwise dispute the Assessment Classifications for the 
Property.

b. Village shall have no obligation to issue the Resolutions to Owner until Owner 
has caused this Agreement to be recorded as contemplated under Section 8(f) 
herein.

Section 4.  Covenants of the Owner.  In return for the representations and covenants of 
the Village, all as contained herein, the Owner, and its successors or assigns, covenants with and 
to the Village as follows:

Page | 329AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



a. Owner shall pay or cause to be paid when due all real estate property taxes 
relating to the Property or the operations on the Property, which are assessed or 
imposed upon the Property, or which become due and payable.  Owner shall 
have the right to challenge real estate property taxes applicable to the Property; 
provided, that such real estate property taxes must be paid in full when due.

b. Owner shall redevelop the Property and cause the Project to be constructed in a 
first class manner and in accordance with this Agreement, the Preliminary Site 
Plan, and any and all federal, state and local laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, 
orders, codes and ordinances applicable to the Property, the Project and/or the 
Owner. Owner shall apply for the building permit for the Project on or before 
May 1, 2021   Village approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld 
subject to Developer’s good faith and timely responses to Village requests 
during the permit review process, shall occur on or before July 1, 2020.. Owner 
shall substantially complete the Project, subject to delays from Force Majeure 
(defined below), on or before December 31, 2022 (the “Outside Completion 
Date”). 
 

c. The “Project Work” shall include all landlord work and site work required for 
(i) the rehabilitation of the single-story building on the southern portion of the 
Property for the distribution center and retail, with the distribution center not to 
exceed approximately 158,408 square feet, and (ii) construction of the new 
retail structure containing a Pete’s Fresh Market supermarket of at least 
approximately 74,000 square feet and  approximately 43,000 square feet of 
additional retail space. The Project Work shall exclude interior work, interior 
build out, and tenant improvements.

d. Upon completion of the Project Work, the Owner shall submit to the Village 
for review and approval a completion statement from an engineer or other 
consultant with respect to the substantial completion of the Project Work (a 
“Completion Statement”). 

e. The Project Work may be completed in phases. The Owner may, but is not 
obligated to, submit and the Village shall review a Completion Statement for a 
portion or phase of the Project Work (a “Phase Completion Statement”). 
Village approval of such Completion Statement shall not be unreasonably 
withheld. The date on which the Village has approved such Phase Completion 
Statement shall be a “Phase Completion Date.”

f. The “Substantial Completion Date” shall mean the date on which the Village 
has approved a Completion Statement for the entirety of the Project Work, such 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

g. In the event that a Completion Statement for the entirety of the Project Work 
has not been submitted to the Village by the Outside Completion Date, upon a 
showing of good cause, the Village shall extend the Outside Completion Date 

Page | 330AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



for a period not to exceed one year (an “Extension”). To grant an Extension, 
the Village Manager must receive a written request from the Owner stating the 
reasons for the proposed extension (the “Extension Request”). Such Extension 
Request must be made before the expiration of the Outside Completion Date. 
Approval of an Extension shall not be unreasonably withheld.  

h. For purposes of this Agreement, “Force Majeure” shall mean an act of God, 
storm, fire, flood, earthquake, pandemic, labor disturbance (including strikes, 
boycotts, lockouts etc.), war, civil commotion, shortages or unavailability of 
labor, present or future governmental law, ordinance, rule, order or regulation, 
inaction or delay on the part of any governmental authority, or other cause 
beyond the reasonable control of Owner, as applicable.  In no event shall a delay 
resulting from economic hardship, commercial or economic frustration of 
purpose constitute an event caused by Force Majeure. 

Section 5. Event of Default.  

a. The following shall constitute an event of default (“Event of Default”) by the 
Owner hereunder:

i. The failure of the Owner to perform, keep or observe any of the covenants, 
conditions, promises, agreements or obligations of the Owner under this 
Agreement;

ii. The making or furnishing by the Owner to the Village of any representation, 
warranty, certificate, or report within or in connection with this Agreement 
or any related agreement which is untrue or misleading in any material 
respect;

iii. The filing by Owner of any petitions or proceedings under applicable state 
or federal bankruptcy or insolvency law or statute which petition or 
proceeding has not been dismissed or stayed;

iv. The initiation against Owner by any creditor of an involuntary petition or 
proceeding under any state or federal bankruptcy or insolvency law or 
statute, which petition or proceeding is not dismissed or stayed within forty-
five (45) days after the date of filing; and

v. The violation or breach by Owner of any law, statute, rule or regulation of 
a governmental or administrative entity relating to the operation of the 
Property. 

b. The following shall constitute an Event of Default by the Village hereunder:

i. The failure of the Village to perform, keep or observe any of the covenants, 
conditions, promises, agreements or obligations of the Village under this 

Page | 331AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Agreement.

Section 6. Remedies. Except as otherwise set forth herein, upon an Event of Default by 
either party, or any successor, the defaulting or breaching party (or successor) shall, upon written 
notice from the other party specifying such default or breach, proceed immediately to cure or 
remedy such default or breach, and shall, in any event, within thirty (30) days after receipt of 
notice, cure or remedy such default or breach (“Cure Period”).  In case the Event of Default shall 
not be cured or remedied prior to the end of the Cure Period, the remedy to the aggrieved party 
shall, in addition to any other remedies provided for in this Agreement, be as set forth below:

a. In the Event of Default by the Owner, and after the expiration of all applicable 
cure periods, the Village shall have the following rights and remedies: 

i. Village shall have the following rights and remedies, in addition to any 
other remedies provided in this Agreement: (A) to terminate this 
Agreement and the Assessment Classifications on the Property; and (B) to 
pursue and secure, in any court of competent jurisdiction by any action or 
proceeding at law or in equity, any available remedy, including but not 
limited to injunctive relief or the specific performance of the obligations 
contained herein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing and except as specifically 
set forth in Section 6(a)(ii) below, the Village shall not have the right to 
recover any property tax savings the Owner received as a result of the 
Assessment Classifications on the Property for property tax years 
concluded prior to the Event of Default.

ii. Within five (5) business days of written demand from Village (the 
“Demand Notice”), Owner covenants that it shall file all requisite 
documentation with the Cook County Assessor’s Office relinquishing 
and/or voiding the Assessment Classifications for the Property and shall 
concurrently provide the Village with written notice of relinquishment 
together with all relevant documentation.  Owner’s covenants and 
obligations under this Section 6 shall survive the termination or expiration 
of the Agreement.  If Owner fails to comply with any written demand 
provided pursuant to this Section 6(a)(ii), Village, in addition to any and all 
other remedies, shall have the right to secure the specific performance of 
the obligation hereunder, and the right to recover the aggregate of any 
property tax savings the Owner received as a result of the Assessment 
Classifications on the Property accruing after the issuance of the Demand 
Notice.

b. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default by the Village, and after the 
expiration of all applicable cure periods, the Owner shall have the following as 
its sole and exclusive rights and remedies: (i) to pursue and secure, in any court 
of competent jurisdiction by any action or proceeding at law or in equity, 
injunctive relief or the specific performance of the obligations contained herein. 

Page | 332AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



c. Unless otherwise provided, the rights and remedies provided by this Agreement 
are cumulative and the use of any one right or remedy by any party shall not 
preclude or waive the right to use any other remedy.

Section 7.  Assignment.  

a. Up to the earlier of the Substantial Completion Date or the Outside Completion 
Date, Owner shall not sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of its interest 
under this Agreement or its interest in the Property under any circumstances, , 
without the written prior approval of the Village, which may be withheld or 
denied in its sole and absolute discretion, except:   

i.  Sale, assignment, or transfer to an entity directly controlling, controlled by 
or under common control with Owner (“Affiliate”) shall be permitted 
without prior written approval of the Village (a “Permitted Transfer”); and

ii. Sale, assignment, or transfer of portions of the Property for which the 
Village has approved a Phase Completion Statement shall be a Permitted 
Transfer and shall not require Village approval.

b. After the Substantial Completion Date or Phase Completion Date as applicable, 
and so long as there exists no uncured Event of Default, Owner shall be 
permitted to sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of its interests under this 
Agreement and its interests in the Property. Prior to exercising rights hereunder, 
any such proposed transferee or assignee under this Section 7(b) shall expressly 
assume all of the obligations of Owner under this Agreement and shall agree to 
be subject to all the conditions and restrictions to which Owner is subject by 
executing and recording on the Property an assumption, as approved by the 
Village, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or denied (the 
“Assumption”).  Upon receipt of the fully executed Assumption by the Village, 
Owner shall be released from any obligation or responsibility under this 
Agreement. 

c. Any assignment or transfer in violation of this Section 7 shall not relieve Owner 
or any other party from any obligations under this Agreement, and any such 
transferee or assignee shall not be entitled to the rights and benefits provided 
for herein.

Section 8. Miscellaneous.  

a. Each party shall, at the request of the other, execute and/or deliver any further 
documents and do all acts as each party may reasonably require to carry-out the 
intent and meaning of this Agreement.

b. No waiver of any term or condition of this Agreement shall be binding or 
effective for any purpose unless expressed in writing and signed by the party 

Page | 333AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



making the waiver, and then shall be effective only in the specific instances and 
for the purpose given.

c. This Agreement represents the entire Agreement between the Village and the 
Owner.  No amendment, waiver or modification of any term or condition of this 
Agreement shall be binding or effective for any purpose unless expressed in 
writing and adopted by each of the parties as required by law.

d. If any section, sub-section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Agreement is for 
any reason held to be invalid, such decisions or decisions shall not affect the 
validity of the remaining portions of the Agreement.

e. Each party warrants to the other that it is authorized to execute, deliver and 
perform this Agreement and agrees not to raise lack of such authority in any 
action brought by any party or any third party to this Agreement.  

f. All rights, title and privileges herein granted, including all benefits and burdens, 
shall run with the land and shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 
Applicant and the Village and, hereto, their respective grantees, successors, 
assigns and legal representatives.  A copy of this Agreement shall be recorded 
against the Property at Owner’s sole expense.

g. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws 
of the State of Illinois.

h. Each party irrevocably agrees that all judicial actions or proceedings in any 
way, manner or respect, arising out of or from or related to this Agreement shall 
be litigated only in courts having sites within the County of Cook, Illinois and 
appeal courts within the State of Illinois.  Each party hereby consents to the 
jurisdiction of any local or state court located within the County of Cook, 
Illinois and hereby waives any objections each party may have based on 
improper venue or forum non conveniens to the conduct of any proceeding 
instituted hereunder.

i. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 
shall, for all purposes, be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts 
shall together constitute one and the same instrument. 

j. In the event any legal proceeding is commenced for the purpose of interpreting, 
construing, enforcing or claiming under this Agreement, the prevailing party, 
as determined by the court, shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney’s 
fees and costs in such proceeding or any appeal therefrom.

Section 8.  Notice.  

a. Unless otherwise specified, any notice, demand or request required hereunder 

Page | 334AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



shall be given in writing at the addresses set forth below, by any of the following 
means:  (a) personal service; (b) overnight courier; or (c) certified mail, return 
receipt requested:

                    If to Village: Village of Tinley Park
16250 S. Oak Park Ave., 
Tinley Park, IL 60477
Attn: David J. Niemeyer
Village Manager
dniemeyer@tinleypark.org

With a copy to: Peterson, Johnson & Murray – Chicago LLC
200 West Adams St. Ste. 2125
Chicago, IL 60606
Attn: Paul O’Grady
pogrady@pjmchicago.com

If to Owner: 163rd & Harlem LLC
4333 S. Pulaski Road, Suite 400
Chicago, Illinois 60632
Attn: Stephanie Dremonas
stephanie@pmrealtyinc.com

With a copy to: Sarnoff & Baccash
2 North LaSalle St., Ste. 1000
Chicago, Illinois 60602
Attn: Robert M. Sarnoff
rsarnoff@sarnoffbaccash.com

b. Any notice, demand, request or other communication required or permitted 
hereunder may be made only upon a party’s attorney, which shall be effective 
for all purposes.

c. For all purposes of this Agreement, a “business day” shall refer to all Mondays, 
Tuesdays, Wednesdays, Thursdays and Fridays with the exception of United 
States and State of Illinois legal holidays.

 [EXECUTION PAGES FOLLOW

Page | 335AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Village and Owner have executed this Agreement the day and 
year first hereinabove written.

VILLAGE:

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, an Illinois municipal 
corporation

______________________________________
By: Jacob C. Vandenberg
Its: Mayor

ATTEST:

By:  Kristin A. Thirion
Its:  Village Clerk

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) ss.

COUNTY OF COOK )

On this ____ day of May, 2020, before me, personally appeared Jacob C. Vandenberg, 
personally known, who being by me duly sworn did say that he is the Village President of the 
Village of Tinley Park, Illinois, an Illinois municipal corporation, that said instrument was 
signed on behalf of said corporation by authority of its Board of Trustees, and acknowledged said 
instrument to be the free act and deed of said corporation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal at my 
office in Cook County, Illinois the day and year last above written.

Notary Public

Printed Name:

My commission expires:

Page | 336AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Village and Owner have executed this Agreement the day and 
year first hereinabove written.

OWNER:

163rd & Harlem LLC, 
an Illinois limited liability company

By: 163rd & Harlem LLC, an Illinois
limited liability company, its Manager

By: ______________________________
Name:  ___________________________
Title:    Managing Principal

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) ss.

COUNTY OF COOK )

On this ____ day of May, 2020, before me, personally appeared , personally 
known, who being by me duly sworn did say that he is the Manager of 163rd & Harlem LLC, 
an Illinois limited liability company, that said instrument was signed on behalf of said limited 
liability company, and acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and deed of said limited 
liability company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal at my 
office in Cook County, Illinois the day and year last above written.

Notary Public

Printed Name:

My commission expires:

Page | 337AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT A

Legal Description

PINS: 27-24-202-020 and 27-24-202-021 (INCLUDES PROJECT REAL ESTATE AND OTHER 
LAND)*1

1 A tax parcel division application is pending, with the new Permanent Index Number affecting only the described 
real estate expected to be issued for Tax Year 2020 (payable 2021)

Page | 338AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT B

Preliminary Site Plan
(see attached)

Page | 339AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 340AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 341AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 342AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 343AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 344AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 345AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 346AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 347AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 348AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 349AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 350AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 351AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 352AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 353AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 354AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 355AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 356AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 357AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 358AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 359AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 360AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 361AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 362AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 363AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 364AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
To: Village Board

Cc: David Niemeyer, Village Manager 
Paula Wallrich, Acting Community Development Director

From: Priscilla Cordero, Business Development Manager

Date: May 19, 2020

Subject: Redevelopment Grant Program

BACKGROUND:

The Village of Tinley Park is committed to assuring the long-term viability of the community by 
encouraging private investment in sites throughout the community that need significant 
redevelopment. Many of these sites do not fall within the existing Oak Park Avenue Grant Program 
area, a TIF district, Cook County Special Designated area or meet other criteria to be eligible for 
traditional incentive agreements. 

There are properties in our community where the costs involved to rehabilitate existing 
structures may be greater than the value of the structure or exceed the funding ability of the 
property owner. As such, property owners may lack the motivation to rehabilitate these sites due 
to the low rate of return on their investment. The Village is seeking ways to incentivize these 
properties and encourage site and building improvements that will enhance the overall aesthetics 
of the area for residents, as well as improve the property value and resulting Equalized Assessed 
Value (EAV) for the parcel. The approved budget provides $90,000 for the creation of a grant 
program to serve properties not able to access existing funding opportunities. It is the goal of the 
program to build on the success of the existing Oak Park Avenue grant program and follow some 
of the existing grant programs parameters and process for approval. 

DISCUSSION:

Staff recommends a 50/50 matching grant to be used for the following purposes:
1. Façade Improvement 
2. Code Compliance 
3. Stormwater Management 
4. Parking Lot Improvements
5. Environmental Remediation 

Page | 365AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



GOALS:

Key goals for this incentive program are: 

 Encourage investment and improvements to sites that might otherwise remain 
undeveloped, unoccupied or in a blighted condition if additional funding is not provided;

 Encourage investment that will improve building safety and address building and fire code 
deficiencies;

 Encourage distinctive architecture that conforms to the Village’s architectural and site 
guidelines as outlined in Section III.U (Site Plan and Architectural Review);

 Address existing flooding issues by encouraging improved storm water design including 
state of the art engineering innovations such as pervious pavement, bioswale design and 
overall reduction of pervious pavement;

 Address existing environmental issues that require remediation in order to develop;
 Improve economic value and viability which will result in increased property value; and  
 Spur start-up, business attraction, and expansion of sales tax producing businesses.

ELIGIBLE EXPENSES: 

Eligible costs to include permanent improvements that are affixed to the real estate and result in 
overall increased property value. These may include:

 Fire sprinkler systems
 Fire alarm systems
 Siding
 Exterior lighting
 Windows and doors

INELIGIBLE EXPENSES: 

 Professional fees including legal, engineering and architectural fees
 Signage
 Landscaping
 Painting
 Other improvements or fixtures not affixed to the real estate

PROCESS:
The applicant must submit a completed application to the Community Development Department.  
The process is outlined below:

1. Pre-Application Meeting
The applicant is encouraged to meet with Community Development Staff to discuss the 
feasibility of the proposal.

2. Submittal of Complete Application
3. Staff Review

Staff will review the application for completeness, ensure there is no outstanding debt owed 
to the Village and review the development for compliance with Village Codes and 
Ordinances.  Staff will also review the application’s alignment with the key goals of the 

Page | 366AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



program and adherence to the list of eligible costs.  Staff will conduct an inspection of the 
subject property to ensure that upon completion of the project the property/structure will 
be brought into compliance with Village Codes and Ordinances.

4. Economic and Commercial Commission
Upon Commission review, revisions to the application may be requested. When the 
required revisions have been made, the application will be presented to the Village Board.

5. Village Board Action
The Village Board will conduct a public review of the application.  Upon the conclusion of 
the public review, the Village Board will make a determination on the grant amount and 
authorize the execution of the Program Agreement.  

6. Reimbursement
The grant will be paid on a reimbursement basis once the proposed project has been 
completed, all outstanding violations have been corrected and receipts for eligible 
expenditures have been verified.  

PRIORITY:

If applications exceed the Village’s funding budget, the following factors shall be taken into 
consideration to rank businesses for grant awards:

 History of vacancy;
 Ability to address a history of lack of investment due to deterioration of building condition 

that poses a threat to public safety and results in a negative impact on property values in 
the surrounding area;

 Presence of extraordinary redevelopment costs such as remodeling/demolition, 
environmental remediation, infrastructure expansion costs;

 Proposed increase in employment; and
 Quality of development and overall aesthetics which are in excess of current code 

requirements.

APPLICATION CRITERIA:

A grant may be awarded to any business or property which meets the following:
 The property is not located in an area currently eligible for an incentive;
 The property is a tax paying entity;
 The property is in compliance with Village codes or ordinances upon completion of the 

project;
 The property owner is not overdue in any payments to the Village;
 The applicant provides a pro-forma statement along with a detailed cost estimate; 
 The applicant is required to pay 100% of construction costs upfront before submitting for 

reimbursement;
 If the subject business is a start-up business, a business plan may be requested.

FUNDING:
1. Staff has recommended a total funding level of $90,000 for the Redevelopment Grant to be 

used towards façade improvements, code compliance, parking lot improvements, 
environmental remediation and stormwater management improvements.

Once the program is approved, funds will be available beginning June 1, 2020. Staff is 
recommending closing the initial application period on July 1, 2020 to encourage projects in this 

Page | 367AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



construction season.  If the funding is not exhausted during that period a second enrollment 
period can be opened.  
Funding from this program will come from the General Fund. 

CAP:

One site can use up to $30,000 in matching grants per site. A site is not eligible for grants if they 
received a Village incentive in the past 10 years. The minimum matching grant amount will be 
$10,000. 

REPORTING:

Status reports on grant applications and funding levels will be included in the Community 
Development’s monthly Active Projects Report and presented at Economic and Commercial 
Commission meetings so as to keep the community and elected officials apprised of the status of 
each grant program recipient.

REQUEST:

The Economic and Commercial Commission (ECC) reviewed the proposed Redevelopment Grant 
Program at their May 11, 2020 meeting. The Commission unanimously voted to recommend 
approval of the Redevelopment Grant Program. 

Page | 368AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 369AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-063

A RESOLUTION CREATING A REDEVELOPMENT GRANT PROGRAM IN AREAS 
CURRENTLY NOT ELIGIBLE FOR OTHER VILLAGE FUNDING 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

_____________________________________________________________________________________
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Peterson, Johnson, and Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL  60606

 

Page | 370AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-063

A RESOLUTION CREATING A REDEVELOPMENT GRANT PROGRAM IN AREAS 
CURRENTLY NOT ELIGIBLE FOR OTHER VILLAGE FUNDING PROGRAMS

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) desires to improve the long-term term 
viability of the community by encouraging private investment in sites throughout the community 
that need significant redevelopment but do not fall within the existing Oak Park Avenue Grant 
Program area, a TIF district, Cook County Special Designated area or meet other criteria to be eligible 
for traditional incentive agreements; and

WHEREAS, the Economic and Commercial Commission recommended the program for 
approval to the Village Board at their May 11, 2020 meeting; and 

WHEREAS, $90,000 has been appropriated in the Village budget for such purposes as 
outlined in the Redevelopment Grant Program; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interests of said Village of Tinley Park to 
approve and create the Redevelopment Grant Program. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL 
COUNTIES, ILLINOIS, IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS HOME RULE POWERS, AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: That this President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby 
declare and approve the creation of the Redevelopment Grant Program to assist in the economic 
development of areas not eligible for economic incentives under other programs available in the 
Village. 

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

Page | 371AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 4: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 
approval in the manner provided by law. 

PASSED THIS 19th day of May 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 19th day of May 2020.

____________________________________
    VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:

__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 372AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook and Will 
and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 
Resolution No. 2020-R-063, “A RESOLUTION CREATING A REDEVELOPMENT GRANT 
PROGRAM IN AREAS CURRENTLY NOT ELIGIBLE FOR OTHER VILLAGE FUNDING 
PROGRAMS,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley 
Park on May 19th, 2020.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 19th day of May, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 373AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 374AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 375AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 376AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 377AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 378AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 379AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 380AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 381AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 382AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 383AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 384AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 385AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 386AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 387AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 388AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 389AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 390AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 391AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 392AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 393AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 394AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 395AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 396AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 397AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 398AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 399AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 400AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 401AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 402AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 403AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 404AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 405AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 406AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 407AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 408AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 409AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 410AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 411AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 412AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 413AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 414AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 415AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 416AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 417AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 418AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 419AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 420AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 421AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 422AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 423AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 424AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 425AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 426AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 427AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 428AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 429AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 430AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 431AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 432AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 433AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 434AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 435AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 436AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 437AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 438AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 439AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 440AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 441AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 442AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 443AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 444AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 445AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 446AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 447AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 448AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 449AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 450AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 451AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 452AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 453AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 454AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 455AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 456AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 457AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 458AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 459AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 460AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 461AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 462AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 463AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 464AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 465AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 466AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 467AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 468AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 469AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 470AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 471AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 472AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 473AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 474AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 475AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 
 

 

Date:  March 5, 2020  
 
To: John Urbanski, Interium Public Works Director  
   
From: Kelly Mulqueeny, Street Superintendent 
 
Subject: Service Contract Award-Renewal Mowing 2020 (Year 2 of 3) 
 
  
Presented for May 19, 2020 COW and Village Board Meeting for consideration and possible action: 

Scope of Work: This service contract is a renewal for mowing service by a qualified contractor for our 
234 acres of lawn throughout Tinley Park. 
 
Description: Public Works is recommending that we extend our current contract for an additional year 
for mowing service on our 234 acres of turf in various locations in Tinley Park. The contract has the 
option of 2 (two) – 1 (one) year renewals. This would be the first extension. The past year Ridge 
Landscape Services has proven to be a professional, reliable contractor with reasonable rates. 

                                                          
Budget / Finance: Funding in the amount of $248,896.00 will be available in the FY21 Budget; Road 
and Bridge, Facilities, Water and CPL Operating and Maintenance Budget. 
 
Budget Available     $248,896.00 
Costs Lawn Maintenance (24 mowings with 3% increase)  ($189,324.96)  
Difference (Under Budget)                          $63,180.61           

 
 

Staff Direction Request:   
1. Approve the service contract for 2020 mowing contract for Ridge Landscape Services 

in the amount of $189,324.96. 
2. Direct Staff as necessary. 

 
  
Attachments 
 

1. Recommendation letter from Site Design Group 
 

Interoffice   

Memo 

Page | 476AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

May 15, 2020 

 

Ms. Kelly Mulqueeny 

Street Superintendent  

Village of Tinley Park 

16250 S. Oak Park Ave. 

Tinley Park, Illinois 60477 

 

re: Village of Tinley Park Mowing – Contract Renewal Recommendation 

 

 

Dear Kelly: 

 

At this time, we would like to recommend renewal of the Mowing contract with the current 

contractor, Ridge Landscape Services.  

During our routine landscape maintenance inspections which began in June, lawn management 

issues did occur, but Ridge Landscape Services was always very responsive and addressed 

outstanding issues as directed by the Village in a timely manner. 

Ridge Landscape Services is interested in continuing their work with the Village, as referenced in 

their letter dated September 11, 2019. This renewal would be the first of two possible renewal 

options for the Mowing contract. The contract bid amount for this renewal option has increased, 

as Ridge Landscape Services did escalate their bid costs above the initial year.  

Please let us know if you have any questions or concerns. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

Mitch Murdock 

Project Manager – site design group, ltd. 

 

CC:  RKS / BM/ KM 

Page | 477AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 478AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 479AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 480AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 481AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 482AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 483AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 484AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 485AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 486AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 487AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 488AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 489AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 490AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 491AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 492AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 493AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 494AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 495AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 496AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 497AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 498AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 499AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 500AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 501AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 502AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 503AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 504AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 505AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 506AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 507AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 508AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 509AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 510AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 511AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 512AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 513AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 514AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 515AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 516AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 517AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 518AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 519AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 520AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 521AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 522AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 523AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 524AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 525AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 526AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 527AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 528AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 529AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 530AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 531AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 532AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 533AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 534AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 535AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 536AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 537AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 538AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 539AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 540AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 541AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 542AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 543AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 544AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 545AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 546AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 547AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 548AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 549AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 550AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 551AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 552AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 553AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 554AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 555AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 556AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 557AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 558AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 559AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 560AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 561AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 562AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 563AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 564AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 565AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 566AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 567AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 568AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 569AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 570AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 571AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 572AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 573AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 574AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 575AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 576AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 577AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 578AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 579AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 580AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 581AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 582AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 583AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 584AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 585AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 586AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 587AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 588AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 589AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 590AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 591AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 592AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 593AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 594AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 595AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 596AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 597AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 598AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 599AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 600AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 601AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 602AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 603AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 604AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 605AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 606AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 607AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 608AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 609AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 610AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 611AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 612AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 613AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 614AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 615AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 616AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 617AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 618AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 619AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 620AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 
NO. 2020-R-058 

 

 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN ENGAGEMENT LETTER WITH WALSH LAW GROUP, 
P.C. FOR LEGAL SERVICES 

 

 
 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
CYNTHIA A. BERG 

WILLIAM P. BRADY 
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 

DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

 
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

 
  



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-058 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN ENGAGEMENT LETTER WITH WALSH LAW 
GROUP, P.C. FOR LEGAL SERVICES 

 
WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, is a home rule 

municipal corporation as provided in Article VII, Section 6 of the 1970 Constitution of the State 

of Illinois and, pursuant to said constitutional authority, may exercise any power and perform any 

function pertaining to its government and affairs for the protection of the public health, safety, 

morals and welfare government and affairs for the protection of the public health, safety, morals 

and welfare; and 

WHEREAS, the Village Manager, pursuant to his authority under the Village’s 

Purchasing Policy, engaged Walsh Law Group, P.C. on July 16, 2019, for the performance of legal 

services as described in the engagement letter (the “Engagement Letter”); and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 

Counties, Illinois, find that it is appropriate and in the best interests of the Village to: (i) retain the 

law firm of Walsh Law Group, P.C. to provide legal services; and (iii) ratify the Engagement Letter 

from Walsh Law Group, P.C. dated July 16, 2019; 

NOW, THEREFORE, Be It Resolved by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1:  The Preambles hereto are hereby made a part of, and operative provisions 

of, this Resolution as fully as if completely repeated at length herein. 

Section 2:  That this President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

hereby find that it is in the best interests of the Village of Tinley Park and its residents that the 

aforesaid Engagement Letter be entered into and executed by said Village of Tinley Park, with 

said Engagement Letter to be substantially in the form attached hereto and made a part hereof as 

EXHIBIT 1. 

Section 3:  That the President and Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 

Counties, Illinois are hereby authorized to execute for and on behalf of said Village of Tinley Park 

the aforesaid Engagement Letter. 

Section 4:  That this Resolution shall take effect from and after its adoption and 

approval. 



ADOPTED this 19th day of May, 2020, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village of 

Tinley Park on a roll call vote as follows:  

AYES:              

NAYS:              

ABSENT:              

 

 

APPROVED this 19th day of May, 2020, by the President of the Village of Tinley Park. 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       Village President 
ATTEST: 

__________________________________ 
Village Clerk  



EXHIBIT 1 
WALSH LAW GROUP, P.C. ENGAGEMENT 

LETTER 
  



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2020-R-058, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN ENGAGEMENT 

LETTER WITH WALSH LAW GROUP, P.C. FOR LEGAL SERVICES”, which was adopted by 

the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on May 19, 2020.  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Tinley Park this 19th day of May, 2020. 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       VILLAGE CLERK 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 









 

 

STAFF 
COMMENT 

 

Page | 621AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 
BOARD 

COMMENT 
 

Page | 622AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

PUBLIC 
COMMENT 

 

Page | 623AGENDA - 5/19/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

ADJOURN TO EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS: 

A. THE APPOINTMENT, EMPLOYMENT, COMPENSATION, 
DISCIPLINE, PERFORMANCE, OR DISMISSAL OF SPECIFIC 
EMPLOYEES OF THE PUBLIC BODY OR LEGAL COUNSEL FOR 
THE PUBLIC BODY, INCLUDING HEARING TESTIMONY ON A 
COMPLAINT LODGED AGAINST AN EMPLOYEE OF THE 
PUBLIC BODY OR AGAINST LEGAL COUNSEL FOR THE 
PUBLIC BODY TO DETERMINE ITS VALIDITY. 
 
 
 
 


	051920 Reg. VBM Meeting Notice Modification COVID019
	Agenda Page 1
	Agenda Page 2
	Agenda Page 3
	Agenda Page 4
	Agenda Page 5
	Agenda Page 6
	Agenda Page 7 
	Agenda Page 8
	Agenda Page 9 
	Agenda Page 10 
	Agenda Page 11
	ITEM #2 - Approval of Draft Minutes May 5, 2020
	ITEM #3 - Trustee Brady
	ITEM #4 - Consent A
	ITEM #4 - Consent B
	ITEM #4 - Consent C
	ITEM #4 - Consent D
	ITEM #4 - Consent E
	ITEM #4 - Consent F
	ITEM #5 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #6 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #7 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #8 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #9 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #10 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #11 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #12 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #13 - Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #14 - Trustee Glotz
	ITEM #15 - Trustee Glotz
	ITEM #16 - Trustee Glotz
	ITEM #17 - Trustee Glotz
	ITEM #18 - President Vandenberg
	ITEM #19 - Trustee Brady
	ITEM #20 - Trustee Brady 
	ITEM #21 - Staff Comment
	ITEM #22 - Board Comment
	ITEM #23 - Public Comment
	ITEM #24 - Executive Session 



